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Achievements and Challenges

ACHIEVEMENTS

• It is anticipated that the CQUINs relating to wound management and personalised care
planning will have been fully achieved at year-end, although this is to be confirmed by
the CCGs.
• There has been a reduction in the number of medication incidents resulting in harm
which may be partly due to increased scrutiny of incidents to ensure accuracy of
reporting around levels of harm.
• There has also been a reduction in the number of avoidable category 2, 3 and 4
pressure ulcers during January and February 2019. However, it should be noted that a
change in reporting requirements relating to pressure ulcers from April 2019, including
the non-use of the terms ‘avoidable’ and ‘unavoidable’, will have a significant impact on
the numbers of pressure ulcers reported going forward.
• Patient feedback about HCT services continues to be positive, with an increase in the
overall FFT score and the percentage of patients telling us they would rate the care
they received as ‘good’ or ‘better than good’.
• We have continued to make progress with the two NHS England Always Events®
relating to carers and end of life care; this work will be taken forward into 2019/20.
• The Continuous Quality Improvement Framework has been agreed as the approach to
provide assurance that clinical services are meeting our performance standards and
CQC’s ‘essential standards of care’. Implementation of this framework will begin during
Q1 2019/20.

CHALLENGES
• It is anticipated that the two CQUINs relating to staff health & wellbeing and preventing
risky behaviours will be partially met. There is also at least one element of all four
Quality Priorities which will not have been met at year-end; these will be fully reported on
in the annual Quality Account.
• During Q4 there was one case of MRSA blood stream infection, and three cases of
C.difficile infection reported. A system-wide post-infection review of the MRSA case has
been arranged for May 2019. All three CDI cases will undergo RCA review to identify
any lapses in care.
• There has been an increase in the number of inpatient falls during Q4; this is in line with
the trend of an increase in falls in Q4 2017/18. Three of these falls resulted in severe
harm, two of which have been declared as serious incidents.
• During Q4 compliance with Level 1 safeguarding adult training dropped to 41%. This is
following the decision to move all corporate staff who previously required ‘once only’
training to a 3-yearly refresher training programme to ensure compliance with the new
Safeguarding Adults Intercollegiate Document. The Named Nurse for Safeguarding
Adults will be undertaking additional training sessions to improve compliance during Q1
2019/20.
• A further round of internal peer reviews was undertaken in adult inpatient and community
services, demonstrating continuing issues around DNACPR forms and the use of mobile
working. However, these reviews also demonstrated that staff are caring, kind and
responsive to their patients’ needs.
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Quality Dashboard

Quality Dashboard 2018/19

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

Number of patient safety incidents

1368

1233

1251

1343

Number of patient safety incidents resulting in harm

670

591

566

661

2

2

2

3

97.96%

98.27%

97.74%

97.53%

9

8

16*

11**

14

19

34*

15**

Rate of inpatient falls per 1000 Occupied Bed Days (national benchmark 7.74)

6.21

5.24

5.35

5.6

Rate of injurious inpatient falls per 1000 Occupied Bed Days (national benchmark 2.07)

0.15

0.09

0.13

0.2

Number of medication incidents resulting in harm

10

18

12

9

Number of speaking up/raising concerns incidents
An increase in the number of staff feeling able to raise concerns indicates increased awareness of
speaking up

4

3

5

3

Number of deaths reported in quarter
*This figure has been amended following year-end review of information and validation of data

12

10*

8

16

Number of deaths judged more than likely to be due to problems in care (target 0)

0

0

0

0

Number of avoidable MRSA bloodstream infections (target 0)

0

0

0

1

Number of E.Coli bloodstream infections

0

0

0

0

Number of C.difficile cases attributable to HCT due to lapses in care identified (target <5 in year)

2

1

2

3

97%

90%

95%

94%

96%

94%

98%

96%

98%

96%

97%

41%*

97%

95%

97%

97%

Percentage of inpatients treated with dignity and respect (Trust target 90%)

98%

100%

98.5%

99%

Percentage of inpatients reporting overall quality of care good or better than good (Trust target 90%)

98%

98%

96%

99%

Friends and Family Test score (Trust target 95%)

97%

94%

95%

96%

35

41

36

48

Percentage of complaints acknowledged responded to within agreed timescales (Trust target 80%)

83%

90%

92%

95%

Number of PALS contacts

160

248

288

249

Number of enhanced contacts

42

31

41

55

Number of Serious Incidents confirmed
Percentage of patients receiving harm-free care (national benchmark 95%)

Patient safety

Number of avoidable category 2 pressure ulcers
*Q3 reported figures amended during Q4 to include data for October, November and December
**Q4 data is for January and February only
Number of avoidable category 3 or 4 pressure ulcers
*Q3 reported figures amended during Q4 to include data for October, November and December
**Q4 data is for January and February only

Safeguarding children training uptake percentage (Trust target 95%)
MCA training uptake percentage (Trust target 95%)
SAFA training Level 1 uptake percentage (Trust target 95%)
Compliance with Level 1 Safeguarding training is at 41% as all staff previously requiring a ‘once only’
training session have been moved to 3-yearly refresher training programme to ensure compliance with
the new Safeguarding Adults Intercollegiate Document in 2019/20.

Patient experience

SAFA training Level 2 uptake percentage (Trust target 95%)

Number of complaints

Number of compliments

6326

4695

5280

4212

No urgent
enquiries
received

No urgent
enquiries
received

No urgent
enquiries
received

No urgent
enquiries
received

Number of NICE Quality Standards assessed

4

8

3

6

Number of NICE guidance sets assessed

33

46

41

39

Number of NICE Quality Standards applicable to HCT commissioned services*

3

3

2

4*

Number of NICE guidance sets applicable to HCT commissioned services*

6

22

9

23*

Clinical
Effectiveness

Percentage of urgent GP hotline enquires responded to within 5 working days (local target 95%)
NB Low number of enquiries results in reduced percentage

Keys

*March guidance awaiting assessment of applicability by NICE Working Group

National /
local
benchmarking

Trend from previous quarter

↑
↑
↑
↓
↓
↓
↑
↑
↓
↓
↑
↔
↑
↔
↑
↓
↓
↓
↔
↑
↑
↑
↑
↑
↓
↑
↓
↔

Benchmarking Key

Trend key

Equal to or better than
benchmark

Better than last quarter

Less than 10% below /
above benchmark

Equal to last quarter

More than 10% below /
Worse than last quarter
above benchmark

↑ ↓
↔
↑ ↓
or

or

No benchmark set
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QUALITY ASSURANCE
CQUINs/Quality Priorities
CQUINs
On trajectory /
not on trajectory /
met / not met
Q2
Q3

Title of CQUIN

Q1
Q4*
No
quarterly
No
quarterly
Improving staff health and
No quarterly
1
Partially met
reporting due
reporting due
reporting due
wellbeing
Preventing ill health by risky
2
Partially met
Partially met
Partially met
Partially met
behaviours – alcohol and
tobacco
Improving the assessment of
No quarterly
No quarterly
Met
Met
reporting due
reporting due
wounds
No quarterly
No quarterly
No quarterly
Personalised care and support
Met
reporting due
reporting due
reporting due
planning
*Year-end target achievement to be confirmed with CCGs
• 1 Element 1a (staff health & wellbeing) not achieved - we encourage staff to report honestly in the NHS
Annual Staff survey and this year’s results showed that we have not made the required improvement in
staff having fewer MSK incidents or less work related stress, despite our manual handing and stress
awareness training. As part of our staff Health & Wellbeing programme, we provide an Employee
Assistance Programme and fast track physiotherapy to support staff once an issue has occurred.
• Element 1b (healthy food for staff, patients and visitors) achieved.
• Element 1c partially achieved - we ran a very active flu campaign but were unable to reach the 75% target.
Our reporting mechanisms show that side effects and views about efficacy were the main reasons for staff
declining to be vaccinated.
2
The uptake of patients wishing to be referred to specialist smoking and alcohol support has remained low
despite additional intervention at different times during the stay; this element of CQUIN has not been
achieved.
Quality Priorities
Title of Quality Priority
We will support the population we
serve by developing patientfocussed outcomes to improve
their health and wellbeing.
We will improve the safety of
patients in our care by reducing
avoidable pressure damage and
improving wound care
management
We will continue to ensure our
patients receive safe care by
maintaining safe staffing levels in
our services.
We will increase patient response
rates, particularly to the FFT, to
capture wider feedback from
patients and improve
understanding and learning from
patients’ experience of using HCT
services

Q1

Met / partially met / not met
Q2
Q3

Q4
1

Partially met

Partially met

Partially met

Partially met

Partially met

Met

Met

Partially met

Partially met

Met

Met

Partially met

Partially met

Partially met

Partially met

Partially met

2

3

4

1

Focus continues on embedding PROMS within relevant services particularly in relation to reassessment and
the ability to report change from a patient’s perspective.
5

2

Delays in support to advertise React to Red Skin pressure ulcer awareness training for home care and care
home carers delayed the start of the project. Four sessions have been delivered with one more planned, as
well as two train the trainer dates arranged. Pressure ulcer incidents related to the care providers will
continue to be monitored. All other elements of the quality priority were met.
3
We have seen a reduction in the staff Friends And Family Test scores in the year’s survey due to the high
level of uncertainty and change the organisation has been facing over the last year. All other elements of the
quality priority were met.
4
Whilst we did not achieve our target of a 10% response rate, we maintained our response rate at 8% across
the Trust as a whole. All other elements of the quality priority were met.

Risk Register
Risks are routinely reviewed at Senior Management team meetings with key risks and their management
brought to the attention of the Executive team following Business Unit Performance Reviews.
Risk owners review and update their risks at least every month, and the High-Level Risk Register is reviewed
by the Executive Group on a monthly basis.
At the end of Q4 there are ten risks on the High Level Risk Register; eight operational risks and two corporate
risks. Themes identified are risks relating to staffing levels and vacancy rates, and re-commissioning of
services.

Care Quality Commission
Registration
• Following the recent Care Quality Commission (CQC) inspection in September 2018 HCT has retained its
overall rating of ‘Good’ but received a ‘Requires Improvement’ rating for Safe.
• This was part of the CQC’s planned annual inspection of our services. The report from the inspection was
published on 24 January 2019.
• The findings from the inspections identified some areas of good practice and a number of actions required
by the Trust. Three breaches in regulated activity occurred in meeting the Health and Social Care Act
2008, Regulation 12 (1) & (2) (g) Medicines Management and Regulation 15 (e) Medical Devices.
• The internal CQC Improvement Plan has three sections:
− Musts relate to the 3 breaches in regulation
− Shoulds are those actions that the Trust has been advised to undertake
− Additional Actions are those which have been extracted from the CQC Evidence Report that, even
though not specified by CQC, as a Trust we have agreed to resolve in our efforts to move towards an
‘Outstanding’ organisation.
• Monitoring of the CQC Improvement Plan will be taken through the CQC Steering Group reporting into
Operational Senior Management Team Meeting and Healthcare Governance Committee.
HMP The Mount Ministry of Justice/CQC Inspection
• The health element of the above inspection report identified good healthcare delivery following this
inspection. Areas for improvement to build on practice were identified and immediate actions taken to
ensure safe, effective care delivery have been undertaken. Actions to ensure sustained best practice have
formed part of the overall quality improvement programme whilst being held as separate actions within the
formal report.
• The quality improvement programme will be reported through Healthcare Governance Committee to Board
and via contractual arrangements to our commissioners.

Quality Assurance Visits
External Quality Assurance Visits, internal peer reviews and Keeping in Touch (KiT) visits undertaken by HCT
6

staff, stakeholders and Board members provide vital information about the quality of our services, identify any
areas for improvement, and are an opportunity to engage with our staff and patients.
Keeping in Touch (KiT) visits
• During Q4 the Chief Executive, Executive Directors and Non-Executive Directors undertook a number of
supportive visits which included:
− Acute Admissions Unit, (AAU) at Watford General Hospital
− Nevells Road Clinic, Letchworth.
− Community Navigator Team, Lister Hospital, Stevenage
− WelHat Locality, Queen Victoria Memorial Hospital, Welwyn Garden City
− North Herts Locality, Gregans House, Hitchin
• A range of staff engagement / information sessions have been undertaken in Herts Valleys following the
decision in relation to the Herts Valleys Adult Services contract outcome. The Board recognise the
importance of staff and patient involvement especially when embedding quality improvements and
informing service redesign.
• The Chief Executive and Executive Team members have participated in monthly interactive video updates
which have provided up to date information on current and future service developments, and provided a
forum for questions and answers. This information is then cascaded to all staff via management at team
meetings and audio presentations sent to all staff.
• All visits and events are valued as a method of two-way communication between the Board/ Executive
team and the front line staff and service users. Any issues identified for escalation are reviewed by the
Executive and the Senior Management Teams and progress on any actions are reported in the Business
Unit Performance Reviews.
External Quality Assurance Visits
• During Q4 2 external visit was undertaken in HCT services:
− Herts Valley CCG undertook a visit to Simpson and St Peter’s wards at Hemel Hempstead Hospital on
18 January 2019. The visit formed part of the HVCCG’s formal programme of Quality Assurance
Visits and the team noted that overall there were numerous areas of good practice.
− Public Health England undertook a visit to Diabetic Eye Screening on 19 March 2019 at Gossoms
End. Key feedback was provided following the visit which is indicated below. The report has not yet
been received.
Areas of good practice
Service

Simpson and St Peter’s
Wards

Diabetic Eye Screening

Areas of good practice
• Quality and Performance board - these were kept up-to-date on both
wards so the information was readily available to patients and staff
alike. There is a general culture of openness.
• Patient Feedback - the patient feedback for the FFT was 100% for
both wards. Patients stated that they would recommend the service
to their family and friends.
• Education and Training – Mandatory training for both St Peter’s and
Simpson Ward were above 95%. Appraisals were all up-to-date.
• Red to Green – the patient flow bundle is now embedded in practice.
This is an indication that unnecessary delays were being
appropriately managed.
• No immediate concerns were identified; the overall service is of good
quality.
• Service delivering good quality care, good clinical leadership,
competent grading being undertaken, comprehensive training of new
starters.
• Very good relationships with Hospital Eye services and good open
working within team.
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Area requiring improvement identified / actions taken
Service
Areas requiring improvement identified / actions taken
Simpson and St Peter’s
• Staff and patient notices - the walls and boards were cluttered with
Wards
information leaflets and notices some of which were out of date.
• Patient care plans and records – St Peter’s bedside folders and
information to be secured in a more appropriate way that ensures
privacy and safety of patient information.
• Heating appliance and air conditioning panel - Simpson Ward to
consider relocating the oil filled heater which was noted to be located
in the middle of the ward without a guard around it. St Peter’s Ward
to ensure that the air conditioning panel is kept closed constantly for
patient safety.
• Patient call bells - these to be within the patients reach at all times.
Diabetic Eye Screening
• Capacity management, currently on a downward trajectory.
• Governance arrangements are good but could be strengthened;
strategic planning, pathway management, policies & procedures, use
of data to support working towards a better service.
• Scheduling, consider targeting activity, HES referrals, recall policies
• Introduction of patient satisfaction surveys.
The Continuous Quality Improvement Plan for Simpson and St Peter’s Wards is attached as Appendix 1.
Internal Peer Reviews
• Adult community inpatient units and ICT/CAHs services that scored below 90% in the previous round of
Peer Reviews were revisited in Q4 of 2018/19. A further 11 out of 12 reviews have been completed.
Overall the results have been scored lower than previously in most locations but the ‘feeling’ experienced
by the Reviewers has been reported more positively, and very encouraging comments have been made
within the comments sections regarding the staff engagement with the patients and relatives/carers.
• Challenges are still being faced within the inpatient units regarding the recording of DNACPR on HCT
forms and identification on SystmOne, and although clinical staff were observed as undertaking NEWS
and comfort round activity this was not always recorded.
• ICTs/CAHs are still experiencing challenges with mobile working and as a result of the recent restructuring.
Areas of good practice
Service

Community Inpatient Units

ICT/CAHs

Areas of good practice
• Staff found to be kind, calm, caring. Happy staff, nothing too much
trouble
• Good team working, staff well informed, well supported
• Patients felt well cared for
• Staff were polite and very supportive of patients
• Staff positive and feel well supported
• Good interactions with reviewers
• Very caring, approachable staff
• Staff responsive to patients needs and ensure safety at all times
• Staff have all equipment required to deliver care to patients; this is
cleaned and PAT tested as required
• All staff commented that they felt very well supported and felt team
working very well

Area requiring improvement identified / actions taken
Service
Areas requiring improvement identified / actions taken
In-patient Units
• Cluttered notice boards, some information out of date or missing.
• Response time to call bells not achieved for 1 minute
• Poor use of HCT DNACPR forms, MCA not always followed through
• SystmOne not always matching DNACPR forms
8

Service

ICT/CAHs

Areas requiring improvement identified / actions taken
• NEWS charts and comfort round not consistently recorded
• Pain template use low in some areas
• Out of date stock
• Mobile working not utilised in all areas
• IDs not always checked at start of visit
• Challenges of re-structure and equalisation still being worked
through
• Appropriate use of MC’s for equipment

A summary report of the recent Peer Reviews is attached as Appendix 2.
• Children’s and Young People services have agreed their Peer Review templates and dates are being
scheduled for April/May roll-out.
• Adult Specialist services plan to pilot the adult ICT/CAHs tool and adapt the tool following the pilot. Dates
for formal Peer Review are to be confirmed.
HCT Continuous Quality Improvement Framework
• The HCT Continuous Quality Improvement Framework has been designed to build on existing quality
assurance processes and operational management structures and clearly identifies the Trust’s approach
to Quality Assurance and the relationship with Quality Improvement (QI).
• The Trust needs to be effectively assured that services are meeting the expected standards through
independent internal assurance rather than being reactive to external inspections. A mixed methodology
has been agreed to demonstrate how we are meeting our performance standards and provide appropriate
evidence to meet the standards set through the CQC’s ‘essential standards of quality and safety’.
• All results are to be reported through the BUPR with any actions identified being developed into a single
Continuous Quality Improvement Plan held by the local team. Any Red/Amber actions will be included in
service’s CLIPSS reports noting progress against actions, and monitored through the BUPR with reporting
to the Executive team through IBPR. Quarterly reporting and scrutiny will also be undertaken through
Healthcare Governance Committee.
• This Framework has been agreed through the Trust’s Senior Management Team as an approach that will
provide assurance that clinical services are meeting the expectations outlined in the Trust’s Health &
Wellbeing Strategy and to support the Trust in becoming ‘outstanding’ in the delivery of high quality, safe
and compassionate care to the people of Hertfordshire.
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CONSISTENT AND IMPROVING PATIENT SAFETY
Patient Safety Incidents
Incidents
During Q4 there were 1343 patient safety incidents reported, which represents 80% of all incidents reported
in Q4.
682 incidents resulted in no harm (51% of patient safety incidents) and 661 incidents resulted in some level of
harm (49% of patient safety incidents). These are broken down as follows:

No harm
Low harm
Moderate harm
Severe harm
Death
Total number of incidents resulting in harm
Total number of incidents reported

Q1
698
651
17
2
0
670
1368

Q2
642
576
13
2
0
591
1233

Q3
685
555
9
2
0
566
1251

Q4
682
643
14
4
0
661
1343

During Q4, four incidents resulted in severe harm:
• A patient fell in an HCT inpatient unit sustaining a right fractured neck of femur. This is currently being
investigated as a serious incident
• A patient fell in an HCT inpatient unit sustaining a left peri-prosthetic fracture to the left distal femur. A
falls case review is being undertaken to determine if this incident will require notification as a serious
incident
• A patient fell at home sustaining a fracture to the hip. A falls case review was carried out which identified
that the incident happened when the patient was not under HCT care; there were no HCT system failures
linked to the incident
• A patient fell in an HCT inpatient unit sustaining a right fractured neck of femur and the incident is
currently being investigated as a serious incident.
Themes and trends of all incidents
The 11 most-reported types of all incidents reported during Q4 are illustrated below:
36%

Most-reported incidents in quarter

11%

10%

6%

5%

5%

3%

3%

3%

1%

1%

All pressure ulcer incidents are thoroughly reviewed by the Tissue Viability Service Lead and Patient Safety
Team. Those requiring further review are investigated using a case review or a chronology review approach.
Lessons learnt are identified and actions taken are implemented to prevent future incidents happening.
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Review of Violence, Abuse and Aggression incidents towards patients
There were 56 incidents of abuse towards patients in Q4. Of these 47 relate to abuse and are broken down
as follows:
Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

(usually spouse or family member and
escalated to safeguarding)

50

38

46

35

Abuse towards patient by patient
Abuse towards patient by staff
Total

6
1
57

5
3
54

9
3
47

Abuse towards patient by other person

5
4
47

Three incidents of abuse reported were alleged to have been committed by staff:
• An allegation was made that a patient was being kept in bed with bed rails up whilst in respite in a care
home. The family felt this was to prevent the patient from getting up and therefore removed patient from
respite. The incident was reviewed by the HCT Safeguarding team and was forwarded to Adult Care
Services; this incident is still under investigation.
• An allegation was made that an injury was sustained within an Acute Hospital when a patient’s shoulder
was held by staff. The investigation did not substantiate the allegation and the case was closed.
• An allegation was made that a member of HCT staff ‘grabbed’ a child’s wrist/arm during a school
assessment. The incident was investigated by the Head Teacher who found that the allegation was not
substantiated and did not require referral to the Local Authority Designated Officer. Further follow-up
support for the staff member and future care actions to safeguard staff are in place.
One incident of abuse towards a patient was recorded as resulting in moderate harm due to prolonged
psychological abuse from a relative. Duty of candour was not applied as this was not a HCT incident;
however it is being progressed as a safeguarding concern.
Equality characteristic group information
The percentage of Datix incidents which include equality characteristic group information is outlined below:
Equality characteristic group information - Datix
100%

100%

100%

100%

46%

Gender

Race

Age

Disability

Religion or belief
(only recorded where
it is relevant to the
incident)
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Medication incidents
During Q4 there were 114 medication-related incidents reported; of these 59 were attributed to HCT and 55
were non-HCT attributed.
Medication incidents
113

135

114

82

Q1
10

Total number of
medication incidents

18

12

Q2

9

Total number of
medication incidents
resulting in low harm

1

1

0

0

0

0

0

0

Total number of
Total number of
medication incidents
medication incidents
resulting in moderate resulting in severe harm
harm

Q3
Q4

Central Alert System
During Q4 a total of 29 CAS alerts were received within HCT:
• 13 of these were not applicable to HCT
• 5 were applicable to HCT
• 10 were cascaded for information only
• 1 is currently being triaged
Total number of CAS
alerts applicable to
HCT
Number of CAS alerts
disseminated, actions
completed and alert
closed
Number disseminated,
actions on going and
alert remains open

Q1

Q2

Q3

6

7

9

3

Closed
within
timescales

3

On
trajectory
to close
within
timescales

3

Closed
within
timescales

4

On
trajectory
to close
within
timescales

6

Closed
within
timescales

3

On
trajectory
to close
within
timescales

Q4
5

4

Closed
within
timescales

1

On
trajectory
to close
within
timescales

The CAS alerts applicable to HCT can be broken down as below:
CAS alerts breakdown
3

Estates & Facilities

1

1

Patient Safety Alerts

Medical Devices
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Serious Incidents and Local Investigations
Serious incidents
During Q4 there were three serious incidents (SIs) reported.
SIs reported during 2018/19

2

2

3

2

Q1
Q2
Q3
Q4

Total

SIs are detailed by category below:
Incident type

Treatment delay
Sub-optimal care
Fall
Total
•

•

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

1
1
0
2

0
1
1
2

0
2
0
2

0
1
2
3

Two serious incidents relate to patients who fell in HCT inpatient units. One patient sustained a fractured
neck of femur. The second patient’s fall resulted in the patient showing signs of new bleeding within the
part of the brain previously affected by a stroke. At the time of reporting it is not known what level of harm
the new bleeding may have caused.
The third serious incident relates to the care of a patient with a pressure ulcer who died nine days after
leaving HCT care. The cause of death was directly linked to the pressure ulcer. Safeguarding concerns
were raised by the acute hospital regarding the care of the patient prior to transfer their care.

On completion, each SI report will be reviewed at the Serious Incident Assurance Panel to provide assurance
of evidence of actions taken to address concerns identified and that changes have been embedded in
practice.
Themes and learning from SIs
• Investigation is underway for all three serious incidents reported in Q4.
• No themes have been identified with regard to teams reporting serious incidents.
• During 2018/19, the category with the most serious incidents reported has been ‘suboptimal care’; four of
these relate to the care of patients with pressure ulcers and one relates to concerns regarding the overall
care of a complex patient.
• Six serious incident investigation reports have been submitted to the commissioners during 2018/19 with
varied care and service delivery problems identified. Common themes have included:
− Gaps in the timely completion of risk assessments
− Lack of evidence of actions taken in response to assessments
−
Lack of documentation of preventative advice and advice given in regard to concordance with
advised treatment
Equality characteristic group information
The percentage of serious incidents which include equality characteristic group information is outlined below:
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Equality characteristic group information - SIs
100%

100%

100%

100%

Gender

Race

Age

Disability

NB: Religion or belief is only reported where it is relevant to the incident – this was not applicable to any of
the serious incidents reported during Q4.
Locally investigated incidents
During Q4 there were 3 locally investigated incidents reported.
Locally investigated incidents during 2018/19
4

4
3

3

Q1
Q2
Q3
Q4

Total

Locally investigated incidents are detailed by category below:
Incident type

Pressure ulcer
Sub-optimal care
Safeguarding concern
Medication error
Treatment delay
Fall
Information governance
Total
•
•
•

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

3
1
0
0
0
0
0
4

1
3
0
0
0
0
0
4

0
1
1
1
0
0
0
3

0
0
0
0
1
1
1
3

The investigation regarding treatment delay concerns the potential delayed diagnosis of a child’s hearing
loss.
The investigation of the fall relates to a patient who fell in an inpatient unit resulting in a dislocated hip
causing moderate harm.
The investigation relating to information governance relates to the loss of a number of slips with details of
children’s accident and emergency department attendances.

Themes and learning from locally investigated incidents
• No themes have been identified with regard to the teams where incidents occurred.
• Over the year 2018/19, incidents relating to suboptimal care remain the largest group; however these
relate to varied concerns regarding care delivered.
• Findings from investigations linked to the management of pressure ulcers reflect similar themes to
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•

serious incidents and findings from previous years, including gaps in the completion of skin and risk
assessments, lack of enquiry as to how the pressure ulcer may have developed and about patient’s
lifestyles, a lack of evidence of escalation of concerns and lack of documentation regarding preventative
advice and advice given regarding non-concordance with the advised plan of care.
Six case reviews have also been undertaken during Q4 relating specifically to the management of
pressure ulcers. During 2018/19 5 local investigations have been related to the management of pressure
ulcers.

Freedom To Speak Up
Q1
4

Number of concerns raised

•
•
•
•

Q2
3

Q3
5

Q4
3

During Q4 three concerns were raised.
Concerns were raised by different people from different areas.
Whilst no concern required investigation, all concerns were brought to the attention of the appropriate
senior manager for them to progress.
Promotional activities continued during Q4 with, for example, Ambassadors attending each new staff
corporate induction and promotional items were included in the all staff ‘Noticeboard’ Trust publication.

Litigation and Claims
During Q4:
• 0 clinical negligence claims have been received
• 3 clinical negligence claims have been closed

Safer Care
Safety Thermometer data
During Q4 the average harm free care rate was 97.53%, benchmarked against the national benchmark of
95%:
Safety Thermometer - harm free care
100.00%
97.96%

98.27%

Q1
Q2

97.74%

97.53%

Q3
Q4

National
benchmark:
95%

95.00%

The average
90.00% rates of ‘harms’ for Q4 are shown below:
Harm free care in HCT
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Safety Thermometer - average 'new' harms
1.50%
1.32%

0.91%

0.90%

0.81%

Q1
Q2

0.60%

0.53% 0.53%
0.38%

0.36% 0.35%

Q3

0.27%

Q4

0.03% 0.03% 0.06% 0.03%

New pressure ulcers

Falls with harm

New catheter-associated
UTIs

New VTEs

During Q4 HCT’s Risk team began triangulating inpatient falls resulting in harm reported via the Safety
Thermometer with incidents reported on Datix, with any reporting anomalies being followed up with the
respective Ward Manager to validate the data reported. This has helped to provide additional assurance
regarding the accuracy of the falls information collected using the Safety Thermometer.
Safety Thermometer data continues to be monitored and scrutinised at Patient Safety & Experience Group
meetings.
Falls in community inpatient units
Falls in community inpatient units

100
80

80

Q1

87

Q2
Q3
40
17

23

Q4

16
0

Total number of falls in
community inpatient units

•
•
•
•

•

1

1

1

1

1

1

3

Total number of injurious Number of falls categorised Number of falls categorised
falls in community inpatient
as resulting in moderate
as resulting in severe harm
units
harm

During Q4, one fall resulted in moderate harm
A patient fell in Langley House sustaining a dislocated hip; an internal investigation is currently
underway.
During Q4, three falls resulted in severe harm.
Two of these occurred at Herts and Essex:
− One patient had an unwitnessed fall and sustained a fracture neck of femur which required surgery;
this has been declared as a serious incident and is currently being investigated.
− One patient fell resulting in a peri-prosthetic fracture of distal left femur. A case review confirmed that
all preventative care was in place and this incident was not declared as a serious incident. This
incident will be considered as a comparator during investigation of the incident above.
A third fall resulting in severe harm occurred in Danesbury Neurological Unit where a patient fall resulted
in a fractured neck of femur; this fall has been declared as a serious incident.
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National Benchmarking
• Rate of falls per 1000 Occupied Bed Days (OBD) September 2018 to February 2019: HCT reported an
average of 5.6 falls per 1000 OBD against a national benchmark of 7.74 falls per 1000 OBD
• Rate of injurious falls per 1000 OBD September 2018 to February 2019: HCT reported an average of
0.20 injurious falls per 1000 OBD against a national benchmark of 2.07 injurious falls per 1000 OBD.
Based on data available from NHS Benchmarking for 6 months ending February 2019
Achievements:
• The third Annual Falls Champion Training Day was held in March 2019; this included training on
implementing the RCP guidance on lying / standing blood pressure assessment.
• The results of the Q3 falls spot check audit provided assurance that QVM Hospital demonstrated good
compliance with the new Falls policy and procedure.
Areas requiring improvement identified / actions taken
• Gaps were identified in the Q3 audit regarding implementation of the new Falls policy and particularly in
relation to the assessment of lying and standing blood pressure.
• As a result each unit is developing an action plan specific to their unit to address the gaps identified.
Falls assessment compliance
• A re-audit of implementation of the new Falls policy and procedure was undertaken during Q4 to gain
assurance that identified gaps have been addressed. The results of this audit continue to be analysed at
the time of the report.

Pressure ulcers
During Q4 there were 478 category 2 to 4 pressure ulcer incidents reported, representing 36% of all patient
safety incidents reported in the quarter. Of these, 26 were deemed to be avoidable.
Avoidable pressure ulcers
Avoidable pressure ulcers

8

Q1

19

16
9

34

11

14

15

Q2
Q3
Q4

Avoidable category 2 PUs

•
•
•

Avoidable category 3 and 4 PUs

Pressure ulcers are reported one month behind so the above data is for January and February 2019.
8 patients were residing in residential care home and 11 were receiving home care.
Reflective case reviews help explore with teams why there were omissions in care leading to avoidable
pressure ulcers. In Q4 one was held with the Watford CAHS and one is planned for WelHat ICT.

Achievements
• Deep dive undertaken to understand if pressure ulcer incidents are on the increase (presented to CCG
Quality Review Meeting in April 2019):
− 80% of patients receiving HCT care and developing a pressure ulcer are also receiving home care
(52%) or residing in a residential care home (28%)
− 70% of those patients reported via Datix with a pressure ulcer category 2 and above are over the
age of 80
− Generally, when considered over the last few years the total numbers of pressure ulcers have not
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increased; there is a month by month fluctuating pattern
Those pressure ulcer that are present on admission to HCT care do show an increase when
considered over the last few years
− This population of patents is increasingly elderly, living at home with social care support and has
limited opportunity for repositioning when relying on this type of care.
System-wide prevention strategies are needed that focus on social care and repositioning opportunities
using devices such as lateral tilting platforms/mattresses.
−

•

Areas requiring improvement identified / actions taken
• Staff following process and escalation guidance for capacity issues and prioritisation of referrals.

Learning from Deaths
There were a total of 16 patient deaths reported in Q4 meeting the criteria for undertaking a case record
review.
Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

Number of inpatient deaths reported in quarter

6

7*

5

9

Number of community deaths reported in quarter

6

3*

3

7

18*

10*

5*

13

Number of case record reviews undertaken in quarter

Number of deaths judged more likely to be due to
0
0
0
0
problems in care
*These figures have been amended following year-end review of information and validation of data.
NB: Information in the above table reflects the reporting requirements within the annual Quality
Account, that is, the number of deaths occurring each month/quarter is reported separately to the
number of case reviews that are undertaken each month/quarter; this is in recognition that not all case
note reviews are completed within the same quarter that the patient died.

Infection Prevention and Control
Healthcare Associated Infections (HCAI)
Healthcare Associated Infections
3

2

2

Q1
Q2

1

1

Q3
Q4

0
Clostridium difficile infections
(CDI)

•
•

0

0

MRSA blood stream infections
(BSI)

0

0

0

0

E.coli blood stream infections

CDI cases - although the Trust is currently above the annual CDI trajectory, appeals have been made in
respect to two further cases – cases 6 and 7. Cases 4 and 5 were successfully appealed.
MRSA blood stream infection – a system-wide post-infection review for the MRSA blood stream infection
case has been arranged by the CCG for May 2019.
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Outbreaks of HCAI
During Q4 there were no outbreaks of HCAI reported.
Achievements
• The Trust had no E.coli blood stream infections reported.
• The ‘To Dip Or Not To Dip’ training was relaunched in the inpatient units in February 2019 as part of the
system-wide working to reduce Gram-negative blood stream infections.
Areas requiring improvement identified / actions taken
• Improved infection prevention and control mandatory training uptake – the IPC team continues to provide
face-to-face training in addition to online training available.
• Stool risk assessments using the stool algorithm – stool chart to be amended to remind inpatient staff to
complete and document a risk assessment where patients have T5, T6 and T7 stools.
• Insufficient information in transfer documentation from discharging hospitals – ongoing system-wide work
to improve general transfer patient documentation.

Children and Adult Safeguarding
Safeguarding Children
Training and supervision
Safeguarding Children training and supervision
100%

98%

97%
95%

95%
90%

94%

97%
95%

96%

Trust target:
95%
Q1

90%

Q2
Q3

85%
Percentage of staff who are compliant
with SGC training*

Percentage of staff who are compliant
with SGC supervision

Q4

Training exception report
Level 1:
• Encompasses Corporate, Admin and Office staff. All non-compliant staff are individually followed up and
are requested to complete the Safeguarding Children training workbook. Compliance will continue to be
monitored.
Level 3
• Compliance does not include Hertfordshire Safeguarding Children Partnership (HSCP) training attendance
as these figures have not been provided at the time of the report due to training lead changes in the HSCP.
This is expected to raise compliance at this level for Q4.
• My Learning Zone (MLZ) Training pathways have recently been scrutinised and amended by the
Safeguarding Children team and Head of Learning & Development. Staff training pathways have been
corrected which may mean that some staff have not been counted as having received Level 3 training in the
past or have not been attending training commensurate to their role. This will continue to be closely
monitored.
Achievements
• A joint audit of 100 dip sample cases when a child attended Watford General Hospital or an unscheduled
walk-in service in the west of county has been undertaken in partnership with HVCCG to test the impact of
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the Paediatric liaison IT solution on patient safety. This audit demonstrated 100% compliance to the bulk
upload of information sharing and additionally gave assurance that the SystmOne ambulance icon was
activated in every audit sample, thus demonstrated that vulnerable children remain safe.
• Hertfordshire Urgent Care Centre have joined the Paediatric Liaison IT solution and all county-wide
attendances are bulk uploaded with email alerts to the duty teams of Public Health Nursing of the identified
vulnerable children.
• Two members of the team have completed the Mary Seacole Leadership training.
Areas requiring improvement / actions taken
• The Safeguarding Children team continues to progress through a comprehensive programme of
competency development.
• The team continues to upskill Public Health Nurses with report writing competence, this will enable the
Public Health Nurses to finalise their own child protection reports and support lower bands and
inexperienced colleagues.
The Safeguarding Children dashboard for Q4 is attached as Appendix 3.
Safeguarding Adults
Training
Safeguarding Adult training
100%

98% 96% 97%

97% 95% 97% 97%

96% 94% 98% 96%

99% 100%

96%
85%

90%
80%

Q1

70%

Q2

60%

Q3

50%
40%

41%

Q4

30%
Percentage of staff who Percentage of staff who Percentage of staff who Percentage of staff who
are compliant with
are compliant with
are compliant with MCA are compliant with DoLS
safeguarding adults
safeguarding adults
training
training
training Level 1
training Level 2

Training exception report
• Compliance with Level 1 Safeguarding training is at 41% as all staff previously requiring a ‘once only’
training session (Corporate staff) have been moved to 3-yearly refresher training programme to ensure
compliance with the new Safeguarding Adults Intercollegiate Document in 2019/20.
• DoLS training figures have reduced as there is no longer an online training option available for staff. A plan
is in place to deliver DoLS on site - this has already been undertaken at Simpson and St Peter’s Wards
during Q4.
Achievements
• The Safeguarding Activity for HCT has increased by 30% during 2018/19 (656 cases) compared to 503
cases during 2017/18.
• The publication of the new Safeguarding Adults Intercollegiate Document has prompted an initial review of
the Champions’ training to ensure compliance at Level 3; this will be extended to Levels 1 and 2 in April
2019.
• There has been one Court of Protection request for HCT involvement and provision of a report relating to a
Deprivation of Liberty which has been responded to within timescales.
• A number of SAR and DHR requests requiring HCT response have also been received.
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• During Q4, ten new Safeguarding Champions were trained, and a second administrator joined the team on
a fixed term contract to help manage the increase in cases reported.
Areas requiring improvement identified / actions taken
• Staffing capacity within the Safeguarding Adults team has been identified as a risk this year due to
capacity issues and the planned sick leave of the Named Nurse. This was mitigated with the appointment
of an Interim Safeguarding Adults Specialist Nurse in May 2018 and an Interim Named Nurse for
Safeguarding in December 2018 to provide cover until March 2019. The substantive Named Nurse
completed a phased return to work in February 2019. The team is now fully recruited.
• Safeguarding Champions supervision was not completed as planned in Q1 and Q3 due to staffing
capacity. Supervision sessions for Champions will be arranged during 2019/20 to provide assurance that
all Champions are fully trained and competent to undertake their role.
The Safeguarding Adult dashboard for Q4 is attached as Appendix 4.

Looked After Children and Care Leavers
98%
96%
94%
92%
90%
88%
86%
84%
82%
80%

•

97%

LAC completed Health Assessments 96%
94%

90%

89%

94%
90%

87%

Trust target:
90%
Q1
Q2
Q3
Q4

Percentage of all LAC Initial Health
Assessments referred to HCT staff completed
within agreed timescales

Percentage of all Review Health Assessments
of looked after children referred to HCT staff
completed with time scales

Clearance rates and exemptions are reported to senior managers, CCGs and Hertfordshire County
Council.

Achievements
• 97% of Review Health Assessments (RHAs) in county have been completed within timescale by
Specialist Looked after Children (LAC) Nurses.
• 98% Out of County (OOC) RHAs completed within timescale by Specialist LAC Nurses (2 refusals).
• Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust (HCT) LAC GPs completed 90% of Initial Health Assessments
(IHAs) within timescale.
• 93% of Public Health Nurses (PHNs) have attended their Level 3 LAC training. This training programme
is on a 3-year cycle with training compliance being monitored monthly.
• The health action plans for every looked after child are reviewed 3-monthly by the Lead Professional to
provide assurance that identified health needs have been actioned.
• The team has been working with SystmOne analysts to build the RHA paperwork into SystmOne to
improve quality, avoid duplication and save time; this went live on 2/1/19.
• HCT’s LAC team has been commissioned by Herts County Council to deliver training to Hertfordshire
Foster Carers on “What is Good health?” for the second year running.
• There has been 100% attendance from the LAC Specialist Nurses at the RISK, Transition to Adulthood
and Sexual Exploitation and Runaway Children’s (SEARCH) Panel. This is a multi-professional panel
who work with the most vulnerable LAC and Care Leavers to assess that all the appropriate services
have been accessed to provide support and reduce risk.
Areas requiring improvement identified / actions taken
• 89% of RHAs were completed by Public Health Nurses (PHNs) within timescale. Further support and
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•
•

guidance from the LAC Team has been required following the S1 changes. All breaches are reported
monthly and exception reports are provided by Children’s Universal Services. Team Leads, LAC
Champions and senior managers are informed of all breaches. 1:1 support is provided for staff by the
LAC team and a PHN staff competency framework will be formulated.
85% of Personal Health Information Plans have been completed for 18 year olds. Their voice and health
information requests are heard at their last health assessment and are recorded into their health plan.
The team’s nursing capacity has been reduced due to long term sick leave.
Out of County Health Assessments (OOC) which we are reliant on external providers to complete
continue to be a challenge. An escalation process to the CCG/Designated Nurse for LAC is in place to
ensure this concern continues to be monitored and raised at Regional and National level.
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AN OUTSTANDING PATIENT EXPERIENCE
Patient Surveys
The information below summarises Q4 community hospital inpatient survey results.
Community inpatient unit survey results
100%

100%
98%

98%

98.5%

99%

99%
98%

98%

96%

96%

Q1
Q2
Q3

94%

Q4

92%
90%

Percentage of patients who told us they were
treated with dignity and respect

Percentage of patients who told us that the
overall quality of care was good or better than
good

Achievements
• Herts and Essex - Excellent care. Beautiful food. I would always recommend the hospital to anybody.
Staff very nice and helpful. I was very happy with my stay at H&E Hospital
• Herts and Essex - The staff have been amazing. What has been a stressful, frightening experience, has
been made so much better by the nurses here. They give 100%. Full marks to you!
• Langley House - To go from independent to dependent in relation to my mobility overnight, with a long
recovery period, was extremely difficult for me to come to terms with. Both physically and
psychologically. The acute phase passed quickly and routinely. My experience in the community hospital
that lasted for more than 6 weeks was one I will remember warmly. I have progressed quickly purely
because of the kindness, encouragement and rehabilitation given to me to reach discharge. I will miss so
many wonderful people here.
• Langley House - Exceptional care, compassion, professionalism, encouragement are just some key
words to describe the staff here
• Potters Bar - Great attention to care and cleanliness, also Dr's very attentive and genuine with their care
- also very thorough
• QVM - Staying in QVM have been a good experience. The staff were very good, have been treated very
well
• Simpson Ward - my mother was very happy and comfortable on Simpson ward - she didn't want to leave
to go to a nursing home
• St Peters - First class care
• St Peters - the care I have been given has been amazing lovely ward with very nice staff
Areas requiring improvement identified / actions taken
• Herts and Essex – (survey question: Were you given enough written information about your medication
to help you understand why you need them and how to take them?) Communication was a problem
around starting and stopping tablets it would differ from one nurse to another
• Herts and Essex – (survey question: Sometimes in a hospital a member of staff will say one thing and
another say something else quite different. Did this happen to you?) Some confusion on day of discharge
• Langley House – (survey question: Were you given enough privacy when discussing your condition or
treatment? ) Difficult to have private discussions when sharing a room.
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•
•

Potters Bar – (survey question: Sometimes in a hospital a member of staff will say one thing and another
say something else quite different. Did this happen to you?) Doctors say one thing and the nurse
another.
QVM – (survey question: Were you told about medication side effects to watch out for when you went
home?) Not on going home. But wasn't told about the possible side effects of Codeine - sickness, this
was extreme

Patient Stories
In Q4, one patient story was shared at Board.
A family who had raised a complaint about the standard of care provided by the Specialist Palliative Care
Service were invited to the Board to further share their experiences. The Deputy General Manager for Herts
Valleys was in attendance to explain how the learning identified as a consequence of the complaint
investigation has been implemented. The family will also be invited to provide input to the End of Life Care
Always Event® project.

Friends and Family Test
FFT Score
100%
97%
96%
95%

Q1

95%

Q2

94%

Q3
Q4

90%
FFT score*

*The percentage of patients who would recommend Trust services to friends and family if they needed similar
care or treatment.
•
•
•

96% of patients (6,878 responses) told us that they would recommend Trust services to friends and
family if they needed similar care or treatment. This score meets the Trust performance target of 95%.
Those services that have underperformed in this area are exception reported in the BUPR.
For the full year, over 23,000 FFT responses were received, representing 8% of total patient contacts
with all Trust services.

Complaints and Compliments
Complaints
Number of complaints
received
Percentage of complaints
acknowledged within
agreed timescales

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

35

41

36

48

100%

100%

100%

100%
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Percentage of complaints
acknowledged responded
to within agreed
timescales
Number of complaints
received graded as
category 3
Number of complaints
referred to the
Parliamentary and Health
Service Ombudsman
Number of local
resolution meetings held

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

83%

90%

92%

95%

0

3

4

3

1

0

1

0

1

2

1

2

Trends and themes identified
• The total number of complaints received in Q4 was 48, which represents a 25% increase when compared
with Q3 (36) in the current financial year.
• The number of complaints received in Q4 was attributed as follows:
− 63% Adult Services in East and North Hertfordshire and Herts Valley;
− 35% Children’s Specialist, Children’s Therapies & Children’s Universal Services;
− 2% Quality and Governance
• In comparison, in Q3 69% of all complaints were received for Adult Services in East and North
Hertfordshire and Herts Valley, and 31% Children’s Specialist, Children’s Therapies & Children’s
Universal Services.
The top three issues raised were:
• Standards of care (38% of all complaints received)
• Staff attitude/behaviour (21% of all complaints received)
• Date for appointment (8% of all complaints received)
Examples of organisational learning and improvement from complaints
Theme
Adult Diabetes Community
Service
Communication (written and
verbal)

Community Hospital
Simpson Ward
Admissions/transfers/discha
rge procedure

Commentary
Concerns raised about the difficulty in
getting anyone to answer the phone to
arrange attendance at Group
Carbohydrate Awareness Course.
Unhappy with content of letter from
service considering it to be of poor quality
and threatening. Also unhappy that CEO
provides a 15 minute You Tube video
stating that the Trust is wonderful when
this has not been his experience and
would like to know what is being done to
improve it.
Patient's wife presented to Ward Manager
on Simpson Ward to complain that
husband had been transferred to hospital
appointment dressed in his pyjamas.

Outcomes/Learning
• The service is reviewing the content of the
education group invitation letter in
partnership with four patient
representatives. The Service will also
ensure the letter contains specific locations
of where the courses are held in
correspondence to patients.
• A review is to be undertaken to explore the
feasibility of using emails with patients.

• Poor practice of the agency worker was
reported to the agency via the CIMS
system
• Feedback from the agency was that the
worker had undergone additional training.
• The worker will not work in an HCT bed
base again.
• Where possible family members are
encouraged to escort relatives to outpatient
appointments as part of the partnership in
care initiative.
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Equality characteristic group information
The Patient Experience Team captures evidence to demonstrate equal access to all groups of people who
wish to make a complaint in line with the national directives to ensure equality for people in the 9 protected
characteristics groups.
Information gathered in Q4 indicates that the majority of complaints received were related to people aged
between 0-15 (18%), aged 51-65 (9%), 66-80 years (6%) and aged 80 years and over (5%). 60% of patients
did not provide this information.
Compliments
Number of compliments
received
Number of compliments
per 1000 patient contacts

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

6326

4695

5280

4212

14.5

10.9

11.8

11.3

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

160

248

288

249

42

31

41

55

50%

43%

51%

51%

7

5

1

2

PALS contacts
Number of PALS
contacts received
Number of enhanced
PALS contacts received
Percentage of PALS
contacts received that
were HCT-related
Number of MP enquiries
received

Enhanced PALS contacts
An enhanced PALS enquiry is one that cannot be answered immediately and requires further investigation or
action by the Trust service/s concerned and the PALS team.
A total of 55 enhanced PALS contacts have been recorded in Q4 and a total of 169 to date in 2018/19.
The top four Enhanced PALS contacts for Q4 are:
• Standards of care – 26%
• Communication – 19%
• Staff attitude/behaviour – 15%
• Admissions/Discharge arrangements – 15%
Examples of organisational learning and improvement from enhanced PALS
Theme
Standards of care

Commentary
Patient's daughter raised concerns
regarding the amount of therapy received
(not as promised by the discharging
hospital) and raised concerns with some
carers.

Outcomes/Learning
Local resolution: Apology given for lack of therapy
input.
Actions:
• Team Manager to liaise with Langley House to
request they do not give out specific time frames to
patients on discharge home.
• Note added to S1 that all future therapy
appointments should be booked through
complainant's sister.
• Team Manager to contact complainant when a
mainstream care package has been sourced.
Complainant happy with outcome.
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Theme
Patient
privacy/dignity

Date for
appointment

Commentary
Patient's sister called to raise concerns
regarding a gentleman patient at PBCH
Oakmere South with dementia and
?Parkinson's who is threatening staff and
patients. Patient threatened to enter her
sister's room yesterday, leaving her very
upset and frightened. Complainant is
concerned that the situation is
compromising her sister's rehabilitation.
Enquirer would like to raise concerns
regarding the non-attendance of the District
Nurse who failed to turn up as requested by
GP and Hospital.

Outcomes/Learning
Ward Manager confirmed patient's behaviour is
challenging in the evening due to his medical
condition. Patient is being reviewed daily by the
medical team and awaiting a long-term placement.
Action: Ward Manager spoke with complainant's sister
(the patient) about moving her to the north end of the
unit so that she is not in the immediate vicinity of the
patient. Patient agreed to move.
WGH did not refer patient until 3 days post discharge CQL to discuss this with WGH during their meeting.
Human error led to visit not being allocated when
referral has been received - Manager looking at other
ways to allocate tasks to avoid risk of human error.

Always Event – Patient Experience Quality Priority 2018/19
The Trust is part of a national cohort of organisations that is participating in the Always Events® programme
led by NHS England. Always Events® are aspects of the patient experience that are so important to patients,
families and carers that health care providers must aim to perform them consistently for every individual,
every time.
The vision statement for the Always Event relating to end of life care is:
‘I will always have an understanding of why I am being visited, by whom and how I can contact the
service day or night’

In April 2019, a small number of community nursing teams will pilot the use of an additional tab on SystmOne
within the core assessment to record that the patient understands why they are being visited, that information
has been provided about how to contact the service, and the patient has been asked what matters most.
This approach will be evaluated in May 2019, using reports generated from SystmOne and engagement with
patients and staff to understand any impact on reported patient experience in end of life care.

Learning Disabilities

Number of LD patients
attending HCT services
Number of LD patients
flagged on S1 (open
referrals)

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

1102

1235

1394

2477

1689

2001

2081

2110

Carers
Quality Priority 2019/21
• Starting from 1 April 2019 the quality priority (QP) aims to identify carers and ensure they are supported
and as involved as they want to be in care and staff who are carers will be identified and supported.
• Work to date includes:
− New templates on SystmOne to ensure the QP reporting requirements can be met
− Update of staff e-learning
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Updated referral forms for Carers in Herts and Young Carers in Herts are available on the intranet
A process for recording new staff who are carers and internal communications to identify existing staff
carers
An internal communications plan to ensure all staff are aware of the QP
An event to understand what matters to staff who are carers is planned for 8 May 2019.

Always Events®
• The vision and aim statement have been co-produced with staff from the pilot area and carers:
− Vision - Carers are always clearly signposted for support
− Aim - On Danesbury, 95% of carers will be signposted for support at the review meeting by October
2019
• The project will start from the 1st May 2019. Information for carers is already provided at the review
meeting but the Always Event® aims to ensure this always happens for every carer.
• Signposting for carers includes:
− List of relevant people and contact numbers
− Hours of the community services such as the integrated care teams
− Carers in Herts
− Herts Independent Living Service
− The Carers handbook
− Personalising of information according to individual’s situation.
• Measurement of the Always Event®:
− Follow-up phone calls with four carers a month
− Audit of the review meeting checklist.
Carers Champions annual away day
• Staff from HCT, GP practices, HPFT, Herts County Council and the voluntary sector with a particular
interest in supporting carers attended the training event. The varied line up of speakers ensured that staff
went away with a greater understanding of how to identify both adult and young carers and how to
signpost to a wide range of support. The event received very positive feedback.

CCG/GP Hotline Enquiries
Q1
Q2
Q3
Q4
Proportion of urgent
No urgent
No urgent
No urgent
No urgent
ENHCCG hotline enquiries
enquiries
enquiries
enquiries
enquiries
responded to within 5
received
received
received
received
working days
Proportion of routine
ENHCCG hotline enquiries
73%
100%
92.8%
100%
responded to within 20
working days
The above figures relate to ENHCCG hotline enquiries only as specified in the Quality Schedule 2018/19.
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EXCELLENT CLINICAL EFFECTIVENESS
National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) Quality Standards (QS)
and Guidance
The NICE Working Group (NWG) reviews NICE guidance (NG) and quality standards (QS) released at the
end of each month by the NICE. Where the guidance is found to be applicable to HCT commissioned
services, action plans are reviewed at the NWG and an update is provided to the Clinical Effectiveness Group
(CEG) meeting to provide assurance of clinical compliance of meeting evidenced-based practice standards.
Month
Assessed
Applicable
Total NICE
Total NICE
assessed
applicable
Q4
NG
QS
NG
QS
January
17
0
17
10
0
10
February
9
5
14
2
4
6
March
13
1
14
7*
0*
7*
Total
39
6
45
19
4
23*
*Guidance received in March is awaiting assessment of applicability by all NWG members
Assurance of compliance received at the NWG (3 sets of NICE guidance implemented)
Nice Guideline NG 62 - Cerebral palsy in under 25s: assessment and management. Health Visiting
(HV) Service
• The HV Service liaises with the Midwifery team for any pregnancies identified as being high risk.
• At the New Birth Visit (NBV) with signs, symptoms and meningitis risks are discussed and recorded in the
Red Book. HCT website has information.
• HVs are trained on risks associated with infections and accidents that occur that might affect the baby’s
head, i.e. shaken baby syndrome.
• HVs carry out development reviews which include gross motor and neurological cognitive development.
• HVs provide support to parents with children with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) as
per SEND pathway. HVs are in a position to refer to additional services. This may involve support groups
(e.g. PALMS or STEP 2).
• HVs involve parents and share information in many different ways that suit the personal academic levels.
Nice Guideline NG 85 – Pancreatic cancer in adults: diagnosis and management. HMP The Mount
• Patients at HMP The Mount will be reviewed by the GP and referred to the appropriate specialist services
if there are new or unresolved symptoms after treatment.
• For people who have new, unexplained or unresolved symptoms after treatment, access should be
provided to specialist investigation and support services.
Nice Guideline NG 106 – Chronic heart failure in adults: diagnosis and management. Community
Cardiology Service
• Patients have appointments with the Cardiologist from West Hertfordshire Hospitals NHS Trust (WHHT)
and the Consultant twice a month. Currently WHHT are seeking to recruit a Heart Failure Consultant.
• HCT’s patient discharge to primary care is already in place.
• Diagnostics take pace in secondary care.
• Heart failure nurse caseload review dip test audits ensure continued quality improvements.

Clinical Audit
Learning from National Clinical Audit Reports
National Audit of Intermediate Care (NAIC) 2017/18 – received at CEG in February 2019
Risk rating: Amber/Green
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The NAIC is a benchmarking audit to assess performance around referrals, activity, finance, workforce and
quality in inpatient and adult community services. The results demonstrated that 85% of intermediate care
goals were met for inpatients (higher than the national average). The prevalence of pressure ulcers in
inpatient wards is one of the lowest compared to the national average. There has been a decrease in the
proportion of patients discharged back to the acute hospital from either community or inpatient services. HCT
was shown to be a cost efficient organisation when compared to the national average. The audit also
includes Patient-reported Experience Measures (PREMs) and it was found that patients generally reported
positive experiences on all aspects of services measured. The national report also demonstrated that HCT
has a higher number of delayed transfers of care. The main reasons for this were patients waiting for care
packages in their own home or awaiting a care home placement.
Actions include:
• Further scrutiny by clinicians and the Performance and Information (P&I) Team to better identify and
understand the findings and outcomes from the audit.
• Develop appropriate recommendations for HCT services and how these can be taken forward.
• Head of P&I Team to organise a small working group to further review the report and update the CEG in
June 2019.
NB: The NAIC is not collecting 2019/2020 data and has been taken off the Quality Accounts list (April 2019).
Learning from Local Clinical Audits
5 Year Evaluation of Hertfordshire Newborn Screening Programme in Babies born with a Sickle Cell
Disorder
The Newborn Screening programme enables early identification of infants with sickle cell disease. Without
treatment, children with sickle cell disease have high mortality from infection, splenic sequestration, anaemia
and an increased risk of stroke. A data base was devised of all babies born between the dates of April 2013
and April 2018. Results were compared against data from the National Screening Programme. 100% of
babies born in Hertfordshire with a sickle cell condition were seen by the sickle cell specialist nurse by day 28
and families informed of the diagnosis, given a parent handbook and health education by the specialist nurse.
93.5% of the babies were offered an appointment by 3 months of age; however, only 90.3% were seen
(moved out of area and refused).
No deaths have occurred in children born with sickle cell conditions in Hertfordshire in last 5 years. The
evaluation of the national screening programme noted 3 deaths caused by invasive pneumococcal disease
which was sensitive to penicillin v.
Actions include:
• Continue Multi-Disciplinary Team working in order to achieve a standard of 95% of babies in Hertfordshire
with a positive screening result seen in a specialist clinic by 3 months of age.
• The specialist nurse has provided local care and support to families since April 2013.
• Continue to review the data and promote penicillin versus compliance to ensure continuous quality
improvement in order that no deaths occur from pneumococcal disease.
Falls Policy Spot Check Audit - December 2018
The purpose of the falls audit was to gain assurance that falls prevention measures within the updated falls
policy were being implemented within the inpatient units. The Q3 falls spot check audit was carried out by
Falls Champions during December 2018. All Falls Champions were asked to review patient records within
their units on one day within a specified week.
Significant gaps in practice were identified in all areas of the audit across the inpatient units which require
focussed attention to ensure that all reasonable measures are in place to prevent patients from falling.
However QVM achieved almost full compliance in all areas that were audited. All patients audited in
Danesbury, Simpson and QVM had a risk assessment and initial care plan completed within 2 hours of
admission. Across all units, 59% of patients had no evidence of multidisciplinary contribution to their
multifactorial assessment and intervention plan. Across the units (with the exception of QVM and Holywell)
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there are significant gaps (69%) in compliance with assessment of postural blood pressures. QVM Hospital
was the only unit where all patients audited had both lying and standing blood pressure assessment.
Actions include:
• Each individual unit to undertake appropriate actions for quality improvement and this is to be followed up
by the Clinical professional Lead Inpatients (Therapist).
• Clinical Professional Lead Therapy currently supporting ‘escalated services’ Simpson Ward and Herts &
Essex Hospital’s Falls Champions and Ward Leadership Teams with ‘Task and Finish’ groups to address
gaps and provide appropriate assurance of improved implementation.
• Close links with the operational management team ensures support and delivery of actions to appropriate
timescales.
• Liaison with SystmOne Team to develop daily clinical reports to support Ward Leadership Teams to
identify gaps on a daily basis.
• Audit results shared at the Patient Safety and Experience Group (PSEG) Friday 22nd February 2019 and
at Ward Managers Meeting Monday 25th February.
Developmental Dimensional Diagnostic interview for Autism (3DI) – March 2019
The aim of the audit was to establish if the use of Developmental, Dimensional and Diagnostic Interview for
autism (3di) reduced the Communication Disorder Assessment Clinic (CDAC) waiting list. The audit also
looked at whether there was a reduction in the time from referral to diagnosis. A retrospective review of all the
clinics’ patient records on SystmOne and 3di summary reports, between June 2018 and January 2019, was
undertaken. The total number of records reviewed was 176 and assessed NICE Clinical Guidelines CG128 Autism diagnostic assessment for children and young people.
47 3dis were carried out over 8 months. 29% of those who had 3di were added to CDAC waiting list. In 42%,
an Autistic Spectrum Disorder (ASD) diagnosis was made. Of these, 80% were new patients. Overall the
waiting time was reduced for patients being seen and the 3di provides an efficient and accurate means of
assessing the presence of autistic symptoms. This means that patients get diagnosed sooner and can start
receiving treatment to help support their health needs.
Actions include:
• All clinicians to be trained in 3di.
• Use 3di for the initial appointment and new referrals for autism.
• Add patient to CDAC list (complex background, different opinions between parents/ school report/awaiting
school report) if diagnosis is not made in the first appointment to reduce further delays in diagnosis.
• Re-audit in one year.
HCT has an effective programme of implementation of local audits.
CQC report following inspection
January 2019
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Medicines Management
Review of NICE Technology Appraisals
• During Q4 NICE published 18 TAs; all of these were reviewed and found to be not applicable to HCT
commissioned services. All applicable TAs are followed up through the NICE guidance and quality
standard review process.
Antibiotic prescribing audit - community inpatient units
Point prevalence audit was undertaken in January 2019
• 25 patients were prescribed oral/IV antibiotics/antifungals/antivirals (27 prescriptions issued)
• In 16 of the patients prescribed antibiotics/antifungals/antivirals, the prescription was initiated by HCT
doctors
• 16 out of these 16 (100%) patients were prescribed antibiotics/antifungal/antiviral in line with pan-Herts or
primary care guidance or HCT guidelines.
• 21 out of 27 (78%) antimicrobial prescriptions across the eight units had the indication for the antibiotic
documented in the notes. The previous audit reported 83% achievement, and 90% achievement prior to
that. Adherence to this standard must be undertaken in all cases and as such 100% attainment should
be expected. The use of green antimicrobial stickers will encourage this.
• All 27 antimicrobial prescriptions across the eight units had a review or stop date recorded on the
patient’s drug charts. This is an improvement from the previous audit which reported 93% achievement.
Medicines Related CAS Alerts
MHRA Alerts
• During Q4 8 MHRA updates have been received.
• 8 were applicable to HCT, all of which have been circulated to all HCT medical and non-medical
prescribers for information; none have been circulated for action.
Medicines Related Patient Safety Alerts
• During Q4 no medicines related patient safety have been received.
CMO – Chief Medical Officer Alerts
• During Q4, no alerts have been received.

Public Health Metrics
Make Every Contact Count (MECC) Training
Number of eligible staff
Number of eligible staff who have received MECC training
Percentage of eligible staff who have received MECC
training

Q1
2165
1055

Q2
2237
1076

Q3
2070
1037

Q4
1937
980

48.73

48.10

50.10

50.59
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Patient Advice Regarding Alcohol Consumption
Q4 1819
Alcohol consumption above Weekly Allowance

Units
East & North Herts Acute Therapy Services
East & North Herts Cardiac Rehab Service
East & North Herts Integ Comm Team - Lower Lea Valley
East & North Herts Integ Comm Team - North Herts
East & North Herts Integ Comm Team - Stevenage
East & North Herts Integ Comm Team - Stort Valley and Villages
East & North Herts Integ Comm Team - Upper Lea Valley
East & North Herts Integ Comm Team - WelHat
East & North Herts Leg Ulcer Service
East & North Herts Neuro Rehab service
East & North Herts Nutrition & Dietetics Service
East & North Herts Respiratory Care Service
East & North Herts SLT Service Adults
East & North Herts Stroke Early Support Discharge
Hertfordshire Diabetes Service
Hertfordshire Adult Bladder and Bowel Care Service
Herts Specialist Palliative Care
West Herts Chronic Fatigue Synd & Pain Mngt Prog
Hertfordshire Community Hospitals
Total

Advice on
alcohol
consumption
specified
4
1
0
0
0
2
2
3
0
0
1
5
0
4
5
0
1
0
10
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Total for E&N CCGs
Advice on
alcohol
consumption
Not specified Total
8
12
1
2
2
2
5
5
6
6
1
3
1
3
6
9
1
1
3
3
5
6
11
16
1
1
3
7
1
6
1
1
0
1
1
1
0
10
57
95

% Advice on
alcohol
consumption
specified
33.33%
50.00%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%
66.67%
66.67%
33.33%
0.00%
0.00%
16.67%
31.25%
0.00%
57.14%
83.33%
0.00%
100.00%
0.00%
100.00%
40.00%

Q4 1819
Alcohol consumption above Weekly Allowance
Total for Herts Valley CCGs
Advice on
Advice on
% Advice on
alcohol
alcohol
alcohol
consumption consumption
consumption
specified
Not specified Total
specified
Units
Hertfordshire Diabetes Service
2
7
9
22.22%
Hertfordshire Podiatry Service
2
1
3
66.67%
West Herts Adult SALT Service
0
2
2
0.00%
West Herts Cardiac Rehab
9
10
19
47.37%
West Herts Community Adult Health Service - Dacorum
3
6
9
33.33%
West Herts Community Adult Health Service - Hertsmere
1
7
8
12.50%
West Herts Community Adult Health Service - St Albans & Harpend
3
4
7
42.86%
West Herts Community Adult Health Service - Watford
2
2
4
50.00%
West Herts Heart Failure Service
5
3
8
62.50%
West Herts Neuro Rehab Service
0
2
2
0.00%
West Herts Stroke Early Support Discharge
6
6
12
50.00%
Herts Valley Discharge Unit
1
0
1
100.00%
West Herts Leg Ulcer Service
0
1
1
0.00%
Hertfordshire Community Hospitals
30
0
30
100.00%
Total
64
51
115
55.65%
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Weight Management
Q4 1819 - East & North Herts CCG
(For ICT teams this applies to patients seen more than once).
Patients
% of BMI
From BMI
with
25 and
BMI
% BMI Recorded - Advice
direct
Over with
Recorded Recorded those 25 Recorded
contact in
advice
or above
Period
recorded
Community Cardiology
Diabetes
Nutrition & Dietetics
Integrated Care Teams - Lower Lea Valley
Integrated Care Teams - Stevenage
Integrated Care Teams - North Herts
Integrated Care Teams - Royston
Integrated Care Teams - Upper Lea Valley
Integrated Care Teams - WelHat
Integrated Care Teams - Stort Valley and Villages
West Herts Community Adult Health Service - Hertsmere

67
1488
1978
722
888
1367
83
1060
990
594
4

49
1003
1219
526
761
1035
69
780
832
437
3

73.13%
67.41%
61.63%
72.85%
85.70%
75.71%
83.13%
73.58%
84.04%
73.57%
75.00%

28
823
423
262
395
504
26
345
366
188
0

24
360
269
29
73
57
3
61
50
31
0

85.71%
43.74%
63.59%
11.07%
18.48%
11.31%
11.54%
17.68%
13.66%
16.49%
-

From BMI
Recorded those 30 or
above

Referral to LA weight
management
programme

14
519
220
124
172
225
6
144
155
83
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

From BMI
Recorded those 30 or
above

Referral to LA weight
management
programme

70
109
0
1
199
140
128
235

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Q4 1819 - Herts Valley CCG
(For ICT teams this applies to patients seen more than once).
Patients
From BMI
% of BMI 25
with
BMI
% BMI Recorded - Advice
and Over
direct
Recorded Recorded those 25 Recorded with advice
contact in
or above
recorded
Period
Community Cardiology
Nutrition & Dietetics
Integrated Care Teams - Stevenage
Integrated Care Teams - WelHat
West Herts Community Adult Health Service - Dacorum
West Herts Community Adult Health Service - Hertsmere
West Herts Community Adult Health Service - St Albans & Harpenden
West Herts Community Adult Health Service - Watford

349
1505
3
6
1317
1023
1004
1579

231
1021
2
6
1026
760
750
1223

66.19%
67.84%
66.67%
100.00%
77.90%
74.29%
74.70%
77.45%

157
244
1
1
456
328
307
564

61
199
0
0
57
56
28
112

38.85%
81.56%
0%
0%
13%
17%
9.12%
19.86%
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Smoking status and advice given
Percentage of patients with a smoking status recorded
Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

Adult Specialist Services

94.15%

93.57%

93.83%

87.48%

Children's and Young People's Services

90.73%

89.17%

89.56%

82.34%

East & North Herts ICT

97.01%

97.92%

97.63%

94.39%

Herts Valley ICT

95.13%

95.11%

96.73%

92.39%

Inpatients

100.00%

100.00%

100.00%

100.00%

Percentage of people who smoke
Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

Adult Specialist Services

8.05%

8.26%

8.54%

11.61%

Children's and Young People's Services

12.12%

12.81%

12.02%

10.76%

East & North Herts ICT

6.49%

6.29%

2.72%

9.47%

Herts Valley ICT

6.45%

6.22%

6.31%

7.82%

Inpatients

4.62%

4.49%

5.94%

4.27%

Percentage of smokers given brief intervention advice
Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

Adult Specialist Services

61.05%

60.09%

61.80%

81.34%

Children's and Young People's Services

73.83%

71.65%

69.65%

82.83%

East & North Herts ICT

67.70%

71.76%

69.92%

90.30%

Herts Valley ICT

57.01%

59.16%

60.28%

76.84%

Inpatients

100.00%

100.00%

100.00%

100.00%

Number of smokers referred to HSSS (as reported by HSSS)

Total

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

27

158

39

29
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Appendix 1: Continuous Quality Improvement Plan – Simpson and St Peter’s Wards

Continuous Quality Improvement Plan
Date Reviewed: 18th Jan 2019

Service: Simpson & St Peters
Action
from:

Issue/Gap/Action Required

Assigned
Person

Date by:

Progress to Date/ Evidence of change

KPI Sustained
consistently
for 3/12

1.

CCG
visit
18/01/19

Staff and patient notices - the walls and boards were
cluttered with information leaflets and notices.
St Peter’s advised to ensure that information was up
to date and current. The ward was also advised to
consider decluttering the walls.

Sr
Sylvia

18/01/19

Notice boards addressed on day of visit.

29/03/19
Regular visits
to ward has
found 100%
compliance.

2.

CCG
visit
18/01/19

Patient care plans and records – Bed side folders and
information to be secured in a more appropriate way
that ensures privacy and safety of patient
information, St Peter’s ward folders were left
hanging on the corridor walls.

Sr
Sylvia

25/01/19

New folders acquired to house bed side
documentation. Bed folders removed
from corridor and placed at bed end for
all patients.

29/03/19
Regular visits
to ward has
found 100%
compliance.

3.

CCG
visit
18/01/19

Heating appliance and air conditioning panel Simpson Ward to consider relocating the oil filled
heater which was noted to be located in the middle
of the ward without a guard around it. St Peter’s
Ward to ensure that he air conditioning panel is kept
closed constantly for patient safety.

Sr
Nova

18/01/19

Oil heater relocated immediately after
visit.

Sr Joy

21/01/19

Air conditioning panel closed 21/01/19.

29/03/19
Regular visits
to ward has
found 100%
compliance.

Patient call bells- these to be within the patients
reach at all times

Sr
Nova
Sr
Sylvia

18/01/19

Concern raised for patients in escalation
area, where manual beds are in
operation. All Bells checked on both
wards.

4.

CCG
visit
18/01/19

18/01/19

RAG

29/03/19
Regular visits
to wards has
found 100%
compliance.
Escalation
beds closed on
St Peters
27/03/19
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5.

CCG
visit
18/01/19

Multidisciplinary communication – patient to be
involved as an integral part of the process.

Sr
Nova
Sr
Sylvia

21/01/19

Red to Green process well embedded in
both units when planning for discharge,
as is “partnership in care”, an initiative
which involves family and carers in care.

29/03/19
Regular visits
to ward has
found 100%
compliance

RAG Status:
Action not yet initiated
but within target

Action in progress and on
target

Action in progress and
likely to miss target

Action in progress but not
on target or target has
expired

Action Complete

Action Deferred
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Appendix 2: Internal Peer Review Summary

Location
Safe
Effective
Caring/Responsive
Well-led
Overall Compliance

HEH
% score
65%
59%
78%
63%
66%

Internal Peer Review of Community Hospitals Quarter 4 2018/19
Holywell
PBCH
St. Peters
Danesbury
% score
% score
% score
% score
88%
85%
71%
96%
80%
73%
95%
88%
94%
93%
86%
86%
0%
93%
85%
81%

Simpson
% score
60%
90%
80%
70%
75%

Langley
% score
72%
85%
91%
86%
84%

Internal Peer Review of ICT/CAHsEast & North Herts Q4 2018/19
Location

Safe
Effective
Caring/Responsive
Well-led
Overall Compliance

North Herts

Stort Valley

Upper Lea
Valley

Lower Lea
Valley

% score
94%
97%
100%
86%
94%

% score
98%
91%
98%
84%
93%

% score
96%
94%
97%
92%
95%

% score
89%
82%
97%
93%
90%

Internal Peer Review of ICT/CAHs Herts Valley Q4 2018/19
Watford
% score
Safe
80%
Effective
66%
88%
Caring/Responsive
Well-led
83%
Overall Compliance
79%
Location

Domain Scoring:
Services are either
Compliant or Non-compliant.
Compliant is 90% or higher
Overall Scoring:
Compliance is 90% or more = Green
Below 80% in Safe or Effective = Red
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Appendix 3: Safeguarding Children Dashboard
No.

Indicator

1

Safeguarding children training compliance

2

% of eligible staff CP Supervision

3

% vacancy rate of the funded establishment of SGC Nurses in post

4

Number of new SI's involving children

5

Number of items on Risk Register Safeguarding Children related

6

Number of children/families referred to CS

7

Note : TOTAL % of children = total number of children accepted for
an assessment or early help intervention
*=
Data still awaited from Children's Services of outcomes of referrals (if
applicable) Exceptional Report. This will be completed once we have
the audit data prior to sending the DASHBOARD for the SG forum.

Who from
?

Target

Apr-18

May-18

Jun-18

Q1

Jul-18

Aug-18

Sep-18

Q2

Oct-18

Nov-18

Dec-18

Q3

Jan-19

Feb-19

Mar-19

Q4

95%

97%
98%
95%
100%

97%
98%
95%
100%

96%
97%
95%
100%

96%
97%
95%
100%
100%
96%
95%

95%
98%
96%
100%

95%
97%
95%
100%

89%
93%
77%
100%

89%
93%
77%
100%
91%
96%
100%

93%
95%
79%
100%

93%
95%
83%
100%

95%
96%
88%
100%

95%
96%
88%
100%
98%
95%
100%

88%
95%
89%
100%

91%
95%
85%
100%

92%
97%
88%
100%

0%

0%

8%

100%
8%

8%

11%

5%

100%
5%

0%

0%

0%

100%
0%

0%

10%

10%

92%
97%
88%
100%
89%
93%
100%
96%
100%
10%

ST

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Risk
Reg/ST

4
19
13
5
4
25
13
81%
9

3
32
15
12
6
45
13
62%
3

3
22
15
9
6
31
14
88%
8

3
73
43
26
16
101
40
77%
20
0
5
16
0
0
3
0
0
48
3
7
1
13
0

4
22
15
19
8
41
22
100%
3
0
4
13
0
4
2
0
0
19
1
1
4
8
0

4
25
13
15
9
40
6
38%
2
0
0
3
0
1
0
0
0
24
0
0
0
6
0

4
19
13
2
2
21
3
60%
2
0
0
0
0
0
1
0
0
16
0
1
0
0
0

4
66
41
36
19
102
31
66%
7
0
4
16
0
5
3
0
0
59
1
2
4
14
0

4
53
32
7
4
60
23
74%
12
2
0
5
2
2
0
0
0
29
0
1
0
1
0

4
25
13
6
6
31
20
83%
13
0
2
7
0
0
0
0
0
7
2
2
0
3
0

5
10
5
0
0
10
4
100%
4
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
6*
0
0
0
1
0

5
88
50
13
10
101
47
86%
29
2
2
12
2
2
0
0
0
36
2
3
0
5
0

5
31
15
1
1
32
17
94%
14
0
2
3
0
0
0
0
0
14
0
2
0
2
0

5
20
12
1
1
21
14
100%
3
0
0
9
0
0
1
1
0
7
1
0
0
3
0

5
20
10
2
1
22

5
71
37
4
3
75
31
97%
17
0
2
12
0
0
1
1
0
21
2
5
0
6
0

BI portal
(SGC
admin)

SGC
admin (AP)

ST/AA

Dan
Bowyer/our
aduit
(RR/SB)

HSCB
audit
(RR/SB)

Level 1
Level 2
Level 3
Level 4
School Nurses
Health Visitors
CSS
AHPs
SCT & LAC team
*=SUM(0/10.5)

95%

96%
0%

CUS children
CUS families
CSS children
CSS families
TOTAL children
Referral accepted
TOTAL % children
SG Assessment Team

Dan
Bowyer /
AP

No of CAF's / Families First Assessment

9

No of GCP's [children] instigated (data from SystmOne)

RR

10

% of audited cases that comply to NBI policy

ST

11

Number of cases of Female Genital Mutilation referred to CS by Trust
staff

12

Number of suspected cases of CSE referred to CS / HALO by Trust staff

13

Number of suspected cases of Fabricated Induced Illness referred to CS
by Trust staff

14

Number of allegations about Trust staff referred to LADO

15

No of CP Medicals undertaken

16

0

0

0

Bruising (not included)
MASH
Families First
TYS

0
3
0
0
0
0
0
9
2
0
0
5
0

0
10
0
0
0
0
0
24
1
4
0
4
0

5
3
0
0
3
0
0
15
0
3
1
4
0

0

0

0

0

0

1

0

1

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

1

0

1

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

1

1

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

1

0

1

0

0

0

0

2
3
0
100%

0
3
0
100%

2
8
1
100%

4
14
1
100%

1
7
0
100%

0
1
0
100%

1
4
0
100%

2
12
0
100%

0
10
0
100%

3
3
0
100%

1
2
0
100%

4
15
0
100%

0
10
0
100%

1
5
0
100%

1
11
0
100%

2
26
0
100%

% of acute CP medicals seen within timescale

0
0
3
1
0
2
0
16
26
100%
100%

0
0
3
1
0
2
0
21
22
100%
100%

0
0
3
1
0
3
0
17
15
100%
100%

0
0
3
1
0
3
0
54
63
100%
100%

2
0
3
2
0
3
0
12
21
100%
95%

0
0
3
0
1
3
0
11
28
100%
100%

0
0
3
0
0
3
0
7
20
100%
94%

2
0
3
0
1
3
0
30
69
100%
96%

0
0
3
0
0
3
0
18
24
100%
100%

0
0
3
0
0
3
0
16
20
100%
100%

0
0
3
0
1
4
0
17
20
100%
100%

0
0
3
0
1
4
0
51
64
100%
100%

0
0
2
0
1
6
0
24
34
96%
100%

0%
0
2
0
0
4
0
31
27
93%
100%

0%
0
2
0
0
4
0
26
44
100%
95%

0
0
6
0
1
14
0
81
105
96%
98%

JCPIT
DAISU
No data (not included)
School Nurses
Health Visitors
School Nurses
Health Visitors
Other

17

HCT referrals to MARAC
Number of NEW DHRs
18 Number of active DHRs
Number of recommendations outstanding
Number of NEW SCRs
19 Number of active SCRs
Number of recommendations outstanding
20

Number of initial CP conferences invited to

21

% of initial CP conferences attended by an appropriate HCT
professional
Key:

CP
CS
CUS
DHR
SCR
SI

Child protection (SC - Safeguarding Children)
Children's Services
Children's Universal Services (HV / SN)
Domestic Homicide Review
Serious Case Review
Serious incident

Audit of records as per
agreed schedule

Lynne
Lancaster/ AP

Named
Nurse

Sexual abuse
Physical abuse
Neglect
24 hours

100%

SGCNs

Named
Nurse

School Nurses
Health Visitors
School Nurses
Health Visitors

1
3
0
1
0

100%

Our audit RR/SB

SGC
Admin
stats

96%

Current SW

0-25 Team

8

93%

100%

Shaded boxes = target not applicable
Shaded boxes - Still awaiting/collating data
JCPIT
Joint Child Protection Investigation Team
Targetted Youth Service
TYS
CSS
Children's Specialist Services
Domestic Abuse Investigation & Safeguarding Unit
DAISU
Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub
MASH
Social Worker
SW
Allied Health Professional
AHP

SN missed attendance in Jan & Feb. ICPC in Feb not recveived
HV missed attendance in Mar. ICPC not received + h/v sickness

2
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Appendix
4: Safeguarding
Dashboard
MEASURE/ACTIVITY
INDICATOR/DEFINITIONAdult THRESHOLD

Adult safeguarding
supervision

Training

95%

% of all clinical and medical
relevant staff who have
undertaken level 2 safeguarding
adults training (all clinical staff
including staff in supervisory
roles requiring a clinical
registration)

95%

% of all clinical and medical
relevant staff who have
undertaken DOLS training

95%

% of all clinical and medical
relevant staff who have
undertaken MCA training

95%

% of staff currently in date with
Prevent Training for staff who
require WRAP

Q1&2 Scoping exercise to
identify staff requiring
intermediate DA training
50% of these staff to be
trained by the end of Q4

Number of adult safeguarding
audits initiated
Number of Safeguarding Adults
audits completed

Basic domestic abuse
awareness training using
suplementary booklet in
induction

Q2- New IDVA due to start
end Sept.
First training planned for
11th Oct.

Band 7 post vacant from 1st
May 2018. Post offered and
start date set for 10th Sept.

Number of staff attending initial
SAFA Investigations

Number of SAR's the Trust is
involved in

Safeguarding Adult
Reviews & MASIRs

95%

% of clinical staff who have
undertaken Intermediate
Domestic Abuse awareness
training

Record Keeping/Audits

Q4-Online training no longer
available for DOLS on new
system- Plan in place to
deliver to ward staff by

QUARTER 1 QUARTER 2 QUARTER 3 QUARTER 4
Apr to Jun

JUL to SEP OCT to DEC JAN to MAR

76%

77%capacity
issues in
Safeguardin
g team.

0%- All due
second
supervision
Q3/Q4

0%

98%

97%

96%

100%

98%

96%

97%

41.25%

97%

95%

97%

96.87%

99%

100%

96%

85.06%

96%

94%

98%

96.40%

92.60%

90%

94%

96.30%

92.60%

93%

96%

97.60%

NHSE target 85%

80%

% Vacancy rate Safeguarding
specialists posts

Q4- To move in line with
Intercollegiate Document, all
staff that were previously on
'once only' Safeguarding
Adults level 1 (corporate
staff) have been moved
across to a 3 yearly
refresher programme in
preparation for 19/20 and
therefore has dropped
compliance

95%

% of all staff who have
undertaken basic Domestic
Abuse awareness training

Organisation Capacity

Caseload Activity Data

95%

% of staff who have undertaken
level 1 safeguarding adults
training every 3 years

% of staff currently in date with
Basic Prevent awareness training

COMMENTARY
(CCG)

16 supervision sessions
offered in Q1 and all
Champions asked to attend
one. Some rearranged to
Q2 or not able to meet due
to capacity issues in the
Safeguarding team.
Champions are offered
Supervision twice a
year.Unable to complete in
Q3/Q4 due to team
capacity. Plan for 2019/20
in place.

% of eligible staff compliant with
adult safeguarding supervision

% of staff who have undertaken
induction training

COMMENTARY
(PROVIDER)

Q3 One SAR suspended
pending
Safegaurding/Police review,
reopened Q4

Number of SAR's
recommendations outstanding
Number of MASIR the Trust is
involved in
Number of MASIR
recommendations outstanding

Booklet now
Additional
in use and all
information in
Booklet now staff attending
booklet to be
Trust
in use.
used from
Induction will
Sept induction
receive it.

No IDVA
currently in
place- 3
Intermediate domestic
services
abuse training delivered by
identified and
IDVA service.
dates
planned.

78.13%

No IDVA
currently in
place- 3
services
identified
and dates
planned.

1 x IDVA
session
delivered
10.10.18

1x IDVA
session
delivered
22.01.19

1wte

1wte

0

0

1

1

1

1

2

0

1

0

16

28

26

30

4

4

3

3

1

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

1

1

1

1

Risk Management

Number of Serious Incident
investigations Safeguarding Adult
related declared

Safeguarding Risk
Register

Number of items on risk register
safeguarding adult related

Staffing issues and reliance
on temporary staff placed
on risk register in Q2

0

1

1

0

Inspections CQC

Outstanding inspection issues
relating to Safeguarding Adults

CQC inspection within Q3
including Well-led
interviews. One related to
MCA in End of Life Care

0

0

0

1

Note: changes to Learning
Management System may
have impacted on the
overall compliance figures
in a minor way
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Healthcare Governance Committee
Tuesday 19th March 2019 2.00 – 5.00
Boardroom, Howard Court
Key Points for the Board and Audit Committee to note:
AMBER/RED
•
Pressure Ulcer Deep Dive
•
CQC update
•
Safe staffing ICT Teams (Dec 18/Jan 19)
AMBER/GREEN
•
Nascot Lawn 100 day report
•
East & North ICT Quality Impact Assessment (Q3)
•
Complaints Interim Report
•
Serious Incident report
•
Safe Staffing Community Hospital Dec 18 /Jan 19 Report
•
Medicines Management update
GREEN

Serious Incident Interim Report

1.
Present:

Present & Apologies
Anne McPherson
Brenda Griffiths
Sarah Browne
Marion Dunstone
Hari Pathmanathan
Tracey Westley

AMc
BG
SB
MD
HP
TW

Non-Executive Director (Chair)
Non-Executive Director (Designate)
Director of Nursing & Quality
Director of Operations
Medical Director ( from 2.30)
Assistant Director Risk & Quality Assurance

In
Heidi Sandoz
Attendance: Marina Sweatman

HS
MS

Tissue Viability Services Lead
Assistant Trust Board Secretary (minutes)

Apologies:

JP
LS
RB
JL
CSc
CKT

Non-Executive Director
Non-Executive Director
Interim Director of People & OD
Acting Deputy Director of Nursing
Assistant Director of Medicines Management,
Chief Pharmacist

Jeff Phillips

Linda Sheridan
Raj Bhamber
Jane Lawson
Carol Scholes
Chi Kai Tam

Action

1

Introduction and Apologies
The chair opened the meeting and observers were welcomed.
Apologies were noted.

2.

Declaration of Interests

1

Date
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No interests were declared.
3.

Previous Minutes and Tracker Progress
The minutes of meeting on 22 January 2019 were received and
accepted as correct.
Tracker
The tracker was fully reviewed to ensure that it is refined and focussed.
The completed (blue) and in progress actions (green) were
acknowledged. Some items review dates have been revised due to
capacity and workload.

6.3 Blood Transfusion and CPR Policy is now complete and can be
closed on the tracker.
5.2 Continence Service Commissioning and Supply- The updated
policy was approved and well received. It was acknowledged that further
work is required in respect of the needs of children, as there is a supply
of incontinence products but no continence service for children to reduce
their dependence on continence products. Despite regular discussions
with the CCG further work is required to review this, the contract is due
for renewal March 2020. It was suggested that Katy Healy could take
this forward in the STP wide work, looking at Children with additional
needs.

KH

Nov 19

SB/HP

TBC

AM

Mar 19

HCT might wish to raise this in provider intensions in the next
contracting round. A review on progress to be provided in Nov.
4.6 Carer Strategy - remains under development, Ruth Bradford is
leading on this at present however this function will be reviewed in the
Transformation of Corporate Services.
The Senior Management Team and Operational Senior Management
Team have adopted the principles of the strategy and are planning to
use it operationally. The action plan is now being cascaded at
operational business unit level.
New action Learning from Deaths needs to reviewed in light of role
changes and the scope reviewed to decide how this will work going
forward.
7.0 Self-Assessment for Committees – the self-assessment has been
completed and circulated for comment. It is apparent that there could be
some amendments made to ensure it is appropriate and helpful. AM will
be reviewing the other Board committee self-assessments for
consistency and will consult the Board in private for a steer on future
format.
4.
4.1

Assurance
Pressure Ulcer Deep Dive
A presentation on the Pressure Ulcer (PU) deep dive was received and
discussed.

2

Board 23rd May 2019

Attachment J2

The presentation highlighted:

Historic Reporting

Current Reporting

Changes to the NHSI reporting and measuring guidance to be
implemented in April 2019 which includes:
o No longer using the terms avoidable and unavoidable. All
PUs will now be reported which could result in a higher
number reported although issues in care will be highlighted.
o 72 hour rule will be removed so this is likely to increase the
numbers of PUs reported. It will be important to clearly
assess at first visit in ICTs.
o Device related PUs to be reported this will impact on
numbers reported.
o Moisture associated skin damage (MASD) –SystmOne1 will
be used to report and monitor these rather than Datix.
National areas codes are being developed for each category.

Current numbers of Pressure Ulcers over the year shows an
overall downward trend.

The suggestions were discussed including the skin passport,
further developments with community and practice nurses and
provision of pressure ulcer reliving equipment in the home.

Challenge, Observations & Questions
a)

b)

c)

d)

Further work is required to align the pressure ulcer work across
the STP area including communication and clarification of
reporting especially in light the increased reporting expected.
The commentary in the IBPR will be important and HCT need to
ensure this aligns with STP and CLCH.
Overall performance reporting for all areas needs to be
separated from April 2019 to ensure data is clearly available
before and after October 2019.
A business case has been developed and presented to the CCG
to provide pressure ulcer relieving equipment at home. The
Tissue Viability Nurses (TVN) could review the business case to
apply for resources from charitable funds.
There is insufficient tissue viability resource available at present;
this will need to be considered further. More joined up working is
required between the practice and community nurses to ensure
uniformity, training and support in practices.

Decisions and Actions
1.
2.

3.
4.
5.

The Pressure Ulcer Deep dive report and new way of reporting
from 1 April 2019 was noted.
Further work to be undertaken by Director of Nursing and Quality
and Tissue Viability Nurses to consider the way of taking this
forward.
Performance data to be separated per CCG to ensure continuity
of data post October 2019.
Resource to be reviewed in light of resources for TVN service and
the provision of equipment at home.
Review the potential of a dedicated team to undertaken skin

3
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assessments taking into account the learned from Norwich
Community and Luton Community approach
A communication plan is also required to raise awareness.

Risk Rating: Amber/Red
4.2

Nascot Lawn 100 Day Report
Nascot Lawn 100 Day Report was received and discussed.
It was noted that:
i)
ii)

iii)

The reported reflected the current position in respect of the
Children and Young People.
There are four children where transition is not yet complete,
although plans are underway. This will be corrected and noted at
the March Board meeting in public.
The learning will be taken forward.

Challenge, Observations & Questions
a)

b)

c)

d)

e)

It is imperative that the communication strategy is added to
section 5.2. Communications need to be proactive to ensure that
perceptions are managed and the responsibility for action is
clearly defined.
It was felt that lessons learned from Nascot Lawn could be used
in other tenders and the de commissioning of services in order to
inform the public and manage expectations.
A small number of minor amendments were suggested in 1.1 to
describe a unique service and provide a stronger introduction
and 2.1 to remove the name and add Non-Executive Director.
It was suggested that this interim report provided reasonable
assurance. Once all the children have transitioned a final report
will be submitted.
The Executive team to further consider where and how this
report is shared and what follow up actions are recommended.

Decisions and Actions
1.
2.

3.
4.

Minor amendments suggest to 5.2, 1.1 and 2.1 of the report
before sharing wider.
The Executive team to further consider where and how this
report should be shared and what follow up actions are
recommended.
A further closure report to be presented once all the children
have been successfully transitioned.
The Nascot Lawn 100 day report was noted

KH

To note

ET

To note

KH

To note

Risk Rating: Amber/Green
4.3

East & North ICT Quality Impact Assessment
The East & North ICT Quality Impact Assessment (QIA) Q3 was
received and discussed.
It was noted that:

4
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The newly commissioned Integrated Care Teams and
Equalisation commenced on 10th September 2018. All system
partners were involved with ENHCCG in developing the Key
Performance Indicators (KPI’s) for the service, and additionally,
HCT took the lead for reporting against 4 joint KPI’s with
Hertfordshire Partnership Foundation Trust.
Within HCT, a process has been developed with Performance &
Information and Human Resources to both report progress
against the KPI’s, and against the equalisation of resources;
particularly the impact this has had upon the workforce in each
Locality. This is now exception reported monthly, with the HCT
Locality Managers taking the lead for their Locality.

Challenge, Observations & Questions
a)

b)
c)
d)

e)

f)

g)
h)

The paper was very useful but it was acknowledged that further
work is needed to clarify some elements and finalise the
performance indicators to ensure that they drive the
effectiveness and efficiencies consistently across the service.
It was recognised that the indicators are not yet perfect but this
shows a great deal of progress made to date.
It was acknowledged that accurate, timely data recording is key
to providing a live dashboard to drive patient care.
From a GP perspective the KPI reflects an accurate picture at
present. The two biggest priorities are referrals achieving 24 hour
response to planned nursing care and people dying in their
preferred place.
The GP contract will be changing from April 2019 which focusses
on palliative care; this in turn will result in more scrutiny of these
measures.
Further work is required to understand the pressure areas that
require support in primary care and how to respond to end of life
patients.
It was suggested that this is something that the Palliative Care
strategy group could review and take forward.
This report needs to be shared with the PMO as a post QIA
report and logged accordingly. No further reports are required by
HGC. Any issues in respect of safe staffing levels will be
highlighted in the separate safe staffing report.

Decisions and Actions
1.
2.
3.

The Palliative Care Strategy group to review the QIA report and
take this forward
The report to be shared with the PMO as a post QIA report for
logging.
The East & North ICT Quality Impact Assessment (QIA) Q3 was
noted

LP/MD

To note

LP/MD

To note

Risk Rating: Amber/Green
4.1

CQC update

TW

5
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A CQC update was given.
It was noted that:
i)

The CQC inspection report was received in December for factual
accuracy checking and the final CQC report was received on 18
January 2019. The Trust retained its overall rating of ‘Good’, but
received a ‘Requires Improvement’ for Safe. The findings from
the inspections identified some areas of good practice and a
number of actions required by the Trust.
A formal ‘Report on Actions’ has been developed and this will be
published on the CQC website alongside the
The draft CQC Improvement Plan was reviewed at the quarterly
CQC relationship meeting on 22 January 2019 which identified
that HCT were progressing well with the plan development.
Progress will be reviewed at the next Relationship meeting
planned for April 2019.

ii)

HMP The Mount was inspected by the MIJ and CQC last May
2018. The associated action plan is managed through the Prison
Service with some clear actions for Head of Health Care, all
actions are complete.

iii)

The HCT Continuous Quality Improvement Framework has been
designed to build on existing quality assurance processes and
operational management structures and clearly identifies the
Trusts approach to Quality Assurance and the relationship with
Quality Improvement (QI).

iv)

All results are to be reported through the BUPR with any actions
identified being developed into a single Continuous Quality
Improvement Plan held by the local team. The Red/Amber
actions will be included in CLIPPS noting progress against
actions and monitored through the BUPR with reporting to the
Executive team through IBPR.

v)

This Framework has been agreed through the Trusts Senior
Management Team as an approach support the Trust in
becoming ‘Outstanding’ in the delivery of high quality, safe and
compassionate care to the people of Hertfordshire. .

Challenge, Observations & Questions
a)

b)

c)
d)

It was acknowledged that this is a detailed action plan with
considerable number of actions due for completion by the end of
March. This is concerning in light of other pressures, therefore this
is being reviewed to ensure that progress remains on track.
Further work is required to embed the quality wheel and quality
improvement framework going forward in wider services and
decide if this will form part of any type of accreditation system.
It was confirmed that the action plan relates to both parts of the
county.
It was highlighted that local management and professional

6
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accountability and responsibility needs to ensure that standards
are regularly checked and maintained on an ongoing basis.
It was noted that the action plan for Medicines Management
highlights the resource issues.
The committee acknowledged and thanked the team for the
significant work that has been undertaken.

Decisions and Actions
1.

The CQC update was noted

Risk Rating: Amber/Red
4.5

Quality Priorities
The Quality Priorities for 2019/20 were received and discussed.

TW

It was noted that:

i)

ii)

It is proposed that HCT has three Quality Priority workstreams
during 2019/20 as follows:

QP1: We will implement the guidance from NHS England to
help staff recognise frailty and signpost patients and carers
to relevant available help and ensure actions are taken to
support the patient’s needs. We will support our community
to have active engagement in their health and wellbeing.

QP2: We will recognise and manage deterioration of
patients, including sepsis both in the inpatient and
community setting using NEWS2 tool and associated
resources.

QP3: We will ensure that carers, including staff, are
recognised as carers. Carers will feel respected and heard
as carers, and recognised as experts. This a two year
quality priority aligned with HCT Carers Strategy.
The above Quality Priorities align to and support the
implementation of local and national strategies and guidance and
STP workstreams already underway.

Challenge, Observations & Questions
a)

It was felt that the Quality priority 2 should be slightly reworded to
include raising awareness, early identification, detection and
prevention of sepsis and include the appropriate children
services.

Decisions and Actions
1.
2.

Quality Priority 2 to be reworded slightly and include the
appropriate Children’s’ services.
The Quality Priorities for 2019/20 were approved subject to the
minor amendments discussed prior to submission to the Board for
sign off.

Risk Rating: N/A
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Quality Report Q3
The Quality Report Q3 was received and discussed.
It was noted that:
The Key Achievements
 OFSTED visited Children and Young people services noting
good practice and no areas for improvement.
 LAC Review Health Assessments are being completed in a
timely manner with positive feedback from service users.
 The joint Ministry of Justice and CQC inspection of the HMP
The Mount Healthcare service identified good healthcare
delivery at the prison. Areas for improvement to build on good
practice were identified and a quality improvement programme
is in place.
 The CQC undertook a Trust-wide Well-Led inspection during
Q3 following their unannounced inspections to core services
during Q2. Preliminary actions to address immediate queries
have been completed and a quality improvement programme
is being developed to support sustained best practice.
 There was a reduction in the number of patient safety incidents
resulting in harm, despite an overall increase in the number of
incidents reported. This reflects increased scrutiny of incidents
reported resulting in more accurate categorisation of levels of
harm.
 There was also a reduction in the number of medication
incidents and falls resulting in harm, in spite of an overall
increase in the number of incidents reported.
 The number of concerns raised to the Freedom To Speak Up
team increased during Q3. This coincides with the promotional
work undertaken by the team during national “Speak Up”
month in October.
 Following system changes in the Business Intelligence portal
and Learning Management Systems, database cleansing and
scrutiny of safeguarding children training has resulted in
improved training compliance during Q3,
 The Trust’s overall Friends & Family Test (FFT) score returned
to 95% during Q3.Highlight achievement and risks and the
quality dashboard are outlined within the full report in
supporting papers.
The Challenges
 Quality Priorities 1 (PROMs) and 4 (patient feedback response
rates) both remain partially met inQ3. Work is underway by
both QP leads to bring these back on trajectory during Q4.
 Internal peer review of all community inpatient units and
community teams was undertaken during Q3. These identified
that 7 out of 8 inpatient units and 4 out of 11 ICT/CAHS teams
were scored less than 90% and have local action plans in
place to address concerns identified.
 The number of avoidable category 3 and 4 pressure ulcers
increased once again in Q3; however the number of avoidable
category 2 pressure ulcers continued to decrease. NHS
Improvement has issued new guidelines around reporting of
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pressure ulcers which will result in pressure ulcers not being
categorised as avoidable or unavoidable in future reporting.
Focused training is being delivered for identified hot spot
teams.
 There were 2 cases of C.difficile reported during Q3, bringing
the year to date total of cases to 5,against a year end ceiling of
5. Following Root Cause Analysis the CCG has agreed that 2
cases can be appealed.
 The percentage uptake for DOLS training dipped to 83%
during Q3. However this is due to a number of factors such as
the withdrawal of the e-learning option, and a significant cohort
of staff being due for update training during Q4.
The Quality dashboard reported all Green RAG ratings.
Decisions and Actions
1.

The Quality Report Q3 was noted.

Risk Rating: N/A
4.5i

Complaints Q3 Report
The Complaints report for January 2019/ February 2019 was received
and discussed.

AP

It was noted that:
i)
ii)
iii)
iv)
v)

33 complaints have been received in this period
Two category 3 complaints have been received in this quarter.
Two complaints have been re-opened for further investigation.
An overview of all complaints received was provided
4,916 compliments were received in this period.

Challenge, Observations & Questions
a)

b)

c)
d)

A trend in connection with the Children’s Occupational Therapy
service was identified. A number of changes have resulted from
the complaints received. This learning will be built into the tender
going forward.
The number of complaints remains consistent. Both formal and
informal complaints are investigated, it was suggested that more
detail was required on the numbers of enhanced PALs enquires
to give a more balanced view.
Benchmarking was discussed and it was acknowledged that HCT
previously ranked well against other community trusts.
The data for complaints will be recorded separately between east
and west from April onward.

Decisions and Actions
1.
2.

Future reports to include detail on the enhanced PALS enquiries
Complaints report was noted
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Risk Rating: Amber/Green
4.5ii

Serious Incident Report (December 2018/ January 2019)
The Serious Incident (SI) report (December 2018/ January 2019) was
received and discussed.

TW

It was noted that:
i)
ii)

Zero serious incidents were reported during this period
Four serious incidents remain open: all have been submitted to
the commissioner.

Challenge, Observations & Questions

a)

A statement in respect of “Never Events” needs to be included in
all reports even if there are none.

Decisions and Actions
1.
2.

A statement in respect of “Never events” needs to be included
The Serious Incident report ( December 2018/ January 2019) was
noted

SB/CP

Risk Rating: Green
4.5iv

Safe Staffing Report for ICTs (Dec 2018 /Jan 2019)
The Safe Staffing for ICTs report for December 2018 and January 2019
was received and discussed.
It was noted that:
i)
The vacancy rate in East and North ICTs stood at 17% at the end
of January 2019. The CAHS team were slightly lower at 16%. The
overall trend is one of slight reductions in vacancies across the
Herts Valleys (HV’s) CAHS, and a slight increase in vacancies in
the East & North (E&N) ICT’s
ii)
There has been a considerable increase in mandatory training
compliance across the Localities, and 9 out of 10 Localities are
either at compliance or exceed it.
iii)
In Herts Valleys there has been an increase in the number of
days on which staffing has fallen to less than 75%, which has
been managed operationally using the HCT OPEL Escalation
Policy.
iv)
There is no evidence that this staffing pressure has impacted on
patient care, with quality metrics broadly in line with previous
months. It should be noted that incident reporting levels were
maintained during this month despite the staffing pressures
experienced.
Challenge, Observations & Questions
a)

Both safe staffing reports are now in the same format, this was
well received and thanks were given as this aids understanding
and facilitates better comparison of the staffing positions.
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Overall the vacancy levels remain stable but with higher use of
temporary staff in Herts Valley.
Good assurance was provided by the safe staffing reports , these
and the supporting statistical evidence will provide passed the
Board with assurance.

Decisions and Actions
1.

Safe Staffing report for ICTs was noted.

Risk Rating: Amber/Red
4.5iii

Safe Staffing for Community Hospital (Dec 2018/ Jan 2019)

JL

The Safe Staffing for Community Hospital for the period December 2018
and January 2019 was received and discussed.
It was noted that:
i)

ii)

iii)

iv)

Vacancies levels across all of the Inpatient Units remains high.
The Inpatient Units have been experiencing difficulties recruiting,
despite a ‘Golden Hello’ and the HCT Facebook and Twitter
Campaign. All nursing vacancies have now been put out to
agencies to try to recruit permanent staff.
Mandatory Training compliance has improved, with 5 out of 8
Inpatient Units exceeding the Trust target and one Unit just
slightly below target.
Patient safety remains high with no unavoidable Pressure Ulcers
reported for December and January and no Serious Incidents
declared across any of the Inpatient Units.
Bank and Agency use remains high, mainly due to additional unregistered shifts required to provide enhanced care to patients on
our units with additional needs.

Challenge, Observations & Questions
a) It was acknowledged that safe staffing levels have been maintained
by using bank and agency staff.
b) There are concerns especially in connection with Herts & Essex
Hospital (HEH) ongoing issues with regard to recruitment. The
assurance rating would be Amber/Red if related to HEH alone.
Decisions and Actions
1.

The Safe Staffing for Community Hospital (Dec 18/Jan 2019) was
noted.

Risk Rating: Amber/Green
4.7

High Level Risk Register

TW

High Level Risk Register as at 1 March 2019 was received and
discussed a verbal update position was given.
It was noted that:
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(iii)
(iv)
(v)
(vi)

(vii)
(viii)
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There are 11 risks on the HLRR compared with eight in January.
One risk has been deescalated
One risk has been escalated
Two new risks have been added
One risk ref 589 is currently being reviewed.
The changes during January and February 2019 were outlined
and progress and assurance on the management of these risks
was given.
All risk scores have been reviewed in collaboration with the risk
leads and updated accordingly.
The top six risks on the HLRR scoring 16 or above are:
Ref 526 Workforce (HR) , Ref 605 Community In-Patient Units
Herts Valleys , Ref 634 Community Paediatrics, Ref 670 Herts &
Essex Inpatient Unit, Ref 600 Public Health Nursing and new
risk Ref 713 Pharmacy.

Challenge, Observations & Questions
a)

b)

Consideration and discussion was held in respect of the staffing
levels at Herts and Essex Hospital and the vacancies in Health
Visiting in the west of the county.
HGC recommended that the Executive team consider the inclusion
of HLRR 600 Public Health Nursing be included on the Board
Assurance Framework.

Decisions and Actions
1. The High Level Risk Register was noted

ET

Risk Rating: Not Applicable
4.8

Board Assurance Framework

TW

The Board Assurance Framework was received and discussed.
It was noted that:
i)

ii)
iii)

The BAF currently has nine risks, the same risks presented to
Board in January 2019, of these two risks feature on the HLRR
and they are:
 Corporate risk-01(HLRR-526); a risk relating to staffing,
 Corporate risk-06 (HLRR-589); this is currently being
reviewed
The BAF incorporates recommendations from Trust internal
Auditors and its scoring is aligned with the HLRR in accordance
with the (5x5) Risk Matrix.
It was advised that the BAF in the future will be reported
quarterly.

Challenge, Observations & Questions
a)

HGC requested further clarification on corporate risk -06 and for it
to be updated to reflect the recent tender outcome.
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Decisions and Actions
1.

Corporate Risk -06 to be clarified and updated

2.

The Board Assurance Framework was noted

Risk Rating: Not Applicable
4.9

Business Unit Performance report – Children & Young People
The Business Unit Performance report – Children & Young People was
received and discussed.
It was noted that:
RED
Community Paediatrics



RTT waiting times over 40 weeks, some potential 52 week waits.
Community Paediatrics. Patient specific actions have been
taken to ensure patients booked before 52 week threshold.
Medium term review of booking process and reporting/escalation
process.

AMBER / RED




Children’s continuing care is currently experiencing capacity &
performance issues. Alternative options for service are being
explored having arranged as escalated service due to risk.
Public Health Nursing and other local authority contracts financial
risk/ pressure if the NHS Agenda for change pay awards (and
from 20/21 Employer Pension contribution increases at 6%) are
not recognised.

Challenge, Observations & Questions
a)

b)

c)

Community Paediatrics RTT, with patients waiting over 52 weeks
has resulted in close scrutiny and an offer of support from NHSI.
There are multiple factors involved which have resulted in this
delay, some of which are beyond HCT control.
The CCG have indicated that they wish to take the Children’s
Continuing Care service back in house. HCT have asked for clear
details of notice. HCT has advised that there is no appetite to
continue to provide this model of service after October 2019, as it
is not sustainable or viable. Alterative options will need to
consider, patient safety, resources and that the right decision is
made.
The risk identified correlated with the HLRR.

Decisions and Actions
1.

The BUPR for Children & Young people was noted.

Risk Rating: Not Applicable
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Patient Safety & Experience
Patient Safety & Experience Group Assurance Report and Minutes
The Patient Safety & Experience Group Chair’s Assurance Report and
the minutes from the meeting held on 22 February 2019 were received.
It was noted that:
RED




Gaps in implementation of the falls policy particularly in relation
to lying and standing BP and medication reviews in the majority
of inpatient units. Peer review tool to further amended to include
additional questions. Clinical professional lead implementing a
falls policy task and finish group across all units. Pharmacy team
developing a medicines management audit dip test for the
inpatient units.
PSEG delivery plan has not been reviewed since June 2018.
Plan distributed to core member for updates. To be formally
reviewed and revised at next meeting.

AMBER / RED
 Increase in the number of falls in the neurological inpatient units.
Clinical Professional Lead for therapies leading a review.
 Continue to report a number of medication omission incidents.
Task and finish group in place reviewing all incidents/themes and
trends. Actions to be managed in line with CQC continuous
improvement plan.

AMBER / GREEN
 CAS alert audit commenced, 16% of services reviewed to date.
Demonstrates examples of good practice and embedding of the
required actions in the reviewed areas. Programme of ongoing
service audit underway.
 Meeting the NRLS monthly reporting requirements in five of the
six mandatory areas. Systems in place and full compliance
against reporting requirements achieved.
 Sepsis Working Group continues to oversee implementation of
NEWS2 and sepsis screening tools in HCT inpatient and
community services and to review staff training material. The
sepsis workstream is a proposed Quality Priority for 2019/20 and
the leads are working with the Risk team to articulate risks
associated with gaps in assurance around identification of
sepsis.
GREEN
 Infant Feeding policy approved.



Domestic Abuse Children & Adults and Not Brought In policies
noted.



Audit of the Paediatric Liaison IT solution demonstrated no
concerns about the safety of information being populated into a
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child’s notes or the generation of S1 flagging following a child’s
attendance at A&E.
Challenge, Observations & Questions
a)

It is really positive to note that the audit of the paediatric liaison IT
solution has reported that there are no risks associated with this
provision.

Decisions and Actions
1. Patient Safety & Experience Group Chair’s Assurance Report and
the minutes for the meeting held on 22 February 2019 were noted.
Risk Rating: Not Applicable
5.2

Infection Prevention and Control Forum Assurance Report and
Minutes
The Infection Prevention and Control Forum Chair’s Assurance Report
and the minutes from the meeting held on 12 February 2019 were
received.
It was noted that:
RED


Infection Prevention and Control Mandatory Training below Trust
threshold. IPC mandatory training in inpatient and community
teams below Trust threshold. Previous concerns regarding
accuracy of BI Portal. Current data capture system –
MyLearningZone provides live data.

AMBER / RED
 Clostridium difficile Infection cases above the annual Trust
trajectory. Currently 6 cases against an annual ceiling of 5 (Case
4 was successfully appealed, total number of cases now 5).
However case 5 appeal and case 6 RCA meeting both pending.
 Water Safety assurance reports to be presented to the IPCF for
assurance to the DIPC and Duty Holder. There have been 2
water safety group meetings held since October 2018. Meetings
to be held bi-monthly.
 Lack of storage space for equipment in the inpatient units.
Documentation required on local risk registers pending, of
inappropriate storage of equipment in bathrooms and gyms in the
inpatient units. Inpatients units to update local risk registers to
reflect the risk.
AMBER / GREEN
 Staff flu vaccination current vaccine uptake 68.95%. A further 80
staff need to be vaccinated to achieve the CQUIN target of 75%
by 28th February 2019.
GREEN
 Antibiotic stewardship audit results show significant
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improvements with 6 out of 7 inpatient units achieving 100% on
Standards audited.
POINTS raised with the Executive Team




Water safety report to IPCF
IPC mandatory training uptake
Lack of storage space for equipment in the inpatient units

Challenge, Observations & Questions
a)

b)

HGC noted the potential for breaching the Clostridium difficile
ceiling (5) dependant on the outcome of the root cause analysis
appeals process. It was recognised that HCT have not breached
the Clostridium difficile ceiling for three years and remain diligent,
investigating and appealing cases where appropriate.
The flu vaccine target for 2019/20 is 80%.

Decisions and Actions
1.

The Infection Prevention and Control Forum Chair’s Assurance
Report and the minutes for the meeting held on12 February 2019
were noted.

Risk Rating: Not Applicable
6.0
6.1

Clinical Effectiveness
Medical Revalidation Decisions Making Group update
A verbal update on the Medical Revalidation Decisions Making Group.
It was noted:
i)
There have been no meetings since last HGC.
ii)
Medical appraisals are up to date.
iii)
The group will now be supported by the Medical Director’s PA.
iv)
Elizabeth Kendrick will be taking on the Responsible Officer role
from June 2019. HP will be covering until that time.
Decisions and Actions
1.
Medical Revalidation Decisions Making Group update was
noted

6.2

Medicines Management update
An update of the Medicines Management and Medicines Optimisation
programme was received.
The update included:
i)
The improvement for compliance relating to the key areas of
priority and current assurance status.
ii)
A breakdown of incidents up to and including Q3
iii)
CQC Key Line of Enquiry update
iv)
Proposed new structure for the Pharmacy Department will tie in
with the Transformation of Corporate services.
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Development work is underway including an initiative to support
GPs in East & North Herts. This includes nurses accessing
consent charts via SystmOne, the only risk to this is any potential
IT issues,
EU Exit preparations updated.

vi)

Challenge, Observations & Questions
a)

Reasonable assurance was gained from the detailed report on
actions taken to address gaps identified by CQC in Medicines
Management and plans have been developed to strengthen and
improve the Pharmacy Service.

Decisions and Actions
1.

Medicines Management was noted

Risk Rating: Amber/ Green

6.3

Clinical Effectiveness Group Chair’s Assurance Report and
Minutes from the Meeting held on 14th February 2019
The Clinical Effectiveness Group Chair’s Assurance Report and Minutes
from the Meeting held on 14th February 2019 were received.
RED



The revised CPR policy was presented and further revisions
were recommended. This policy therefore continues to be
overdue for review. The Policy Manager will liaise with the policy
author regarding the further revisions, and will ensure that the
policy is circulated to CEG members for electronic approval as a
matter of urgency.

AMBER / RED
 CEG members noted the decision to reconvene the Research
Advisory Group and review the Research Governance policy in
order to provide robust governance around research, leading to
an increase in research activity.
 It was noted that whilst work continues to implement PROMs,
there is a risk that some elements of the Quality Priority may not
achieve year-end target. The QP Lead is continuing to review
and refine reporting mechanisms, and the PROMs workstream
has been integrated with the self-management workstream to
better demonstrate outcomes.
 CEG members were pleased to note improvements around end
of life care clinical outcomes as demonstrated by taken from the
end of life care dashboard. However concerns were raised that
the number of patients identified as being in the last year of life is
decreasing. The Clinical Quality Lead for Palliative and EOL
Care will present a full report around end of life clinical outcomes
at the next meeting to provide more background and additional
assurance.
 There are still a number of pieces of outstanding NICE guidance,
some of which were received over six months ago. An expected
date for review of every item of NICE guidance will be identified
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at the next NICE Working Group meeting.
AMBER / GREEN
 CEG members noted that a Continuous Quality Improvement
framework is in place to provide clinical assurance around the
quality of care delivered in alignment with the Trust’s quality
improvement programme. It was also noted that the CQC
Improvement Plan is now in place, with actions focussing on
‘must dos’ and ‘should dos’ identified by the CQC as well as
additional focussed actions identified from the evidence report.
 The results of the National Audit of Intermediate Care were
presented, with areas of achievement and challenge identified. A
small working group of clinicians will further review the report to
identify and understand outcomes and recommendations for
HCT services and how these can be taken forward.
GREEN
 The Q3 Quality Report was received and CEG members agreed
this accurately reflected quality activity undertaken in Q3. CEG
members approved the Q3 Quality Report for forwarding to HGC.
OTHER AREAS
 The CEG Delivery Plan for 2019/20 will be developed following
CS discussion with the Director for Nursing & Quality around
clinical effectiveness and organisational priorities.
 Meeting members recognised the hard work and dedication of
TW, who retires in March 2019, in leading improvements in
clinical effectiveness and her support to CEG during her career in
HCT.
 The Blood Transfusion policy and Treatment Escalation Plan in
the End of Life Care policy were both approved.
Challenge, Observations & Questions
a)

It was acknowledged that EK and SB are reviewing meetings to
rationalise and reduce duplication and ensure that the correct
representation. The meetings may need to disaggregate for
assurance but this. Proposal to come to May meeting.

Decisions and Actions
1.

Clinical Effectiveness Group Chair’s Assurance Report and
Minutes from the Meeting were noted

Risk Rating: Not Applicable
6.4

Clinical Reference Group
The Chair assurance report from the Clinical Reference group held on 5
March 2019 were received and discussed.
It was noted that:

i)

Pathways were presented covering
 STP falls
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 6 pathways from nutrition and dietetics
- Coeliac disease
- Malnutrition
- Faltering growth
- Obesity
- Irritable bowel syndrome
- Paediatric emergency clinics
Update given on SEPSIS work
The group discussed future remit and agreed for a
recommendation to review the subgroups reporting to
Healthcare Governance to ensure appropriate
representation, clarity of governance structure for approving
documents and supporting efficiency and timeliness for
approval of items as well as membership.

Decisions and Actions
1.

The Clinical Reference Group Chair’s assurance report from 5
March 2019 was noted

Risk Rating: Not Applicable

7.

Key Items for Noting/ Escalation
i) Pressure ulcer changes to categorisation and reporting nationally
from 1st April 2019. The board to be informed of the impact of
the changes.
ii) Recommend to Executive Team to consider Risk 600 for
inclusion on the BAF.
Thanks were extended to TW for her contribution to the committee and
HCT. TW commitment to ensuring quality and governance was
acknowledged her diligent and consciences approach has been greatly
valued. The Chair and committee members wished Tracey well in her
retirement.

8.

10

Date of Next Meeting(s)
14 May 2019

2.00-5.00 Boardroom, Howard Court (potentially will need
to be rearranged tba)

16 July 2019
17 Sept 2019
19 Nov 2019

2.00 – 5.00 Boardroom, Howard Court
2.00 – 5.00 (tbc ) annual leaders conference
2.00 – 5.00 Boardroom, Howard Court

Supporting Papers and for Information
SP01 Quarter 3 Full Quality Report
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HCT INTEGRATED BOARD PERFORMANCE
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April 2019 Key Messages
Performance highlights







Zero C.diff cases reported in April
Stroke and Non Stroke LoS within rehab pathway thresholds.
92.9% of patients waiting within 18 weeks for non-consultant led services.
Staff Mandatory training figures above target with 94.9% in April
Absence rate on target at 3.7% in April

Areas for Board review





Five avoidable category 2 Pressure ulcers reported in March.
Patient waiting list for consultant led services below target at 87.9%
Underlying Staff turnover over threshold with 14.5% recorded in April.
Vacancy rate above threshold in April
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QUALITY (11 KPIs RAG RATED)
3
0
8
ACTION
(Q11 Q12) No of category 2, 3 or 4 pressure ulcers (PUs) acquired in HCT care
Pressure ulcers are reported one month in arrears. In March 2019 there were 13 avoidable pressure ulcers identified. 5 were category 2 PUs and 8 were
category 3-4 (including unstageable). There are seven incidents where avoidance has not been confirmed to date pending investigation by the service. Pus
are spread across teams: North Herts ICT 1, St Albans and Harpenden CAHS 1, QVM 1, Watford CAHS 4, Stevenage 2, Hertsmere CAHS 1, Dacorum
CAHS 2, Upper Lea Valley ICT 1.

(Q13) Percentage of mortality case reviews completed within 13 working days of death being reported

Four completed reviews were due to be returned. Three were returned within 13 working days. One review was delayed due to difficulty
identifying an available reviewer; the review was completed one day late and retuned within 14 days
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ACTION
***AWAITING MARCH UPDATE FROM SOCIAL CARE***
(P5) NHS Health Delayed Transfer of Care (DTOC)
HCT are working together with social care colleagues to ensure the UNIFY reporting going forward is robust and that we have identified areas of dispute,
and that we can jointly evidence these. There are further meetings planned to draft a Standard operating policy with commissioning colleagues included.
We have already put a process in place that allows weekly review of data to allow month end agreement of DTOCs to be managed in a timely and effective
way.
(P9) Non-Stroke ALOS
HCT were over the ALOS thresholds for Non-stroke patients in April. HCT recorded an ALOS of 25.0 days for non-stroke patients. This has improved from
the previous month. Four patients stayed 70 days or more. The longest stay was 117 days discharged in April. The overall length of stay improved to 16.8
days under the rehab pathway and within threshold.
(P13) Smoking advice & intervention
HCT are meeting the thresholds for recording smoking status but not for advice intervention. This is being flagged to service managers and also monitored
in the CQUIN performance.
(P16) Patient waiting within 18 weeks (Consultant led services)
HCT recorded 87.9% patients waiting within 18 weeks for consultant led services. This is primarily driven by the increase in RTT waiting times in
Community Paediatrics. To address this, the clinical director has made changes to Job Plan Timetables which increase the number of first appointments
completed.
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L&D EXCEPTION REPORT (15 KPIs RAG RATED)
0
2
14
ACTION
Mandatory Training
Overall mandatory training has increased to 94.4% in April and is above target. Only one indicators of the mandatory suite are not on target.
(L9) % of staff who have undertaken level 1 / 2 safeguarding adults training every 3 years
Compliance is 88.9% for April and is below target. However, an internal trajectory has been put in place to ensure HCT reach the required compliance level
(see table below). According to the trajectory, HCT are on track to achieve this target.
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WORKFORCE & FINANCE EXCEPTION REPORT (7 KPIs RAG RATED)
2
2
3
ACTION
(W6) % Posts Vacant
The Trust vacancy rate has decreased to 12% in April2019, which is above the Trust 11% target. The largest vacancy rate is in Adult services at 14.6%,
with the other two business units being well under target. The rate for registered nursing has reduced down to 13.9%, but the Allied Health Professional
rate has increased slightly to 10.9%. A refreshed attraction plan has been developed for 2019-20 to include advertising through a wide range of social and
other media.
(W9) Underlying Staff turnover
The Trust-wide underlying turnover rate for April 2019 was 14.5%, which remains relatively stable. Corporate turnover has increased again to 16.6%, with
the lowest rate found in Children and Young People Services at 12.8%. Only medical and dental turnover is below the 12% target. The ‘Being the Best
Together’ starter and leaver events have now commenced with useful feedback received, and a New Starter Portal is under development to improve onboarding of candidates, aiming to reduce the number of staff leaving in first 12 months.
(W13) Aged Debtors
Debtors balance for April 2019 has increased by £1523 from £5,295 to £6,818k. However the debtors over 90 days have reduced from £2,016 to £1,096,
which £798k are NHS Debtors. The individual customers over 90days with material balances are Royal Free London (£381K), East and North Herts
(£52K), West Herts Hospital (£51K), and Herts Valley CCG (£82K).
(W14) Capital Plans
Capital spent up to April 2019 is £65k which is 22% of the planned expenditure, with Estates spending £58k and the remainder spent on IT projects. The
total planned expenditure (CRL) for the year is £3,454k
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End of Life Summary – Adult services- Dashboard
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End Of Life Summary Adult Services
In April 2019 the number of patient identified as in the last year of life has increased to 282 compared to 265 at the same time last year.
The number of Advanced Care Plans(ACP) offered and completed has increased to 187 compared to 91 in the same period last year. Patients achieving
their Preferred Place of Death (PPD) overall has increased during the first four months of 2019.
We continue to have the monthly End of Life (EOL) focus meetings and the fortnightly EOL conference call, although attendance on the conference calls
has been sporadic. This has been escalated to the Deputy General Manager for Quality who has actioned a response to the teams. A targeted campaign
during Dying Matters week May 13th -18th has been planned to further drive improvements in the end of life agenda.
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Statement of Comprehensive Income
2018/19
Note
Operating income from patient care activities
Other operating income
Operating expenses

3
4
6, 8

Operating surplus/(deficit) from continuing operations

£000
140,499
5,247
(140,661)
5,085

2017/18
£000
137,748
4,657
(137,486)
4,919

Finance income

11

131

47

Finance expenses

12

(48)

(28)

PDC dividends payable
Net finance costs
Other gains / (losses)

13

Gains / (losses) arising from transfers by absorption
Corporation tax expense
Surplus / (deficit) for the year from continuing operations
Surplus / (deficit) on discontinued operations and the gain / (loss) on
disposal of discontinued operations
Surplus / (deficit) for the year

(1,595)

(1,587)

(1,512)

(1,568)

408

(52)

-

(1,206)

-

-

3,981

2,093

-

-

3,981

2,093

Other comprehensive income
Will not be reclassified to income and expenditure:
Impairments

7

(583)

Revaluations

16

582

3,293

-

-

3,980

4,994

Share of comprehensive income from associates and joint ventures
Total comprehensive income / (expense) for the period

The retained surplus for the Trust for the year 2018-19 is £3,981m

(392)

Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust

Annual accounts for the year ended 31 March 2019

Statement of Financial Position

Note

31 March
2019

31 March
2018

£000

£000

Non-current assets
Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Total non-current assets

14

429

384

15

63,506
63,935

62,998
63,382
10,743

Current assets
Receivables

17

7,227

Cash and cash equivalents

18

22,789

18,734

30,016

29,477

Total current assets
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables

19

(13,853)

(15,388)

Borrowings

22

(178)

(176)

Provisions

24

(404)

(91)

Other liabilities

21

(169)

(1,977)

(14,604)

(17,632)

79,347

75,227

22

(2,180)

(2,356)

24

(1,098)
(3,278)
76,069

(1,038)
(3,394)
71,833

Total current liabilities
Total assets less current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings
Provisions
Total non-current liabilities
Total assets employed
Financed by
Public dividend capital
Revaluation reserve
Other reserves
Income and expenditure reserve
Total taxpayers' equity

1,387

1,131

18,477

19,602

4,946

4,946

51,259
76,069

46,154
71,833

The notes on pages X to X form part of these accounts.
The financial statements on pages x to xx were approved by the Board on the 23rd of May 2019 and signed on its behalf by :
Signature:

Name:

Clare Hawkins

Position:

Chief Excutive

Date:

0 January 1900

Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 31 March 2019
Public
dividend
capital

Revaluation
reserve

£000
Taxpayers' equity at 1 April 2018 - brought forward

£000

Other
reserves
£000

Income
and
Merger
reserve expenditur
e reserve
£000

£000

Total

£000

1,131

19,602

4,946

-

46,154

71,833

Impact of implementing IFRS 15 on 1 April 2018

-

-

-

-

-

-

Impact of implementing IFRS 9 on 1 April 2018

-

-

-

-

-

-

Surplus/(deficit) for the year

-

-

-

-

3,981

3,981

Other transfers between reserves

-

(1,124)

-

-

1,124

Impairments

-

(583)

-

-

-

(583)

-

582

-

-

-

582

256
1,387

18,477

4,946

-

51,259

256
76,069

Revaluations
Public dividend capital received
Taxpayers' equity at 31 March 2019

-

* Following the implementation of IFRS 9 from 1 April 2018, the 'Available for sale investment reserve' is now renamed as the 'Financial assets

Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 31 March 2018
Public
dividend
capital

Revaluation
reserve

£000
Taxpayers' equity at 1 April 2017 - brought forward
Prior period adjustment
Taxpayers' equity at 1 April 2017 - restated
Surplus/(deficit) for the year

£000

Other
reserves
£000

Income
and
Merger
reserve expenditur
e reserve
£000

£000

£000

1,131

17,221

4,946

-

43,541

66,839

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,131

17,221

4,946

-

43,541

66,839

-

-

-

-

2,093

2,093

Other transfers between reserves

-

(520)

-

-

520

Impairments

-

(392)

-

-

-

Revaluations

1,131

4,946

-

46,154

Taxpayers' equity at 31 March 2018

Total

3,293
19,602

(392)
3,293
71,833

Information on reserves
Public dividend capital
Public dividend capital (PDC) is a type of public sector equity finance based on the excess of assets over liabilities at the time of
establishment of the predecessor NHS organisation. Additional PDC may also be issued to trusts by the Department of Health and Social
Care. A charge, reflecting the cost of capital utilised by the trust, is payable to the Department of Health as the public dividend capital
dividend.
Revaluation reserve
Increases in asset values arising from revaluations are recognised in the revaluation reserve, except where, and to the extent that, they
reverse impairments previously recognised in operating expenses, in which case they are recognised in operating income. Subsequent
downward movements in asset valuations are charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that a previous gain was recognised unless the
downward movement represents a clear consumption of economic benefit or a reduction in service potential.
Other reserves
The balance of this reserve represents the opening balance fof Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust at its establishment in November 2010;
the balances were transferred from Hertfordshire PCT.
Income and expenditure reserve
The balance of this reserve is the accumulated surpluses and deficits of the trust.

Statement of Cash Flows
Note

2018/19

2017/18

£000

£000

Cash flows from operating activities
Operating surplus / (deficit)

5,085

4,919

Non-cash income and expense:
Depreciation and amortisation

6

3,467

3,501

(Increase) / decrease in receivables and other assets

3,348

(4,134)

Increase / (decrease) in payables and other liabilties

(1,426)

Increase / (decrease) in provisions

373

Other movements in operating cash flows

(411)

Net cash generated from / (used in) operating activities

206
(25)
-

10,436

4,467

131

47

(224)

(16)

Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received
Purchase of intangible assets
Sales of intangible assets

-

Purchase of property, plant, equipment and investment property

(6,731)

Sales of property, plant, equipment and investment property

2,004

Net cash generated from / (used in) investing activities

(4,820)

(2,815)
84
(2,700)

Cash flows from financing activities
Public dividend capital received

256

Movement on loans from the Department of Health and Social Care
Interest on loans
PDC dividend (paid) / refunded
Net cash generated from / (used in) financing activities
Increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

(176)

(176)

(46)

(49)

(1,595)

(1,581)

(1,561)

(1,806)

4,055

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April - brought forward

(39)

18,734

18,773

18,734

18,773

-

-

22,789

18,734

Prior period adjustments

-

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April - restated
Cash and cash equivalents transferred under absorption accounting
Unrealised gains / (losses) on foreign exchange
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March

-

18

Notes to the Accounts
1 Note 1 Accounting policies and other information
1 Note 1.1 Basis of preparation
The Department of Health and Social Care has directed that the financial statements of the Trust shall meet the
accounting requirements of the Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual (GAM), which shall be
agreed with HM Treasury. Consequently, the following financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the
GAM 2018/19 issued by the Department of Health and Social Care. The accounting policies contained in the GAM follow
International Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to the NHS, as
determined by HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board. Where the GAM permits a
choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy that is judged to be most appropriate to the particular circumstances of
the Trust for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been selected. The particular policies adopted are described
below. These have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the accounts.
1 Note 1.1.1 Accounting convention
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation of
property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, inventories and certain financial assets and financial liabilities.
2 Note 1.2 Going concern
These accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis. An assumption of going concern has been made as the
Trust is a non-trading entity in the public sector with full expectation that the services it provides will continue in the
future. This is in accordance with the GAM 2018/19 issued by the Department of Health and Social Care.

3 Note 1.3 Acquisitions and discountinued operations
Activities are considered to be ‘acquired’ only if they are taken on from outside the public sector. Activities are
considered to be ‘discontinued’ only if they cease entirely. They are not considered to be ‘discontinued’ if they transfer
from one public sector body to another.

Note 1.4.1 Revenue from contracts with customers
Where income is derived from contracts with customers, it is accounted for under IFRS 15. The GAM expands the
definition of a contract to include legislation and regulations which enables an entity to receive cash or another financial
asset that is not classified as a tax by the Office of National Statistics (ONS). As directed by the GAM, the transition to
IFRS 15 in 2018/19 has been completed in accordance with paragraph C3 (b) of the Standard: applying the Standard
retrospectively but recognising the cumulative effects at the date of initial application (1 April 2018).
Revenue in respect of goods/services provided is recognised when (or as) performance obligations are satisfied by
transferring promised goods/services to the customer and is measured at the amount of the transaction price allocated
to those performance obligations. At the year end, the Trust accrues income relating to performance obligations
satisfied in that year. Where the Trust’s entitlement to consideration for those goods or services is unconditional a
contract receivable will be recognised. Where entitlement to consideration is conditional on a further factor other than
the passage of time, a contract asset will be recognised. Where consideration received or receivable relates to a
performance obligation that is to be satisfied in a future period, the income is deferred and recognised as a contract
liability.
Revenue from NHS contracts
The main source of income for the Trust is contracts with commissioners for health care services. A performance
obligation relating to delivery of a spell of health care is generally satisfied over time as healthcare is received and
consumed simultaneously by the customer as the Trust performs it. The customer in such a contract is the
commissioner, but the customer benefits as services are provided to their patient. Even where a contract could be
broken down into separate performance obligations, healthcare generally aligns with paragraph 22(b) of the Standard
entailing a delivery of a series of goods or services that are substantially the same and have a similar pattern of
transfer. At the year end, the Trust accrues income relating to activity delivered in that year, where a patient care spell
is incomplete.
Revenue is recognised to the extent that collection of consideration is probable. Where contract challenges from
commissioners are expected to be upheld, the Trust reflects this in the transaction price and derecognises the relevant
portion of income.
Where the Trust is aware of a penalty based on contractual performance, the Trust reflects this in the transaction price
for its recognition of revenue. Revenue is reduced by the value of the penalty.
The Trust does not receive income where a patient is readmitted within 30 days of discharge from a previous planned
stay. This is considered an additional performance obligation to be satisfied under the original transaction price. An
estimate of readmissions is made at the year end this portion of revenue is deferred as a contract liability.
The Trust receives income from commissioners under Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQUIN) schemes.
The Trust agrees schemes with its commissioner but they affect how care is provided to patients. That is, the CQUIN
payments are not considered distinct performance obligations in their own right; instead they form part of the
transaction price for performance obligations under the contract.
NHS injury cost recovery scheme
The Trust receives income under the NHS injury cost recovery scheme, designed to reclaim the cost of treating injured
individuals to whom personal injury compensation has subsequently been paid, for instance by an insurer. The Trust
recognises the income when it receives notification from the Department of Work and Pension's Compensation
Recovery Unit, has completed the NHS2 form and confirmed there are no discrepancies with the treatment. The income
is measured at the agreed tariff for the treatments provided to the injured individual, less an allowance for unsuccessful
compensation claims and doubtful debts in line with IFRS 9 requirements of measuring expected credit losses over the
lifetime of the asset.
Note 1.4.2 Revenue grants and other contributions to expenditure
Government grants are grants from government bodies other than income from commissioners or trusts for the
provision of services. Where a grant is used to fund revenue expenditure it is taken to the Statement of Comprehensive
Income to match that expenditure.
The value of the benefit received when accessing funds from the the Government's apprenticeship service is
recognised as income at the point of receipt of the training service. Where these funds are paid directly to an accredited
training provider, the corresponding notional expense is also recognised at the point of recognition for the benefit.
Note 1.4.3 Other income
Income from the sale of non-current assets is recognised only when all material conditions of sale have been met, and
is measured as the sums due under the sale contract.

Note 1.5 Expenditure on employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits
Salaries, wages and employment-related payments such as social security costs and the apprenticeship levy are
recognised in the period in which the service is received from employees.The Trust leave year runs from 1st April to 31
March. The Trust has a policy of not allowing any staff to carry forward untaken leave into the new financial year,
however, the Trust acknowledges that those staff on maternity leave or long-term sickness leave are entitled to annual
leave that they will not have been able to take during the year and, therefore, an accrual has been made to take into
account of this.
Pension costs
NHS Pension Scheme
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pension Scheme. The scheme is an unfunded,
defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, general practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of
Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The scheme is not designed in a way that would enable employers to identify
their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as though it is a
defined contribution scheme.
Employer's pension cost contributions are charged to operating expenses as and when they become due.
Additional pension liabilities arising from early retirements are not funded by the scheme except where the retirement is
due to ill-health. The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to the operating expenses at the time
the trust commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the method of payment.
The schemes are subject to a full actuarial valuation every four years and an accounting valuation every year.

Note 1.6 Expenditure on other goods and services
Expenditure on goods and services is recognised when, and to the extent that they have been received, and is
measured at the fair value of those goods and services. Expenditure is recognised in operating expenses except where
it results in the creation of a non-current asset such as property, plant and equipment.

7 Note 1.7 Property, plant and equipment
7 Note 1.7.1 Recognition

Property, plant and equipment is capitalised where:
• it is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes
• it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be provided to, the trust
• it is expected to be used for more than one financial year
• the cost of the item can be measured reliably
• the item has cost of at least £5,000, or
• collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have cost of more than £250,
where the assets are functionally interdependent, had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated to
have similar disposal dates and are under single managerial control.
• items form part of the initial equipment and setting-up cost of a new building, ward or unit, irrespective of their
individual or collective cost.
Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly different asset
lives, eg, plant and equipment, then these components are treated as separate assets and depreciated over their
own useful lives.
7 Note 1.7.2 Measurement
Valuation
All property, plant and equipment assets are measured initially at cost, representing the costs directly attributable
to acquiring or constructing the asset and bringing it to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management.
All assets are measured subsequently at valuation. Assets which are held for their service potential and are in use
(ie operational assets used to deliver either front line services or back office functions) are measured at their
current value in existing use. Assets that were most recently held for their service potential but are surplus with no
plan to bring them back into use are measured at fair value where there are no restrictions on sale at the reporting
date and where they do not meet the definitions of investment properties or assets held for sale.
Revaluations of property, plant and equipment are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure that carrying
values are not materially different from those that would be determined at the end of the reporting period. The
Trust undertakes a full revaluation of all its properties every 5 years. In the intervening period an interim desk top
valuation is carried out at 3 years with individual valuation exercises being performed on specific assets where
significant works have been undertaken. Current values in existing use are determined as follows:
• Land and non-specialised buildings – market value for existing use
• Specialised buildings – depreciated replacement cost on a modern
equivalent asset basis.
The last full revaluation was undertaken at 31st March 2015.
Properties in the course of construction for service or administration purposes are carried at cost, less any
impairment loss. Cost includes professional fees and, where capitalised in accordance with IAS 23, borrowings
costs. Assets are revalued and depreciation commences when the assets are brought into use.
IT equipment, transport equipment, furniture and fittings, and plant and machinery that are held for operational use
are valued at depreciated historic cost where these assets have short useful lives or low values or both, as this is
not considered to be materially different from current value in existing use.

An increase arising on revaluation is taken to the revaluation reserve except when it reverses an impairment for
the same asset previously recognised in expenditure, in which case it is credited to expenditure to the extent of the
decrease previously charged there. A revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or
service potential is recognised as an impairment charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is a
balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure. Impairment losses that arise from a clear
consumption of economic benefit should be taken to expenditure. Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation
reserve are reported as other comprehensive income in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Subsequent expenditure
Subsequent expenditure relating to an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an increase in the
carrying amount of the asset when it is probable that additional future economic benefits or service potential
deriving from the cost incurred to replace a component of such item will flow to the enterprise and the cost of the
item can be determined reliably. Where a component of an asset is replaced, the cost of the replacement is
capitalised if it meets the criteria for recognition above. The carrying amount of the part replaced is de-recognised.
Other expenditure that does not generate additional future economic benefits or service potential, such as repairs
and maintenance, is charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the period in which it is incurred.

Depreciation
Freehold land, assets under construction or development, and assets held for sale are not depreciated/amortised.
Otherwise, depreciation or amortisation is charged to write off the costs or valuation of property, plant and
equipment and intangible non-current assets, less any residual value, on a straight line basis over their estimated
useful lives. The estimated useful life of an asset is the period over which the NHS trust expects to obtain
economic benefits or service potential from the asset. This is specific to the NHS trust and may be shorter than the
physical life of the asset itself. Estimated useful lives and residual values are reviewed each year end, with the
effect of any changes recognised on a prospective basis. Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over
the shorter of the lease term and the estimated useful lives.
At each financial year-end, the NHS trust checks whether there is any indication that its property, plant and
equipment or intangible non-current assets have suffered an impairment loss. If there is indication of such an
impairment, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to determine whether there has been a loss and, if
so, its amount. Intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment annually at the financial year
end.
A revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or service potential is recognised as an
impairment charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is a balance on the reserve for the asset
and, thereafter, to expenditure. Impairment losses that arise from a clear consumption of economic benefit are
taken to expenditure. Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is
increased to the revised estimate of the recoverable amount but capped at the amount that would have been
determined had there been no initial impairment loss. The reversal of the impairment loss is credited to
expenditure to the extent of the decrease previously charged there and thereafter to the revaluation reserve.
Impairments
In accordance with the GAM, impairments that arise from a clear consumption of economic benefits or of service
potential in the asset are charged to operating expenses. A compensating transfer is made from the revaluation
reserve to the income and expenditure reserve of an amount equal to the lower of (i) the impairment charged to
operating expenses; and (ii) the balance in the revaluation reserve attributable to that asset before the impairment.
An impairment that arises from a clear consumption of economic benefit or of service potential is reversed when,
and to the extent that, the circumstances that gave rise to the loss is reversed. Reversals are recognised in
operating expenditure to the extent that the asset is restored to the carrying amount it would have had if the
impairment had never been recognised. Any remaining reversal is recognised in the revaluation reserve. Where,
at the time of the original impairment, a transfer was made from the revaluation reserve to the income and
expenditure reserve, an amount is transferred back to the revaluation reserve when the impairment reversal is
recognised.
Other impairments are treated as revaluation losses. Reversals of ‘other impairments’ are treated as revaluation
gains.
7 Note 1.7.3 De-recognition
Assets intended for disposal are reclassified as ‘held for sale’ once all of the following criteria are met:
• the asset is available for immediate sale in its present condition subject only to terms which are usual and
customary for such sales;
• the sale must be highly probable ie:
- management are committed to a plan to sell the asset
- an active programme has begun to find a buyer and complete the sale
- the asset is being actively marketed at a reasonable price
- the sale is expected to be completed within 12 months of the date of classification as ‘held for sale’ and
- the actions needed to complete the plan indicate it is unlikely that the plan will be abandoned or significant
changes made to it.

Following reclassification, the assets are measured at the lower of their existing carrying amount and their ‘fair
value less costs to sell’. Depreciation ceases to be charged. Assets are de-recognised when all material sale
contract conditions have been met.
Property, plant and equipment which is to be scrapped or demolished does not qualify for recognition as ‘held for
sale’ and instead is retained as an operational asset and the asset’s useful life is adjusted. The asset is derecognised when scrapping or demolition occurs.
7 Note 1.7.4 Donated and grant funded assets
Donated non-current assets are capitalised at current value in existing use, if they will be held for their service
potential, or otherwise at value on receipt, with a matching credit to income. They are valued, depreciated and
impaired as described above for purchased assets. Gains and losses on revaluations, impairments and sales are
treated in the same way as for purchased assets. Deferred income is recognised only where conditions attached
to the donation preclude immediate recognition of the gain.
Note 1.7.5 Useful lives of property, plant and equipment
Useful lives reflect the total life of an asset and not the remaining life of an asset. The range of useful lives are
Min life
Max life
Years
Years
Land
Buildings, excluding dwellings
1
47
Dwellings
1
Plant & machinery
1
15
Transport equipment
1
1
Information technology
1
10
Furniture & fittings
1
15

Note 1.8 Intangible assets
Note 1.8.1 Recognition
Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical substance which are capable of being sold separately from
the rest of the trust’s business or which arise from contractual or other legal rights. They are recognised only where it is
probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be provided to, the trust and where the cost of
the asset can be measured reliably and where the cost is at least £5000.
Internally generated intangible assets
Internally generated goodwill, brands, mastheads, publishing titles, customer lists and similar items are not capitalised
as intangible assets.
Expenditure on research is not capitalised, it is recognised as an operating expense in the period which it is incurred.
Internally generated assets are recognised if, and only if, all the following have been demostrated:
• the project is technically feasible to the point of completion and will result in an intangible asset for sale or use
• the trust intends to complete the asset and sell or use it
• the trust has the ability to sell or use the asset
• how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic or service delivery benefits, eg, the presence of a
market for it or its output, or where it is to be used for internal use, the usefulness of the asset;
• adequate financial, technical and other resources are available to the trust to complete the development and sell or
use the asset and
• the trust can measure reliably the expenses attributable to the asset during development.
Software
Software which is integral to the operation of hardware, eg an operating system, is capitalised as part of the relevant
item of property, plant and equipment. Software which is not integral to the operation of hardware, eg application
software, is capitalised as an intangible asset.
Note 1.8.2 Measurement
The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible assets is the sum of the expenditure incurred from the
date when the criteria above are initially met. Where no internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised, the
expenditure is recognised in the period in which it is incurred.
Subsequently intangible assets are measured at current value in existing use. Where no active market exists, intangible
assets are valued at the lower of depreciated replacement cost and the value in use where the asset is income
generating. Revaluations gains and losses and impairments are treated in the same manner as for property, plant and
equipment. An intangible asset which is surplus with no plan to bring it back into use is valued at fair value under IFRS
13, if it does not meet the requirements of IAS 40 of IFRS 5.
Intangible assets held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amount or “fair value less costs to sell”.
Amortisation
Intangible assets are amortised over their expected useful lives in a manner consistent with the consumption of
economic or service delivery benefits.
Note 1.8.3 Useful economic life of intangible assets
Useful lives reflect the total life of an asset and not the remaining life of an asset. The range of useful lives are shown
in the table below:
Min life
Max life
Years
Software licences

5

Years
10

9 Note 1.9 "Cash and cash equivalents
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more than 24
hours. Cash equivalents are investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and that are
readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value.
In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on
demand and that form an integral part of the Trust’s cash management. Cash, bank and overdraft balances are
recorded at current values.
10 Note 1.10 Financial assets and financial liabilities
10 Note 1.10.1 Recognition
Financial assets and financial liabilities arise where the Trust is party to the contractual provisions of a financial
instrument, and as a result has a legal right to receive or a legal obligation to pay cash or another financial instrument.
The GAM expands the definition of a contract to include legislation and regulations which give rise to arrangements that
in all other respects would be a financial instrument and do not give rise to transactions classified as a tax by ONS.
This includes the purchase or sale of non-financial items (such as goods or services), which are entered into in
accordance with the Trust’s normal purchase, sale or usage requirements and are recognised when, and to the extent
which, performance occurs, ie, when receipt or delivery of the goods or services is made.
10 Note 1.10.2 Classification and measurement
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value plus or minus directly attributable transaction
costs except where the asset or liability is not measured at fair value through income and expenditure. Fair value is
taken as the transaction price, or otherwise determined by reference to quoted market prices or valuation techniques.

Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income
A financial asset is measured at fair value through other comprehensive income where business model objectives are
met by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets and where the cash flows are solely payments
of principal and interest. Movements in the fair value of financial assets in this category are recognised as gains or
losses in other comprehensive income except for impairment losses. On derecognition, cumulative gains and losses
previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified from equity to income and expenditure, except
where the Trust elected to measure an equity instrument in this category on initial recognition.
Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value trough income and expenditure
Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss are those that are not otherwise measured at amortised
cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income. This category also includes financial assets and liabilities
acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term (held for trading) and derivatives. Derivatives which are
embedded in other contracts, but which are separable from the host contract are measured within this category.
Movements in the fair value of financial assets and liabilities in this category are recognised as gains or losses in the
Statement of Comprehensive income.
Impairment of financial assets
For all financial assets measured at amortised cost including lease receivables, contract receivables and contract
assets or assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, the Trust recognises an allowance for
expected credit losses.
The Trust adopts the simplified approach to impairment for contract and other receivables, contract assets and lease
receivables, measuring expected losses as at an amount equal to lifetime expected losses. For other financial assets,
the loss allowance is initially measured at an amount equal to 12-month expected credit losses (stage 1) and
subsequently at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses if the credit risk assessed for the financial asset
significantly increases (stage 2).
For financial assets that have become credit impaired since initial recognition (stage 3), expected credit losses at the
reporting date are measured as the difference between the asset’s gross carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.
Expected losses are charged to operating expenditure within the Statement of Comprehensive Income and reduce the
net carrying value of the financial asset in the Statement of Financial Position.
10 Note 1.10.3 Derecognition

Financial assets are de-recognised when the contractual rights to receive cash flows from the assets have expired or
the Trust has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.
Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or expires.

# Note 1.11 Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the
lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.
# Note 1.11.1 The trust as lessee
Finance leases
Where substantially all risks and rewards of ownership of a leased asset are borne by the trust, the asset is recorded as
property, plant and equipment and a corresponding liability is recorded. The value at which both are recognised is the
lower of the fair value of the asset or the present value of the minimum lease payments, discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease.
The asset and liability are recognised at the commencement of the lease. Thereafter the asset is accounted for an item
of property plant and equipment.
The annual rental charge is split between the repayment of the liability and a finance cost so as to achieve a constant
rate of finance over the life of the lease. The annual finance cost is charged to Finance Costs in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income. The lease liability, is de-recognised when the liability is discharged, cancelled or expires.
Operating leases
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease incentives
are recognised initially as a liability and subsequently as a reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.
Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
Leases of land and buildings
Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land component is separated from the building component and the
classification for each is assessed separately.
# Note 1.11.2 The trust as lessor
Finance leases
Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recorded as receivables at the amount of the Trust's net investment
in the leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the
trust's net investment outstanding in respect of the leases.
Operating leases
Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Initial direct costs
incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
# Note 1.12 Provisions
The Trust recognises a provision where it has a present legal or constructive obligation of uncertain timing or amount; for
which it is probable that there will be a future outflow of cash or other resources; and a reliable estimate can be made of
the amount. The amount recognised in the Statement of Financial Position is the best estimate of the resources required
to settle the obligation. Where the effect of the time value of money is significant, the estimated risk-adjusted cash flows
are discounted using the discount rates published and mandated by HM Treasury.
Clinical negligence costs
NHS Resolution operates a risk pooling scheme under which the trust pays an annual contribution to NHS Resolution,
which, in return, settles all clinical negligence claims. Although NHS Resolution is administratively responsible for all
clinical negligence cases, the legal liability remains with the Trust. The total value of clinical negligence provisions carried
by NHS Resolution on behalf of the trust is disclosed at Note 7.1 but is not recognised in the Trust’s accounts.
Audit negligence costs
The audit liability to the Trust on operational negligence is limited to £2 million.
Non-clinical risk pooling
The trust participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both are risk pooling
schemes under which the trust pays an annual contribution to NHS Resolution and in return receives assistance with the
costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions, and any “excesses” payable in respect of particular claims
are charged to operating expenses when the liability arises.

13 Note 1.13 Contingencies
Contingent assets (that is, assets arising from past events whose existence will only be confirmed by one or more future
events not wholly within the entity’s control) are not recognised as assets, but are disclosed in Note 25 where an inflow
of economic benefits is probable.
Contingent liabilities are not recognised, but are disclosed in Note 25, unless the probability of a transfer of economic
benefits is remote.
Contingent liabilities are defined as:
• possible obligations arising from past events whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence of one or more
uncertain future events not wholly within the entity’s control; or
• present obligations arising from past events but for which it is not probable that a transfer of economic benefits will arise
or for which the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.
14 Note 1.14 Public dividend capital
Public dividend capital (PDC) is a type of public sector equity finance based on the excess of assets over liabilities at the
time of establishment of the predecessor NHS organisation. HM Treasury has determined that PDC is not a financial
instrument within the meaning of IAS 32.
At any time, the Secretary of State can issue new PDC to, and require repayments of PDC from, the trust. PDC is
recorded at the value received.
A charge, reflecting the cost of capital utilised by the trust, is payable as public dividend capital dividend. The charge is
calculated at the rate set by HM Treasury (currently 3.5%) on the average relevant net assets of the trust during the
financial year. Relevant net assets are calculated as the value of all assets less the value of all liabilities, except for
(i) donated assets (including lottery funded assets),
(ii) average daily cash balances held with the Government Banking Services (GBS) and National Loans Fund (NLF)
deposits, excluding cash balances held in GBS accounts that relate to a short-term working capital facility, and
(iii) any PDC dividend balance receivable or payable.
In accordance with the requirements laid down by the Department of Health and Social Care (as the issuer of PDC), the
dividend for the year is calculated on the actual average relevant net assets as set out in the “pre-audit” version of the
annual accounts. The dividend thus calculated is not revised should any adjustment to net assets occur as a result the
audit of the annual accounts.
15 Note 1.15 Value added tax
Most of the activities of the trust are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply and input tax on
purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the
capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are
stated net of VAT.

16 Note 1.16 Losses and special payments
Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the health
service or passed legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore subject to
special control procedures compared with the generality of payments. They are divided into different categories, which
govern the way that individual cases are handled. Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional
headings in expenditure on an accruals basis, including losses which would have been made good through insurance
cover had the trust not been bearing their own risks (with insurance premiums then being included as normal revenue
expenditure).
However the losses and special payments note is compiled directly from the losses and compensations register which
reports on an accrual basis with the exception of provisions for future losses.

17 Note 1.17 Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following are the judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see below) that management has made in the
process of applying the trust accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in
the financial statements:
In the application of the NHS trust’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from those estimates and the estimates and underlying assumptions are continually
reviewed. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.
The Trust has considered its position with regard to financial, operational and other asociated risks and determined that it
is a going concern. These accounts have been prepared on this basis.
17 Note 1.17.1 Sources of estimation uncertainty
The following are assumptions about the future and other major sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant
risk of resulting in a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year:
The Trust has estimated the life of assets capitalised as Plant, Property & Equipment based on advice from specialist
staff and previous experience - Note 14.
The Trust continues to hold a provision for impairment of receivables. All non NHS debts over 30 days old are fully
provided for.
The Trust is carrying a liability for provisions. In order to calculate the carrying amount the Trust has estimated the costs
of dilapidation repairs required, its liability for potential litigation or claims during 2018-19 and beyond from issues arising
in the current year such possible redundancies.
The Trust has made a number of accruals for both income and expenditure; these have been estimated using the most
appropriate information available for instance data provided by a counterparty organisation or the Trust's own internally
generated information.
The Trust has used, wherever possible, advice from specialist providers or information from counterparty organisations
to support estimated values within the accounts. If these were not available then the Trust's own data and experience
has been used to calculate estimated amounts. This should reduce the risk of material errors arising in 2019-20 and
future years from the estimated values included in these accounts.

18 Note 1.18.1 Standards, amendments and interpretations in issue but not yet effective or adopted

The HM Treasury FReM does not require the following Standard and Interpretation to be applied in 2018-19.
These standard is still subject to HM Treasury FReM interpretation, with IFRS 16 being for implementation in
2019-20.
● IFRS 16 Leases – Application required for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, but
not yet adopted by the FReM: early adoption is not therefore permitted.
Note 1.19 Charitable Funds
Under the provisions of IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements, those Charitable Funds that fall under
common control with NHS bodies are consolidated within the entity's financial statements. In accordance with IAS 1
Presentation of Financial Statements, restated prior period accounts are presented where the adoption of the new policy
has a material impact.
For Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust the values of Charitable Funds are not material and are therefore not
consolidated.

Note 2 Operating Segments
The Trust engages in its activities as a single operating segment ie the provision of healthcare. The main source of
revenue for the Trust is from commissioners of healthcare services which are principally CCGs and NHS England. The
Department of Health has deemed that as CCGs and NHS England are under common control they are classed as a
single customer for the purposes of segmental analysis.

Note 3 Operating income from patient care activities
All income from patient care activities relates to contract income recognised in line with accounting policy 1.4.1
Note 3.1 Income from patient care activities (by nature)
Community services
Community services income from CCGs and NHS England
Income from other sources (e.g. local authorities)
All services
Private patient income
Agenda for Change pay award central funding
Other clinical income
Total income from activities

2018/19

2017/18

£000

£000

106,333

106,959

32,790

30,789

36

-

1,340

-

140,499

137,748

Note 3.2 Income from patient care activities (by source)
Income from patient care activities received from:
NHS England
Clinical commissioning groups

2018/19

2017/18

£000

£000

8,786

7,600

97,277

100,174

Department of Health and Social Care

1,340

74

Other NHS providers

8,996

6,222

NHS other

-

20

23,671

23,571

36

28

-

-

Injury cost recovery scheme

19

31

Non NHS: other
Total income from activities

374
140,499

28
137,748

140,499

137,748

-

-

Local authorities
Non-NHS: private patients
Non-NHS: overseas patients (chargeable to patient)

Of which:
Related to continuing operations
Related to discontinued operations

4 Note 4 Other operating income
2018/19

2017/18

£000

£000

Other operating income from contracts with customers:
Research and development (contract)
Education and training (excluding notional apprenticeship levy income)
Non-patient care services to other bodies
Provider sustainability / sustainability and transformation fund income (PSF / STF)

-

173

1,042

810

-

669

3,220

2,215

Income in respect of employee benefits accounted on a gross basis

-

9

Other contract income

-

781

Other non-contract operating income
Rental revenue from finance leases

-

-

Total other operating income

985
5,247

4,657

Of which:
Related to continuing operations

5,247

4,657

-

-

Other non-contract income

Related to discontinued operations

5 Note 5.1 Additional information on revenue from contracts with customers recognised in the period
2018/19
£000
Revenue recognised in the reporting period that was included in within contract liabilities at the
previous period end

1561

Revenue recognised from performance obligations satisfied (or partially satisfied) in previous periods

5 Note 5.2 Transaction price allocated to remaining performance obligations
Revenue from existing contracts allocated to remaining performance obligations is
expected to be recognised:

-

2018/19
£000

within one year

-

after one year, not later than five years

-

after five years
Total revenue allocated to remainig performance obligations

The trust has exercised the practical expedients permitted by IFRS 15 paragraph 121 in preparing this disclosure.
Revenue from (i) contracts with an expected duration of one year or less and (ii) contracts where the trust recognises
revenue directly corresponding to work done to date is not disclosed.

-

Note 6 Operating expenses

Purchase of healthcare from NHS and DHSC bodies

2018/19

2017/18

£000

£000

438

207

2,340

295

104,999

105,300

55

50

Supplies and services - clinical (excluding drugs costs)

1,945

6,376

Supplies and services - general

6,096

2,397

900

995

-

-

Consultancy costs

1,453

682

Establishment

6,275

4,816

Premises

7,867

9,021

Transport (including patient travel)

2,133

2,128

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment

3,288

3,282

Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS and non-DHSC bodies
Staff and executive directors costs
Remuneration of non-executive directors

Drug costs (drugs inventory consumed and purchase of non-inventory drugs)
Inventories written down

Amortisation on intangible assets

179

219

Movement in credit loss allowance: all other receivables and investments

450

(396)

Increase/(decrease) in other provisions

-

18

49

40

-

-

Audit fees payable to the external auditor
audit services- statutory audit
other auditor remuneration (external auditor only)
Internal audit costs

63

48

Clinical negligence

225

287

Legal fees

206

76

Insurance

9

6

Research and development

-

106

Education and training

472

441

Rentals under operating leases

591

749

Redundancy

387

260

241
140,661

83
137,486

140,661

137,486

-

-

Other
Total
Of which:
Related to continuing operations
Related to discontinued operations

Note 7 Impairment of assets

2018/19

2017/18

£000

£000

Net impairments charged to operating surplus / deficit resulting from:
Total net impairments charged to operating surplus / deficit
Impairments charged to the revaluation reserve
Total net impairments

-

-

583
583

392
392

A desk-top revaluation was carried out by an Independent Professional Valuer which resulted in some of the land and
buildings revalued less than the carrying book value and the resulting net negative impact of this exercise was £583k.
See Note 16

Note 8 Employee benefits
2018/19

2017/18

Total

Total

£000

£000

Salaries and wages

76,110

77,621

Social security costs

6,329

6,323

Apprenticeship levy
Employer's contributions to NHS pensions
Pension cost - other
Temporary staff (including agency)
Total gross staff costs
Recoveries in respect of seconded staff
Total staff costs
Of which
Costs capitalised as part of assets

353

351

9,749

9,685

2

-

12,777
105,320

11,719
105,699

105,320

105,699

254

139

Note 8.1 Retirements due to ill-health
During 2018/19 there were 3 early retirements from the trust agreed on the grounds of ill-health (1 in the year ended 31
March 2018). The estimated additional pension liabilities of these ill-health retirements is £251k (£23k in 2017/18).

The cost of these ill-health retirements will be borne by the NHS Business Services Authority - Pensions Division.

Note 9 Pension costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension Schemes. Details of the benefits
payable and rules of the Schemes can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. Both
are unfunded defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed under the
direction of the Secretary of State in England and Wales. They are not designed to be run in a way that would enable
NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, each scheme is accounted
for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the NHS body of participating in each scheme is taken as
equal to the contributions payable to that scheme for the accounting period.
In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ materially from those
that would be determined at the reporting date by a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that “the period
between formal valuations shall be four years, with approximate assessments in intervening years”. An outline of these
follows:
a) Accounting valuation
A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary (currently the Government Actuary’s
Department) as at the end of the reporting period. This utilises an actuarial assessment for the previous accounting
period in conjunction with updated membership and financial data for the current reporting period, and is accepted as
providing suitably robust figures for financial reporting purposes. The valuation of the scheme liability as at 31 March
2019, is based on valuation data as 31 March 2018, updated to 31 March 2019 with summary global member and
accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the methodology prescribed in IAS 19, relevant FReM
interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have also been used.
The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the report of the scheme actuary, which forms part
of the annual NHS Pension Scheme Accounts. These accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website and are
published annually. Copies can also be obtained from The Stationery Office.
b) Full actuarial (funding) valuation
The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the schemes (taking
into account recent demographic experience), and to recommend contribution rates payable by employees and
employers.

The latest actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed as at 31 March 2016. The
results of this valuation set the employer contribution rate payable from 1st April 2019. The Department of Health and
Social Care have recently laid Scheme Regulations confirming that the employer contribution rate will increase to
20.6% of pensionable pay from this date.
The 2016 funding valuation was also expected to test the cost of the Scheme relative to the employer cost cap set
following the 2012 valuation. Following a judgment from the Court of Appeal in December 2018 Government announced
a pause to that part of the valuation process pending conclusion of the continuing legal process.

Note 10 Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust as a lessee
This note discloses costs and commitments incurred in operating lease arrangements where Hertfordshire Community
NHS Trust is the lessee.
2018/19

2017/18

£000

£000

591

683

Operating lease expense
Minimum lease payments
Contingent rents
Less sublease payments received
Total

-

-

591

66
749

2019

2018

£000

£000

Future minimum lease payments due:
- not later than one year;
- later than one year and not later than five years;
- later than five years.
Total

652

535

1,984

1,704

742
3,378

919
3,158

-

-

Future minimum sublease payments to be received

Note 11 Finance income
Finance income represents interest received on assets and investments in the period.

Interest on bank accounts
Total finance income

2018/19

2017/18

£000

£000

131
131

47
47

Note 12.1 Finance expenditure
Finance expenditure represents interest and other charges involved in the borrowing of money.
2018/19

2017/18

£000

£000

48
48

49
49

Interest expense:
Loans from the Department of Health and Social Care
Total interest expense
Unwinding of discount on provisions
Other finance costs
Total finance costs

-

(21)

-

48

28

Note 13 Other gains / (losses)

Gains on disposal of assets
Losses on disposal of assets
Total gains / (losses) on disposal of assets

2018/19

2017/18

£000

£000

408

-

408

(52)
(52)

Note 14.1 Intangible assets - 2018/19

Valuation / gross cost at 1 April 2018 - brought forward
Additions

Software
licences

Development
expenditure

Other
(purchased)

Total

£000
1,780

£000
-

£000
-

£000
1,780

Valuation / gross cost at 31 March 2019

224
2,004

-

-

224
2,004

Amortisation at 1 April 2018 - brought forward

1,396

-

-

1,396

179
1,575

-

-

179
1,575

Net book value at 31 March 2019

429

-

-

429

Net book value at 1 April 2018

384

-

-

384

Provided during the year
Amortisation at 31 March 2019

Note 14.2 Intangible assets - 2017/18

Valuation / gross cost at 1 April 2017 - as previously
stated
Prior period adjustments
Valuation / gross cost at 1 April 2017 - restated
Transfers by absorption
Additions
Reclassifications

Software
licences

Development
expenditure

Other
(purchased)

Total

£000

£000

£000

£000

1,772

-

-

1,772

-

-

-

-

1,772

-

-

1,772

-

-

-

-

16

-

-

16

Valuation / gross cost at 31 March 2018

(8)
1,780

-

-

(8)
1,780

Amortisation at 1 April 2017 - as previously stated

1,177

-

-

1,177

-

-

-

-

Prior period adjustments

Amortisation at 1 April 2017 - restated

1,177

-

-

1,177

-

-

-

-

219
1,396

-

-

219
1,396

Net book value at 31 March 2018

384

-

-

384

Net book value at 1 April 2017

595

-

-

595

Transfers by absorption
Provided during the year
Amortisation at 31 March 2018

Note 15.1 Property, plant and equipment - 2018/19

Valuation/gross cost at 1 April 2018 - brought
forward

Land

Buildings
excluding
dwellings

Assets under
construction

Plant &
machinery

Transport
equipment

Information
technology

Furniture &
fittings

Total

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

20,198

41,249

4,610

1,129

22

11,982

266

79,456

Transfers by absorption

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Additions

-

1,516

567

490

-

2,411

-

4,984

Impairments
Revaluations
Reclassifications
Disposals / derecognition
Valuation/gross cost at 31 March 2019

Accumulated depreciation at 1 April 2018 brought forward

(349)

(234)

-

-

-

-

-

(583)

-

582

-

-

-

-

-

582

-

3,928

(560)
19,289

(627)
46,414

253

-

-

-

996

1,872

22

14,393

266

(1,187)
83,252

(4,181)

-

-

8,165

-

385

22

7,686

200

16,458

Transfers by absorption

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Provided during the year

-

1,462
9,627

-

116
501

22

1,687
9,373

23
223

3,288
19,746

Net book value at 31 March 2019

19,289

36,787

996

1,371

-

5,020

43

63,506

Net book value at 1 April 2018

20,198

33,084

4,610

744

-

4,296

66

62,998

Accumulated depreciation at 31 March 2019

Note 15.2 Property, plant and equipment - 2017/18

Valuation / gross cost at 1 April 2017 - as
previously stated
Prior period adjustments
Valuation / gross cost at 1 April 2017 restated
Transfers by absorption

Land

Buildings
excluding
dwellings

Assets under
construction

Plant &
machinery

Transport
equipment

Information
technology

Furniture &
fittings

Total

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

20,639

39,482

1,541

802

22

10,834

266

73,586

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

20,639

39,482

1,541

802

22

10,834

266

73,586

-

-

-

-

-

(416)

(1,113)

(1,529)

Additions
Impairments

(25)

14
(367)

3,069

327

-

1,216

-

-

-

-

-

-

4,626

-

-

-

(392)

Reversals of impairments

-

-

-

-

-

Revaluations

-

3,293

-

-

-

-

-

3,293

Reclassifications

-

-

-

-

-

8

-

8

4,610

1,129

22

(76)
11,982

266

(136)
79,456

Disposals / derecognition
Valuation/gross cost at 31 March 2018
Accumulated depreciation at 1 April 2017 - as
previously stated
Prior period adjustments
Accumulated depreciation at 1 April 2017 restated

20,198

(60)
41,249

-

7,092

-

251

20

5,962

174

13,499

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

7,092

-

251

20

5,962

174

13,499

-

-

-

-

-

Transfers by absorption

-

Provided during the year

-

1,396
8,165

-

134
385

2
22

1,724
7,686

26
200

3,282
16,458

Net book value at 31 March 2018

20,198

33,084

4,610

744

-

4,296

66

62,998

Net book value at 1 April 2017

20,639

32,390

1,541

551

2

4,872

92

60,087

Accumulated depreciation at 31 March 2018

(323)

(323)

Note 15.3 Property, plant and equipment financing - 2018/19
Land

Buildings
excluding
dwellings

Assets under
construction

Plant &
machinery

Information
technology

Furniture &
fittings

Total

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

Net book value at 31 March 2019
Owned - purchased

19,289

35,302

996

1,371

5,020

38

62,016

Owned - donated

19,289

1,485
36,787

996

1,371

5,020

5
43

1,490
63,506

NBV total at 31 March 2019

Note 15.4 Property, plant and equipment financing - 2017/18
Land

Buildings
excluding
dwellings

Assets under
construction

Plant &
machinery

Information
technology

Furniture &
fittings

Total

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

Net book value at 31 March 2018
Owned - purchased

20,198

31,612

4,610

743

4,296

60

61,519

Owned - donated

20,198

1,472
33,084

4,610

1
744

4,296

6
66

1,479
62,998

NBV total at 31 March 2018

Note 16 Revaluations of property, plant and equipment
The Trust undertakes a full revaluation of all its properties every five years; the last full revaluation was undertaken at
31st March 2015, carried out by the Trust's qualified chartered surveyor. In the intervening period an interim desk top
valuation is carried out at three years and in other years a review is undertaken, in consultation with the Trust's valuer,
to ensure that the Trust's land and property is being held at current value in existing use.
The current interim desk top valuation was undertaken by Mr David Boshier Chartered Surveyor, an independent and
experienced External Valuer of Boshier & Company, resulted in the values of the Trust's three specialised properties
being increased by 5.8% in line with current forecasts for 2018/19. Forecast increases for both land and non
specialised properties is negligible in the context of current property values, therefore, no adjustment has been made to
these categories of non current asset.
The net increase in valuation for specialised properties was £1k (-£583k impairment and £582k increase in
revaluations); more detail is provided in the Statement of Changes in Taxpayers' Equity and Note 17.1 Property, plant
and equipment.

# Note 17.1 Trade receivables and other receivables
31 March
2019

31 March
2018

£000

£000

Current
Contract receivables*

6,982

Trade receivables*

8,621

Accrued income*
Allowance for other impaired receivables

526
(450)

(248)

Deposits and advances

-

Prepayments (non-PFI)

395

1,402

0

168

297

190

3
7,227

84
10,743

-

-

7,220

7,704

-

-

PDC dividend receivable
VAT receivable
Other receivables
Total current trade and other receivables
Total non-current trade and other receivables

-

Of which receivables from NHS and DHSC group bodies:
Current
Non-current

*Following the application of IFRS 15 from 1 April 2018, the trust's entitlements to consideration for work performed
under contracts with customers are shown separately as contract receivables and contract assets. This replaces the
previous analysis into trade receivables and accrued income. IFRS 15 is applied without restatement therefore the
comparative analysis of receivables has not been restated under IFRS 15.

# Note 17.2 Allowances for credit losses - 2018/19
Contract
receivables
and contract
£000
Allowances as at 1 Apr 2018 - brought forward
Impact of implementing IFRS 9 (and IFRS 15) on 1 April 2018
Allowances at start of period for new FTs

All other
receivables
£000
248
(248)

-

-

Transfers by absorption

-

-

New allowances arising

-

450

Changes in existing allowances

-

-

Reversals of allowances

-

-

Utilisation of allowances (write offs)

-

-

Changes arising following modification of cotractual cash flows

-

-

Foreign exchange and other changes

-

-

-

450

Transfer to FT upon authorisation
Allowances as at 31 Mar 2019

# Note 18 Cash and cash equivalents movements
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank, in hand and cash equivalents. Cash equivalents are readily
convertible investments of known value which are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.

At 1 April
Prior period adjustments
At 1 April (restated)
Transfers by absorption
Net change in year
At 31 March

2018/19

2017/18

£000

£000

18,734

18,773

-

-

18,734

18,773

-

-

4,055
22,789

(39)
18,734

Broken down into:
Cash at commercial banks and in hand
Cash with the Government Banking Service
Deposits with the National Loan Fund
Other current investments
Total cash and cash equivalents as in SoFP
Bank overdrafts (GBS and commercial banks)
Drawdown in committed facility
Total cash and cash equivalents as in SoCF

1

1

22,788

18,733

-

-

-

-

22,789

18,734

-

-

22,789

18,734

Note 19.1 Trade and other payables
31 March
2019

31 March
2018

£000

£000

Current
Trade payables

3,125

1,947

400

2,147

Accruals

6,476

8,472

Social security costs

1,059

1,038

Capital payables

VAT payables
Other taxes payable
PDC dividend payable
Accrued interest on loans*

6

2

666

647

(162)

6

-

2

2,283
13,853

1,127
15,388

Trade payables

-

-

Capital payables

-

-

Other payables
Total current trade and other payables
Non-current

Accruals

-

-

Receipts in advance (including payments on account)

-

-

VAT payables

-

-

Other taxes payable

-

-

-

-

1,739

3,624

-

-

Other payables
Total non-current trade and other payables
Of which payables from NHS and DHSC group bodies:
Current
Non-current

*Following adoption of IFRS 9 on 1 April 2018, loans are measured at amortised cost. Any accrued interest is now
included in the carrying value of the loan within note . IFRS 9 is applied without restatement therefore comparatives
have not been restated.

Note 21 Other liabilities
31 March 2019

31 March
2018

£000

£000

Current
Deferred income: contract liabilities
Other deferred income
Total other current liabilities

-

1,977

169
169

1,977

-

-

Non-current
Total other non-current liabilities

Note 22 Borrowings
31 March 2019

31 March
2018

£000

£000

178
178

176
176

2,180
2,180

2,356
2,356

Current
Loans from the Department of Health and Scoial Care
Total current borrowings
Non-current
Loans from the Department of Health and Scoial Care
Total non-current borrowings

Note 23 Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities
Loans
from
DHSC
£000
Carrying value at 1 April 2018

Finance
leases
£000

PFI and
LIFT
schemes
£000

Total
£000

2,532

-

-

2,532

(176)

-

-

(176)

(46)

-

-

(46)

Impact of implementing IFRS 9 on 1 April 2018
Transfers by absorption

2

-

-

2

-

-

-

-

Additions

-

-

-

-

48

-

-

48

-

-

-

-

Cash movements:
g

p y

p

principal
Financing cash flows - payments of interest
Non-cash movements:

Application of effective interest rate
Change in effective interest rate
Changes in fair value
Other changes
Transfer to FT upon authorisation
Carrying value at 31 March 2019

-

-

-

-

(2)

-

-

(2)

2,358

-

-

2,358

# Note 24 Provisions for liabilities and charges analysis
Pensions:
early
departure
costs

Pensions:
injury Legal claims
benefits*

£000

£000

£000

Restructuring

Equal Pay
(including
Agenda for
Change)

Redundancy

Other

Total

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

At 1 April 2018

-

-

15

-

-

-

1,114

1,129

At start of period for new FTs

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Transfers by absorption

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Change in the discount rate

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Arising during the year

-

-

69

-

-

320

-

389

Reversed unused

-

-

-

-

-

-

Unwinding of discount

-

-

84

-

-

320

1,098

1,502

- not later than one year;

-

-

84

-

-

320

-

404

- later than one year and not later than five years;

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,098

1,098

- later than five years.

-

-

84

-

-

320

1,098

1,502

At 31 March 2019

(16)

(16)

Expected timing of cash flows:

Total
Legal Claims:

These are provisions for Employer Liability and NHS Resolution member provision.
Other:
Other includes provisions for dilapidations in respect of leased buildings, the non achievement of improvement targets which have been invoiced on an estimated basis but may
have to be part credited when actual activity becomes available, and the review of floor space utilisation with respect to specific rental income.

* In 2018/19 the analysis of provisions has been revised to separately identify provisions for injury benefit liabilities. In previous periods, these provisions were included within [other
provisions / early departure costs]

Note 24.1 Clinical negligence liabilities

At 31 March 2019, £26k was included in provisions of NHS Resolution in respect of clinical negligence liabilities of
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust (31 March 2018: £25k).

Note 25 Contingent assets and liabilities
31 March
2019

31 March
2018

£000

£000

Value of contingent liabilities
NHS Resolution legal claims

-

Employment tribunal and other employee related litigation

-

(4)

Redundancy

-

(15)

Other
Gross value of contingent liabilities

(16)
(16)

(19)

Amounts recoverable against liabilities
Net value of contingent liabilities

(16)

(19)

-

-

Net value of contingent assets

-

Note 26 Contractual capital commitments
31 March
2019

31 March
2018

£000

£000

Property, plant and equipment

54

2,147

Intangible assets
Total

54

2,147

27 Note 27 Financial instruments
Not relevant for the Trust
27 Note 27.1 Financial risk management
Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had
during the period in creating or changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its activities. Because of the
continuing service provider relationship that the Trust has with its commissioners and the way those
commissioners are financed, the Trust is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced by business
entities. Also financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than would
be typical of listed companies, to which the financial reporting standards mainly apply. The Trust has
limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-today operational activities rather than being held to change the risks facing the Trust in undertaking its
activities.

The Trust’s treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters
defined formally within the Trust's standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the board of
directors. The Trust's treasury activity is subject to review by the Trust's internal auditors.

Currency risk
The Trust is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets and liabilities
being in the UK and sterling based. The Trust has no overseas operations. The Trust therefore has low
exposure to currency rate fluctuations.
Interest rate risk

The Trust borrows from government for capital expenditure, subject to affordability as confirmed by NHS
Improvement. The borrowings are for 1 – 25 years, in line with the life of the associated assets, and
interest is charged at the National Loans Fund rate, fixed for the life of the loan.
The Trust may also borrow from government for revenue financing subject to approval by NHS
Improvement. Interest rates are confirmed by the Department of Health (the lender) at the point borrowing
is undertaken.

The Trust therefore has low exposure to interest rate fluctuations.
Credit risk
Because the majority of the Trust's revenue comes from contracts with other public sector bodies, the Trust
has low exposure to credit risk. The maximum exposures as at 31 March 2018 are in receivables from
customers, as disclosed in the trade and other receivables note.

Liquidity risk
The Trust's operating costs are incurred under contracts with commissioning organisations, which are
financed from resources voted annually by Parliament . The Trust funds its capital expenditure from funds
obtained within its prudential borrowing limit. The Trust is not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity
risks.

Note 27.2 Carrying values of financial assets
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments is applied restrospectively from 1 April 2018 without restatement of comparatives. As such,
comparative disclosures have been prepared under IAS 39 and the measurement categories differ to those in the current
year analyses.
Held at
amortised
cost
£000

Carrying values of financial assets as at 31
March 2019 under IFRS 9
Trade and other receivables excluding non
financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents at bank and in hand

£000

Trade and other receivables excluding non
financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents at bank and in hand
Total at 31 March 2018

£000

£000

-

-

6,948

-

-

-

-

22,789
29,737

-

-

22,789
29,737

Assets at
fair value
Loans and
receivables through the
I&E
Carrying values of financial assets as at 31
March 2018 under IAS 39

£000

6,948

Other investments / financial assets
Total at 31 March 2019

Held at fair
Held at fair
Total book
value
value
value
through
through OCI
I&E

£000

Held to
maturity
£000

Available- Total book
value
for-sale
£000

£000

8,621

-

-

-

8,621

18,734
27,355

-

-

-

18,734
27,355

Note 27.3 Carrying value of financial liabilities
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments is applied restrospectively from 1 April 2018 without restatement of comparatives. As such,
comparative disclosures have been prepared under IAS 39 and the measurement categories differ to those in the current
year analyses.
Held at fair
Held at
value Total book
amortised
value
through the
cost
I&E
£000

£000

£000

Carrying values of financial liabilities as at 31 March 2019 under IFRS 9
Loans from the Department of Health and Social Care

2,358

-

2,358

Obligations under finance leases

-

-

-

Obligations under PFI, LIFT and other service concession contracts

-

-

-

Other borrowings

-

-

-

12,284

-

12,284

-

-

-

14,642

-

14,642

Trade and other payables excluding non financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities
Provisions under contract
Total at 31 March 2019

Held at fair
Other
value
financial through the Total book
value
liabilities
I&E
£000
Carrying values of financial liabilities as at 31 March 2018 under IAS 39

£000

£000

Loans from the Department of Health and Social Care
Trade and other payables excluding non financial liabilities
Total at 31 March 2018

2,532

-

2,532

11,546
14,078

-

11,546
14,078

Note 27.5 Maturity of financial liabilities

In one year or less
In more than one year but not more than two years
In more than two years but not more than five years
In more than five years
Total

31 March
2019

31 March
2018

£000

£000

12,462

11,546

176

176

528

528

1,476
14,642

1,828
14,078

Note 28 Losses and special payments
2018/19

2017/18

Total
Total value
number of
of cases
cases
Number

£000

Total
Total value
number of
of cases
cases
Number

£000

Losses
Cash losses
Stores losses and damage to property
Total losses

-

-

4

1

1

-

4

2

1

-

8

3

-

-

-

-

5

2

2

5

5
6

2
2

2
10

5
8

Special payments
Extra-contractual payments
Ex-gratia payments
Total special payments
Total losses and special payments
Compensation payments received

-

-

Note 30.1 Initial application of IFRS 9
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments as interpreted and adapted by the GAM has been applied by the Trust from 1 April 2018.
The standard is applied retrospectively with the cumulative effect of initial application recognised as an adjustment to
reserves on 1 April 2018.
IFRS 9 replaces IAS 39 and introduces a revised approach to classification and measurement of financial assets and
financial liabilities, a new forward-looking 'expected loss' impairment model and a revised approach to hedge
accounting.
Under IFRS 9, borrowings from the Department of Health and Social Care, which were previously held at historic cost,
are measured on an amortised cost basis. Consequently, on 1 April 2018 borrowings increased by £2k, and trade
payables correspondingly reduced.
Reassessment of allowances for credit losses under the expected loss model resulted in a -£248k increase in the
carrying value of receivables.
The GAM expands the definition of a contract in the context of financial instruments to include legislation and
regulations, except where this gives rise to a tax. Implementation of this adaptation on 1 April 2018 has led to the
classifiction of receivables relating to Injury Cost Recovery as a financial asset measured at amortised cost. The
carrying value of these receivables at 1 April 2018 was £0k.

Note 30.2 Initial application of IFRS 15
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers as interpreted and adapted by the GAM has been applied by the Trust
from 1 April 2018. The standard is applied retrospectively with the cumulative effect of initial application recognised as
an adjustment to the income and expenditure reserve on 1 April 2018.

IFRS 15 introduces a new model for the recognition of revenue from contracts with customers replacing the previous
standards IAS 11, IAS 18 and related Interpretations. The core principle of IFRS 15 is that an entity recognises revenue
when it satisfies performance obligations through the transfer of promised goods or services to customers at an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled to in exchange for those goods or services.

As directed by the GAM, the Trust has applied the practical expedient offered in C7A of the standard removing the need
to retrospectively restate any contract modifications that occurred before the date of implementation (1 April 2018).

Note 31 Related parties
There have not been any related party transactions with individuals during 2018-19.
The Department of Health and Social Care is regarded as a related party. During the year Hertfordshire Community
NHS Trust has had a significant number of material transactions with the Department, and with other entities for which
the Department is regarded as the parent Department.

In addition, the Trust has had a number of material transactions with other government departments and other central
and local government bodies.

Payments
to Related
Party

Hertfordshire County Council

Receipts
from
Related
Party

Amounts
owed to
Related
Party

Amounts
due from
Related
Party

£000

£000

£000

£000

-

23,671

-

365

The Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust Board acts as a Corporate Trustee of Hertfordshire Health Charitable Funds
(Registered Charity No 1061325).

Note 1 Better Payment Practice code
2018/19

2018/19

2017/18

2017/18

Number

£000

Number

£000

14,227
12,534

55,903

12,452

49,306

11,284

50,562
44,913

88.1%

88.2%

90.6%

88.8%

Total NHS trade invoices paid within target

1,384
1,168

17,850
13,990

913
773

14,333
12,511

Percentage of NHS trade invoices paid within target

84.4%

78.4%

84.7%

87.3%

Non-NHS Payables
Total non-NHS trade invoices paid in the year
Total non-NHS trade invoices paid within target
Percentage of non-NHS trade invoices paid within
target
NHS Payables
Total NHS trade invoices paid in the year

The Better Payment Practice code requires the NHS body to aim to pay all valid invoices by the due date or within 30
days of receipt of valid invoice, whichever is later.
Note 2 External financing
The trust is given an external financing limit against which it is permitted to underspend:
2018/19
2017/18
Cash flow financing

£000

£000

(846)

(137)

(3,975)

(3,047)

Finance leases taken out in year
Other capital receipts
External financing requirement

(4,821)

(3,184)

External financing limit (EFL)

(4,821)

(3,047)

0
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2018/19

2017/18

£000

£000

Under / (over) spend against EFL
Note 3 Capital Resource Limit

Gross capital expenditure
Less: Disposals

5,208

4,642

(1,187)

(136)

Less: Donated and granted capital additions

-

-

Plus: Loss on disposal from capital grants in kind

-

-

4,021

4,506

4,108
87

4,633
127

Charge against Capital Resource Limit
Capital Resource Limit
Under / (over) spend against CRL
Note 4 Breakeven duty financial performance

2018/19
£000
Adjusted financial performance surplus / (deficit)
(control total basis)

4,030

Remove impairments scoring to Departmental
Expenditure Limit

-

Add back non-cash element of On-SoFP pension
scheme charges

-

IFRIC 12 breakeven adjustment

-

Breakeven duty financial performance surplus /
(deficit)

4,030

Note 5 Breakeven duty rolling assessment
2015/16

2016/17

2017/18

2018/19

£000

£000

£000

£000

Breakeven duty in-year financial
performance

2,419

2,512

3,350

4,030

Breakeven duty cumulative position

8,530

11,042

14,392

18,422

146,266

148,281

142,405

145,746

5.8%

7.4%

10.1%

12.6%

Operating income
Cumulative breakeven position as a
percentage of operating income

Staff costs
2018/19

2017/18

Permanent

Other

Total

Total

£000

£000

£000

£000

Salaries and wages

76,110

-

76,110

77,621

Social security costs

6,329

-

6,329

6,323

353

-

353

351

9,749

-

9,749

9,685

Apprenticeship levy
Employer's contributions to NHS pensions
Pension cost - other
Temporary staff
Total gross staff costs
Recoveries in respect of seconded staff
Total staff costs
Of which
Costs capitalised as part of assets

2

-

2

-

92,543

12,777
12,777

12,777
105,320

11,719
105,699

92,543

12,777

105,320

105,699

254

-

254
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Average number of employees (WTE basis)
2018/19

Medical and dental

2017/18

Permanent

Other

Total

Total

Number

Number

Number

Number

31

1

31

29

-

-

-

10

Administration and estates

420

44

464

434

Healthcare assistants and other support staff

455

6

461

462

Nursing, midwifery and health visiting staff

756

14

771

815

-

-

-

-

519

23

542

554

4
2,185

10
98

14
2,283

2,304

Ambulance staff

Nursing, midwifery and health visiting learners
Scientific, therapeutic and technical staff
Other
Total average numbers

Attachment J5
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About this Report
Our Annual Report follows best practice in corporate governance by reporting our
performance against strategic objectives and national targets and presenting
information about our services and financial performance transparently and honestly.
The structure of the Report and Accounts also follows the requirements of the
Companies Act 2006 and consists of a Performance Report, an Accountability
Report, Remuneration and Staff Report and the Financial Statements.
If you would like a copy of this document in LARGE PRINT, Braille or audio tape, or if
English isn’t your first language and you would like this information explained in your own
language, please contact 01707 388000.
Se desideri una copia di questo documento in caratteri grandi, Braille o nastro audio, o se
l'inglese non è la tua lingua madre e desideri che queste informazioni siano spiegate nella
tua lingua, contatta lo 01707 388000.
Jeśli chcesz otrzymać kopię tego dokumentu dużą czcionką, pismem Braille'a lub taśmą
audio lub jeśli angielski nie jest Twoim pierwszym językiem i chciałbyś, aby te informacje
zostały wyjaśnione w Twoim języku, skontaktuj się z 01707 388000.
Bu belgenin BÜYÜK YAZDIR, Braille veya ses kasetinde bir kopyasını almak istiyorsanız
veya İngilizce ilk diliniz değilse ve bu bilgilerin kendi dilinizde açıklanmasını istiyorsanız,
lütfen 01707 388000.

2

Contents
Page
1

Foreword by the Chair

2

2

Performance Report
2.1
Overview:
About the Trust
Service portfolio
The performance of the Trust in 2017/18 – The Chief
Executive’s overview
Partnership and engagement
The Trust’s Strategy and developments
Key strategic risks and uncertainties

5

2.2

3

Accountability Report
3.1
Corporate governance report:
3.1.1
Director’s report
The Board
The Board register of interests
Audit
3.1.2
Statement of the Chief Executive’s Responsibilities as
the Accountable Officer of the Trust
3.1.3
The Governance Statement 2018/19
3.2

4

Performance analysis:
Measuring and monitoring performance
Quality performance
Operational performance
Financial performance
Sustainability
Equality, diversity and human rights

Remuneration and staff reports
Remuneration report
Staff report

Annual Accounts 2018/19

5
7
8
12
17
21

23
23
26
28
32
33

36
36
50
52
53
54
67
67
74
86

1

Foreword by the Chair
I am pleased to present our Annual Report and Accounts for 2018/19. During the year, we
have continued to play a vital and valuable role in the health and social care system across
Hertfordshire, supporting local people to have the best health possible. We have introduced
new services and reconfigured existing services. In particular, our role as a system leader
has been strengthened and become more significant as we work more closely in partnership
with our colleagues in the NHS, voluntary sector and local authorities. There are many
highlights and achievements from the past year which illustrate both our vision of maintaining
and improving the health and lives of our communities and also our ethos of partnership
working. Three of our services have been shortlisted for two prestigious national award
schemes – the Health Service Journal Value Awards and the Health Service Journal Patient
Safety Awards – and we are hopeful of success.
In September 2018, we were selected by Herts Valleys Clinical Commissioning Group as the
lead provider for a new integrated nutrition and dietetics service for people living in west
Hertfordshire. Having effective nutrition is a fundamental part of our lives, but for some
people it can be really difficult to achieve, especially for someone with specific health
conditions, recovering from illness or major surgery and for people who have other social
care needs. By working with local partners in the NHS and the voluntary sector, we are using
our collective expertise and knowledge to provide a range of health and social support for
patients, their carers and families. The service also includes training and practical support for
health and social care professionals in settings such as care homes so that in turn they can
support the people they care for to have good nutrition and manage their dietary needs.
In last year’s Annual Report we reported on how our involvement with Gypsy and Traveller
Empowerment (GATE) Hertfordshire helps provide practical steps for gypsy and traveller
communities to manage their health needs alongside other practical skills such as literacy
and numeracy. This year, we helped teenager Ruby, a Romany gypsy from Hertford, to
complete a week’s work experience at Potters Bar Community Hospital. Ruby’s dream is to
have a career in medicine and her time working with us has further strengthened that wish.
This is a great example of how our inclusion activities support us and our partners to provide
really effective healthcare.
HCT is working in partnership with East and North Hertfordshire Clinical Commissioning
Group and other partners to implement and deliver a well-coordinated, high quality service
for our local frail population. In partnership with the Ernest Gardiner Treatment Centre, we
have developed The Maple Frailty clinic model which focuses on the timely identification of
patients with mild and moderate frailty and provides these patients with personalised care
planning and rehabilitation. The Maple Frailty clinic pilot has been running since November
2018 and aims to improve the health, independence and well-being of frail patients and to
support GPs and other health professionals to identify and care for patients with frailty more
effectively. This model will help reduce the number of patients who are currently admitted to
an acute hospital but who could remain at home with the right support, therefore also making
better use of resources.
January brought the great news that we have retained our Good rating from the Care Quality
Commission (CQC), the independent regulator of health and social care in England. This is a
2

fantastic achievement and a real testament to the hard work and dedication of our teams
across Hertfordshire. There is much to celebrate in the CQC’s report. In particular, the
inspectors praised the compassionate care our teams provide to patients, how we involve
patients in their care and how we effectively plan services so they meet the needs of local
people. The CQC also highlighted our positive working culture which supports and values
our staff. At the same time they reported on improvements we need to make, specifically in
the management and administration of medicines, correct recording of mental capacity
assessments and the timely testing and maintenance of medical equipment. We have action
plans in place to support these improvements and we are confident that we are addressing
the issues effectively.
In January we also received the very disappointing news that we had not retained the
contract to provide adult community services in west Hertfordshire. This followed a market
testing process run by Herts Valleys Clinical Commissioning Group which confirmed Central
London Community Healthcare NHS Trust (CLCH) as the new provider for these services
from 1 October 2019. HCT currently provides these services and has done so for many
years. We did not feel that the outcome reflects the quality of the services we provide. We
have also highlighted the possible implications for the wider health and social care system to
our regulators - NHS England and NHS Improvement. In the meantime, our focus is on
continuing to provide high quality services for our adult community patients in west
Hertfordshire and to support a safe and smooth transition to CLCH for them and our staff,
some of whom will transfer to CLCH as a result.
Within HCT, we have continued to see changes in our Executive team. David Law, who had
been our Chief Executive since 2013, stood down in April 2018 following a period of ill
health. Clare Hawkins, previously our Director of Nursing and Quality and Deputy Chief
Executive, acted into the role from the summer of 2017 and we were delighted to be able to
appoint Clare to the substantive Chief Executive post in October 2018 after a rigorous
competitive recruitment process. Following her appointment, Clare has led further changes
within the Executive team as colleagues have retired and moved to roles in other
organisations. As I commented on in last year’s Annual Report, changes in our leadership
team are part and parcel of running any organisation and help bring fresh ideas and fresh
perspectives to our work.
Our financial position is still a strong one. We have achieved all our financial targets with no
audit recommendations for the eighth year running. This is a real achievement and is down
to the diligence of colleagues right across the organisation. We have also retained our Single
Oversight Framework rating of One from NHS Improvement. This is the highest possible
rating and allows us maximum autonomy over our financial and operational activities.
Recruitment continues to be a challenge for us, as it does for other health and social care
providers. We are working closely with colleagues from our partner organisations across the
Hertfordshire and West Essex Sustainability and Transformation Partnership, holding joint
recruitment events and working with the University of Hertfordshire to support nursing and
therapy students and encourage them to apply for roles in community healthcare when they
qualify.
I want to thank my non-executive (NED) colleagues who work alongside me on the Trust
Board. Our NEDs are all local people who live in Hertfordshire and who between them bring
3

us their many years of experience working in healthcare and other disciplines. They work
behind the scenes to support much of the governance and checks and balances which are
so important to the effective running of the organisation. I am always grateful for their
expertise and time, which is willingly given.
This is also my last Annual Report as the Chair of Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust. I
have been privileged to hold the position since February 2010 when community services in
Hertfordshire were being divested from the former primary care trust and HCT was formed.
There is so much for me to reflect on and look back on from the last nine years. Overall, I
look back with a great sense of pride. Over this time, we have continued to increase the
profile and the effectiveness of community healthcare services, which are very much the
“glue” that connects and supports the whole health and social care system in Hertfordshire.
The fact that we are increasingly working with and delivering services with our partners in the
voluntary sector, local authorities and other NHS trusts is a real testament to the hard work
and credibility of our teams, who are seen as essential to the work of the whole system in
supporting and caring for our local communities. The NHS’s latest Long Term Plan,
published in January, clearly recognises and emphasises the contribution that primary and
community health services make to patient care. Increasingly, we will be working ever more
closely with our colleagues in primary care to really integrate our services with the work of
GPs and other local services. I know that we have already laid the ground to make this an
exciting reality, something I am particularly proud of as I step aside.
My final words are in recognition of our incredible staff. Every day, our teams provide
compassionate, expert care and support, often in people’s own homes, often working alone.
Their work is as skilled and important as that of any healthcare professional. I am so pleased
that the CQC’s latest report on our services recognises their care and dedication so clearly.
Everything they do is geared towards helping people live their lives to the full, whatever their
health needs. This includes providing care that helps prevent people from having to be
admitted to an acute hospital wherever possible and appropriate, giving people the support
and skills they need to manage their health conditions and helping them retain the dignity
and independence which we all hope and live for. I have been so incredibly privileged to be
the Chair of an organisation that can do this. I wish HCT, our staff, patients, their carers and
families, our partners and communities the very best for the future.

Declan O’Farrell
Chair
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust
23 May 2019
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Performance Report
Overview
The purpose of this section of the Report is to provide background information about
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust, its purpose, values and strategic objectives, the key
risks related to the achievement of those objectives and how we have performed over the
2018/19 year.

About the Trust
The Trust’s history
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust (HCT) was established on 1 November 2010 by virtue
of Statutory Instrument 2010 No. 2464 made under the National Health Service Act 2006.
Prior to this, it was the provider services arm of the then Hertfordshire Primary Care Trust.
HCT was established along with other “standalone” community healthcare trusts to provide
community healthcare services in order to divide the provision of operational services from
commissioning. Community healthcare services are also provided by NHS trusts which run
other clinical services including acute and mental health care.

The Trust’s principal activities
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust (HCT) is the principal provider of community-based
healthcare services to the 1.2 million population of Hertfordshire. The Trust is rated as 'Good'
by the Care Quality Commission. It had an income of £145.7m during 2018/19 (£142.4m in
2017/18) and employed around 2,750 staff. (approximately 2,800 in 2017/18).
Community health services are at the forefront of NHS care and support. Every day, we
deliver a wide range of high quality health services to people in their homes, in local clinics,
in schools and in our community hospitals located across the county. We also provide the
healthcare services at HMP The Mount in Bovingdon. We support people at every stage of
their lives, from health visiting and school nursing services for children and young people to
community nursing, rehabilitation and palliative care. In 2018/19 we had over 1.7 million
patient contacts, a similar level to 2017/18.
We work in partnership with colleagues across NHS, social care, education, charities and
local government helping people to maintain their independence for as long as possible and
making sure people get the right care in the right place at the right time. A full list of our
services and where they are provided are set out in the service portfolio on page 7.
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Our vision, values and strategic objectives
Our vision
We will maintain and improve the health and wellbeing of the people of Hertfordshire and
other areas served by the Trust.

Our values
Our vision is underpinned by values which complement the NHS Constitution, supporting
patients’ rights and in particular the right for all our patients, their carers and families to be
treated with dignity and respect:
• Care - we put patients at the heart of everything we do
• Respect - we treat people with dignity and respect
• Quality - we strive for excellence and effectiveness at all times
• Confidence - we do what we say we will do
• Improvement - we will improve through continuous learning and innovation

Our strategic objectives
We have five strategic objectives which support our vision and values:
• We will support the people we serve to manage their own health and wellbeing
• We will improve clinical outcomes and enhance patient safety
• We will support the substantial expansion of community services through the delivery
of excellent core services for adults and children
• We will use resources efficiently to enhance our ability to improve services
• We will develop the organisational capacity to deliver our vision and objectives

6

Service portfolio
The following table lists the services provided by the Trust and the locations where they are
provided as at 31st March 2019.
Adult Community Services (Countywide)
Bladder and Bowel Care
Lymphoedema (also West Essex)
Community Iipatient beds
Neurological inpatient beds
Community Neurological, including Early
Nutrition and Dietetics
Supported Discharge
Discharge Home to Assess
Referral hub
End of Life and Specialist Palliative Care
Speech and Language
Foot Health (Podiatry)
Tissue Viability and Leg Ulcer
Integrated Diabetes
Overnight Nursing
Adult Community Services (East & North)
Acute Therapies
Musculoskeletal Services
Clinical Navigators
Overnight Nursing Service
Hospital Day Service (Cheshunt)
Pain Management and Chronic Fatigue
In-reach Team
Pulmonary Rehabilitation
Integrated Care Teams
Respiratory
Minor Injuries Unit (also West Essex)
Skin Health
Adult Community Services (Herts Valleys)
Cardiology including Cardiac Rehabilitation
Overnight Nursing
and Heart Failure
Clinical Treatment Unit
Potters Bar Community Hospital Day
Services
Community Adult Health Services (CAHS)
Prison Health Services (HMP The Mount)
Diabetic Retinal Screening
Children and Young People's Services (Countywide)
Child Health Information Services (CHIS)
PALMS (Positive Behaviour, Autism,
covering Hertfordshire, Bedford, Luton and
Learning Disability and Mental Health
Milton Keynes
Service)
Dental
Physiotherapy Service
Health Visiting and School Nursing
Public Health Nursing (Health Visiting and
school nursing)
Looked After Children's Service
Specialist Nurse Coordinators (Transition
and Sickle Cell)
Nascot Lawn Respite Care (services
Speech snd Language Therapy
provided until November 2018)
Step2
Specialist School Nursing
Occupational Therapy
Children and Young People's Services (Herts Valleys)
Children's Community Nursing
Children's Hearing (Audiology)
Children's Eye Services (St Albans and
Community Medical Service
Harpenden, Dacorum)
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The performance of the Trust in 2018/19 – The Chief
Executive’s overview
This has been another transformative and challenging year for Hertfordshire Community
NHS Trust and for the health and social care system in Hertfordshire and West Essex. At
HCT, we continued to see ever greater demand for our services and a sustained need to
respond to an environment of the competitive tendering of our services. Throughout the year,
our performance has remained strong with continued improvement and we have made a
significant contribution to the system. In particular:
• We retained our “Good” rating from the Care Quality Commission following a routine
inspection in September 2018
• We achieved all our financial targets with no audit recommendations for the eighth year
in a row
• We retained our top Single Oversight Framework rating with NHS Improvement
• We launched new services with partner organisations, including the countywide public
health nursing service (school nursing and health visiting) and nutrition and dietetics
services in west Hertfordshire with partner organisations
• Over 550 new colleagues joined us over the year, choosing to work in community
services in Hertfordshire thanks to our reputation as a good employer
I am particularly pleased that our reputation for innovation, collaboration and partnership
working has been strengthened by the successful launch of the public health nursing and
nutrition & dietetics contracts, both of which contribute significantly to the health and
wellbeing of our local communities, from pre-birth through to later life. This also reflects our
organisational vision to provide care for people at all stages of their lives, whatever their
needs. We are also now running the minor injuries service at Cheshunt Community Hospital
with local partners, helping patients get excellent and effective care 365 days a year without
having to go to local hospital accident and emergency departments. We had our best year
ever for the uptake of flu immunisations for Hertfordshire children. We provide this
vaccination service in partnership with Vaccination UK, with over 65 per cent of eligible
children across the county receiving the vaccine. By helping more children to have the flu
vaccine we are reducing the spread of flu in our communities, protecting people who are
most vulnerable.
Managing and developing our estate is a key part of ensuring we can deliver high quality
services in locations where our communities need them. Our patients and service users
deserve to receive care in modern, fit-for-purpose surroundings and we strive to provide
these wherever possible. During the year, we worked with Hertfordshire Partnership
University NHS Foundation Trust to open the new Marlowes Health and Wellbeing Centre in
the centre of Hemel Hempstead. The centre provides a range of mental and physical health
services side by side, enabling patients and service users to benefit from a more joined up
approach to their needs. In October, we opened our new Community Treatment Unit (CTU)
at St Albans City Hospital, replacing an older, cramped facility. The new CTU provides a
range of services for haematology, oncology and renal patients in light and airy surroundings
and has almost double the capacity of the previous unit.
We continue to lead the way in agile working, with the majority of our staff working flexibly,
both in terms of work patterns, and with mobile technology – laptops and smartphones – and
utilising electronic patient records.
Being an outstanding employer and recruiting, supporting and retaining staff is a key
ambition. The results from the 2018 NHS National Staff Survey once again showed that we
are leading the way on a number of key measures of staff satisfaction, including the quality
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of appraisals, feeling valued at work, having clear objectives and being supported to
undertake training, learning and development. Compared with other NHS organisations in
Hertfordshire and West Essex, we also have the highest appraisal rate, the lowest staff
sickness rate and the second best training compliance record. We know that the quality of
care patients receive is directly related to the happiness and motivation of staff, so it is
particularly encouraging to see these results, despite the challenges and uncertainties the
competitive procurement processes bring for affected employees. During the year, we also
launched a new online learning system where staff can easily check their Continuing
Professional Development records and book courses to achieve their Personal Development
Plans.
These successes were recognised by the Care Quality Commission who once again gave us
an overall rating of “Good” following our latest routine inspection in September 2018. As
Declan has already said, the compassion and professionalism of our staff really shines
through the CQC’s report and is something that we are very proud of. I am particularly
pleased that the improvements we have made in our community services which provide end
of life care have also been recognised. The CQC highlighted areas where we need to
improve and we have already made progress in ensuring that:
• all patients on our inpatient units receive their medicines on time
• patient records always include mental capacity assessments and that “do not resuscitate”
agreements are recorded in line with our policies
• testing and maintenance of medical equipment is always carried out and recorded in line
with our policies
The quality of our services has also been recognised through two prestigious national award
schemes which are run by the Health Service Journal (HSJ). The HSJ Value Awards
recognise excellent use of resources and improvements in outcomes for patients. Two of our
services have been shortlisted:
• Our redesign of our adult community therapy service in west Hertfordshire, which has
resulted in improved access to the service whilst increasing efficiency, is shortlisted for
the Community Health Service Redesign Award
• Our innovative Positive Behaviour, Autism, Learning Disability and Mental Health Service
(PALMS) which provides high quality support to help families of children with these
conditions to positively manage their child’s behaviour and wellbeing is shortlisted for the
Specialist Service Award
We have also been shortlisted for the HSJ Patient Safety Awards for our innovative IT
solution to support child safeguarding, an electronic system under which we can safely share
health information on children between professionals in local acute hospitals, community
services and general practice.
During 2018 we celebrated the NHS’s 70 anniversary with a number of events across our
centres. A real highlight of the celebrations was our HCT Superstars scheme, where we
encouraged our staff to nominate their colleagues for a Superstar award. Over 300 people
received an award, shining a spotlight on people who consistently go that extra mile. Our
Superstars came from all our teams and services, including our healthcare assistants,
physiotherapists, receptionists, nurses, doctors, administrators and mangers. I was incredibly
lucky to be able to attend a special celebration service for the NHS’s 70th anniversary at
Westminster Abbey with two of our own HCT superstars.
This year we also received the very disappointing news that we were not successful in our
bid to retain adult community health services in west Hertfordshire. After a market testing
exercise, Herts Valleys Clinical Commissioning Group awarded a new contract for these
services to Central London Community Healthcare NHS Trust (CLCH) which begins on
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October 1 2019. HCT has successfully provided these services for many years and we do
not feel that the decision is a fair reflection of this. This means we will say goodbye to around
one third of our staff as they will transfer to CLCH. Our focus now is to support a safe and
smooth transition for them. We will ensure we continue to provide high quality care for
patients who use the services that are transferring to CLCH as well as maintaining and
improving our remaining services in west Hertfordshire and across east and north
Hertfordshire.
We welcome the emphasis that the NHS’s Long Term Plan places on primary and
community health services and the immense contribution that can be made to improve the
health and wellbeing of our populations. We are already working closely with our primary
care colleagues and this will be a key focus for us in the coming year as the primary care
networks begin to form. We will build on initiatives we have introduced in the last year,
including our new referral hubs for our adult community health services which speed up the
process of triaging and managing patients who can be seen in the community. As set out in
the Long Term Plan, we remain committed to creating fully integrated community-based
healthcare and the introduction of more multidisciplinary teams – where different health and
social care professionals come together to manage individual patients’ care and support – as
well as increasing dedicated healthcare support for people living in care homes. All of these
will help us to make a step change in how we care for our communities in the future and I am
very excited about the possibilities this brings us.
I am very privileged to lead HCT as the Trust’s Chief Executive. I was absolutely thrilled to
be appointed substantively into the role in October 2018 after a year as Acting Chief
Executive. Bringing my many years’ experience of community services and my passion for
care closer to home, I look forward to leading this exciting time for community services. By
continuing to work with our partners and support our staff to deliver great care, I am really
confident that we can achieve this together.
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Performance summary
We successfully maintained our CQC rating of “Good” after a routine inspection in
September 2018 and are pleased to be recognised for continuing to deliver safe, effective,
responsive, caring and well led services. We are now reflecting on how we can improve
further as part of the Trust’s aim of working towards and achieving an “Outstanding” rating in
the near future.
Whilst we are disappointed with the announcement by NHS Herts Valleys CCG on their
decision to award adult services to CLCH next year, we were pleased that we worked closely
with a number of partner organisations to set out an integrated service model for these
services. This allowed us to present a bid which illustrated the Trust’s approach to working in
partnership with other NHS providers, as well as the private and charity sectors.
This approach led to a successful joint bid with Herts Urgent Care and Lea Valley Health to
run a nurse-led service providing urgent care services for people with minor injuries at
Cheshunt Community Hospital from 1 April 2019.
We continue to be involved at all levels and work closely with our health and social care
partners to take forward delivery of the Hertfordshire and West Essex Sustainability and
Transformation Partnership (STP). Activity this year has included supporting new frailty
models of care in East and North Hertfordshire.
During the year we reorganised our customer services function and created referral hubs
within both East and North Hertfordshire and Herts Valleys which has helped improve access
to the correct treatment for our service users.
On a financial note, the Trust has successfully achieved its planned financial position of
making a small surplus of £0.8m for the year, which represents 0.5 per cent of our overall
income. Because of the Trust’s operational and financial performance during the year, we
have also been awarded a further £3.2m of centralised funding. Given the continued financial
pressures the NHS has faced this year and will continue to face in future years, this
performance should be recognised as a further achievement.
The Trust’s ability to rise to the challenge and achieve so much this year is due in no small
way to the significant efforts, enthusiasm and dedication of our workforce. Our teams have
and continue to work extremely hard for the people we serve, doing so with care and
compassion. It is extremely pleasing that our staff have been recognised for their hard work
in external national award schemes this year.
The Trust recognises the importance of its workforce and during the year a number of staff
related events have occurred to celebrate the hard work and dedication of our staff. Key
events have included the leading Light programme, Annual Leaders conference and Senior
leader forums which have had the opportunity for staff to recognised for their dedication and
leadership this year. The Trust’s Executive, Board and Senior Leaders have also regularly
visited staff and service users throughout the country to ensure that our workforce have the
opportunity to engage with the Trust’s Leadership and help enact change to improve the
ways we deliver services.
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Partnership and engagement
Strategic partnership
As part of our strategic aim of working in close partnerships with organisations across the
health and social care system, the Trust has continued to invest in building, developing, and
strengthening our relationships with other organisation to the benefit of our patients. This
included driving forward place-based care with our partners across all ten localities in
Hertfordshire via Integrated Care Delivery Boards (ICDBs). We provided capacity from our
transformation team to support locality lead general practitioners (GPs) to deliver specific
projects in localities and attended a range of meetings. As part of the Family Centre Service,
HCT’s Public Health Nursing service works in close partnership with the Family Support
Service to deliver an integrated service offer for children and their families which maximises
the services available.
In North Hertfordshire, we developed a programme with our system partners to tackle the
lack of coordination across services for patients with increasing levels of frailty. This includes
a ‘One Stop Shop’ for falls and frailty at the Ernest Gardner Treatment Centre, currently
owned and run by Letchworth Garden City Heritage, a local charity. The purpose of this
initiative is to bring staff and services together under one roof to improve the provision and
coordination of services for frail elderly patients.
We opened The Marlowes Health and Wellbeing Centre in Hemel Hempstead, a joint
venture with Hertfordshire Partnership University NHS Foundation Trust (HFPT). The centre
provides around 20 community mental and physical health services on two floors, one each
for adult and children’s services. Arranging services in this way – rather than having separate
floors for mental and physical healthcare – makes it easier for colleagues from mental and
physical health services in the two trusts to interact and work together to provide more
holistic care for patients. For example, a patient with a long term physical health condition
such as diabetes or Crohn’s disease may benefit from some psychological support to help
them manage the impact of their condition. The way the centre is set up facilitates this style
of intervention. The centre was officially opened on 11 May 2018 by The Rt. Hon Sir Mike
Penning MP, Member for Hemel Hempstead, along with Clare Hawkins and Tom Cahill,
Chief Executive of HPFT.

.
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In Lower Lea Valley, we have developed a programme with system partners and volunteers
to improve levels of diagnosis, treatment and support for people with dementia. Specific
activities include launching an innovative ‘Healthy Memory Café’ in Broxbourne (cited as
evidence of excellent partnership working on BBC Three Counties Radio) and piloting a local
assessment, diagnosis and treatment clinic in partnership with Hertfordshire Partnership
University NHS Foundation Trust.
We presented our findings on the Healthy Memory Café at the National Association of
Primary Care conference in March 2019. The key benefits were:
• Increasing the number of patients diagnosed, helping with early interventions
• Reducing the number of patients attending GP surgeries or hospital accident and
emergency departments in crisis, improving use of NHS resources
• More patients reporting that they feel better supported, helping them cope with symptoms
and lead better quality lives
• Decreasing stigma and enabling service users to be more confident in asking for help
• Increasing the numbers of carers and families who are accessing services, helping
providing them with better quality support
• Improving signposting for GPs and helping to provide a more joined up service
• Increasing community awareness and improving connections within the community
• Helping to provide a network of support by making partner organisations more aware of
the services on offer which they can link to
• Increasing peer support
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Engagement with stakeholders
The Trust is committed to ensuring that stakeholders have the opportunity to be involved in
service improvement. Over the last year, this has included engagement around the buildings
and facilities we provide our services from as well as changes to the operational delivery of
our adult and children’s services.
Involving the local community and service users in the development of new facilities
The Trust continued to work in partnership with the Harpenden Society and Harpenden Town
Council to effectively communicate and engage with local people on the development of a
new health and wellbeing centre in the town. This included a joint communications and
engagement group and a public open event in April 2018 as part of the Harpenden Society's
annual general meeting.
We have also worked with stakeholders and local residents in St Albans around the
refurbishment of part of the St Albans Civic Centre, which will host a range of adult and
children’s healthcare services. We have provided information leaflets, regular email updates
to stakeholders, posters and banners, as well as running an online survey and holding a
focus group.
Since the opening of the Marlowes Health and Wellbeing Centre in Hemel Hempstead in
2018, two service user groups run jointly by HCT and Hertfordshire Partnership University
NHS Foundation Trust (HPFT) have been held to gather feedback. As a result,
improvements have been made to the service user experience such as rearranging the
furniture in the adults’ waiting room to create more space for service users with mobility
difficulties.
Engaging with carers
The Trust has adopted the NHS England Always Events® framework to support coproduction with service users. Engagement with carers via face to face and telephone
interviews told us that what matters most to them is being kept informed and involved in
every aspect of care and being given information about help and support available. Working
directly with carers, an Always Event pilot in the neurological inpatient unit in Danesbury is
currently underway with the aim that carers are always signposted for support.
The Trust has engaged with young carers though the Young Carers in Herts Youth Council.
This initiative is designed to introduce young carers to HCT and our services in order to build
relationships and allow them to gain a greater understanding of what we provide. Many of
them will care for parents, other relatives and/or siblings who are using our services. The
work has also enabled young carers to give their input to our carers’ strategy and action plan
which we will take forward into 2019-20 with their continued involvement.
Valuing the need for organisations to work together to support carers, the Trust participates
in the Hertfordshire Carers Planning and Partnership Group and the Hertfordshire Carers
Organisations Network. We also provide a system-wide annual training event for carers
champions in collaboration with Carers in Herts. We ran the second of these events in
February 2019. Approximately 35 colleagues from across HCT and our local partners
attended, including champions from within Hertfordshire Partnership University NHS
Foundation Trust, local GP practices and voluntary sector organisations. Participants gain a
greater understanding of the needs of both young and adult carers, the support that is
available to them and how to signpost people to that support.
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Adult services engagement
Interviews were carried out with patients, their friends and families and carers across a range
of services in west Hertfordshire to test out some ideas for service transformation. The
questions included asking what matters most about the care received as well as seeking
views on access to services, increased use of technology and what other services would be
useful to access at a visit to a health and wellbeing centre. The feedback was used to inform
the proposals for redesign including aspects such as care coordination for complex patients,
single point of access and support at home following discharge. This information was used
as part of our tender bid for adult services within the Herts Valleys, as we looked to reflect
the patient needs as well as the CCG’s service specifications.
Children’s services engagement
We held two children’s speech and language therapy (SLT) focus groups in 2018 gain
service user feedback regarding the parent education and training programme offered by the
service. Two stakeholder events took place in 2018. Invites were sent to Hertfordshire Parent
Carers Involvement Group and to families known to the SLT service who had expressed
interest in attending focus groups. Ten parents attended both sessions. Parents had
requested that information on the education and training programme be made available on
the HCT website and courses open to extended family members. Both these requests have
been actioned and the service is also using the Eventbrite online booking service to make it
as easy as possible for family members and health and social care professionals to attend
courses.
We also worked with parents to enable them to feed into our proposals for an integrated
service for children and young people (CYP) with complex needs. We held face to face
interviews with nine parents on the three-tier therapy model to understand their views on how
they would like to access therapy services. Parents’ views were sought on some ideas for
potential changes to the delivery of the service. The proposals and feedback received were
as follows:
Potential changes to service delivery
Feedback
Referral to therapy services - If your child
Parents would prefer referral to all therapy
required referral to more than one therapy
services at the same time when it is clear
service, would it have been helpful if this had that their child will have multiple needs.
been made as one referral?
Children who were identified with significant
feeding difficulties at birth were immediately
referred to the specialist SLT service by the
hospital where the child was born.
The initial appointment - If your child
Parents welcomed the idea of an initial joint
needed to be seen by more than one
therapy appointment. One parent said: “It is
therapist, would a joint appointment have
the most annoying thing to have to keep on
been helpful?
repeating her story. It’s like no one reads the
notes and I have to tell it all again”
Follow-up therapy sessions - How
Eight out of nine parents welcomed the idea
important to you is it to see the specialist
of joint follow up appointments. All of the
therapist each time? How would you feel if
parents fed back that as long as they have
your therapy was with another experienced
confidence in the person, they would be
member of the team? If your child required
happy for their child to be seen by another
follow-up by more than one therapist, would
member of the wider team.
it be helpful for the appointment to be
combined?
The report and action plan - Would you
Eight out of nine parents were open to a joint
prefer a separate report and action plan from report. One said: “We currently have so
each therapist involved or separate reports?
many reports.”
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The development of an integrated service for children and young people with complex needs
is continuing. The following key actions are being taken forward:
• Piloting multidisciplinary initial assessments where these are clinically appropriate
• Setting up a single point of contact for all CYP therapy services
• Setting up an integrated therapies advice line
• Creating a single point of contact for education, health and care plan queries
As well as working with families, we have also discussed the proposals with colleagues in
the education service. Their feedback will help us shape the following developments over the
coming year.
• Setting up a single referral form
• Developing an integrated therapies website
• Extending and further developing e-learning modules to support education staff
Over the coming year, priorities will include:
• Continuing to engage with families and stakeholders through forums and school
questionnaires
• Continuing to identify patient engagement champions within all CYP services.
• Investigating the feasibility of setting up a database of parents, families and stakeholders
within the sevices
• Continuing to involve education service colleagues as regular contributors to
engagement around change and improvement
Other engagement activities
Throughout the year, we have continued to meet with elected councillors and other local
representatives on a regular basis to update them on our services. We have attended health
scrutiny meetings as well as inviting local representatives to specific events. For example, in
December 2018 The Right Worshipful the Mayor of the City and District of St Albans,
Councillor Rosemary Farmer, officially opened our new Community Treatment Unit based at
St Albans City Hospital.
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The Trust’s Strategy and developments
Strategy
The Trust continued to deliver its Strategy - described in the image below - to deliver on the
Five Year Forward View and help ensure we provide high-quality, integrated, and placebased care for the communities we serve. Over the coming year, we will implement our new
Trust strategy which is aimed at delivering integrated community services with our primary
care colleagues and other partners, aligned with primary care networks (PCNs) as described
in the comprehensive NHS Long Term Plan.

Co-ordinated Care: Working with East and North Hertfordshire Clinical Commissioning
Group, we changed the way we deliver our adult community services across east and north
Hertfordshire to create a single, integrated model of care which launched in September
2018. The new model aims to make healthcare more preventative rather than reactive, and
to empower local teams working in partnership with other providers to tailor services to the
needs of their local communities. We are working with Hertfordshire Partnership University
NHS Foundation Trust (HPFT) and social services colleagues as well as voluntary sector
organisations via Age UK Hertfordshire and local community navigators. All these
organisations work collaboratively together across nursing, therapy, mental health and social
care to deliver better co-ordinated care for the local population. Community navigators work
in partnership with the local teams to ensure patients are signposted and access the services
they need. The main benefit of this approach is being able to undertake a multi-disciplinary
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holistic assessment of each patient to ensure they receive the most appropriate response to
their needs.
Self-management: Another element of our strategy is to support people to effectively
manage their own care themselves, particularly those with long term conditions whose needs
account for around 70 per cent of healthcare resources. People have better health when they
can and do take on greater responsibility for their health. This also reduces demand on our
services so that we can deliver more personalised care to those with greatest need. A staff
training programme has been implemented to equip staff to work in partnership with people
to build their confidence in managing their own health and wellbeing.
Over 2,000 of our staff have completed self-management e-learning courses. In addition,
around 350 nurses and therapists in adults’ specialist services and community teams have
completed training in health coaching. A patient held ‘MyPlan’ enables people to record
information about themselves and their goals. Recording of patient reported outcome
measures (PROMS) in this way allows us to better support people to achieve their goals.
Champions have been identified for each team and are available to support staff with a wide
range of training materials available, including regular workshops and video guidance.
Health and Wellbeing: All these initiatives and developments support the third element of
our strategy which is to maintain and improve the health and wellbeing of the broader
population. Over the year, we have continued to work with colleagues across Hertfordshire
and West Essex Sustainability and Transformation Partnership (STP) as well as providing
programme management and project support to the locality provider boards. This will
continue to be a focus for us in the coming year.

Enabling our strategy
We have also taken forward actions in the supporting areas of our strategy.
Effective teams: We worked with our teams to support the delivery of the effective
leadership project. The project consisted of three strands: capability, development and talent
management. Leadership and management teams in the Adults and Children’s and Young
People’s business units undertook the Healthcare Leadership Model 360°assessment. This
identified individual strengths and development areas which were fed back in a coaching
session and a team composite report was then generated. Appropriate bespoke
development interventions were then provided for individuals and the teams whilst access to
all normal development opportunities continued. Regional talent work has been progressed
in the organisation with HCT working closely with the regional Talent Board on system wide
leadership. Partnership working has supported our graduate trainees from the NHS and
Local Authority graduate schemes with the provision of high quality placements in the Trust.
Additional resource has been secured to embed robust talent management processes to
ensure all staff are able to have career conversations to maximise their potential. In addition,
team/business unit away days were delivered as required to support delivery of business
objectives. Coaching and mentoring was also offered to staff in addition to undertaking the
360° assessment framework.
Locality working: We continue to organise our services around local communities and GPs
to build strong primary and community services, engaging local community groups and
organisations. Localities have identified their priorities and we are working with other
organisations to address them. For example, we have continued to build partnership working
with providers, the voluntary and community sector, social care, local authorities and patient
representatives through being an active participant in developing plans for each locality.
During 2018 in the St Albans and Harpenden locality, we successfully piloted video
conferencing between our community nursing teams and staff from a local care home to test
the IT benefits of virtual working. The Watford locality successfully completed a short project
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called Pimping my Zimmer with residents from a local care home and children from a nearby
school. The aim of the project was to use haberdashery items to individualise residents’
Zimmer frames, encouraging them to use their frames more readily.
The Hertsmere locality started jointly planning medication waste project involving social care,
Hertfordshire Partnership University NHS Foundation, the Local Pharmaceutical Committee
(LPC) and Hertsmere Borough Council. The locality successfully secured funds from the
Borough Council to pilot 60 community pharmacy domiciliary visits to complete a medication
under review (MUR) for people who are stockpiling medication and/or who do not comply
with taking their medications.
Right estate: We developed a fully integrated estates function across HCT and
Hertfordshire Partnership University NHS Foundation Trust (HPFT), which has significantly
enhanced the integrated estates strategy for both organisations and will help us to deliver the
right premises closer to where our patients live. The shared working arrangement benefits
from not only the ambition to deliver an integrated approach but also from the advantages of
a significant asset portfolio and the opportunities and flexibility this could offer.
A key target in 2018 was the opening of the Marlowes Health and Wellbeing Centre in Hemel
Hempstead, an integrated mental health and community services facility which is vital to our
strategic aim of delivering integrated services. We also completed a refurbishment of staff
facilities at Peace Children’s Centre in Watford to support the introduction of new referral
hubs for our children’s and young people’s services. In 2019, our key aim is to open a new
health and wellbeing centre in St Albans Civic Centre, enabling health services to work
alongside local authority and voluntary sector services such as the local Citizens Advice
Bureau in a “one stop shop” setting. Looking further ahead, we are working in partnership
with Stevenage Borough Council to create a new community health hub as part of the
Council’s development of a new civic facility in Stevenage town centre which will include
community and mental health services together with local authority services including a
library. This exciting project is due for completion in 2022.
We continue to work with all our local stakeholders including clinical commissioning groups,
Hertfordshire County Council, district and borough councils, HPFT, other NHS and voluntary
sector partners, the private sector, our staff and service users to ensure that the estates
strategy underpins our key health and well-being initiatives. This work also ensures we can
support key national and local health outcomes, including the delivery of GP extended
opening hours, facilitating multidisciplinary working between multiple organisations and
helping patients and service users access a range of services in single locations.
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Our Estates Development Programme has continued in close partnership working with
various relevant partners. Current key developments include:
Development

Key Partners

Anticipated Delivery
Date

St Albans Health and
Wellbeing Centre
(within St Albans
Civic Centre)

•
•

St Albans City and District Council
Central London Community
Healthcare NHS Trust
Hertfordshire Partnership University
NHS Foundation Trust

October 2019

Hertfordshire County Council Public
Health team
East and North Hertfordshire Clinical
Commissioning Group
Central London Community
Healthcare NHS Trust
Lea Valley Health GP Federation

2019/2021

Letchworth Heritage Foundation
Hertfordshire County Council Public
Health team
East and North Hertfordshire Clinical
Commissioning Group

December 2020

Stevenage Borough Council
Hertfordshire County Council
East and North Hertfordshire Clinical
Commissioning Group
NHS Property Services

December 2022

•

Lower Lea Valley
•
Health and Wellbeing
Centre (Cheshunt and •
Waltham Cross)
•
•
Letchworth Health
and Wellbeing Centre

•
•
•

Stevenage
Community Hub

•
•
•
•

Information about our work which relates to climate change, energy use and sustainability
can be found on page 32.
Right Technology: This year we have deployed around 1800 smartphones to frontline and
management staff to enable them to more easily access key information whilst on the move.
We have created a new interactive suite of reports enabling front line services to manage
their workload more effectively using information which is updated daily. Across all our sites
and buildings we have provided patients, service users and visitors with access free Wi-Fi.
We moved our datacentres during the year to Welwyn Garden City and Farnborough, so we
now have a very robust environment with the capability to run all systems from one
datacentre in the event of a major incident.
Right systems and processes: We have largely delivered our Customer Service
Transformation (CST) programme which has redesigned our administrative services to
improve the customer service we offer to our patients and service users and the health and
social care partners who refer people to us. The programme was implemented in our Adult
Integrated Care Teams (ICTs) in East and North Hertfordshire, our Children and Young
People’s (CYP) Public Health Nursing service and our CYP specialist services in Herts
Valleys. We are now providing a much improved customer experience much speedier
responses to calls, issues, and queries.
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Key strategic risks and uncertainties
Risks to the achievement of the Trust's strategic objectives are identified by the Executive
Team and entered on the Trust's Board Assurance Framework (BAF). The BAF is submitted
for review and discussion by the Audit Committee and the Board. Risks or implications are
also considered by the Healthcare Governance Committee and Strategy and Resources
Committee. Risks identified at Business Unit Level are entered on Business Unit Risk
Registers. Risks scoring 15 or over are then recorded on a "High Level Risk Register"
(HLRR). The HLRR is considered monthly by the Executive Team and is submitted to the
Healthcare Governance Committee, Audit Committee and the Board meeting in public. Risks
on the HLRR are linked to the BAF and those that are considered by the Executive Team to
have a strategic impact are escalated to the BAF. A summary of the strategic risks on the
BAF as at 31st March 2019 is shown on pages 57 and 58.

Going concern
When undertaking the Accounts preparation process, the Trust’s management team is
required to consider and assess the Trust's ability to continue as a going concern under
International Accounting Standard 1 – Presentation of Financial Statements. The HM
Treasury Financial Reporting Manual (FReM) directs that in the context of non-trading
entities in the public sector, the anticipated continuation of the provision of a service in the
future is normally sufficient evidence of going concern. The financial statements should be
prepared on a going concern basis unless there are plans for, or no realistic alternative other
than, the dissolution of the Trust without transfer to another entity.
The Board of Directors has carefully considered the principle of ‘going concern’ when
approving the Trust's Annual Accounts. The Board recognises that there are potential
uncertainties related to the financial sustainability (ability to breakeven) of the Trust going
forward due to the loss of adult community services in Herts Valley from October 2019.
Though this may cast doubt on the ability of the Trust to continue as a going concern, the
Trust has a long term strategy to ensure its future sustainability which includes a number of
transformation projects and minimal liabilities outside of its day to day operations.
This has enabled the Board of Directors to conclude that the Trust has a reasonable
expectation to continue operations, to have access to adequate cash reserves to meet its
liabilities and to continue to provide the planned range of clinical services in the foreseeable
future. On that basis and for the reasons outlined below, the Board of Directors considers it
is appropriate to prepare the 2018/19 Accounts on a going concern basis. The financial
statements do not include the adjustments that would result if the Trust were unable to
continue as a going concern:• The Board considers the Trust operates a significant portfolio of clinical services. The
Trust has signed all material 2019/20 contracts with its main commissioners. These
contracts support continued provision of services with no plans for disinvestment, with
the exception of adult community services in Herts Valleys
• The Trust has submitted an annual plan with a small surplus of £0.039m to NHS
Improvement/NHS England (NHSI/E) for 2018/19. This plan is control total compliant and
is not dependant on the Trust receiving any revenue support loans. Subject to delivery of
performance, the Trust is eligible to receive £1.174m of Provider Sustainability Funding
(PSF) in 2019/20. If this is secured, the Trust’s planned surplus would be increased to
£1.213m
• The Trust has included an estimate of £5.356m of capital requirements within its 2019/20
operating plan. This includes the utilisation of £1.902m of its previously received PSF to
invest in efficiency schemes. The Trust is in the process of submitting a business case to
NHS I/E for approval which outlines plans to invest previously received PSF over the
next three years.

21

22

2.2 Performance Analysis
Measuring and monitoring performance
Quality performance
Detailed information and analysis on the Trust’s performance and objectives in relation to the
quality and safety of our services is contained in our Quality Account for 2018/19. This is
available on the NHS Choices website at
https://www.nhs.uk/Services/trusts/Overview/DefaultView.aspx?id=3381 and also the Trust’s
own website at http://www.hct.nhs.uk/about-us/our-publications/
The Trust has continued to build a strong framework for ensuring the quality of our services
over the last year. We define quality as being:
• Excellent clinical outcomes
• An outstanding patient experience
● Consistent and improving patient safety
Quality performance and initiatives are driven and assessed by a number of sources,
including internally, via our commissioners and other statutory and regulatory bodies, via
national initiatives, reports, guidance and legality and from the Care Quality Commission.
Initiatives in these categories are set out below.
Internally
● The Trust’s Care Quality Commission (CQC) Quality Improvement Plans, Quality
Improvement Framework, Risk Management and Health and Wellbeing Strategy (plus
related policies)
● Publication of an annual Quality Account
● Reports on all aspects of quality improvement and performance submitted to the Trust’s
Healthcare Governance Committee and Trust Board (including incidents, serious
incidents and complaints)
● Escalation and management of patient care concern
● Identification and management of quality-related risks
● Quality assurance visits, internal peer reviews, service escalation reviews and “deep
dives” of clinical services
● The Quality Governance, Well Led Framework and Memorandum
● The performance monitoring of the quality of services delivered as part of Business Unit
Performance Reviews
● Internal audit informed by the Board Assurance Framework (BAF) risk register and
clinical audits informed by national and locally agreed professional standards
● Staff appraisal, Continuing Professional Development, mandatory training and
supervision
● Use of the responses to patient surveys/questionnaires, including the national “Friends
and Family” Test
● Review of the Trust’s performance against the national Safety Thermometer
● Staff survey outcomes – both the annual national NHS survey and our local quarterly
Pulse survey
● Patient Led Assessment of the Care Environment (PLACE)
● Learning From Deaths Panel – all deaths occurring in our community hospitals and some
deaths of patients in the community are subject to case record review with oversight by
the Panel
● Setting our own quality priorities which support local population health and wellbeing
● Professional Clinical Leaders Group
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By commissioners and other statutory/regulatory bodies
● Quality key performance indicators agreed in our contracts with commissioners (Plus
monitoring through regular meetings and quality assurance visits by the commissioners)
● Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQUIN) schemes agreed with commissioners
● Monitoring of key national targets by NHS Improvement and NHS Digital
● Joint local area Special Educational Needs (SEND) inspection carried out by Ofsted and
the Care Quality Commission (Children’s Services)
● Review of complaints and improvements with the CQC’s Hospital Inspectorate liaison
lead and the CQC/Ministry of Justice (MoJ) liaison lead
● The Data Protection and Security Toolkit (DSPT) supports the management and
reporting to the Information Commissioner’s Office (ICO) office of baseline position
● Health and Justice Clinical Quality Visit and contract oversight of HMP The Mount
Healthcare Service
● Risk management through the National Reporting & Learning System (NRLS)
● Reporting to the Hertfordshire County Council Health Scrutiny Committee
● NHS England national screening programme quality assurance visits
● Attendance by a representative from Healthwatch Hertfordshire at the Trust’s Board and
Healthcare Governance Committee and its Patient Safety and Experience subgroup
meetings
● Section 11 audit of Safeguarding Children services and an annual review to provide
assurance of compliance with safeguarding adults best practice carried out by
commissioners
National initiatives, reports, guidance and legality
● External, national initiatives such as supporting patient flow and developing sepsis
management
● NHS Improvement workforce implementation plan engagement, enabling support for
Associate Nurse registration, First Contact Practitioners (Allied Health Professionals
(AHPs)) pilot and future planning for AHPs
● The NHS Outcomes Framework
● National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) guidance and standards
● Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) and the national NHS Workforce Race Equality
Standard (WRES)
● New legislation, regulations or court judgements
● National Fraud Initiative
● Coroner Inquest reports
● Specialist or themed reports reviewed and local initiatives aligned including: Promoting
professionalism, National Apprenticeship scheme, The NHS Long Term Plan, CQC
Beyond Barriers, State of Care, Workforce Implementation Plan
● Local initiatives including working with the University of Hertfordshire around the joint
development of an occupational therapy apprenticeship and scoping the development of
an advanced care practitioner programme with local universities
Care Quality Commission (CQC)
The CQC carried out a focused inspection of the Trust in September 2018, with the final
report published in January 2019 confirming an overall rating of Good. This focused
inspection formally reviewed adult services as specific developments in end of life care
provision since the previous inspection in April 2016. The 2018 inspection also considered
how well led the Trust is.
An area of Outstanding practice identified by the inspectors was the establishment of a
system for healthcare assistants to deliver insulin to diabetic patients, enabling registered
nurses to deliver more complex care.
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Areas cited as Good included:
• Staff understand how to protect patients from abuse and services work well with other
agencies to do so
• The Trust manages patient safety incidents and generally learns from incidents
• Staff assess and manage patients’ pain appropriately
The inspection also found that:
• Managers across the Trust promote a positive culture that supported and valued staff,
creating a sense of common purpose based on shared values
• The Trust engages well with patients, staff, the public and local organisations to plan and
manage appropriate services and collaborates effectively with partner organisations
However, the inspection also recognised the need for further improvement to ensure safe,
effective medicines management in our inpatient units and that maintenance of medical
equipment is undertaken in a timely manner. A formal action plan is in place and is already
improving safety and efficiency.
A joint review by the Ministry of Justice and the Care Quality Commission was undertaken at
Her Majesty’s Prison The Mount in April 2018. Overall healthcare provision was found to be
of a good standard with some minor actions undertaken to support unification of care
records. A formal improvement action plan was developed and is being monitored to ensure
maintenance for compliance of the fundamental standards.
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The operational performance of the Trust in 2018/19
Activity
Patient Activity Figures
Total face to face contacts
Total non-face to face contacts
Total contacts
Total referrals received
Occupied bed days
Minor injuries attendances
Total admissions

2016/17
1,707,202
153,364
1,874,305
417,511
67,512
10,439
2,180

2017/18
1,598,304
180,584
1,778,888
391,724
66,174
10,839
2,193

2018/19
1,507,585
187,452
1,695,037
368,317
62,307
11,718
2,212

↓
↑
↓
↓
↓
↑
↑

National and regional performance targets
The Trust met the majority of national targets and Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) in
2018/19. These are set out in the table below. Further information on performance against
quality standards is included in the 2018/19 Quality Account.
Key Performance Indicators

2018/19
Targets/Thresholds

2018/19
Performance

95%

99.5%

0

0

0

1

5
100%

4*
100%

100%

93.2%

85%

74.8%

92%

94.1%

Dose1 80%
Dose2 80%
5%

83.7%
82.2%
9.6%

90%

95.1%

90%

97.3%

42 days

35 days (32 days rehab
pathway)

21 days

19.9 days

Registered no
conditions

Good

Indicator
Minor injuries unit patients seen within 4
hours
Mixed sex accommodation breaches
Avoidable MRSA bacteraemia (see note
below)
C. difficile infections (see note below)
Venous thromboembolism assessments
Retinal screening - percentage of diabetic
cohort offered an annual screen
Retinal screening - percentage of diabetic
cohort screened in 2018/2019
Patient waiting within 18 weeks (including
Consultant & Non-consultant led services)
Human Papilloma Virus (HPV)
NHS delayed transfer of care
School Nursing - percentage of children
who have had height and weight
monitored in reception and year 6
Percentage of children in reception year
who have received vision and audiology
screening (subject to school participation)
Stroke patients average length of stay
Non Stroke (Rehab Pathway) Patients
Average Length of Stay
CQC Registration
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The majority of indicators set with NHS Improvement and Clinical Commissioning Groups
have been within target levels. Other issues to note are:
• Eight C.difficile cases were reported for the year. Two cases have undergone successful
appeal and a further two are currently undergoing the appeal process. Therefore four
actual cases have been confirmed against the target threshold of five
• The Trust reported its first MRSA case in seven years in 2018/19. Following a post
infection review, a range of learning was identified which includes: the use of body maps
on admission to enable monitoring of wounds, MRSA screening of wounds on admission
and documentation of wounds assessments. As a result the learning will be cascaded
throughout the organisation via a sharing lessons in practice document and via the
monthly infection control updates

Exiting the European Union
In accordance with Department of Health and Social Care (DHSC) requirements, the Trust’s
Director of Finance has been identified as the Trust’s European Union Exit Lead and the
Trust’s Director of Operations has been identified as his Deputy. The Trust has been
preparing for exiting the EU and has been utilising the DHSC’s seven work streams, listed
below, to identify potential risks to the Trust and the services it provides:
• Supply of medicines and vaccines
• Supply of medical devices and clinical consumables
• Supply of non-clinical consumables, goods and services
• Workforce
• Reciprocal healthcare
• Research and clinical trials
• Data sharing, processing and access
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Financial performance
This section is a summary and overview only. Further details of the Trust’s financial position
for the financial year 2018/19 can be seen in the financial statements and notes to the
accounts in the Annual Accounts section of this Report which begins on page 86.
Financial reporting
The Trust reports under the National Health Service Act 2006 chapter 41 schedule 15:
Preparation of annual accounts.
Sources of finance
The Trust’s funding comes from contracts with commissioners to provide health services. A
majority of funding remains on a block basis for the majority of services, i.e. the Trust is paid
a fixed sum of money to deliver a range of services with an agreed level of activity. We are
however seeing an increase in income being received via cost per case funding which is
counter to the agenda set out in the NHS Long Term Plan.

Summary of financial performance
The Trust is reporting a retained surplus for the current year of £4.0m which is £2.0m ahead
of plan. The improved performance compared to plan is due in the main to additional central
funding received from NHS Improvement/England relating to Provider Sustainability Funding
(PSF), formerly known as Strategic Transformation Funding. This funding has been awarded
to the Trust because of its good performance and financial control - the Trust overperformed
against its agreed control total of £2.0m.
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A comparison of planned and actual performance is shown in the table below.
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Capital investment
During the year, we invested £5.2m in capital schemes. The original plan was to spend
£3.852m, but we sold an asset at the start of the year (worth £1.2m) and received additional
central funding of £0.3m which enabled the overall figure to be increased. We underspent
against an adjusted Capital Resource Limit of £4.1m (where no overspend is permitted) by
£0.1m. We spent £2.082m of this allocation on programmes to upgrade our estate and the
balance was invested in information technology and medical equipment.

Cash
NHS trusts are required to manage cash within their notified External Financing Limit (EFL).
This limit is set by the Department of Health and Social Care and determines how much cash
a trust may spend beyond the income generated by its normal day to day operations. It is a
breach of financial duty to overspend against the EFL. We achieved our obligation without
any over or underspend during the year. We had £22.8m cash in the bank at the end of the
year which was £0.6m below the plan due to late payment of outstanding debts from other
NHS bodies. We expect to receive these payments in the new financial year.
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Better Payments Practice Code
The Trust is required to comply with the Better Practice Payment Code (BPPC). The Code
requires organisations to pay 95 per cent of suppliers within 30 days of receiving a valid
invoice. The cumulative position, illustrated below, shows that we under achieved the target
by volume by 7 per cent (2017/18 – 5 per cent) and the target by value by 15 per cent
(2017/18 – 6 per cent).
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Sustainability
Background
As an NHS organisation and a spender of public funds, the Trust has an obligation to work in
a way that has a positive effect on the communities we serve. Sustainability means the
effective spending of public money including, but not limited to, the efficient use of natural
resources and building healthy, resilient communities. Through the maximisation of social,
environmental and economic assets we can improve health in both the immediate and longer
term despite rising costs and limited natural resources. Demonstrating that we consider the
social and environmental impacts of our activities ensures that the legal requirements in the
Public Services (Social Value) Act (2012) are met. NHS Trusts are required to comply with a
number of statutory obligations relating to sustainability. These include:
The Climate Change Act 2008
This Act sets a legal obligation for organisations to achieve a 34 per cent reduction in carbon
emissions by 2020, a 50 per cent reduction by 2025 and an 80 per cent reduction by 2050
compared to 1990 levels.
The NHS Carbon Reduction Strategy 2009
This strategy was published by the NHS Sustainable Development Unit (SDU) in 2009. It
required NHS organisations to achieve a 10 per cent reduction in emissions by 2015 based
on a baseline of 2007.

Current position
We have continued to invest significant capital into our current estate, particularly in
replacing outdated electrical and mechanical systems including heating and lighting. These
improvements combined with investment in building infrastructures have helped us to deliver
a reduction in our carbon footprint. We have also made substantial improvements in space
utilisation, enabling us to dispose of poor quality and surplus properties with poor carbon
footprints which has also had a positive effect. We are currently calculating the impact of
these developments and investments in partnership with Hertfordshire Partnership University
NHS Foundation Trust (HPFT) to enable us to define a combined carbon reduction target.
We have now completed a building efficiency audit which includes energy efficiency comared
with reduction targets. This will enable us to establish a clear and accurate benchmark
position together with a building by building improvement plan which will provide investment
guidance for inclusion in our five year capital plan.
Specific initiatives include:
• An ongoing programme of new-build and refurbished premises to incorporate green
energy systems, including energy and ground or air source heat pumps
• Providing full recycling facilities provided in all premises
• Progressively introducing LED low energy lighting
• Phasing out non-medical disposable plastics
• Providing secure cycle storage at key locations
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Equality, diversity and human rights
The Trust is committed to promoting equality and diversity amongst its staff and also seeking
out areas of focus to improve equality of services for those who find it harder to access
services and therefore experience poorer health outcomes.
Our achievements
During 2018/19, we took the following steps to promote equality and diversity:
• A new half day training course has been developed and implemented for senior recruiting
managers, incorporating unconscious bias, equality and other relevant legislation and fair
recruitment practices
• The operational HR team have worked hard to review staff turnover in relation to the
reasons staff give for leaving and how these may be addressed. We have developed a
new online exit survey to gain a deeper understanding of the reasons for leaving and
perceptions of the Trust. 168 leavers have completed this since its introduction in
September 2018. This has helped us to better understand the principle drivers for people
leaving the organisation and has allowed additional training and retention policies to be
delivered. A decrease in the number of leavers was seen as the year progressed
• A new Transgender Policy has been drafted and is going through the approval process
• In March 2019 we ran a series of equality focus groups to better understand relating to
race equality
• We have undertaken a review of interview panel diversity with the intention of improving
representation from a wider range of groups on panels
• We have adopted an easy read job application form for people with learning disabilities
as part of our drive to make our recruitment process more accessible for a diverse range
of candidates
• Our podiatry and special care dentistry services continue to promote the Purple Star
strategy to deliver high quality care for patients with learning disabilities
• We continue to work with Gypsy and Traveller Empowerment (GATE) Hertfordshire on
improving the health of gypsy and traveller people, including participating in the first
national conference with a launch in the Houses of Parliament and workshops for other
health and social care providers

Interpreting support for patients
We recognise the diversity within the local population and we are committed to providing
effective communication with non-English speakers, people for whom English is a second
language and patients with a sensory impairment who require communication support. Staff
who have contact with patients are required to make every effort to understand their
communication needs. We also aim to ensure that all patient information leaflets, booklets
and posters state that patient information can be made available in Braille, large print or
audio versions.

Improving the care of people with learning disabilities
Our focus is on ensuring the best outcomes for people with learning disabilities by working in
partnership with individuals and their families and carers. We have a number of initiatives in
place to support this focus.
• We train staff on meeting the diverse and complex needs of people with learning
disabilities. All staff working in our community inpatient units received training to raise
their awareness of the needs of patients with learning disabilities. We have also
developed a resource pack which includes information on how patients and staff can
access specialist advice from Hertfordshire County Council’s Learning Disability Team,
so that patients with learning disabilities admitted to our community inpatient units
receive the care they need
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•

•
•

HCT is a key partner in the county-wide Purple Star strategy, which promotes equitable
health care for people with learning disabilities by using the Purple Folder; appointing
Learning Disability Champions; working with the Council’s learning disability team and
providing accessible information.
Easy-read Friends and Family Test comment cards are available for use by all HCT
services to enable patients with learning disabilities to provide feedback about the care
they have received.
HCT has actively participated in the Hertfordshire-wide Improving Health Outcomes
Group for Learning Disabilities

Equality and community engagement forum
This forum enables our senior leaders to meet and plan service improvements with a wide
range of representatives from Hertfordshire community organisations. The principle of
community engagement has been an essential component of our patient experience
approach and strategy.
Community forum members include representatives from the Herts Interfaith Group, the Deaf
community, Gypsy and Traveller Empowerment Hertfordshire (GATE), Herts AID (an HIV
and sexual health charity), Carers in Herts, HealthWatch Hertfordshire, Community
Development Action and MIND. Forum meetings take place every three months and are
chaired by the Director of Nursing and Quality. Partnership with grassroots organisations has
been central to the success of the forum to date.

Inclusion Working Group
The Inclusion Working Group was set up to steer and refresh the approach to equality with
the specific task of setting out the behaviours we wish to see embedded in our culture.

Disability Confident scheme
The Disability Confident scheme supports employers to make the most of the talents
disabled people can bring to the workplace. The Trust was successful at achieving Level 2
Disability Confident Employer status and is working towards level 3, the highest level
possible.

Gender Pay Gap reporting
In March 2019, the Trust published its second Gender Pay Gap information relating to its
staff. As an employer with over 250 staff, the Trust is required by law to carry out Gender
Pay reporting under the Equality Act 2010 (Gender Pay Gap Information) Regulations 2017.
The gender pay gap between men and women working at HCT is currently 12.2 per cent, an
improvement on last year’s figure of 14.1 per cent. We also compare favourably to the
national mean pay gap. As with many organisations, gender pay gaps arise because a larger
proportion of men are found in senior positions.
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NHS Workforce Race Equality Standard
The national NHS Workforce Race Equality Standard (WRES) is designed to improve the
representation and experience of Black and Minority Ethnic (BME) staff at all levels of the
organisation. There are a total of nine indicators that make up the WRES, split across
workforce data, the national NHS Staff Survey and Trust Board composition. The
performance of each of the WRES indicators compared to 2017/18 is shown below.
WRES Indicator

Direction of change

INDICATOR 1
Percentage of staff in each of the AfC Bands 1-9 and VSM
(including executive Board members) compared with the
percentage of staff in the overall workforce
INDICATOR 2
Relative likelihood of staff being appointed from shortlisting
across all posts
INDICATOR 3
Relative likelihood of staff entering the formal disciplinary
process
INDICATOR 4
Relative likelihood of staff accessing non-mandatory training
and CPD
INDICATOR 5
Percentage of staff experiencing harassment, bullying or
abuse from patients, relatives or the public in the last 12
months
INDICATOR 6
Percentage of staff experiencing harassment, bullying or
abuse from staff in the last 12 months
INDICATOR 7
Percentage of staff believing that the organisation provides
equal opportunities for career progression or promotion
INDICATOR 8
In the last 12 months number of employees who have
personally experienced discrimination at work from manager,
team leader, or other colleague
INDICATOR 9
Percentage difference between the organisation's Board
voting membership and its overall workforce

The Trust is especially keen to improve the representation of BME staff at all levels of the
organisation. The action plan to improve the representation and experience of BME staff can
be found on our website at https://www.hct.nhs/uk/about-us/equality-and-diversity.

Performance report signed by the Chief Executive.

Clare Hawkins
Chief Executive
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust
23 May 2019
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Accountability Report
Corporate Governance Report
This section of the Annual Report explains the composition and organisation of the Trust’s
governance structures and how they support the achievement of the Trust’s objectives.

Director’s Report
The Board 2018/19
The Trust Board as at 31st March 2019 consists of a Chair, appointed through NHS
Improvement (NHSI), four Non-Executive Directors (also appointed through NHSI), and four
voting executive directors including the Chief Executive. The Board is also supported by a
non-voting Non-Executive Director (designate) and three non-voting executive directors.
The Board is responsible for setting and developing the strategic direction of the Trust,
sustaining business viability and holding the executive directors to account for all aspects of
the Trust's activities, including quality and safety of patient services, financial management
and legal compliance. The role also includes seeking assurances from the executive
directors that risks to the Trust are being appropriately assessed and managed.
In 2018/19, the Hertfordshire Community Trust (HCT) Board met formally in public on six
occasions. This was on alternate months between May 2018 and March 2019. The Annual
General Meeting to present the 2017/18 Annual Report and Accounts was held on 27
September 2018.
The Board has a duty to operate in a way that is transparent and to comply with best practice
in probity. To this end, the Board signs up annually to following the Nolan principles of good
governance, the NHS Code of Conduct and Accountability, the NHS Code of Openness and
the NHS Constitution. The Board has also subscribed to principles of board etiquette as set
out in the NHS Integrated Governance Handbook.
Throughout 2018/19, the Board has continued to undertake a programme of collective and
individual development. The Board regularly hears specific stories from or about individual
patients or services at the start of its meetings in public. Briefing and development sessions
are also run to provide Board members with dedicated time to increase their strategic
understanding and develop specific areas of knowledge related to the Trust’s services and
the environment in which it operates. During 2018/19, two sessions were held after regular
Board meetings for Board members to meet with HCT service teams and local GPs to help
develop closer relationships with primary care colleagues.
The voting members of the Board also act as the corporate trustees for HCT’s charitable
funds, for which a separate report and accounts are published.
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Changes to the Board in 2018/19
The following changes to the Board occurred in 2018/19:
Month
April 2018
July 2018
August 2018

September 2018

November 2018
December 2018

February 2019

Changes
• Kevin Curnow - Acting Director of Finance – left
• Dr John Omany - Medical Director - left
• David Bacon joined as Interim Director of Finance
• Phil Bradley - Director of Finance - left having been on
secondment as Interim Director of Finance to Northampton
General Hospital NHS Trust
• Raj Bhamber joined as Interim Director of Strategy, People and
Organisational Development
• Dr Hari Pathmanathan joined as Medical Director
• Debbie Eyitayo - Director of Human Resources and
Organisational Development - left
• Clare Hawkins - Acting CEO and Accountable Officer was
appointed as CEO and Accountable Officer
• Patricia Wren - Acting Director of Quality and Governance/Chief
Nurse - left
• David Bacon was appointed as Director of Finance having been
Interim Director of Finance since July 2018
• Anand Nuckcheddee appointed as Acting Director of Nursing
and Quality
• Sarah Browne joined as Director of Nursing and Quality
• Anand Nuckcheddee - Acting Director of Nursing and Quality left
• Julie Hoare - Director of Service Development and Partnership left
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Board and committee meeting attendance 2018/19
In 2018/19, the Trust Board was supported by the following committees, with membership
and attendance records for meetings in 2018/19 as indicated (number attended/total
meetings held in year eligible to attend as a committee member).
Committee:

Trust
Board

Audit

Chair and Non- Executive Directors
Total no. of
meetings
6
5
held in Year:
Declan
O’Farrell
Trust Chair

Healthcare
Governance

Strategy &
Resources

Remuneration

Partnership
&
Engagement

Charitable
Funds
Trustees

Charitable
Funds
Committee

6

12

4

2

1

2

(6)

(0)
Non
Member

(3)
Non
Member

(8)
Non
Member

(4)
Member

(1)
Non
Member

(1)
Member

(0)
Non
Member

(5)
Member

(0)
Non
Member

(1)
Non
Member

(10)
Member

(0)
Non
Member

(2)
Chair

(1)
Member

(0)
Non
Member

(6)
Member

(5)
Member

(6)
Chair

(11)
Member

(4)
Chair

(0)
Non
Member

(1)
Member

(0)
Non
Member

Jeff Phillips
NonExecutive
Director

(4)
Member

(5)
Chair

(2)
Member

(9)
Member

(4)
Member

(0)
Non
Member

(0)
Member

(0)
Member

Dr Linda
Sheridan
NonExecutive

(5)
Member

(2)
Non
Member

(5)
Member

(9)
Chair

(0)
Non
Member

(2)
Member

(1)
Member

(2)
Chair

Brenda
Griffiths
NonExecutive
Director
Designate

(5)
NonVoting
Member

(4)
Member

(4)
Non
Member

(9)
Member

(0)
Non
Member

(2)
Member

(1)
Non
Member

(2) Member

Alan
Russell
NonExecutive
Director and
Deputy Chair
Anne
McPherson
NonExecutive
Director
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Committee:

Trust
Board

Audit

Healthcare
Governanc
e

Strategy &
Resources

(0)
Member

(0)
Non
Member

(0)
Non
Member

(0)
Member

(6)
Member

(2)
Non
Member

(1)
Non
Member

(0)
Member

(0)
Non
Member

(0)
Member

Remuneration

Partnership
&
Engagemen
t

Charitabl
e Funds
Trustees

Charitable
Funds
Committe
e

(0)
Non
Member

(0)
Non
Member

(0)
Member

(0)
Non
Member

(10)
Member

(4)
Non
Member

(2)
Non
Member

(1)
Member

(0)
Non
Member

(0)
Non
Member

(0)
Member

(0)
Non
Member

(0)
Non
Member

(0)
Member

(0)
Member

(1/1)
Non
Member

(0)
Non
Member

(1/1)
Member

(0)
Non
Member

(0)
Non
Member

(0)
Member

(0)
Member

(5)
Member

(5)
Non
Member

(0)
Non
Member

(10)
Member

(0)
Non
Member

(0)
Non
Member

(1)
Member

(2)
Member

(0)
Member

(0)
Non
Member

(0)
Member

(0)
Non
Member

(0)
Non
Member

(0)
Non
Member

(0)
Member

(0)
Member

(3/4)
Member

(0)
Non
Member

(2/4)
Member

(1/7)
Non
Member

(0)
Non
Member

(0)
Non
Member

(1)
Member

(0)
Member

(4/5)
NonVoting
Member

(0)
Non
Member

(0)
Non
Member

(7/11)
Non
Member

(0)
Non
Member

(2)
Member

(1)
Non
Member

(0)
Non
Member

(4)
NonVoting
Member

(0)
Non
Member

(6)
Member

(9)
Non
Member

(0)
Non
Member

(0)
Non Member

(1/1)
Non
Member

(0)
Non
Member

(2/2)
NonVoting
Member

(0)
Non
Member

(2/2)
Member

(5/5)
Member

(2/4)
Non
Member

(1/1)
Member

(0)
Non
Member

(0)
Non
Member

(0/4)
NonVoting
Member
(1/1)
Member

(0)
Non
Member

(3/4)
Member

(6/7)
Member

(2/4)
Non
Member

(1/1)
Member

(0)
Non
Member

(0)
Non
Member

(0)
Non
Member

(2/3)
Member

(1/1)
Non
Member

(0)
Non
Member

(0)
Non
Member

(0/0)

(0)
Non
Member

Executive Directors
(1)

David Law
Chief Executive

Clare Hawkins
Chief Executive

(2)

(3)

Phil Bradley
Director of Finance

(4)

Kevin Curnow
Acting Director of
Finance
(5)

David Bacon
Director of Finance

Dr John Omany
Medical Director

(6)

Dr Hari
(7)
Pathmanathan
Medical Director/
Deputy CEO
(8)
Julie Hoare
Director of Service
Development and
Partnership
Marion Dunstone
Director of
Operations
(9)

Debbie Eyitayo
Interim Director of
HR & OD
(10)

Raj Bhamber
Interim Director of
Strategy, People &
Organisational
Development
Patricia Wren
(11)
(*)
Acting Director of
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Member

Committee:

Trust
Board

Audit

Healthcare
Governanc
e

Strategy &
Resources

Anand
(12)
Nuckcheddee
Acting Director of
Nursing and
Quality
(13)
Sarah Browne
Director of Nursing
& Quality

(1/1)
Member

(0)
Non
Member

(2/4)
Member

(0)
Non
Member

(0)
Non
Member

(0)
Member

(1/2)
Non
Member

Antonia Robson

(5/6)
NonVoting
Member

(0/0)
Non
Member

(0/0)
Non
Member

Remuneration

Partnership
&
Engagemen
t

Charitabl
e Funds
Trustees

Charitable
Funds
Committe
e

(0)
Non
Member

(0)
Non
Member

(0)

(0)
Non
Member

(0)
Non
Member

(0)
Non
Member

Nursing & Quality /
Chief Nurse

(14)

Acting Director of
Business Services

(2/2)
Member

(12/12)
Non
Member

(0)
Non
Member

(1/2)
Member

Member

(0/0)
Member

(0)
Non
Member

(1/1)
Non
Member

(0)
Non
Member

Notes:
(*)

= Voting Board member

(1)
(2)

Retired on 30 April 2018 following a period of long-term sickness
Appointed Acting Chief Executive / Accountable Officer until 30 October 2018
Appointed Chief Executive from 1 November 2018
Left the Trust on 31 August 2018 following a secondment to Northampton General
Hospital NHS Trust
Appointed Acting Director of Finance from 1 December 2017 and left the Trust on 30
April 2018
Appointed Interim Director of Finance from 1 July 2018 and substantive Director of
Finance from 6 December 2018
Left the Trust on 30 April 2018
Appointed Medical Director and Deputy Chief Executive on 3 September 2018 until 31
March 2019
Left The Trust on 28 February 2019
On secondment from Greenwich and Lewisham NHS Trust until 31 May 2018. Fixed
term contract from 1 June 2018 and left the Trust on 16 September 2018
Appointed Interim Director of strategy People and Organisational Development on 4
September 2018
Appointed Acting Director of Nursing & Quality from 28 September 2017. Retired after
period of long-term sick leave on 31 December 2018
Appointed Acting Director of Nursing & Quality from 6 July 2018 until 25 February 2019
Appointed Director of Nursing & Quality from 25 February 2019
Appointed Acting Director of Business Services from 1 December 2017

(3)
(4)
(5)
(6)
(7)
(8)
(9)
(10)
(11)
(12)
(13)
(14)
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The Board of the Trust as at 31 March 2019
(* = voting member)

Declan O’Farrell
Chair (*)
Declan was appointed Chair in February 2010. He was previously
Chair of West Herts College in Watford for eight years from 2003,
leading its transformation from a failing college to one with an
OFSTED rating of Outstanding. Declan was also Chair of the
Training and Enterprise Council in north west London and Chair of
Business Link London. He was awarded a CBE in 2000 for services
to businesses in London.
Declan is a qualified accountant who has held senior financial roles
in Grand Metropolitan Group and London Transport. Whilst at London Transport he became
Managing Director of a bus division which was then privatised and successfully listed on the
London Stock Exchange. He has maintained an interest in public transport systems and in
product development in music and retail marketing.
Declan has overseen the development of HCT’s strategies in integrated service delivery and
also represents HCT on the strategic oversight group for the development of the
Hertfordshire and West Essex Strategic Transformation Partnership.
Committee membership
• Chair – Trust Board
• Member - Strategy and Resources Committee
• Member – Remuneration Committee
Appointment history
• Appointed from 1 October 2010 to 31 March 2013
• Reappointed in 2013 to 31 March 2015
• Extended in 2015 to 31 March 2017
• Extended in 2017 to 31 March 2019
• Extended in 2019 to 30 September 2019
Alan Russell
Deputy Chair (*)
Alan was appointed as a non-executive director in April 2010. He was
previously Managing Director of Logica Consulting UK and prior to
that Managing Director of Atos Consulting and Chair of its global
consulting board. Both companies engaged in complex
transformational change programmes for public and private sector
organisations. He was a Director of the Management Consultancies
Association and President in 2005.
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Committee membership and other responsibilities
• Deputy Chair – Trust Board
• Senior Independent Director (SID)
• Chair - Partnership and Engagement Committee
• Member - Strategy and Resources Committee
Appointment history
• Appointed from 1 October 2010 to 31 March 2013
• Reappointed in 2013 to 31 March 2015
• Extended in 2015 to 31 March 2017
• Extended in 2019 to 31 March 2020
Dr Linda Sheridan
Non-Executive Director (*)
Linda was appointed as a non-executive director in June 2013. She
qualified as a doctor from Trinity College, Dublin and moved to the
UK for post-graduate training in general practice. Linda worked in
primary care in Bedfordshire for over 15 years before training to be a
public health medicine consultant. She worked in that capacity in
London, Hertfordshire, Cambridgeshire and more widely across the
East of England region. She retired from her post as Deputy
Regional Director in March 2013.
During her time as a clinician, Linda has led many programmes aimed at improving the
quality and resilience of health services, including GP prescribing, diabetes care, cancer
screening, child health, maternity services, healthcare associated infection, emergency
planning, the 2009 flu pandemic and NHS preparedness for the 2012 Olympic Games.
Committee membership
• Chair - Strategy and Resources Committee
• Chair - Charitable Funds Committee
• Member - Healthcare Governance Committee
Appointment history
• Appointed 1 June 2013 to 30 May 2017
• Reappointed in 2017 to 30 May 2019
• Extended in 2019 to 31 March 2020
Jeff Phillips
Non-Executive Director (*)
Jeff was appointed as a non-executive director in September 2011.
He has a degree in Economics and is a qualified accountant. He
has had a wide and varied career in the telecommunication and
chemical industries.
Jeff has also served as a non-executive director for Luton
Community Services and was the founding chairman of CHUMS, a
bereavement and trauma social enterprise based in Bedfordshire.
He is also former Treasurer of Shelter. Jeff is Vice Chair of
Governors at Manland Primary School in Harpenden and is a member of Hertfordshire
County Council Schools’ Appeals Panel.
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Committee membership
• Chair - Audit Committee
• Member - Healthcare Governance Committee
• Member - Strategy and Resources Committee
• Member - Charitable Funds Committee
• Member - Remuneration Committee
Appointment history
• Appointed from 1 September 2011 to 13 May 2015
• Reappointed in 2015 to 13 September 2017
• Extended in 2017 to 13 September 2019
• Extended in 2019 to 31 March 2020
Anne McPherson
Non-Executive Director (*)
Anne was appointed as a non-executive director in October
2010. She is a nurse and midwife with extensive board level
experience. Anne was Chief Nurse for the former health
authorities in Hertfordshire and held several other Director of
Nursing posts, including at an integrated NHS trust. Anne was
Executive Officer for the Nurse Directors Association and
Associate Consultant for the International Hospitals Group
where she was involved in commissioning new hospitals
overseas. She is also a Specialist Advisor for the Care Quality
Commission.
Anne has also served as a non-executive director for Dacorum Primary Care Trust and West
Hertfordshire Primary Care Trust and as a Trustee for Isabel Hospice. She was also
Independent Lay Chair for NHS England’s Central Midlands and East Performers List
Decision Panel. In January 2015 Anne was awarded the MBE for services to nursing and
healthcare.
Committee membership and other responsibilities
• Chair - Healthcare Governance Committee
• Chair - Remuneration Committee
• Member - Audit Committee
• Member - Strategy and Resources Committee
• Lead non-executive director for Freedom to Speak Up
• Board lead for Patient Safety and Experience
Appointment history
• Appointed 1 October 2010 to 31 March 2013
• Reappointed in 2013 to 31 March 2015
• Extended in 2015 to 31 March 2017
• Extended in 2017 to 31 March 2019
• Extended in 2019 to 31 March 2020
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Brenda Griffiths
Non-Executive Director (Designate)
Brenda was appointed as a non-executive director (designate) in
June 2013. A trained nurse, she worked in the NHS for 25 years
until 2003 when she was appointed as an independent member of
Hertfordshire Police Authority. She remained on the Authority until
its abolition in 2012.
Brenda was Chair of the Standards Committee of Hertsmere
Borough Council from 2005 to 2011. She is a member of St
Bartholomew’s Hospital League of Nurses. She sits on the local
committees for both Peace Hospice Care Watford and the Royal
Medical Benevolent Fund. In February 2016, Brenda was elected as Foundation Master of
The Guild of Nurses in the City of London. Brenda is Chair of the Board of Trustees of the
Company of Nurses Charitable Trust. She is an Associate Member of the College of Policing
and acts as an Assessor for senior selection, promotion, graduate and direct entry
candidates.
Committee membership and other responsibilities
• Member - Strategy and Resources Committee
• Member - Audit Committee
• Member - Partnership and Engagement Committee
• Member - Charitable Funds Committee
• Non-executive lead for frailty
• Non-executive lead for diversity and inclusion
Appointment history
• Appointed 1 June 2013 to 31 May 2015
• Extended in 2015 to 31 May 2017 (Honorary contract)
• Re-appointed in 2017 to 30 May 2019
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Clare Hawkins
Chief Executive (*)
Clare was appointed as Chief Executive in October 2018, having
been Acting Chief Executive for the previous year. She was also
previously Deputy Chief Executive and Chief Nurse.
Clare joined HCT as Director of Quality and Governance in
March 2011. She is a Registered Nurse, District Nurse and
Nurse Practitioner. Prior to joining HCT, Clare was Deputy
Director and Director of Nursing and Quality at NHS
Hertfordshire. She has held a number of other senior NHS
management posts since 1995. Clare was seconded to the
nursing directorate at NHS Improvement for a day a week from
January 2017 to October 2018, providing community services advice and expertise to the
national team, and continues to work with her professional networks.
Clare’s particular areas of interest are patient safety and workforce development. She is the
Trust’s Director of Infection Prevention and Control.
Clare is working with the Hertfordshire and West Essex Sustainability and Transformation
Partnership (STP) developing the clinical strategy and led the establishment of the STP’s
Clinical Oversight Group.
Clare’s portfolio
• Overall leadership of the Trust
• Trust strategy
• Director of Infection Prevention and Control
• Communications and engagement
David Bacon
Director of Finance (*)
David was appointed as Director of Finance in December 2018,
having previously been Interim Director of Finance since July 2018.
David qualified as a Chartered Accountant in 1986 and joined the
NHS in 1990 becoming Deputy Director of Finance of
Leicestershire Health Authority in 1995. Between 2001 and 2010
he held Director of Finance and Turnaround Director posts in both
the East Midlands and the East of England. Since 2010, David has
been providing senior financial expertise to NHS organisations on
an interim basis, working in a variety of senior roles for commissioners, providers and
regulators across England in line management and project roles.
David holds an MBA and has completed the Strategic Financial Leadership Programme at
Cass Business School. He is an active member of the Healthcare Financial Management
Association (HFMA). He chairs the National Accounting and Standards Committee, the
HFMA’s annual pre-accounts planning conferences and the HFMA’s Finance Team of the
Year Award judging panel. He is also the Chief Assessor for the HFMA Academy. His work
for the HFMA was recognised in April 2011 when he received an HFMA inaugural Key
Contributor award.
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David’s portfolio
• Financial management
• Performance management
• Contract management
• Business planning
• Information management and technology (IM&T)
• Senior Information Risk Owner (SIRO)
• Estates
• Financial governance
• Business and commercial development
Prior to David joining the Trust, the role of Director of Finance was undertaken by Kevin
Curnow.
Raj Bhamber FCPD, MSc, BA
Interim Director of Strategy, People and Organisational Development
Raj joined the Trust as Interim Director of Strategy, People and
Organisational Development in September 2018 from The
Princess Alexandra Hospital NHS Trust where she was the
Interim Director of People, Communications and OD.
Prior to her recent interim roles, Raj was a Director in the
people and organisation practice and a member of the Public
Health Sector Board at PriceWaterhouseCoopers (PwC) LLP for
over three years. She has acquired extensive experience of
working in the private and public sectors in the UK and abroad,
including over 20 years of board level experience through a
variety of Executive Director positions in health authorities and NHS foundation trusts in
London and the Home Counties.
Raj spent her early career in the banking and broadcast media sectors in Vancouver,
Canada and she is currently a trustee of two charities. She has an MSc (Leadership in
Human Resources), is a Fellow of the Chartered Institute of Personnel and Development and
an accredited coach and psychometrician. She is also the former National Chair of the
Workforce & OD workstream of the NHS Seven Day Services Forum and a former member
of the Medical Workforce Forum, the Staff Partnership Forum and the Consultant Contract
Negotiating Committee. Raj’s particular areas of interest are culture, health and wellbeing,
leadership, communications and engagement.
Raj’s portfolio
• Strategy and organisational development
• Corporate people services and corporate affairs
• Education, learning and leadership development
• Culture and wellbeing
• Staff engagement and trade union relationships
• Equality, diversity and social inclusion
Prior to Raj joining the Trust, the role was undertaken by Debbie Eyitayo.
Sarah Browne
Director of Nursing and Quality (*)
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Sarah was appointed as Director of Nursing and Quality in
February 2019 from Essex Partnership NHS Foundation Trust
(EPUT), a combined mental health and community trust with
services in Essex and Bedfordshire where she was Deputy
Director of Nursing and Director of Infection Prevention and
Control. Sarah was previously Acting Executive Nurse at South
Essex Partnership University NHS Foundation Trust and she
has worked at a senior level in the former Bedfordshire
Community Health Services Trust.
Sarah brings a breadth and depth of experience to the Trust
role. She has extensive experience of integrated community and mental health services,
nursing and clinical leadership and workforce transformation across complex systems. She
has worked at local, regional and national levels.
Sarah’s portfolio
• Executive Lead and advisor for nurses and allied health professionals on the Trust Board
• Board lead for safeguarding
• Quality and governance
• Clinical leadership
• Patient safety
• Patient experience
• Risk management
• Deputy Director of Infection Prevention and Control
Prior to Sarah joining the Trust in February 2019, Patricia Wren and Anand Nuckcheddee
were acting into the role of Director of Nursing and Quality.

Marion Dunstone
Director of Operations
Marion was appointed as Director of Operations in January
2016, having acted into the role for the previous six months.
Prior to this, Marion was General Manager for Children’s and
Young People’s Services.
Marion has many years of experience in the NHS. She initially
qualified and worked as a dietitian and has managed adult and
children’s services in hospitals and within the community.
Marion leads the operational delivery of adult and children’s
services across HCT and is the emergency planning lead for
the organisation.
Marion’s portfolio
• Operational management
• Service transformation and improvement
• Emergency planning and resilience
• Communications with general practices and primary care networks
• Integrated care
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Dr Hari Pathmanathan
Medical Director and Deputy Chief Executive (*)
Hari was appointed as Medical Director in September
2018. He has been a GP in Hertfordshire for 20 years and
been involved in NHS management and clinical leadership
for 15 years. He has held board level positions as Director
and Non-executive director at Welwyn and Hatfield
Primary Care Trust, Hertfordshire Primary Care Trust and
East & North Hertfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group.
Between 2014 and 2018 he was Chair of East & North
Hertfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group.
Hari is a Partner at Bridge Cottage Surgery in Old Welwyn.

Hari’s portfolio
• Professional leadership for medical staff
• Clinical effectiveness, outcomes and audit
• Research and development
• Medical advisor to the Board
• Caldicott Guardian
• Controlled drugs Accountable Officer
• Medical revalidation
Prior to Hari joining the Trust in September 2018, the role of Medical Director was
undertaken by John Omany.
Antonia Robson
Acting Director of Business Services
Antonia was appointed as Acting Director of Business
Services in December 2017, having previously been Assistant
Director of Planning and Contracting.
Antonia has worked for the NHS since 2009, initially as
Associate Director of Corporate Services at Luton Primary
Care Trust (PCT) and then as Director of Business Services
for both Luton and Bedfordshire Primary Care Trusts when the
trusts became a PCT cluster in 2011. She has also worked for
NHS Central Eastern Commissioning Support Unit, supporting
commissioners across Hertfordshire, Bedfordshire and Essex and leading on strategic
development and tender preparation.
Prior to joining the NHS, Antonia worked for Barclays Corporate Banking for 12 years,
predominantly in strategic marketing and planning and latterly in sales management. She
brings commercial experience to the Trust from these roles and has a post-graduate diploma
in marketing as well as an MBA.
Antonia’s portfolio
48

•
•
•
•

Contract management
Business planning
Business and commercial development
Programme Management Office
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The Board Register of Interests
The table shows the Board Members and their interests declared as at 31st March 2019.
Name
Declan O’Farrell (*)

Position
Chair

Interests Declared
Director:
Castletown Corporation Ltd
Beatselecta Limited
Director and Chairman of
Catena Publications Limited

Alan Russell (*)

Non- Executive
Director

(Prospective FT) Member of West Herts
Hospitals NHS Trust
Member of Herts Urgent Care

Anne McPherson (*)

Non- Executive
Director

Friend of Parkwood Surgery, Hemel
Hempstead, Herts
Specialist Adviser for the Care Quality
Commission (CQC)

Jeff Phillips (*)

Non -Executive
Director

School Governor, Manland School,
Harpenden
Lay Member HCC Schools Admissions
Appeals Panel
Member of Davenport House Patient Group,
Harpenden
Treasurer of the St. Albans and Harpenden
Patient Group

Dr Linda Sheridan (*)

Non- Executive
Director

Team leader and peer reviewer for External
Quality Assurance reviews of non-cancer
screening services for the National Screening
Programmes, Public Health England
(Occasional role)
Daughter Employed in Operations
Directorate, NHS Midlands and East

Brenda Griffiths

Non- Executive
Director
(Designate)

Member East and North Herts NHS Trust
Member Red House (Radlett) Patient
Reference Group
Associate Member, The College of Policing
Husband employed by UCL on Royal Free
Campus
Foundation Master of The Guild of Nurses in
the City of London
Member of the Royal Free London NHS
Foundation Trust
Member of the Executive Committee of the
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Name

Position

Interests Declared
Royal British Nurses Association
Chair of the Board of Trustees of the
Company of Nurses Charitable Trust

David Law (*) (1)
Clare Hawkins (*)

(2)

Chief Executive

Wife is working part-time for Questback

Chief Executive

Community Services adviser. NHSI Nursing
Directorate

Acting Chief
Executive
Director of Nursing
Phil Bradley (*) (3)

Director of Finance

Director, Bradley Slade Consulting Limited

Kevin Curnow (*) (4)

Acting Director of
Finance

None

David Bacon (*) (5)

Interim Director of
Finance

Director and Owner of DB Interim
Management Ltd a personal Services
Company providing consultancy and
management services predominantly in the
NHS

Director of Finance

Chief Assessor, HFMA Academy Providing
assessor services on a sessional basis to the
HFMA Academy’s Qualification Awarding
Organisation
Dr John Omany (*)(6)

Medical Director

Omany Medical Ltd

Dr Hariharan
Pathmanathan (*)(7)

Medical Director &
Deputy Chief
Executive

Partner, Bridge Cottage Surgery
Ephedra Ltd (GP Federation)
Director Bridge Cottage Pharmacy Ltd
Director Vision Medicare Ltd

Julie Hoare (8)

Director of Service
Development and
Partnerships

None

Marion Dunstone

Director of
Operations

None

Debbie Eyitayo (9)

Interim HR Director None

Rajwant Bhamber (10)

Interim Director of
Strategy, People
and Organisational
Development

Bhamber Estates Ltd

Acting Director of
Nursing & Quality

None

Anand Nuckcheddee
(*) (12)

Acting Director of
Nursing & Quality

Chambers Grove Risk Governance Solutions
Ltd

Sarah Browne (*) (13)

Director of Nursing
& Quality

None

Tricia Wren (*)

(11)

Trustee of Scott’s Learning Disability
Trustee of The Staff College
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Name

Position

Antonia Robson (14)

Acting Director of
Business Services

Interests Declared
None

Notes:
(*)
(1)
(2)

(3)
(4)
(5)
(6)
(7)
(8)
(9)
(10)
(11)
(12)
(13)
(14)

= Voting Board member
Retired on 30 April 2018 following a period of long-term sickness
Appointed Acting Chief Executive / Accountable Officer until 30 October 2018 from
substantive role of Director of Nursing
Appointed Chief Executive from 1 November 2018
Left the Trust on 31 August 2018 following a secondment to Northampton General
Hospital NHS Trust
Appointed Acting Director of Finance from 1 December 2017 and left the Trust on 30
April 2018
Appointed Interim Director of Finance from 1 July 2018 and substantive Director of
Finance from 6 December 2018
Left the Trust on 30 April 2018
Appointed Medical Director and Deputy Chief Executive on 3 September 2018 until 31
March 2019
Left the Trust on 28 February 2019
On secondment from Greenwich and Lewisham NHS Trust until 31 May 2018. Fixed
term contract from 1 June 2018 and left the Trust on 16 September 2018
Appointed Interim Director of strategy People and Organisational Development on 4
September 2018
Appointed Acting Director of Nursing & Quality from 28 September 2017. Retired after
period of long-term sick leave on 31 December 2018
Appointed Acting Director of Nursing & Quality from 6 July 2018 until 25 February
2019
Appointed Director of Nursing & Quality from 25 February 2019
Appointed Acting Director of Business Services from 1 December 2017

Audit
The Trust has an Audit Committee which is chaired by a financially qualified non-executive
director and has two other non-executive directors as members. As at 31st March 2019,
membership is:
Chair:
Jeff Phillips (Non-Executive Director)
Members:
Anne McPherson (Non-Executive Director) (*)
Brenda Griffiths (Non-Executive Director Designate)
(*) Also Chairs the Trust’s Healthcare Governance Committee and Remuneration
Committee. Conversely, the Chair of the Audit Committee sits on the Trust’s Healthcare
Governance Committee.
The Audit Committee met five times in 2018/19, with four standing meetings and an extraordinary meeting to review the Trust’s Annual Accounts, Annual Report, Quality Account and
other mandatory submissions.
In 2018/19, internal audit services were provided by RSM and the external auditors were
Grant Thornton UK LLP. The cost of external audit for work undertaken in 2018/19 was
£48,500 plus VAT (2017/18 = £39,500 plus VAT.) The external auditors have not undertaken
any non-audit work which may have given rise to conflict of interest or compromised the
audit function. As far as the Directors are aware, there is no relevant audit information of
which the NHS body’s auditors are unaware. The Directors have taken all the steps that they
ought to have taken as directors in order to make themselves aware of any relevant audit
information and to establish that the auditors are aware of that information.
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Personal data-related incidents
During 2018/19, the Trust had two lapses of data security that warranted reporting to the
Information Commissioner’s Office:
• October 2018 - Patient details on a dermatology clinic list were viewed by a friend who
had been at the same surgery on the same day and had seen the patient's name on a list
in the reception area
• October 2018 – A bag containing a locum therapist’s observation notes from four home
visits was stolen from a car which was broken into. The notes included observations,
demographics and one key safe number
As at April 2019, the Trust has not received any further communication from the Information
Commissioner’s Office in relation to either of these incidents. All staff continue to be
reminded of the need for vigilance when handling and sending confidential data. In addition,
the Trust has reviewed all data security incidents. Changes in practice have been made in
some cases to minimise the risk of repetition, A standard operating procedure has been
adopted across the Trust for the handling and processing of correspondence that includes
personal confidential data.

Statement of the Chief Executive’s responsibilities as the
Accountable Officer of the Trust
The Chief Executive of NHS Improvement, in exercise of powers conferred on the NHS Trust
Development Authority, has designated that the Chief Executive should be the Accountable
Officer of the Trust. The relevant responsibilities of Accountable Officers are set out in the
NHS Trust Accountable Officer Memorandum. These include ensuring that:
● there are effective management systems in place to safeguard public funds and
assets and assist in the implementation of corporate governance;
● value for money is achieved from the resources available to the trust;
● the expenditure and income of the trust has been applied to the purposes intended by
Parliament and conform to the authorities which govern them;
● effective and sound financial management systems are in place; and
● annual statutory accounts are prepared in a format directed by the Secretary of State
to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs as at the end of the financial year
and the income and expenditure, recognised gains and losses and cash flows for the
year.
To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the responsibilities set
out in my letter of appointment as Accountable Officer.

Clare Hawkins
Chief Executive
23 May 2019
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The Governance Statement 2018/19
Scope of responsibility
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal
control that supports the achievement of the Trust’s policies, aims and objectives, whilst
safeguarding the public funds and departmental assets for which I am personally
responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me. I am also responsible for
ensuring that the Trust is administered prudently and economically and that resources are
applied efficiently and effectively. I also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out in the
NHS Trust Accountable Officer Memorandum.

The purpose of the system of internal control
The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level rather than to
eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives; it can therefore only
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. The system of internal
control is based on an ongoing process designed to identify and prioritise the risks to the
achievement of the policies, aims and objectives of Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust, to
evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should they be realised,
and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically. The system of internal control
has been in place in Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust for the year ended 31 March 2019
and up to the date of approval of the Annual Report and Accounts.

Capacity to handle risk
The governance structure within the Trust enables an embedded risk management approach
across all corporate and operational services, with discussions being reflected at the key
governance committees reporting directly to the Board of Directors.
This ensures identification, assessment, management and monitoring of strategic and
operational risks at all levels. In addition, an annual audit cycle of governance due diligence
is undertaken by the internal auditors who report to the Audit Committee and provide
assurance on the efficacy of the Trust’s governance programme. The annual audit cycle
includes an audit of the risk management process, including escalation/de-escalation of risk
to and from the High Level Risk Register and the impact upon the Board Assurance
Framework (BAF).
The risk architecture/risk management process is supported by clearly-defined leadership
roles in all levels of the Trust from staff to Board members. Every staff member is
responsible for identifying, escalating and managing risks within their sphere of competency,
supported by their managers, as outlined in the Risk Management Policy.
Managers are also required to demonstrate that appropriate control measures are in place
and actions are being undertaken to mitigate negative risk and enable positive risk
achievement, reporting to their respective lead Executive Director responsible for the aligned
portfolio of services.
The Trust uses an electronic risk management system. All staff undertake generic risk
management awareness training and an introduction to the electronic risk management
system as part of their induction. Focused risk management training in risk assessment,
recording, management and monitoring risk is arranged with all new staff relevant to their
area of responsibility with refresher training provided for existing system users. In addition
there is a programme of risk management, incident and patient experience training delivered
in year with additional support provided directly to staff when requested. The training
programme is also supported with guidance tools embedded into the electronic risk
management system utilised by the Trust.
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There are named key specialists within the Trust who offer further specialist risk
management training and guidance to all Trust employees, including for health and safety,
back awareness, patient handling training, infection prevention and control, safeguarding
adults, safeguarding children and information governance. The Trust’s annual training
programme reflects this provision. Key elements are recorded within staff mandatory training
records, a summary of which is monitored at Executive Team and Board level
.

The risk and control framework
The Trust has a five year risk management strategy which is annually reviewed and
refreshed at the Board. This ensures both national and local changes in health and social
care developments are given due consideration and inform both the strategy and
implementation milestones.
Policies and standard operating procedures to support effective risk management in practice
are developed, reviewed and refreshed in line with national guidance. They support the
overall risk strategy and workforce and organisational development training programmes.
Risks to the achievement of the Trust’s strategic objectives are identified by the Executive
Team and entered on the Board Assurance Framework (BAF). The BAF is submitted for
review and discussion by the Board, the Healthcare Governance Committee and the
Strategy and Resources Committee. It is also assessed annually for “fitness for purpose” by
the Audit Committee.
Risks identified at business unit level are entered on business unit risk registers. Risks
scoring 15 or over are then recorded on the High Level Risk Register (HLRR).
Risks on the HLRR are linked to the BAF and those that are considered by the Executive
Team to have a strategic impact are escalated to the Board.
Local risk activity is reviewed at service and business unit performance meetings and risk
summits. High level risks are scrutinised further at committee, Executive Team and Board
level with a remit to challenge where appropriate and receive assurance on the efficacy of
controls and actions.
Business unit performance reviews and focused reviews enable lessons to be shared in the
identification and management of risk while supporting the alignment of resources to
optimise the Trust’s ability to achieve its objectives.
As at March 31st 2019, the Trust had 118 risks being actively managed across all business
units. The Trust’s risk team work with risk owners to ensure they are being reviewed,
managed and updated appropriately.
The Board cycle ensures there is oversight, review and challenge of both the High Level Risk
register and the BAF.
Risk management is seen as an integral part of everyday clinical and non-clinical practice,
supporting delivery of the Trust's strategic objectives. As part of the Trust’s Estates strategy
and risk planning, consideration is made around the impact of our services on the
environment and their contribution to climate change.
Our risk assessment and mitigation processes take into account the UK Climate Projections
2018 and our responsibilities under the Climate Change Act. We continuously look to
minimise the impact our services have on the environment and we will continue to adapt and
enhance our reporting on environmental impacts. Lessons learned from risks which
materialise plus sources such as complaints, claims, incidents and internal or external
reports highlighting any areas of weakness are shared throughout the organisation through a
variety of communication tools, newsletters, bulletins and operational forums.
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Workforce strategy
The Trust has short and long term workforce models which take into account short, medium
and long term strategies and risks. These include but are not limited to:
• Stated commissioner intentions and STP strategic plans to develop community
services as part of the Five Year Forward View and NHS Long Term Plan. This
includes the rollout of new models of service delivery to support the wider system and
deliver good value services to patients closer to home
• The Trust’s Health and Wellbeing Strategy (a combined clinical and quality strategy)
and Adults and Children’s service delivery models which are developed with wide
clinical involvement
• The Trust’s underpinning five year Workforce and OD Strategy, which supports the
Health and Wellbeing Strategy and sets out how the workforce will be developed to
meet future requirements (developed with input from staff representatives on the
Joint Negotiating Committee).
• The NHS National Quality Board’s (NQB’s) requirements, which ensure that the
Trust:
o must deploy sufficient suitably qualified, competent, skilled and experienced
staff to meet care and treatment needs safely and effectively
o must use an approach that reflects current legislation and guidance where it is
available
o should have a systematic approach to determining the number of staff and
range of skills required to meet the needs of people using the service and
keep them safe at all times
• Other supporting strategies, such as estates and information technology
• Service plans developed by multi-disciplinary teams which are based on relevant
metrics, guidance and evidence-based tools where applicable
• Cost improvement plans developed by multi-disciplinary teams
• National policy developments, such as ‘Right Staff, Right Skills, Right Place and
Time’ as well as consideration of the NHS improvement developing workforce
safeguards and the eight recommendations outlined within the report
The Trust’s annual Workforce Plan, as part of the wider Operating Plan, is approved by the
Executive Team and then signed off by the Trust Board. Delivery of the Workforce and OD
Strategy and Plan is monitored throughout the year by the Workforce and OD Group, with a
summary of progress going to the Strategy and Resources Committee. This provides
assurance that staffing governance processes are safe and sustainable and is also
compliant with the NQB’s 2016 guidance which required the embedding of safe staffing
within the Trust’s governance arrangements.
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Strategic risks
The strategic risks on the BAF as at 31st March 2019 were:
Risk
Identification

Financial-01

Summary Description

National and local system-generated financial pressures
Real terms cuts in financial resources available to the Trust and increasing
number of contracts with financially linked KPIs may lead to:
• The Trust’s inability to transform and implement productivity
improvement at sufficient scale or pace to mitigate financial pressures
• Financial penalties if KPIs are not met, leading to:
o Pressure to deliver financial targets set by NHSI
o The Trust developing a poor reputation
o Inability to acquire new business due to poor reputation
o Difficulties in renewing current contracts

Quality and
Regulatory
01

Fundamental standards and regulatory compliance
Inability to maintain current Good CQC rating following the formal inspection
in 2018 may adversely impact on the Trust’s reputation for delivering safe,
effective, well led care resulting in a potential loss of confidence by key
stakeholders including the local population, commissioners and partner
organisations and a potential reduction in staff morale.

Corporate 01

Workforce
Insufficient supply of workforce with the right skills and culture may lead to
difficulties in meeting current and future service needs impacting on the
ability to deliver our vision and objectives.

Corporate 02

Workforce
There is a risk that the current climate of external and internal pressure will
have a negative impact on staff satisfaction, wellness and turnover.

Overall
Risk
Score

12
(4x3)

12
(4x3)

16
(4x4)
12
(3x4)

Corporate 03

Corporate 04

Corporate 05

Not being able to evidence improved outcomes
Insufficient consistent reporting of clinical measure intervention and
outcomes may lead to difficulties in demonstrating evidence based clinical
interventions, potentially leading to queries about clinical effectiveness.
Reliance on other organisations/agencies for integrated service
delivery, including partnerships
Misalignment or changing delivery priorities within organisations that the
Trust partners with may potentially lead to the Trust being unable to deliver
its services within its defined timelines, potentially impacting on:
• Patient experience
• Patient flow through the Trust’s services
• Performance monitoring
• Trust’s reputation
• Delivery of Trust strategy
Underdeveloped/ineffective use of technology and cyber security risks
May result in the Trust having outdated or vulnerable technical systems
and/or working practices which hinder the delivery of modern, effective
healthcare and affect efficiency, operational viability or market competitive
advantages. All these factors could lead to the Trust’s information being at
risk and its services and functions being compromised, impacting on its
ability to deliver effective healthcare
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16
(4x4)
12
(4 x3)

15
(5x3)

Risk
Identification
Corporate 06

Summary Description

Overall
Risk
Score

Failure to succeed in re-tendering of current contracts
Failure of HCT to succeed in the tendering of services will lead to a
reduction in financial income leading to the Trust’s inability to financially
sustain the delivery of some services, reputational loss and loss in
confidence by key stakeholders as well as partner organisations, impacting
on staff morale, recruitment and retention.

15
(5x3)

The overall risk score is calculated as the product of current likelihood and current
impact. There is a maximum score of 25 for each rating. The following table shows
the calculation formula used where the total score is the consequence multiplied by
the likelihood.
Likelihood score
1

2

3

4

5

Consequence score

Rare

Unlikely

Possible

Likely

Almost certain

5 Catastrophic

5

10

15

20

25

4 Major

4

8

12

16

20

3 Moderate

3

6

9

12

15

2 Minor

2

4

6

8

10

1 Negligible

1

2

3

4

5

Quality governance
The Healthcare Governance Committee monitors arrangements and seeks assurance on
behalf of the Board in respect of the quality and safety of services provided by the Trust,
including follow-up actions as necessary. These include:
• Standing reports on serious incidents and complaints, including follow-up actions
• Clinical audit and clinically-related internal audits
• Quality Improvement Plan
• Quality priorities for each year with action plans to achieve them
• Production and content of the Trust’s Quality Account
• CQUINS
• Clinical policies
• CQC registration compliance
• Infection Prevention and Control
• Safeguarding
• Safe staffing levels
• Mortality review
• Response to external reports and initiatives
• Monitoring progress against relevant action plans
• Assessment and challenge of quality information
• Assurance on compliance with CQC registration requirements
The Healthcare Governance Committee also undertakes periodic operational reviews where
specific services or specialties are reviewed in depth.
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In 2018/19 the Healthcare Governance Committee was supported by various groups )which
are accountable to the Executive Team), with associated forums as follows:
Group

Associated Forums

Clinical Effectiveness Group

Medicines Management
Clinical Effectiveness
Equality & Community Engagement

Patient Safety & Experience Group

Safeguarding Adults
Safeguarding Children
Infection Prevention and Control
Medical Devices
Learning from Deaths
Serious Incident Panel

Professional Leaders Group

Professional Forums:
Nurses
Allied Health Professionals
Doctors and Dentists

Medical Revalidation Decision Making
Group

In addition to the Healthcare Governance Committee Chair’s assurance report and minutes
of the meetings, the Board receives quarterly quality reports and regular reports on
complaints, incidents and safe staffing. Quality issues and risks also feature in the Director of
Nursing and Quality’s reports which go to each Board meeting.

Data security
The Director of Finance, as the Trust’s Senior Information Risk Owner (SIRO), has
accountability for data security. In this role he is supported by the work of the Assistant
Director of Performance and Information, the Head of Performance and Information and the
Head of Information Governance.
Management and control of data security risks is also undertaken by the Trust’s outsourced
IT service supplier. Oversight of data security is through the Trust’s Information Governance
Group, which reports to the Executive Team.
Risks to data security identified are, in common with other risks, entered on the appropriate
risk register, as relevant to the risk.
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NHS provider licence condition FT4
Whilst NHS trusts are exempt from the requirement to apply for and hold the NHS Provider
Licence, directions from the Secretary of State require NHS Improvement to ensure that
NHS trusts comply with conditions equivalent to the licence as it deems appropriate. This
includes compliance with Provider Licence Condition FT4.
In June 2018 and again in May 2019, the Board confirmed self-certification of compliance
with NHS Provider Licence Condition 4. This included consideration of assurances/evidence,
identification of risks and actions identified to mitigate these risks, as matched against 20
prescribed statements which form the Licence Condition.
The following extract shows the outcome of the self-certification in respect of:
• The effectiveness of governance structures
• The responsibilities of directors and subcommittees
• Reporting lines and accountabilities between the Board, its subcommittees and the
Executive Team
• The submission of timely and accurate information to assess risks to compliance with the
conditions of the licence
• The degree and rigour of oversight the Board has over the Trust’s performance
Ref.

3
3(a)

3(b)

3(c)

4

Corporate
Assurance/
Confirmed/
Risks (*)
Mitigating actions (*)
Governance
Evidence
Unconfirmed
Statement
The Board is satisfied that the Licensee has established and implements:
Effective Board
Confirmed
Ineffectiveness
Keep Board and
• Committee
and committee
contributes to
Committee structure under
Structure
structures;
failure in
review and periodically
reviewed
achieving the
test effectiveness
annually by
Trust’s
The Audit
Entry on BAF or High
objectives or
Committee and
Level Risk Register as
being weak with
The Board
appropriate
respect to
assurance
Clear
Confirmed
Lack of clarity
Review Committee Terms
• Scheme of
responsibilities
results in
of Reference if evident
Reservation &
for its Board,
confusion,
that responsibilities are
Delegation
for committees
duplication,
not clear
• Terms of
reporting to the
gaps and lack of
Reference for
Board and for
Entry on BAF or High
clear
all Committees
staff reporting
Level Risk Register as
accountability
• Committee
to the Board
appropriate
Chair’s
and those
Assurance
committees;
Reports to
Board
• Standing
Orders
• Standing
Financial
Instructions
• Trust policies
Clear reporting
Confirmed
As above
Review and amend
• Job
lines and
evidence documents as
Descriptions
accountabilities
necessary
• Scheme of
throughout its
Reservation
organisation.
Entry on BAF or High
and Delegation
Level Risk Register as
• Operational
appropriate
Scheme of
Delegation
• Trust Policies
• Structure
Charts
The Board is satisfied that the Licensee has established and effectively implements systems
and/or processes:
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Ref.

4(b)

Corporate
Governance
Statement
For timely and
effective
scrutiny and
oversight by
the Board of
the Licensee’s
operations;

Assurance/
Evidence

Confirmed/
Unconfirmed

Risks (*)

Mitigating actions (*)

•

Confirmed

Information
required for
effective scrutiny
and oversight is
of poor quality,
isn’t timely or,
doesn’t reach
the Board

Board and Committee
review after each meeting
of agenda and quality and
timeliness of papers

•
•
•

•
•

Part 1 and Part
2 Board
Meetings every
other month.
Board
Escalation
Reports
IBPR
Miscellaneous
standing
reports to
Board. (eg
Quarterly
Quality Report,
safe staffing,
serious
incidents,
complaints,
mortality
review,
finance,
business
opportunities,
contracting,
etc.)
Board
Committee
papers
Committee
Chair’s
Assurance
Reports

Increased reporting
frequency to Executive
Team/Committees/Board
as required. Ability to call
additional meetings if
required for specific issues
or concerns
Entry on BAF or High
Level Risk Register as
appropriate

(*) These columns depict risks which may arise in the event of not complying with the
Licence Condition and they do not reflect the current position of the Trust.

The Well Led Framework
The Trust undertook a self-assessment against the CQC Well Led Framework in May 2018
which was supported through the CQC Well Led Inspection.
The CQC scored the Trust as Good within the well led domain and confirmed that:
• The Trust had managers at all levels with the right skills and abilities to run a service
providing high quality sustainable care. There was a mix of experience within the
executive directors with some new to their executive roles at the Trust and others with
considerable experience
• The Trust had a clear vision for what it wanted to achieve and workable plans to turn it
into action. The vision was developed with involvement from staff, patients and key
groups representing the community
• Managers across the Trust promoted a positive culture that supported and valued staff
and created a sense of common purpose based on shared values. Staff felt supported,
respected and valued and felt proud to work for the organisation
• The Trust used a systematic approach to continually improve the quality of its services
and safeguard high standards of care
• The Trust had effective systems for identifying risks, planning to eliminate or reduce them
and coping with both the expected and unexpected
• The Trust collected, analysed, managed and used information well to support all its
activities, using secure electronic systems with secure safeguards
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•
•

The Trust engaged very well with patients, staff, the public and local organisations to plan
and manage services, and collaborated with partner organisations effectively
There was Trust wide commitment to innovation with patient experience and safety at the
heart of improvements.

•
The CQC also found that although a process for reviewing deaths was in place, it was not
well established and shared learning from deaths was not effective.

Registration with the Care Quality Commission
The Trust is fully compliant with the registration requirements of the Care Quality
Commission and currently holds a CQC rating of Good. The last inspection was in
September 2018.

Managing conflicts of interest in the NHS
The Trust publishes an up-to-date register of interests for decision-making staff twice a year.
The Board meeting in public receives a Board Governance update in July which includes the
up to date Register of Interest. This is recorded in the publically posted minutes and the end
of year Annual Report includes an updated Register of Interest. The Board Register of
Interests is also posted on the Trust website and is updated whenever any changes or
amendments are advised.

NHS pension scheme rules
As an employer with staff entitled to membership of the NHS Pension Scheme, control
measures are in place to ensure all employer obligations contained within the Scheme
regulations are complied with. This includes ensuring that deductions from salary, employer’s
contributions and payments into the Scheme are in accordance with the Scheme rules, and
that member Pension Scheme records are accurately updated in accordance with the
timescales detailed in the Regulations.

Modern Slavery Act 2015 - Transparency in supply chains
The Trust is aware that slavery and human trafficking can occur in many forms, such as
forced labour, domestic servitude, sex trafficking and workplace abuse. The Trust is
committed to maintaining and improving systems, processes and policies across the
organisation to avoid complicity in human rights violation.
Our policies, governance and legal arrangements are robust, ensuring that proper checks
and due diligence take place in our procurement and employment procedures to ensure
compliance with this legislation.

Equality, diversity and human rights
Control measures are in place to ensure that all the organisation’s obligations under equality,
diversity and human rights legislation are complied with.

Emergency preparedness, resilience and response
The Trust works closely with partner agencies and external organisations across the
healthcare economy to ensure resilience during times of disruption, regardless of the cause.
Robust plans are in place to maintain critical services when interruptions occur, for example
severe weather, infrastructure failures or disruption to transport. These measures are
planned and put in place to provide safe care to both our patients and our staff at all times.
The Trust is proud to maintain full compliance with the NHS England core standards
requirement for emergency planning, resilience and response.
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Review of economy, efficiency and effectiveness of the use of resources
The Trust’s financial performance is monitored at the monthly Strategy and Resources
Committee. The committee monitors financial performance in its broadest sense and is
concerned with the overall efficiency and effectiveness relating to the deployment of Trust
resources. Further assurance is sought at the Trust Board.
The Trust’s Audit Committee also performs a pivotal role in providing the Board with
assurance on the use of resources. Each year the Audit Committee commissions the internal
auditors to undertake reviews of key internal risks with a view to gaining assurance that there
are sufficient and appropriate processes in place to demonstrate the economic, efficient and
effective use of resources.
To ensure that the Trust is able to demonstrate the effectiveness of its services, it
participates in local and national benchmarking exercises. Linked to this, the Trust is a
member of the Lord Carter Model Hospital cohort for community trusts. This group enables
the Trust to compare itself with peer organisations and allows conversation between trusts
on best practice.
The Trust also participates in the national reference costs collection process. For the year
2018/19, the Trust has a reference cost index of 97 which is below the national average
indicator set at 100. This was an increase from the previous year index of 91. Any score
below 100 indicates that a provider is more efficient than the average for the amount of
activity delivered.

Information governance
All information governance incidents are taken seriously and advice is taken as appropriate
from the Medical Director, as Caldicott Guardian, and/or the Director of Finance, as Senior
Information Risk Owner (SIRO). Incidents are fully investigated, remedial action is taken and
lessons learned are applied across the organisation.
The Trust’s Information Governance Group, which includes the SIRO and Caldicott
Guardian, reviews all data security incidents. Changes in practice have been made in some
cases to minimise the risk of repetition, a standard operating procedure has been adopted
across the Trust for the handling and processing of correspondence that includes Personal
Confidential Data.
Information Governance policies and Trust processes have been updated during the year to
meet the requirements of the General Data Protection Regulation and the Data Protection
Act 2018.
The Trust has achieved ‘Standards Met’ compliance for the Data Security and Protection
Toolkit (DSPT) that replaced the Information Governance toolkit during 2018/19. Under the
previous IG Toolkit, organisations received a score based on levels 1 to 3 with 3 being the
highest. Under DSPT assessment, organisations can only achieve a rating of Standards Met
or Standards Not Met.
During 2018/19, the Trust reported two lapses of data security to the Information
Commissioner’s Office. Further information can be found on page 53.
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Annual Quality Account
The directors are required under the Health Act 2009 and the National Health Service
(Quality Accounts) Regulations 2010 (as amended) to prepare Quality Accounts for each
financial year.
The Trust has a formal reporting process to collate the quality data (both quantitative and
qualitative) which forms the basis of information provided in the end of year Quality Account.
The quarterly quality report and Trust performance data is reviewed and validated internally
through relevant performance and quality governance committees/groups, including the
Executive Team, prior to sign-off. It is shared with our commissioners and is incorporated
within our contract review meetings, thus ensuring external validation of all relevant data.
The Quality Account is developed through a robust process which commences early in
Quarter 4 each year and involves input and oversight from the Executive Team and Trust
Board. The draft Quality Account is shared with key stakeholders for comment, providing an
external overview of its content and balance as well as agreement for the key quality
priorities set out in the Account. The final version is signed off by the Executive Team and
the Board.

Review of effectiveness
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of
internal control. My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed
by the work of the internal auditors, clinical audit and the executive managers and clinical
leads within the Trust who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the
internal control framework. I have drawn on the information provided in this Annual Report
and other performance information available to me. My review is also informed by comments
made by the external auditors in their management letter and other reports. I have been
advised on the implications of the result of my review of the effectiveness of the system of
internal control by the Board, the audit committee, the healthcare governance committee and
other sources. Plans to address weaknesses and ensure continuous improvement of the
system are in place.

The Head of Internal Audit opinion for 2018/19
The Head of Internal Audit opinion for 2018/19 is that:
"The organisation has an adequate and effective framework for risk management,
governance and internal control. However, our work has identified further enhancements to
the framework of risk management, governance and internal control to ensure that it remains
adequate and effective."
More specific actions were identified in the areas of GP engagement and General Data
Protection Regulations. The Trust is the process of implementing the actions to close the gap
on the weaknesses identified. The Trust also has some overdue actions relating to the
previous year's work covering estates, STP governance and assurance and data quality. The
Trust is actively resolving these outstanding actions as soon as possible.
The Head of Internal Audit opinion also concluded that "we do not consider that within these
areas there are any issues that need to be flagged as significant control issues".
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Assurances as to the effectiveness of internal controls
Executive managers within the Trust who have responsibility for the development and
maintenance of the system of internal control also provide me with assurance. The
Assurance Framework itself provides me with evidence that the effectiveness of controls that
manage the risks to the organisation achieving its principal objectives have been reviewed.
My review is also informed by:
• Internal audit reports and the Head of Internal Audit's opinion
• External audit
• Care Quality Commission (CQC) registration requirements and outcomes
• CQC inspection reports
• The Trust’s monthly Integrated Business Performance Report
• Business Unit performance reports (BUPRs)
• Minutes and papers of the Trust Board, Board committees and sub-committees, including
reports from executive directors as standing items
• Reports from the local counter-fraud specialist
• Submissions to, and feedback from, NHS Improvement (NHSI)
• Quality and contract review meetings with commissioners
• Board and Executive site visits and “deep dives” into services
• Assurance reports from the chairs of groups which report to the Executive Team
• Compliance with the NHS Data Security and Protection Toolkit (DSPT)
• Board self-certification of compliance with NHS Provider Licence conditions GC6 and
FT4
I have been advised on the implications of the result of my review of the effectiveness of the
system of internal control by the Audit Committee, Healthcare Governance Committee,
Strategy & Resources Committee and the Executive Team.
The following have a role in maintaining and reviewing the effectiveness of the system of
internal control:
• The Board has been actively involved in developing and reviewing the Trust’s risk
management processes including receiving and reviewing minutes and chair’s
observations from all committees which report to the Board. The Board also reviews the
Board Assurance Framework, High Level Risk Register, Integrated Performance reports
and Quality reports
• The Audit Committee has been a directing force in relation to reviewing the framework
of internal control particularly with regard to corporate risk, the Assurance Framework,
the High Level Risk Register and counter fraud
• The Healthcare Governance Committee is responsible for the governance and
management of clinical risk, including ensuring compliance with regulatory standards and
requirements, adoption of clinical policies and review of clinical aspects of performance,
including incidents and complaints. The Committee also provided assurance to the Board
in respect of patient safety, quality of services and patient experience and sought
assurance as to the assessment of the quality impacts of cost improvement schemes.
• The Strategy and Resources Committee scrutinised current financial performance and
future financial plans; reviewed financial, workforce and business risks; monitored that
decisions involving finance, resources and assets were properly made to promote good
financial practice throughout the Trust and received assurances that an integrated and
holistic approach was taken to the use of all the Trust's resources for the delivery of the
Trust strategy
• The Information Governance Group reports to the Executive Team and is responsible
for the governance and management of information associated risk and compliance with
the Data Security and Protection Toolkit (DSPT)
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•

•

•

The Executive Team met weekly and operationally managed all areas of risk, including
the risk and control framework. The Executive Team also populates and reviews the
Board Assurance Framework and reviews the High Level Risk Register, as well as
ensuring that key risks have been highlighted and monitored within their directorates and
the necessary action has been taken to address them
Internal audit has reviewed and reported upon control, governance and risk
management processes, based on an audit plan approved by the Audit Committee and
endorsed by the Board. Where scope for improvement was found, recommendations
were made and appropriate action plans agreed with management
Clinical audit is overseen by the Trust’s Clinical Effectiveness Group, which reports to
the Executive Team and gives assurance to the Healthcare Governance Committee. The
clinical effectiveness programme is also reported to the Trust’s Audit Committee.
Lessons learned from clinical audits are fed back to services and lessons of general
application are disseminated through the Trust’s Shared Lessons in Practice (SLiPs)
notices.

•
My review confirms that Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust has a generally sound system
of internal control that supports the achievement of its policies, aims and objectives.
Conclusion
No significant control issues have been identified for 2018/19.

Clare Hawkins
Chief Executive
23 May 2019
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Remuneration and staff reports
Remuneration report
Remuneration and the Remuneration Committee
The Trust’s Remuneration Committee makes decisions to recommend to the Board on the
remuneration, terms and performance related pay of the Chief Executive and executive
directors on Very Senior Manager (VSM) terms and conditions.
The Remuneration Committee also reviews all severance payments as required by the NHS
Improvement (NHSI) Accountability Framework. This relates to all employees at Executive
Director level and below.
Membership of the Committee consists of:
• Anne McPherson - Non-Executive Director and Chair of the Remuneration Committee
• Declan O’Farrell – Chair of HCT
• Jeff Phillips – Non-Executive Director and Chair of the Audit Committee
The following may also be in attendance:
• Chief Executive
• Director of Strategy, People and Organisational Development
• Executive Directors (except when their remuneration or terms and conditions of service
are discussed)
During 2018/2019, the Committee met on four occasions. The main items addressed were:
• Consideration of national guidance on remuneration for executive directors
• Salary, terms and conditions for new executive directors (substantive and interim)
• Executive structures, including executive director roles and responsibilities
• Executive director performance and appraisals
• Executive recruitment and selection processes
• Submissions to NHSI as required
The Chair and Non-Executive Directors are remunerated at rates prescribed by the
Secretary of State for Health and Social Care. Executive directors are remunerated as set
out in the NHS Very Senior Managers (VSM) Pay Framework and senior managers are paid
in accordance with NHS Agenda for Change pay scales.
Executive directors are appointed on substantive, permanent contracts, on a notice period of
three months, with remuneration overseen by NHS Improvement. Where there is a
temporary vacancy, an interim Director may be appointed. In the event of termination by the
Trust, any payment due is paid in accordance with the reason for termination and the
contract of employment.
During 2018/19, the Trust made four new substantive appointments:
• Chief Executive – Clare Hawkins
• Director of Finance – David Bacon
• Medical Director – Dr Hari Pathmanathan
• Director of Nursing and Quality – Sarah Browne
Prior to these substantive appointments, acting-up arrangements were in place to cover
these posts during the recruitment process. In addition, the interim Director of Human
Resources and OD was replaced by an interim Director of Strategy, People and OD in
September 2018.
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Fair pay disclosure
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the
highest-paid director/member in their organisation and the median remuneration of the
organisation’s workforce. The banded remuneration of the highest paid director/member in
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust in the financial year 2018/19 was £149,999 (2017/18 £143,727). This was 5.07 times (2017/18 - 4.99) the median remuneration of the workforce,
which was £29,608 (2017/18 - £28,746). (This paragraph was subject to audit and is referred
to in the Auditor’s Opinion).
In 2018/19, no (2017/18 - no) employees received remuneration in excess of the highestpaid director/member. Remuneration ranged from £6,157 to £149,999 (2017/18 - £6,157 to
£143,727).Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay,
benefits-in-kind, but not severance payments. It does not include employer pension
contributions and the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions.

Compensation on early retirement or for loss of office and payments to past
directors
The Trust made no payments in respect of exit packages or severance payments to directors
in 2018/19 and no payments were made to past directors. (This paragraph was subject to
audit and is referred to in the Auditor’s Opinion).

Exit packages
One exit package was agreed in 2018/19 and is set out in the table below. This related to a
contractually obligated payment in respect of redundancy.
Exit
package
cost band
(including
any
special
payments)

Number of
compulsory
redundancies
(Whole
numbers
only)

Cost of
compulsory
redundancies

Number of
other
departures

Cost of
other
departures
Agreed

Total
number
of exit
packages

Total cost
of exit
packages

£s

(Whole
numbers
only)

£s

£s

Number of
departures
where
special
payments
have been
made

Cost of
special
payment
element
included
in exit
packages
£s

Less than
£10,000
£10,000
to
£25,000
£25,001
to
£50,000
£50,001
to
£100,000
£100,001
to
£150,000
£150,001
to
£200,000
Over
£200,000
Total

1

£66,858

1

£66,858

1

£66,858

1

£66,858

Non-contractual exit payments
The Trust made no non-contractual exit payments in 2018/19. Non-contractual payments are
those made without contractual or legal obligation, including those from judicial mediation.
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Board Salaries and Pensions
(This section was subject to audit and is referred to in the Auditor’s Opinion).
Board Salaries and Allowances 2018/19
2018/19

Name

Title

(a)

Dates

£000

(b)
Expense
payments
(taxable)
total to
nearest
£100
£00

Salary
(bands of
£5,000)

(c)

(d)
(e)
(f)
Long term
Performance
All pensionperformance
pay and
related
TOTAL
pay and
bonuses
benefits
(bands of
bonuses
(bands of
(bands of
£5,000)
(bands of
£5,000)
£2,500)
£5,000)
£000
£000
£000
£000

Declan O'Farell

Chair

1/4/18 - 31/3/19

20 - 25

0

0

0

0

20 - 25

Alan Russell

Non-Executive Director

1/4/18 - 31/3/19

5 - 10

0

0

0

0

5 - 10

Anne McPherson

Non-Executive Director

1/4/18 - 31/3/19

5 - 10

0

0

0

0

5 - 10

Jeff Phillips

Non-Executive Director

1/4/18 - 31/3/19

5 - 10

0

0

0

0

5 - 10

Dr Linda Sheridan

Non-Executive Director

1/4/18 - 31/3/19

5 - 10

0

0

0

0

5 - 10

Brenda Griffiths

Non-Executive Director
(Designate)

1/4/18 - 31/3/19

5 - 10

0

0

0

0

5 - 10

David Law

Chief Executive Officer

1/4/18 - 30/4/18

10-15

0

0

0

57.5-60

70-75

Clare Hawkins

Chief Executive Officer

1/4/18 - 31/3/19

145-150

0

0

0

57.5-60

200-205

Marion Dunstone

Director of Operations

1/4/18 - 31/3/19

100-105

0

0

0

37.5-40

140-145

1/4/18 - 28/2/19

105-110

0

0

0

47.5-50

155-160

1/6/18 - 16/9/18

75-80

0

0

0

35-37.5

95-100

Julie Hoare

Debbie Eyitayo

Director of Service
Development &
Partnerships
Director of Human
Resources &
Organisation

Dr John Omany

Medical Director

1/4/18 - 30/4/18

5-10

0

0

0

40-42.5

45-50

Phil Bradley *

Director of Finance

1/4/18 - 30/4/18

50-55

0

0

0

57.5-60

110-115

Kevin Curnow

Acting Director of
Finance

1/4/18 - 3/5/18

10-15

0

0

0

15-17.5

30-35

Antonia Robson

Acting Director of
Business Services

1/4/18 - 31/3/19

80-85

0

0

0

12.5-15

95-100

Patricia Wren

Acting Director Quality &
Governance/Chief Nurse

1/4/18 - 31/12/18

75-80

0

0

0

25-27.5

100-105

David Bacon

Director of Finance

1/7/18 - 31/3/19

75-80

0

0

0

25-27.5

100-105

Rajwant Bhamber

Director of Human
Resources &
Organisation

4/9/18 - 31/3/19

55-60

0

0

0

25.27.5

85-90

Hariharan
Pathmanathan

Medical Director /
Deputy Chief Executive

3/9/18 - 31/3/19

60-65

0

0

0

0

60-65

Information on each director’s period of employment is detailed in the section starting on page 36.
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Board Salaries and Allowances 2017/18
2017/18

Name

Title

(a)

Dates

Salary
(bands of
£5,000)
£000

Declan O'Farell

Chair

1/4/17 - 31/3/18

Alan Russell

Non-Executive Director

1/4/17 - 31/3/18

Anne McPherson

Non-Executive Director

1/4/17 - 31/3/18

Jeff Phillips

Non-Executive Director

1/4/17 - 31/3/18

Dr Linda Sheridan

Non-Executive Director
Non-Executive Director
(Designate)

1/4/17 - 31/3/18

Chief Executive
Acting Chief Executive
Officer
Director of Quality &
Governance

1/4/17 - 31/3/18

Brenda Griffiths
David Law
Clare Hawkins
Clare Hawkins
Marion Dunstone

1/4/17 - 31/3/18

17/9/17 - 31/3/18

Debbie Eyitayo

1/4/17 - 31/3/18

Dr John Omany

Medical Director

1/4/17 - 31/3/18

Phil Bradley

Acting Deputy CEO

1/4/17 - 30/11/17

Phil Bradley

Director of Finance
Acting Director of
Finance
Acting Director of
Business Services
Acting Director Quality &
Governance

1/4/17 - 30/11/17

Kevin Curnow
Antonia Robson
Patricia Wren

20 - 25

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

140 - 145

0

0

0

20 - 22.5

160 - 165

115 - 120

0

0

0

137.5 - 140

255 - 260

95 - 100

0

0

0

57.5 - 60

155 - 160

105 - 110

0

0

0

17.5 - 20

125 - 130

95 - 100

0

0

0

87.5 - 90

185 - 190

110 - 115

0

0

0

20 - 22.5

135 -140

80 - 85

0

0

0

47.5 - 50

130 - 135

30 - 35

0

0

0

32.5 - 35

65 - 70

25 - 30

0

0

0

57.5 - 60

85 - 90

55 - 60

0

0

0

87.5 - 90

140 - 145

5 - 10
5 - 10
5 - 10
5 - 10
5 - 10

5 - 10
5 - 10
5 - 10
5 - 10
5 - 10

1/4/17 -16/9/17

Director of Operations
Director of Service
Development &
Partnerships
Director of Human
Resources &
Organisation
Development

Julie Hoare

20 - 25

(b)
(c)
(d)
(e)
(f)
Expense
Long term
Performance
All pensionpayments
performance
pay and
related
TOTAL
(taxable)
pay and
bonuses
benefits
(bands of
total to
bonuses
(bands of
(bands of
£5,000)
nearest
(bands of
£5,000)
£2,500)
£100
£5,000)
£00
£000
£000
£000
£000

1/4/17 - 31/3/18

1/4/17 - 31/3/18

1/12/17 - 31/3/18
1/12/17 - 31/3/18
28/9/17 - 31/3/18
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Pension Benefits 2018/19 (and 2017/18)
(This section was subject to audit and is referred to in the Auditor’s Opinion).
Pension Benefits 2018/19

Name

Title

Real
increase
in
pension
at
pension
age
(bands of
£2,500)

Real
Total
Lump sum at
Cash
increase in
accrued
pension age
Cash
Real
Employers
pension
pension at
related to
Equivalent increase Equivalent
contribution
Transfer
lump sum pension age
accrued
Transfer
in Cash
to
at pension
at 31st
pension at 31st Value at Equivalent Value at
stakeholder
1st April
Transfer 31st March
age
March 2019
March 2019
pension
2019
2018
Value
(bands of
(bands of
(bands of
£2,500)
£5,000)
£5,000)

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

David Law

Chief Executive Officer

0 - 2.5

0 - 2.5

55-60

150-155

1183

0

0

Clare Hawkins

Chief Executive Officer

7.5-10

25-27.5

55-60

175-180

970

294

1293

Marion Dunstone

Director of Operations

0 - 2.5

0 - 2.5

35-40

90-95

613

99

731

Julie Hoare

Director of Service
Development &
Partnerships

5-7.5

7.5-10

45-50

130-135

800

1196

2131

Debbie Eyitayo

Director of Human
Resources & Organisation
Development

0 - 2.5

0 - 2.5

35-40

85-90

552

8

595

Dr John Omany

Medical Director

0 - 2.5

0 - 2.5

40-45

125-130

0

16

189

Phil Bradley *

Director of Finance

0 - 2.5

5-7.5

55-60

170-175

1056

98

1321

Kevin Curnow

Acting Director of Finance

0 - 2.5

0 - 2.5

15-20

£0

113

6

178

Antonia Robson

Acting Director of Business
Services

2.5-5

0 - 2.5

10-15

£0

114

52

169

Patricia Wren

Acting Director Quality &
Governance/Chief Nurse

0 - 2.5

60-62.5

25-30

165-170

651

0

0

David Bacon

Director of Finance

20-22.5

55-57.5

25-30

75-80

0

453

603

Rajwant Bhamber

Director of Human
Resources & Organisation
Development

15-17.5

42.5-45

25-30

75-80

0

341

596

Hariharan
Pathmanathan

Medical Director / Deputy
Chief Executive

0 - 2.5

0 - 2.5

0

Information on each director’s period of employment is detailed in the section starting on page 36.
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Pension Benefits 2017/18

Name

Title

Real
increase
in
pension
at
pension
age
(bands of
£2,500)

Real
Total
Lump sum at
increase in
accrued
pension age
pension
pension at
related to
Cash
Real
Cash
lump sum pension age
accrued
Equivalent increase Equivalent Employers
in Cash
Transfer contribution
at pension
at 31st
pension at 31st Transfer
Value at Equivalent Value at
to
age
March 2018
March 2018
1st April Transfer 31st March stakeholder
(bands of
(bands of
(bands of
pension
Value
2018
2017
£2,500)
£5,000)
£5,000)

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

David Law

Chief Executive

0 - 2.5

5 - 7.5

50 - 55

160 - 165

1090

94

1184

Clare Hawkins

Acting Chief Executive
Officer previously Director
of Quality & Governance

5 - 7.5

20 - 22.5

45 - 50

140 - 145

789

180

970

Clare Hawkins

Director of Quality &
Governance

Marion Dunstone

Director of Operations

2.5 - 5

2.5 - 5

35 - 40

90 - 95

533

80

613

Julie Hoare

Director of Service
Development &
Partnerships

0 - 2.5

- 0 - 2.5

40 - 45

115 - 120

740

61

801

Debbie Eyitayo

Director of Human
Resources & Organisation
Development

5 - 7.5

7.5 -10

30 - 35

80 - 85

445

107

552

Dr John Omany

Medical Director

- 0 - 2.5

- 0 - 2.5

35 - 40

115 - 120

0

0

0

Phil Bradley

Director of Finance and
Acting Deputy CEO

2.5 - 5

57.5 - 60

50 - 55

155 - 160

923

89

1056

Kevin Curnow

Acting Director of Finance

0 - 2.5

0

12.5 - 15

0

94

6

113

Antonia Robson

Acting Director of Business
Services

0 - 2.5

0

10 - 12.5

0

79

12

114

Patricia Wren

Acting Director Quality &
Governance

0 - 2.5

47.5 - 50

25 - 30

80 - 85

534

59

651

Cash Equivalent Transfer Values
A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the
pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time. The benefits
valued are the member’s accrued benefits and any contingent spouse’s (or other allowable
beneficiary’s) pension payable from the scheme. CETVs are calculated in accordance with
the Occupational Pension Schemes (Transfer Values) Regulations 2008.

Real increase in CETV
This reflects the increase in CETV effectively funded by the employer. It does not include the
increase in accrued pension due to inflation, contributions paid by the employee (including
the value of any benefits transferred from another scheme or arrangement) and uses
common market valuation factors for the start and end of the period.

Pension liabilities
Pension liabilities are treated as payables in the accounts. The accounting policy 1.5
refers to the treatment of pensions within the Trust’s accounts.
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Staff report
The Trust had 2,781 (2,283.5FTE) positions filled as at 31 March 2019. This
compares to 2,749 (2,253.89 FTE) as at 31 March 2018. (This paragraph was
subject to audit and is referred to in the Auditor’s Opinion).
Staff Groups

Trust Employees by Staff Group - 31st March 2019
Add Prof Scientific & Technical :
3.6%
Additional Clinical Services :
19.5%
Administrative and Clerical :
20.0%
Allied Health Professionals : 21.3%
Estates and Ancillary : 0.3%
Medical and Dental : 1.4%
Nursing & Midwifery Registered :
33.4%
Students : 0.5%

Staff Group by Headcount
31st March 2019
Nursing and Midwifery Registered
Allied Health Professionals
Administrative and Clerical
Healthcare Assistants and other Clinical
Support
Professional Scientific and Technical

Substantively
Employed
930
592
556
550
99
40

Medical and Dental
Student Health Visitors
Total

14
2,781
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Senior managers
For the purposes of the graph below a senior manager has been classed as a non-clinical
member of staff on Agenda for change Band 8a or above.

Number of Senior Managers by Agenda for Change Band
31st March 2019

25

20

9

15
10

13

5
0

Band 8a

Male
Female

8
5

11

3

4

Band 8b

4

Band 8c

Band 8d

1
1

Band 9

Staff by gender
Staff by Gender
31st March 2019

Male

Female

Total

Directors

2

4

6

Senior Managers (NonClinical)

26

33

59

All other Staff

184

2,532

2,716

212
(7.6%)

2569
(92.4%)

2781

Total
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The Trust Board and Executive Directors by gender
The mix of gender on the Board of Directors as at 31st March 2019 was as follows (*):
Trust Board and Executive
Directors
Male
Female Total
31st March 2019
3

3

50%

50%

2

4

33%

67%

5

7

42%

58%

6

Chair and Non-Executive Directors

6

Executive Directors

Combined

12

(*) Includes voting, non-voting and interim members

Staff by ethnic background

100.0%

Ethnicity of Trust Staff versus the Local Population
31st March 2019

80.0%

HCT

87.6%

90.0%
80.4%

Local Population
All Hertfordshire Boroughs
(Census 2011)

70.0%
60.0%
50.0%
40.0%
30.0%
20.0%

16.4%

12.4%

10.0%

3.2%

0.0%
White

BME

76

0.0%

Undisclosed

Staff by age band

Age Range of Trust Employees
31st March 2019
35%
30%
25%
20%

18%
512

15%
10%

5%
0%

31%
851

23%
653

23%
637

2%
65
< 25

2%
63
25 - 34

35 - 44

45 - 54

77

54 - 64

65+

Staffing cost analysis
The tables below show the average number of staff throughout the year and the total costs of
staff to the Trust as employer.
Average number of employees(*)

Total costs

Total Staff
Average
Number

Total Staff Permanently Total Staff
Other
Costs
Employed
Costs
Staff
Permanent
Staff Average
Average
£000s
Number
Number
£000s

Total
Staff
Costs
Other
£000s

Medical and dental

31

4,613

31

4,038

1

575

Ambulance staff

0

0

0

0

0

0

Administration and estates

478

19,887

424

18,164

54

1,723

Healthcare assistants and other support staff

461

14,856

455

11,484

6

3,372

Nursing, midwifery and health visiting staff

771

38,943

756

34,192

14

4,751

0

0

0

0

0

0

542

26,414

519

24,058

23

2,356

Healthcare science staff

0

0

0

0

0

0

Social care staff

0

0

0

0

0

0

Other

0

0

0

0

0

0

2,283

104,713

2,185

91,936

98

12,777

Nursing, midwifery and health visiting learners
Scientific, therapeutic and technical staff

TOTAL
Staff costs engaged on on capital projects (included
above)

254

Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Apprenticeship levy
Employer's contributions to NHS pensions
Pension cost - other
Temporary staff - External Bank
Temporary staff - Agency / contract staff
Total Employee Benefits Including Capitalised Costs

Total
£000
76,110
6,329
353
9,749
2
4,249
8,528
105,320

2018/19
Permanently
Employed
£000
76,110
6,329
353
9,749
2
0
0
92,543

Costs capitalised as part of assets
Total Employee Benefits Excluding Capitalised Costs

254
105,066

254
92,289

Employee Expenses - Gross Expenditure

254

0
0
0
0
0
4,249
8,528
12,777

Total
£000
77,621
6,323
351
9,685
0
3,085
8,634
105,699

2017/18
Permanently
Employed
£000
76,136
6,323
351
9,685
0
0
0
92,495

Other
£000
1,485
0
0
0
0
3,085
8,634
13,204

0
12,777

139
105,560

139
92,356

0
13,204

Other
£000

Workforce vision
Through 2018/19, our workforce vision was ‘to have a workforce with the right skills and
values, organised and supported in the right way, working together to maintain and improve
the health and wellbeing of the people we serve’.
This vision has been delivered through the strategic objectives set out in our five year
Workforce and OD Strategy and supporting delivery plan. The strategy defined our
commitment to staff in a range of key areas, including staff engagement, leadership, training
and development, equality and diversity and staff health and wellbeing.
These will remain strong commitments in our new strategy being introduced in 2019/20,
which will focus on the five pillars of:
• Embedding a health and wellbeing culture
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•
•
•
•

Developing a workforce and resourcing plan
Investing in learning, leadership and team development
Implementing new service and workforce models
Maximising the use of technology

Staff engagement
Staff engagement has continued to be a strong focus over the past year, with particular
emphasis on involving our staff in the further development of our services, including our
Customer Services Transformation programme and our innovative new Adult and Children’s
service models designed to meet the needs of our patients and service users.
Our regular Chief Executive video and email briefings supplement our wide range of other
communication mechanisms, including our programme of Board visits to services, staff
listening events, the Clinical Matters newsletter, local business unit bulletins, HCT Facebook
and Twitter accounts and our weekly staff e-bulletin Noticeboard. Over the last year, we have
also introduced new ‘Being the Best Together’ staff feedback groups for new starters and
potential leavers.
The Trust has a well-established Joint Negotiating Committee and Medical Local Negotiating
Committee and engages regularly with union and professional association representatives
on issues such as policy development, staff health and wellbeing and equalities, as well as in
relation to organisational change and individual case management.

Staff recognition
The Trust recognises the achievements of staff through a range of mechanisms, including
through nominations for a range of external awards. This includes the prestigious Health
Service Journal awards, with two Trust entries being shortlisted as finalists in March 2019.
As part of the NHS 70th Birthday celebrations, the Trust introduced an NHS70 Superstars
awards scheme, with around 300 superstar badges and certificates being presented to staff
from right across the Trust. This has more recently been relaunched as our HCT Superstar
awards, with a further 100 staff being nominated in the first month of the revised scheme.
These were recognised at a new Afternoon Tea with the Chief Executive event, with
excellent feedback from attendees.
Staff achievements are also recognised through our annual Trust Leading Lights Awards,
presented at our celebration event in June 2018. These awards include individual and team
nominations under a range of categories, with all nominees being recognised for their
achievements and certificates and vouchers being presented to the winners and runners up.
Long Service Awards were also presented at this event, recognising 25, 30 and 40 years of
NHS service, along with recognition for our long serving retirees.

National Annual Staff Survey
The Trust runs the National Annual Staff Survey as a full on-line census of all staff. The
percentage response rate to the 2018 survey was 55 per cent, compared to 58 per cent in
2017, with over 1,400 of our staff giving us their feedback. This response rate was above the
average of 53 per cent for our cohort of community healthcare trusts and significantly higher
than the overall national average participation rate of 46 per cent, indicating a relatively well
engaged workforce.
The results of the survey overall showed a stable picture, with the Trust scoring well above
the community healthcare trust average on:
• the quality of appraisals
• staff feeling valued and having clear objectives
• staff being supported by managers to undertake training, learning and development
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However, we scored less well on staff feeling able to give the quality of care they aspired to
and on overall staff morale, reflecting the challenging environment that staff have been
working in over the last year.
Compared with 2017, the Trust remained statistically the same except for the safe
environment - bullying theme which covers questions relating to bullying and harassment
from patients, managers and colleagues. Whilst our score for this theme this showed a small
deterioration over 2017, it still remains in line with the average for community healthcare
trusts.
We take the staff survey results very seriously and are working to develop Trustwide and
local action plans to address the areas requiring further development.

Pulse surveys
In addition to the annual National Staff Survey, we undertake our own quarterly Pulse
surveys. These comprise a number of core questions plus some ‘hot topic’ questions on
areas of particular interest. Response rates are high for this type of survey, at between 2327% of the workforce each quarter. The Pulse surveys have shown a similar picture to the
Annual Staff Survey with a plateauing of scores over the last year.
The Pulse survey also includes the staff Friends and Family Test questions, with stable
results for the questions on staff recommending the Trust as a place to receive treatment
and as a place to work.
Key:

How likely are you to recommend your Trust to friends and family if they needed care
or treatment?

How likely are you to recommend your Trust to your friends and family as a place to
work?

Leadership development
The Trust is committed to continual development of our leaders at all levels through training
and induction programmes, action learning sets, secondments, project work, coaching and
access to regional strategic leadership programmes.
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These development opportunities have been supported by a range of engagement events
and forums where leaders have come together to network, celebrate good practice, learn
and influence. This includes our quarterly Senior Leaders and Leaders Forums, various
clinical forums and an Administration Conference. Our annual leadership conference in 2018
focussed on agility, innovation and resilience. It was attended by over 200 staff, with
opportunities to attend workshops and celebrate service improvements and staff came away
inspired and motivated.
Over the last year, we have continued to use the Healthcare Leadership Model 360° tool to
assess leadership capability in our senior operational management teams and we have
planned and delivered development interventions in response to the findings. We shared
talent management information with the business units and have commenced work on a
wider talent management strategy.
We participated in the Herts Accelerated Directors Development programme and were early
adopters with our partners in delivering the local model of the Mary Seacole Leadership
Academy Programme. This is a six month leadership development programme, designed to
develop knowledge and skills in leadership and management for first-time leaders in
healthcare. We also continued to support the Hertfordshire County Council and NHS
graduate schemes by providing placements.

Staff development
Over the last year, we have continued to build on our training programme with other trusts
and the University of Hertfordshire to develop the skills and competencies of our staff,
enabling them to deliver new models of care and to support patients as partners in their own
health. Training in user self-management is being rolled out across the Trust.
Increasing the uptake of mandatory training has continued to be a key priority to ensure staff
are confident to treat patients safely. 95 per cent of staff completed this essential refresher
training in the last year. Our new electronic learning system ‘My Learning Zone’ uses a single
system for staff to identify their training needs, book future sessions and complete e-learning.
Our staff have reported that this is much quicker and easier to use than the previous system,
releasing time for them to concentrate on patients. The Trust also accepts training that has
been completed with other NHS employers to enable new recruits to start work more quickly,
and this has reduced the time needed for corporate induction.
A three year apprenticeship plan has been developed to support the implementation of the
new Apprenticeship Levy and to use the Levy to up-skill our workforce. We have worked
closely with local partners to select training providers who can support us to provide a wide
variety of career pathways for staff. We now have 14 staff training as nursing associates,
with the first four graduating in April 2019. We have more than doubled the number of staff
undertaking apprenticeship programmes this year, including leadership and HR
qualifications.
We have implemented our new locally developed appraisal recording system, with good
feedback from staff about how this has streamlined the process. In addition, we have
continued to train appraisers to improve the quality of our appraisals. 90 per cent of our staff
received appraisals in the year and the 2018 national annual staff survey showed that we
were once again a top-rated community healthcare trust for the quality of our appraisals.

Staff recruitment and retention
The Trust recognises the vital importance of being able to recruit sufficient numbers of high
quality staff to deliver safe and effective services to our patients and service users, along
with retaining the experienced staff we already have working in our teams.
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To address this important area, the Trust has a Workforce Resourcing Plan and is
implementing a wide range of initiatives to attract new staff. During 2018/19, this has
included expanding our use of social media for recruitment and running innovative
advertising campaigns on petrol pumps, at shopping centres and local cinemas. This has
helped us reduce our vacancy rate to 10.6 per cent at year end.
We have also focused on retention, working as part of a national collaborative to improve
nursing retention. Alongside ongoing work on staff engagement, health and wellbeing and
flexible working to improve colleagues’ working lives, we have:
• introduced a new online exit survey
• held focus groups to ask staff what is important to them
• improved preceptorship by providing increased support/buddying
• introduced career clinics for nurses looking to change roles

Equal opportunities in employment
We are committed to being an equal opportunities employer and our Equality and Diversity
Policy sets out our aim to ensure that all employees, irrespective of their background, are
supported to develop their full potential. An equal opportunity statement is included in all job
descriptions to ensure staff are aware of their responsibilities.
We are committed to leading and embedding fairness in the culture and behaviours of our
staff by:
•
providing an environment where staff can thrive, are confident to be themselves, feel
valued and treat each other with fairness, dignity and respect
•
helping and supporting staff to understand the importance of personalisation, fairness
and diversity in the planning and delivery of services
•
showing zero tolerance towards bullying, harassment, inappropriate language and
behaviour and encouraging the reporting of all cases of discrimination
We review and report on the profile of our workforce through our Public Sector Equality
Duty (PSED) report, NHS Workforce Race Equality Standard (WRES) report and Gender
Pay Gap Report, with development of associated action plans. We train managers and staff
in equality and diversity and are committed to implementing our equality and diversity
objectives, which include further analysis of our equalities data to address any unconscious
bias.

Disability
The Trust has achieved Level 2 Disability Confident Employer status under the Disability
Confident scheme. This supports employers to make the most of the talents disabled people
can bring to the workplace, by helping them to successfully recruit and retain disabled people
and those with health conditions.
We currently employ 82 staff with a declared disability (2.95 per of our workforce). Over the
last year we have recruited 18 new staff with a disability to work in our services. We
recognise the need to do more, however, and have introduced an application process to
make it easier for people with learning difficulties to apply for posts.

Health and wellbeing and sickness absence
One of our workforce priorities is to sustain positive initiatives for staff health and wellbeing in
recognition of the significant transformational change we are asking our staff to deliver and
the pressure they are working under.
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Over the last year, we have worked towards national quality targets on staff health and
wellbeing and delivered a significant work programme to promote awareness of muscular
skeletal issues, mental health and healthy eating and to support staff flu vaccination uptake.
Working with our extended staff health and wellbeing network, we have participated in the
national Workplace Challenge, supported our staff through our comprehensive Employee
Assistance Programme, run cholesterol and blood sugar tests and embedded our fast track
physiotherapy service for staff. A Staff Health and Wellbeing Task Force has been set up to
further progress this work and a Staff Mental Health Plan has been developed for
implementation in 2019/20.
Staff sickness continues to be managed with the support of our Health at Work
(Occupational Health) Service. For the 12 month period to March 2019, our cumulative
absence rate (Whole Time Equivalent) was 4.0 per cent. This equates to 14.6 calendar days
per employee, an increase compared with the previous year’s rate of 3.81 per cent or 13.91
calendar days per employee.
The Trust’s Health at Work Service is provided by East and North Hertfordshire NHS Trust,
which is accredited under the SEQOHS (Safe Effective Quality Occupational Health Service)
scheme. In 2018/19:
• 656 pre-placement assessments were undertaken
• 391 employees were referred to the Health at Work Service for advice
• 316 appointments were attended for occupational immunisations (including vaccines and
blood tests for Hepatitis B, chickenpox, measles, mumps, rubella and tuberculosis). This
figure does not include flu vaccinations
We also ran our annual flu campaign, with Health at Work and our flu champions
vaccinating 70 per cent of eligible front-line staff to protect them and vulnerable patients.
This was in line with the 70.3 per cent national average and higher than the average of 65.7
per cent for the East of England region.
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Audit Certificate and Report
To be received and added on completion of the auditors’ work
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Accountability Report signed by the Chief Executive
To be received and added on completion of the auditor’s work

Signature
Clare Hawkins
Chief Executive
23 May 2019

85

Annual Accounts for the year ended 31 March 2019
To be added by Finance once audit adjustments are made.
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Chief Executive’s Statement
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust – we
are ‘Good’!
2018/19 has been another important year for
the quality of our services. At the forefront
was the news that once again the Care
Quality Commission (CQC) has rated our
services as being ‘Good’, following a routine
inspection in September 2018. In particular,
the CQC said that our staff continually care for
patients with compassion and that feedback
from patients and their loved ones confirms
that staff treat them well and with kindness.
The CQC have identified some specific issues
which require improvement. We recognise
these and are addressing them through a
newly developed Continuous Quality
Improvement programme (see page 21).
The NHS and the health and social care
system locally and nationally continue to
change. The NHS Long Term Plan was
published in January 2019. The plan includes
a commitment to increasing investment in
primary and community health services which
we very much welcome. Investing in these
services will help us to provide more care in
people’s homes and the community,
supporting them to stay at home wherever
possible and avoid them getting to the point
where they have to be admitted to an acute
hospital. Here in Hertfordshire, we are already
working closely with our colleagues in primary
care and social care to make this commitment
a reality. We have introduced referral hubs for
our adult community health services which
speed up the process of triaging and
managing patients who can be seen in the
community. We are also working to improve
services for our most frail residents so that we
can better support them to manage their
health and social care needs and to stay at
home.

the services we provide, we will continue to
support staff affected by the decision and will
work with both HVCCG and CLCH to ensure a
smooth transition for them and for our
patients.
We have continued to work with our health
economy partners to address a number of
quality improvements, such as reductions in
length of stay in our community inpatient units
and reducing the number of falls resulting in
harm and insulin-related medication errors.
We continue to work with our partners in care
homes and home care providers to enable
their staff to identify pressure damage early
and be more proactive in the prevention of
avoidable pressure ulcers.
At the start of each financial year, we set out
our quality priorities and the standards we
want to achieve. We work with Healthwatch
Hertfordshire to shape these on behalf of our
patients and service users and they are then
agreed with our commissioners and local
elected councillors via Hertfordshire County
Council’s Health Overview and Scrutiny
Committee. For 2019/20, our three priorities
will be to focus on recognising and supporting
frail patients, recognising and supporting
people in our community (including our staff)
who are carers and embedding the NEWS2
sepsis screening tool to identify patients at
risk of sepsis.

This year has also seen the disappointing
outcome of a market testing process run by
Herts Valleys Clinical Commissioning Group
(HVCCG) which in January confirmed Central
London Community Healthcare NHS Trust
(CLCH) as the new provider for adult
community health services in west
Hertfordshire from October 2019. Although we
do not feel this outcome reflects the quality of

Our corporate functions – including quality
and governance, performance and information
and learning and development – help support
our clinical staff to continue to deliver high
quality care for our patients. However, we
recognise that we could provide these
services more efficiently and effectively and
so we have embarked on a transformational
programme to review these functions and
ensure that we are supporting our clinical staff
in the best, smartest way possible.
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I am really pleased to be able to share
through our Quality Account further examples
of our quality initiatives and improvements.
These include:
•

•

Our successful bid to deliver Public Health
Nursing services (health visiting and
school nursing) across Hertfordshire, and
implementing a programme to oversee the
smooth transition of services for children,
young people and their families.
Running more services in collaboration
with other health and social care partners
across a number of our sites, including
The Marlowes Health and Wellbeing
Centre in Hemel Hempstead where HCT
services run alongside mental health
services provided by Hertfordshire
Partnership University NHS Foundation
Trust.

•

Rolling out improved IT systems including
the NHS2Mail email system, smartphones
for our staff, and Skype for Business to
help teams communicate more effectively
(page 79).

•

Setting up the Healthy Memory Café in
Lower Lea Valley, offering support, advice
and a cup of tea to members of our local
community with memory problems and
their families (page 74).

Our other achievements and challenges
throughout the year are contained within this
Quality Account. Some of the highlights are:
•

We have successfully won new contracts
to deliver Nutrition and Dietetic services in
west Hertfordshire, and to work with our
partners to run the minor injuries service
at Cheshunt Community Hospital.

•

We were proud to see HCT, as part of the
Herts and West Essex STP, win the 2018
HSJ Award for System Led Support for
Carers. In addition, three more HCT
services are shortlisted for the 2019 HSJ
award schemes – two for the HSJ Value
Awards and one for the HSJ Safety
Awards. We wish them good luck at the
forthcoming award ceremonies.

•

Keeping our patients safe remains a top
priority – 70% of our staff received the flu
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vaccination to prevent the spread of
infection.
•

We appointed a Freedom To Speak Up
Guardian and a team of ambassadors to
enable staff to speak up and raise
concerns in confidence, helping us to
keep improving our services for patients
and the working environment for staff.

•

In the National Staff Survey we again
scored well above average on the quality
of appraisals for our staff, as well as in
staff feeling valued, having clear
objectives and being supported by their
managers to undertake training, learning
and development.

Our patients and their own stories continue to
be a source of inspiration. On page 39 you
can read about 81-year old Rita who was able
to return to her own home after a back injury
with the support of our occupational
therapists, and 29-year old Jamie, who
despite being diagnosed with heart failure and
receiving care and home visits from our
Community Cardiology team, climbed the O2
Centre in March this year.
Our Board has seen some changes over the
year too; we have been pleased to welcome
Sarah Browne as our Director of Nursing and
Quality and David Bacon as our Director of
Finance. After a period as our Medical
Director, Dr Hari Pathmanathan, a local GP
from Welwyn Garden City and former Chair of
East and North Hertfordshire Clinical
Commissioning Group is now an adviser to
our Board. I was thrilled to be appointed to the
role of Chief Executive in October 2018. I look
forward to working with all my colleagues to
continue on our journey from good to
outstanding.
Finally, huge thanks to everyone at HCT for
continuing to show such high levels of
personal commitment and pride in providing
excellent care for local people.

Clare Hawkins
Chief Executive
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Statement of Directors' responsibilities in respect of the Quality Account
The directors are required under the Health Act 2009 and the National Health Service (Quality
Accounts) Regulations to prepare Quality Accounts for each financial year. NHS improvement has
issued guidance on the form and content of annual Quality Accounts (which incorporate the above
legal requirements).
In preparing the Quality Account, directors are required to take steps to satisfy themselves that:
• the Quality Account presents a balanced picture of the Trust’s performance over the period

covered;
• the performance information reported in the Quality Account is reliable and accurate;
• there are proper internal controls over the collection and reporting of the measures of

performance included in the Quality Account, and these controls are subject to review to confirm
that they are working effectively in practice;
• the data underpinning the measures of performance reported in the Quality Account is robust and

reliable, conforms to specified data quality standards and prescribed definitions, is subject to
appropriate scrutiny and review; and the Quality Account has been prepared in accordance with
Department of Health guidance.
The directors confirm to the best of their knowledge and belief they have complied with the above
requirements in preparing the Quality Account.

By order of the Board

Chairman
23 May 2019
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23 May 2019

Page 6 of 100

OUR QUALITY PRIORITIES FOR 2019/20
How we decided our quality priorities for the next 12 months
In determining the areas that Hertfordshire
Community NHS Trust (HCT) should focus on
for our quality improvements in 2019/20, we
listened to our patients, carers, staff and
stakeholders throughout 2018/19 in a number
of ways:

• In our regular discussions of performance
and quality issues with our commissioners
(including analysing themes arising from
issues raised by GPs via the CCG Quality
Assurance System) and NHS
Improvement.

• Analysing the complaints we received, the
concerns raised via our Patient Advice and
Liaison Service (PALS) and the incidents
we reported, and themes and trends we
identified.

• Seeking views at events in different
locations across Hertfordshire, such as our
Supporting Carers Day.

• Seeking feedback via our patient surveys,
our comments cards and at our patient
user groups.
• Receiving feedback and observing care
during our Keeping in Touch programme of
visits to services and sites by our Board
members, and hearing the stories of
patients and carers first-hand at Board
meetings.
• Analysing feedback from our staff including
our regular online Pulse staff surveys and
feedback received at our established
Senior Leaders Forum, Joint Negotiating
Committee and Professional Clinical
Leadership Group. We also gathered
feedback from staff during our
Administration Conference and Listening
Events hosted by our Director of Human
Resources (HR) & Organisational
Development (OD).
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• Seeking feedback from Healthwatch
Hertfordshire, including their established
members on our Patient Safety and
Experience Group and Trust Board, and
from our commissioners, our Sustainability
and Transformation Programme (STP)
partners and members of Hertfordshire
County Council’s Health Scrutiny
Committee.
After careful consideration of the main themes
emerging from this feedback and the themes
arising from national reviews, as well as the
priorities set out in the Government’s NHS
Long Term Plan, our Trust Board also
reviewed our performance against indicators
which measure the safety and quality of our
services, and agreed three quality priorities for
2019/20. All three will support the delivery of
improved experiences and outcomes for
patients.
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Excellent clinical effectiveness and outcomes
Quality Priority 1
We will implement the guidance from NHS England to help staff recognise frailty and
signpost patients and carers to relevant available help, and ensure actions are taken
to support the patient’s needs. We will support our community to have active
engagement in their health and wellbeing.
Our aims:
• To enable health professionals to identify the level of patients’ frailty at first point of face-to-face
contact with Adult services.
• To increase personalisation via the use of patient goal setting.
• To promote health and wellbeing, via the use of MyPlan.
• Patients referred to a Frailty Clinic will be offered a comprehensive assessment to support their
health and wellbeing.
Measures we will report to our Board

Baseline position
(end 2018/19)

Target
(end 2019/20)

Adult services clinical staff to be trained in using
Data not previously
Rockwood Clinical Frailty Scale* via the STP Frailty
75%**
collected
Training programme
Patients to be given a Rockwood score on their first
Data not previously
75%
point of face-to-face contact
collected
The percentage of patients attending a Frailty Clinic
Data not previously
50%***
using PFS on S1 for goal setting
collected
Patients attending a Frailty Clinic will be offered an
STP MyPlan personalised care plan (excluding
Data not previously
50%***
patients for whom MyPlan is not appropriate or who
collected
already have one)
Patients attending a Frailty Clinic will be offered a
Data not previously
50%***
Comprehensive Geriatric Assessment
collected
Other measures we will use to track progress
Records on SystmOne to indicate those who have commenced or declined MyPlan
Percentage of people who demonstrate a positive change in their goal setting within adult community
services
Patients will be signposted to appropriate support as identified via clinical triage and/or carers assessments
* The Rockwood Clinical Frailty Scale is a tool to identify those patients in our services who either are or
might be frail. It consists of 9 scores ranging from fit and active (1) to terminally ill (9)
** 75% target to be confirmed (in line with STP training programme target)
***50% target to be confirmed (in line with Frailty Clinics commencing)
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Consistent and improving patient safety
Quality Priority 2
We will aid recognition and management of a person whose health is deteriorating,
including recognising and managing sepsis, in the inpatient and community setting.
Our aims:
• To train community inpatient staff in the use of NEWS2 (National Early Warning System) tool.
• To ensure all inpatients who have an escalating NEWS2 score have their care reviewed.
• To commence a roll-out training programme for Adult community nursing staff to use NEWS2 to
enable patients in the community to have their care reviewed.

Measures we will report to our Board
Percentage of community inpatient staff trained in
NEWS2
Percentage of identified adult community nursing
staff trained in NEWS2
For inpatients who have an escalated NEWS2
score, the number of patient records which
identifies a plan of action
Other measures we will use to track progress
Research the potential of SystmOne to support the
recording and reporting of NEWS2 escalation score
Audit of clinical staff knowledge of recognition of
sepsis assuring compliance with NICE Quality
Standard QS161: Sepsis (audit undertaken in Q2
and Q4)
Percentage of Health Visitors and School Nurses
who have received awareness training about sepsis
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Baseline position
(end 2018/19)
Data not previously
collected
Data not previously
collected

Target
(end 2019/20)
80%
30%

Data not previously
collected

75%

NEWS2 escalation score
not recorded using
SystmOne

NEWS2 escalation score
recorded using
SystmOne if viable

Data not previously
collected

Two audits undertaken
in year against
compliance with QS161

Data not previously
collected

60%
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An outstanding patient and carer experience
Quality Priority 3
We will ensure that carers, including staff, are recognised as carers. Carers will feel
respected and heard as carers, and recognised as experts. This a two-year quality
priority aligned with HCT’s Carers Strategy.
Our aims:
This quality priority aims to identify carers and ensure they are supported and as involved as they
want to be in care. Staff who are carers will be identified and supported. This will be achieved by:
• Increasing the overall identification of carers and recording this on SystmOne.
• Demonstrating carers are involved in discussions about care planning and discharge.
• Increasing carers’ awareness of support available.
• Developing a database to record staff who recognise themselves as carers.
• Ensuring staff are aware of their minimum statutory rights and have access to independent
information and advice.
Measures we will report to our Board
Number of patients recorded on SystmOne as having a
carer split by adult carer and young carer
Number of patients recorded on SystmOne who are
young carers
Number of patients whose carers have been referred to
Carers in Herts which includes adult and young carers.
Includes option of declining referral.
Number of carers interviewed who report being
involved in care planning and discharge and support
available (approximately 15 carer interviews per
quarter)
All new staff asked if they wish to be recorded as a
carer

Baseline position
(end 2018/19)

Target
(end 2019/20)

Baseline to be confirmed

Increase on Q1 data

Baseline to be confirmed

Increase on Q1 data

Baseline to be confirmed

Increase on Q1 data

Data not previously
collected

50%

Data not previously
collected

Database developed
and 50% of all new staff
recorded

New staff identified as carers report (via survey) they
Data not previously
are aware of their rights and support available.
collected
Other measures we will use to track progress
Patient, carer and staff stories, compliments and complaints throughout 2019/20
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Monitoring progress throughout the coming year
We have a dedicated committee focused on reviewing the safety, quality and effectiveness of our
clinical services. This committee, known as the Healthcare Governance Committee, will monitor our
progress throughout the year.
Quality Priority
We will implement the guidance from NHS England to
help staff recognise frailty and signpost patients and
carers to relevant available help, and ensure actions are
taken to support the patient’s needs. We will support our
community to have active engagement in their health
and wellbeing
We will aid recognition and management of a person
whose health is deteriorating, including recognising and
managing sepsis, in the inpatient and community setting
We will ensure that carers, including staff, are
recognised as carers. Carers will feel respected and
heard as carers, and recognised as experts. This a twoyear quality priority aligned with HCT’s Carers Strategy

Reporting progress to the Board and the
public throughout the year
Progress in all three quality priority areas will
be monitored by our Board through our
Healthcare Governance Committee. We have
agreed a Board level sponsor for each priority
and an operational lead at service level.

Board Level Sponsor

Acting Medical Director

Acting Medical Director

Director of Nursing & Quality

with other similar trusts. These quality
indicators will be reported through our
Integrated Board Performance Report which
is published for our Board and on our website
for the public and our staff, and in our
quarterly Quality Reports. Our commissioners
will also receive reports as part of our contract
with them.

Where possible we have selected indicators
that can be compared across the Trust and
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STATEMENTS OF ASSURANCE FROM THE BOARD
This section contains nine statutory
statements concerning the quality of services
provided by Hertfordshire Community NHS
Trust. These are common to all trust quality
accounts and therefore provide a basis for
comparison between organisations. Where
Statement One: Review of Services
During 2018/19 Hertfordshire Community NHS
Trust provided and/or sub-contracted 53 NHS
services.
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust has
reviewed all the data available to them on the
quality of care in 53 of these services.
The income generated by the NHS services
reviewed in 2018/19 represents 98% of the
total income generated from the provision of
NHS services by Hertfordshire Community
NHS Trust for 2018/19.

Additional information
HCT’s performance management framework is
managed through the Trust’s Integrated Board
Performance Report (IBPR) and Business Unit
Performance Reviews (BUPR). The IBPR
presents performance against 95 national and
local indicators agreed with our commissioners.
A Trust scorecard provides a summary of 20
key performance indicators (KPIs) within the
categories of Quality, Performance, Learning &
Development, Workforce and Finance. Other
categorical KPIs are further detailed in the
report, including actions to address areas of
underperformance. HCT also provides
bespoke, streamlined versions of the IBPR to
each of our commissioners.
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appropriate, we have included additional
information that provides local context to the
information outlined in the statutory statement.
Elsewhere other indicators common to all
quality accounts have orange headings.

Performance is monitored at service level, and
overall at a business unit level, in the monthly
BUPR. As in the IBPR, KPIs are highlighted
using scorecards across the four categories to
determine service performance. A heat map is
also incorporated to enable early identification
of areas of concern and to provide an early
warning system at service level. Each BUPR
has a performance matrix document which
highlights two positives, two negatives and two
areas for improvement - these core areas are
reviewed in the BUPRs. The BUPRs incorporate
a risk register process which highlights high,
medium and low risks. This also provides
additional assurance that risks are being
identified and managed.
Services are reviewed monthly as part of the
escalated services process which determines
services at risk. This ensures HCT is monitoring
services at risk and an improvement plan is
implemented to reduce the risks going forward.
HCT has published the monthly IBPR and
BUPR reports on its Business Intelligence
portal. This allows our staff to review each KPI
and observe periodic trends and analysis
through visually interactive graphs. HCT’s
Performance & Information team has completed
work on creating a digital version of the IBPR
KPIs through the Tableau programme to
provide visual reporting. This will provide an
interactive approach enabling KPIs to be filtered
and represented graphically. This will be rolled
out in 2019/20. Through Tableau, HCT will
produce state of the art reporting with increased
granularity which will allow enhanced analysis of
data, efficient decision making and greater
emphasis on forward planning. Enhanced
capabilities will include geographical mapping
and inter-related graphs and charts, allowing
increased focus on specific areas. The plan is
to share this enhanced reporting with our
stakeholders in 2019/20.
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List of HCT Services 2018/19
Adult Community Services (County-wide)
Bladder & Bowel Care Service
Lymphoedema Service
Community Neurological, including Early
Neurological Community Inpatient Units
Supported Discharge
(Danesbury, Holywell at Langley)
Diabetes Community Service
Nutrition & Dietetics Service
End of Life and Specialist Palliative Care
Speech & Language Service
Foot Health Services (Podiatry)
Tissue Viability & Leg Ulcer Service
Adult Community Services (East & North Hertfordshire)
Acute Therapies Service (ENHT)
Minor Injuries Unit (Herts & Essex Hospital)
Cardiac Rehabilitation Nurse (Stevenage)
Musculoskeletal Services
COPD
Pain Management & Chronic Fatigue Service
Discharge Home to Assess
Pulmonary Rehabilitation
Integrated Community Teams (ICT)
Respiratory Service
Integrated Discharge Team (ENHT)
Skin Health Services
Intermediate Community Inpatient Units (Queen
Victoria Memorial Hospital, Herts & Essex
Hospital)
Adult Community Services (Herts Valleys)
Cardiology Services (including Cardiac
Hospital Day Services (Potters Bar)
Rehabilitation and Heart Failure)
Community Adult Health Services (CAHS)
Intermediate Community Inpatient Units (Midway
at Langley, St Peter’s Ward, Simpson Ward,
Potters Bar Community Hospital)
Community Treatment Unit (previously RAU), St
PACE (Hertsmere)
Albans
Diabetic Retinopathy Service
Prevention of Admission (Hertsmere, Watford,
Dacorum, St Albans)
Enhanced Discharge to Assess
Prison Healthcare Services (HMP The Mount)
Children & Young People’s (CYP) Services (County-wide)
Child Health Information Service (Herts, Luton,
Public Health Nursing Services
Milton Keynes and Bedfordshire)
CYP Occupational Therapy Service
School Aged Immunisations Service
CYP Physiotherapy Service
Specialist Community Dental Services including
Domiciliary Care (Surgical Site, Day Service Unit
ENHT)
CYP Speech & Language Therapy Service
Step2 Service
Positive Behaviour, Autism, Learning Disability
and Mental Health Service (PALMS)
Children & Young People’s (CYP) Services (Herts Valleys)
CYP Community Medical Service
CYP Hearing Service (Audiology)
CYP Community Nursing
Special School Nursing Service
CYP Continuing Care Service
Specialist Nurse Coordinators (Transition and
Sickle Cell)
CYP Eye Services
Nursing Services – Quality & Governance Team (County-wide)
Infection Prevention & Control Team
Safeguarding Adults Team
Looked After Children/Care Leaver’s Team
Safeguarding Children Team
Rapid Response to Unexpected Child Death
Team
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Statement Two: Participation in Clinical
Audits

The national clinical audits and clinical
outcome reviews that Hertfordshire
Community NHS Trust participated in, and
for which data collection was completed
during 2018/19, are listed below alongside
the number of cases submitted to each
audit or review as a percentage of the
number of registered cases required by the
terms of that audit or review.

In 2018/19 the Department of Health released
64 national clinical audits for inclusion in trusts’
quality accounts. The information which follows
on this page refers to those 64 national clinical
audits. Six of these national clinical audits
covered NHS services that Hertfordshire
Community NHS Trust provided during
2018/19.
Therefore during 2018/19 six national clinical
audits and no clinical outcome reviews
(formerly known as national confidential
enquiry) covered NHS services that
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust provides.
During that period Hertfordshire Community
NHS Trust participated in 100% of the national
clinical audits and 100% of the clinical
outcome reviews which it was eligible to
participate in.

National Clinical Audits

Participation

Number or percentage of cases submitted or
reason for non-participation

National Diabetes Adults (NDA) Audit
National Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary
Disease (COPD) Audit

Yes

Submitted data for 4770 patients

Yes

Data collection starts 1 April 2018

National Audit of Intermediate Care (NAIC)

Yes

71 questionnaires as part of Patient-Reported
Experience Measure (PREM)

Yes

685 submitted

Yes

9 case note reviews submitted

Yes

0 (HCT does not submit data as falls with hip
fracture are entered onto the National Hip
Fracture Database (NHFD) by the acute, treating
hospital)

The Sentinel Stroke National Audit
Programme (SSNAP)
National Audit of Care at the End of Life
(NACEL)
Falls and Fragility Fractures (FFFAP) Audit
Programme/National Audit of Inpatient Falls
2018/2021 (commenced 1 January 2019)
Clinical Outcome Review Programme
(previously National Confidential
Enquiries)
There were no studies relevant to HCT
services during 2018/19

Participation

Number or percentage of cases submitted or
reason for non-participation

N/A

N/A

HCT participated in 100% of the national clinical audit programme and 100% in the local clinical
audit programme, demonstrating that the Trust monitors quality in a systematic manner and is
focussed on improving patient quality of care.
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Additional information
Clinical audit involves looking at current
practice, modifying it where necessary to
improve the quality of patient care. Clinical
outcome reviews are designed to help
assess the quality of healthcare and
stimulate improvement in safety and
effectiveness.

Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust reviewed
the reports of five national clinical audits in
2018/19 and is taking or intends to take the
following actions to improve the quality of
healthcare provided:
•

Our Podiatry Service has established a local
foot care pathway and are working
collaboratively with East and North
Hertfordshire NHS Trust to enable the
provision of clinics on each week day in
order to offer 24 hour access to the Podiatry
Team.

•

We are setting up a small working group of
clinicians to further review the National Audit
of Intermediate Care report to identify and
understand the outcomes and
recommendations for HCT services and
ensure continued quality improvement.

•

Our Neurology and Speech and Language
Therapy Teams will work with the
Performance & Information Team to use
technology (such as Skype) to enable
patients to be seen as a group in the
diagnosis phase.

•

We will share the audit results and number
of pulmonary rehabilitation sessions
currently offered with the Senior
Management Team to determine whether
this can be raised with commissioners to
achieve compliance with the NICE Quality
Standard.

•

We will undertake a re-audit (to benchmark
local data) using the newly-developed
Chartered Society of Physiotherapy
standards (2018).

The national clinical audits reviewed by
HCT in 2018/19 were:
1. National Diabetes Foot Care Audit Third Annual Report. England and
Wales, 14 July 2014 to 31 March 2017.
2. The National Audit of Intermediate Care
(NAIC) Published 2017.
3. 2017 UK Parkinson’s Audit.
4. National Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary
Disease (COPD) Audit Programme:
Clinical and organisational audits of
pulmonary rehabilitation services in
England and Wales, 2017.
5. National Physiotherapy ‘hip sprint’ audit

report, 2017. Published February 2018.

Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust Quality Account 2018/19

Page 15 of 100

The reports of 56 local clinical audits were
reviewed by HCT in 2018/19, and we have
taken or intend to take the following actions
to improve the quality of healthcare
provided:
•

•
•

Improving communication and
partnership working between District
Nurses, GP’s and the Care Agency to
ensure that there is a catheter care plan
in place to address any concerns and
enable the patient’s discharge.
Reviewing and updating our current
Tongue Tie (Ankyloglossia) pathway.
Reviewing SystmOne to support
effective recording for clinical practice
under the Mental Capacity Act (MCA).

• Ensuring every service undertakes
actions to address gaps in clinical recordkeeping practices to maintain continuous
quality improvement.
• Providing further training on wound
assessment and management in order to
raise the awareness for clinical staff.
• Ensuring Team Leaders discuss
prescribing confidence at staff appraisals
and that staff who are prescribers are
prescribing effectively.
• Discussing the initial findings of our
clinical sepsis audit with our Ward
Managers and agree a plan to embed
staff knowledge of the early signs and
symptoms of sepsis in patients.
• Providing additional staff training to raise
awareness of using the appropriate pain
assessment template, according to age
and cognitive ability of the patient, and to
ensure there is clearer rationale behind
the choice of pain assessment tool used.
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Statement Three: Participation in Clinical
Research

Prospective research activity in 2019/20
includes the following:

The number of patients receiving NHS services
provided or sub-contracted by Hertfordshire
Community NHS Trust in 2018/19 that were
recruited during that period to participate in
research approved by a research ethics
committee was 23.

• HCT is the proposed sponsor for
ENHANCEII: Enhancing resilience in the
families of children with disabilities and
complex health needs. This has been
submitted to NIHR (Research for Patient
Benefit) and is currently being reviewed at
Stage 2.

In addition, 171 children from Luton have been
recruited by HCT Clinical Research Nurses to
the Children’s Health in London and Luton
(CHILL) study (page 18).
Additional information
During 2018/19 HCT has been involved in the
following studies:
• Three research studies on the National
Institute of Health Research (NIHR) Clinical
Research Network Study Portfolio –
KASPAR (page 18), CHILL (page 18) and
ADAPT (a national survey of healthcare
professionals’ knowledge, experiences and
training needs in adaptive technology).
In addition HCT participated in the following
studies:
• FEED (Feeding practices and Eating
behaviours in Down’s Syndrome:
Perspectives from healthcare
professionals): A study led by the University
of Hertfordshire.
• ActMed Study: A national survey on end of
life/palliative care focused on patient and
carer access to medicines and services
during the last year of life. HCT End of Life
nurses participated in this online survey.

• DAFNE Plus (Dose for Adjustment for
Normal Eating): A study concerned with the
promotion of self-management in adults
with diabetes. HCT is a proposed site for
the ‘control’ arm of this study.
• APT (Anticipatory Prescribing in Terminal
care study): An NIHR Portfolio study being
undertaken in Cambridgeshire and
Hertfordshire by a PhD student.
• A proposed PhD study involving children
with hypermobility/Ehlers-Danlos Syndrome
to be undertaken by a member of HCT staff.
• Outcomes of Contralateral Routine of Signal
hearing aid fittings for children with
unilateral deafness: A proposed MSc study
to be undertaken by a member of HCT staff.
• Awareness of illness following brain injury:
A PhD study (non-HCT staff member)
supported by HCT Neuro Rehabilitation
service.
• GEKO Venous Leg Ulcer Efficacy Study.
• Home parenteral therapy or nutrition
(comparing patients’ and health
professionals’ experience): A PhD study
(non HCT staff member).
• I-Thrive Barriers and Facilitators Study:
Hertfordshire is one of a number of sites
involved in this national study focussed
upon improving services to support children
and young people’s mental health.
• Shape up my Shoulder (intervention for
people with Rotator Cuff Related Shoulder
Pain): A feasibility study.
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KASPAR: A feasibility study of a randomised
controlled trial to investigate the effectiveness of
a humanoid robot to support social skills
development in children with an Autism
Spectrum Disorder (ASD).
NICE guidelines indicate that children with ASD
should be offered a psychological intervention
as a first-line treatment which should include
play-based strategies to increase attention,
engagement and reciprocal communication.
Offering an early intervention has the potential
to improve children’s social skills and have an
immediate impact on their ability to gain the
most from other forms of intervention and
improve their long-term outcomes. An
improvement in problem behaviours
experienced with ASD also reduces parental
stress.
The NIHR Research for Patient Benefit study
has been undertaken jointly between HCT and
the University of Hertfordshire. The study
recruitment has taken place within HCT, with
therapy intervention being delivered by
children’s therapists and Clinical Research
Nurses. The feasibility study has involved two
treatment groups, with 20 participants being
randomised to the KASPAR-only intervention
group and 20 to the therapist-only group.
Recruitment to the study closed in April 2018,
with intervention and data collection continuing.
A total of 42 children were recruited to the study
which is scheduled to end in May 2019. A
submission is currently being prepared for a fullscale randomised controlled trial.
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CHILL: Children’s Health in London and
Luton (Investigating the impact of London’s
Ultra Low Emission Zone on children’s
respiratory health).
This study is seeking to determine the impact
of a large-scale public health intervention –
the Ultra Low Emission Zone (ULEZ) in
London – on lung growth of primary school
children. Total recruitment target for the study
is 3120 children – 1560 children in each of
the London and Luton cohorts. Although the
study is based in Luton, the North Thames
Clinical Research Network sought support
from HCT Clinical Research Nurses to assist
with the recruitment, spirometry and
measures of children in Luton schools (Year
2, 3 and 4).
The HCT Clinical Research Nurses have
been recruiting children to the study since
November 2018 and had recruited a total of
171 children to the study by the end of
February 2019.
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Statement Four: Use of CQUIN Payment
Framework
A proportion of Hertfordshire Community NHS
Trust’s income in 2018/19 was conditional on
achieving quality improvement and innovation
goals agreed between Hertfordshire Community
NHS Trust and East & North Hertfordshire CCG,
Herts Valleys CCG, and NHS England, through
the Commissioning for Quality and Innovation
(CQUIN) payment framework. These are
outlined here, with further details of both the
agreed goals for 2018/19 and for the following
12 month period, available electronically at
www.hct.nhs.uk.

Additional information
The goals were agreed as part of the Trust’s
contribution to achieving local, regional and
national health priorities and were
supplemented by quality improvements within
the Trust’s contract, included in page 27 of this
account.
The proportion of our income that was
conditional on achieving these goals was
2.5%.
Key:
Fully achieved

HCT National CQUIN Scheme 2017/19
Clinical quality and transformational indicators
Health and Wellbeing
• Improvement of staff health and wellbeing as measured in the
NHS staff survey
• Provision of healthy food for NHS staff, visitors and patients
• Improving the uptake of flu vaccination to frontline staff
Preventing ill health by risky behaviours
• Offering patients in our community inpatient units screening for
tobacco and alcohol use, brief intervention and/or referral
Improving the assessment of wounds
• Increase in the number of patients, with a wound that has failed
to heal, having a full wound assessment after four weeks
Personalised care and support planning
• Embedding personalised care and support planning for
patients with long-term conditions
Supporting local areas
Engaging with Sustainability Transformation Programme (STP)
Partners
• Making the necessary contribution to and demonstrating
support and engagement in local STP initiatives
Maintaining organisational financial balance
• Delivery of the in-year system control total and maintain a
satisfactory national risk profile.
Total

Partially achieved

Not achieved

Weighted Value
Year 2 of 2

Year-end position
2018/19*

15%

8.75%

15%

12%

15%

15%

15%

15%

Weighted Value
Year 2 of 2

Year-end position
2018/19

20%

20%

20%

20%

100%

90.75%

*Confirmation of final year-end position awaited at time of report
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Statement Five: Care Quality Commission
Registration
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust is
required to register with the Care Quality
Commission and its current registration status
is ‘Good’.
The Care Quality Commission has not taken
enforcement action against Hertfordshire
Community NHS Trust during 2018/19.
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust has not
participated in any special review or
investigations by the Care Quality
Commission during 2018/19.

The table below outlines the CQC ratings given to HCT in January 2019 and confirms our overall
rating of ‘Good’.
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Additional information
The CQC undertook a formal inspection of the
Trust during September 2018, with a Well-Led
review undertaken during November 2018.
The CQC told us that:
• Our staff continually care for patients with
compassion and that feedback from patients
and their loved ones confirms that staff treat
them well and with kindness.
• We involve patients closely in their care,
particularly around managing pain levels and
providing emotional support to minimise a
patient’s distress.
• We effectively plan and deliver our services to
meet the needs of local people.
• We have a positive working culture which
supports and values our staff, and we learn
effectively when things go well and when they
go less well.
Following the inspection, the Trust received an
overall rating of good with a required improvement
for safety. The Trust has two areas for
improvement:
• Regulation 12: Safe Care and treatment
• Regulation 15: Premises and equipment

Immediate actions have been taken to ensure
the safety of our record keeping, medical
equipment maintenance and timely delivery of
medicine. A continuous improvement
programme has been developed to support
this sustained safe practice.
During 2018/19 we have:
• Updated our SystmOne patient record
system to record patient reported
outcomes, this continues to be rolled out
across our services.
• Reviewed staff competencies to ensure all
staff receive appropriate training and can
demonstrate continued competence in their
professional care delivery.

HMP The Mount Healthcare Service
Healthcare at HMP The Mount has continued
to demonstrate good healthcare provision. The
joint Ministry of Justice/CQC inspection during
May 2018 did identify that a record
management review supporting a single
patient record was required; this was
undertaken prior to the end of the inspection
and has been maintained (page 81).

Continuous Quality Improvement Framework
HCT’s Continuous Quality Improvement Framework has been designed to build on existing quality
assurance processes and operational management structures and sets out a clear approach to Quality
Assurance and the relationship with Quality Improvement.
This Framework will enable us to be assured that services are meeting expected standards through
independent internal assurance, using a mix of monthly dip tests, quarterly self-assessment using the
Quality Wheel, and a six-monthly internal risk-based peer review. This range of assessments will
demonstrate and provide evidence that we are meeting our performance standards.
All results will be reported through BUPR and any
actions identified will be developed into a single
Continuous Quality Improvement Plan held locally
by each team. Service changes required to
complete these actions will be made using either
Quality Improvement methodology to deliver
change or through routine operational activity.
This Quality Improvement Framework has been
agreed as our approach to provide assurance that
clinical services are meeting the expectations
outlined in the Trust’s Health & Wellbeing Strategy
and to support the Trust in becoming ‘Outstanding’
in the delivery of high quality, safe and
compassionate care to the people of Hertfordshire.
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Statement Six: Data Quality
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust has taken, or will be
taking, the following actions to improve data quality:
• Continuing to apply the principles outlined in our Data
Quality policy to deliver the data quality priorities
agreed by the Trust.
• Developing Tableau reporting to provide access to
near real-time visual data and thereby promoting an
information culture within the Trust.
• Fully reviewing all SystmOne templates used in
community nursing to ensure data is robust and fit for
purpose.
• Adopting best practice for all Key Performance
Indicator (KPI) reporting including Statistical Process
Control (SPC) analysis.
• Continuing to run reports to assure ourselves and our
commissioners of the accuracy, timeliness and quality
of our data, and ensuring that data is matched to
national requirements, to enable its sharing and
comparison.
• Running data quality checks on data entered by new
staff to ensure that correct data entry processes are
being followed.
• The Trust data warehouse has expanded to include
finance and other systems within the Trust for use in
analysis and data quality monitoring.
• Undertaking an annual data quality audit to identify
possible areas of concern and provide evidence of
data quality.
• Improving data feeds from SystmOne to ensure
robustness and availability to operational staff.
• Introducing SystmOne data quality reports for
caseload holders to regularly review their patients in
line with clinical pathways.
• Utilising the ICT Operational Dashboard to manage
ICT response times and data quality issues. This
dashboard is reviewed daily by the Deputy Locality
Managers with a weekly con call held to report
progress.

• Continuing to build the HCT library of guidance
for data quality documentation.
• Maintaining a gold standard training programme
to ensure all relevant new staff are fully trained
in SystmOne processes. Specific Data Quality
training classroom sessions have been
launched for all existing staff.
• Using automated reporting, through our
Business Intelligence portal, to identify and
analyse data quality issues. For example:
− Ethnicity recording compliance
− Late data entry
− NHS Number completeness
− GP Practice Registration completeness
− Productivity and expected activity levels
− Length of stay analysis
− Compliance with community nursing
response times
− Waiting times information
− Did Not Attend (DNA) rates
• Working with commissioners to ensure reported
activity levels reflect the real workload of our
clinical staff. Additional data items are sent to
our commissioners to enable improved analysis
around end of life and care home patients.
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust submitted
records during 2018/19 to the Secondary Uses
Service for inclusion in the Hospital Episode
Statistics, which are included in the latest published
data. The percentage of records in the published
data which included the patient’s valid NHS number
was:
• 99.8% for admitted patient care
• 99.5% for accident and emergency care (Minor
Injuries Unit)
and which included the patient’s valid General
Medical Practice was:
• 100% for admitted patient care
• 100% for accident and emergency care (Minor
Injuries Unit)

• The SystmOne Data Quality Dashboard is sent to
managers on a monthly basis, focussing on patients
with missing key information as well as identifying
patients who have had no contact with HCT services
for 3, 6 and 12 months.
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Statement Seven: Data Security & Protection
Toolkit Attainment Levels
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust’s
Information Governance Assessment Report final
overall score for 2018/19 was ‘Standards Met’.
(There is no percentage score for the new Data
Security & Protection Toolkit (DSPT) which
replaced the IG Toolkit during 2018/19).

Additional information
HCT’s Information Governance overall score
demonstrates compliance with a broad range of
Information Governance and Data Security
requirements and standards.
Our progress has been achieved through a
variety of actions including:
• We regularly reviewed and updated our
progress using our information governance
action plan which was overseen by our
Information Governance Group.
• We reviewed and updated our policies and
procedures on Information Governance and
Information Technology.

What is information governance?
Information governance is a framework that
brings together all the legal rules, guidance and
best practice that apply to the handling of
information.
The Data Security & Protection Toolkit provides
an overall measure of the quality of data
systems, standards and processes within an
organisation.

During 2018/19, the Trust had 2 lapses of data
security that warranted reporting to the
Information Commissioner’s Office. In both
cases, at April 2019, the Trust has not received
any further communication from the Information
Commissioner’s Office in relation to these

incidents. All staff continue to be reminded
of the need for vigilance when handling and
sending confidential data.
Progress during 2019/20 will continue to be
monitored by the Information Governance
Group which reports directly to HCT’s Executive
Team.

• 97% of our staff completed our Information
Governance training.
• We responded to 188 requests received for
information under the Freedom of Information
Act within the statutory requirement of 20
days.
• We responded to 100% of all requests for
information under the Access to Health
Records Act and Data Protection Act within
the reduced statutory requirement of 30 days
(40 days during 2017/18).
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Statement Eight: Clinical Coding Error Rate
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust was not
subject to the Payment by Results clinical coding
audit by the Audit Commission during 2018/19.
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Statement Nine: Learning from deaths
In March 2017 NHS England published ‘National Guidance on Learning from Deaths: A Framework for
NHS Trusts and NHS Foundation Trusts on Identifying, Reporting, Investigating and Learning from
Deaths in Care’. The Framework details expectations that trusts are to meet which includes collecting
and publishing information on deaths, including any learning points identified through the review
process. The Framework also outlines the clear expectations that trusts are to meet in respect of the
need to review the deaths of people with a learning disability.
The National Health Service (Quality Accounts) (Amendment) Regulations 2017 provides explicit
direction as to the mandatory disclosure requirements relating to ‘Learning From Deaths’ which are to
be included within the Quality Accounts from 2017/18 onwards.
Item

1

The number of its patients who have died during
the reporting period, including a quarterly
breakdown of the annual figure

Response
During 2018/19 46 patients died whilst in receipt of HCT care
This comprised the following number of deaths which occurred
in each quarter:
• 12 in the first quarter
• 10 in the second quarter
• 8 in the third quarter
• 16 in the fourth quarter
By 31 March 2019 40 case record reviews* and 1 investigation**
have been carried out in relation to 46 of the deaths included in
item 1
In 1 case was a death subjected to both case review and an
investigation (the investigation is not complete at the time of
writing)

2

The number of deaths included in item 1 which
the provider has subjected to a case record
review or an investigation to determine what
problems (if any) there were in the care provided
to the patient, including a quarterly breakdown of
the annual figure

The number of deaths in each quarter for which a case record
review or an investigation was carried out was:
• 12 in the first quarter
• 10 in the second quarter
• 8 in the third quarter
• 10 in the fourth quarter

All deaths reported in this section will be subject to case review.
Six deaths occurring in quarter 4 will be reviewed during
2019/20 quarter 1.
*Case record review: A review of the clinical notes to determine
if there were any problems in care provided to the patient who
died. Case record review is undertaken routinely in the absence
of any particular concerns about care to learn and improve
**Investigation: A systematic, in-depth analysis of what
happened, how it happened and why. Investigation draws on
evidence, including physical evidence, witness accounts,
policies, procedures, guidance, good practice and observation,
in order to identify any problems in care or service delivery that
preceded an incident to understand how and why it occurred.
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3

4

5

6

7

8

9

Item
An estimate of the number of deaths during the
reporting period included in item 2 for which a
case record review or investigation has been
carried out, which the provider judges as a result
of the review or investigation were more likely
than not to have been due to problems in the
care provided to the patient (including a quarterly
breakdown), with an explanation of the methods
used to assess this
A summary of what the provider has learnt from
case record reviews and investigations
conducted in relation to the deaths identified in
item 3
A description of the actions which the provider
has taken in the reporting period, and proposes
to take following the reporting period, in
consequence of what the provider has learnt
during the reporting period (see item 4)
An assessment of the impact of the actions
described in item 5 which were taken by the
provider during the reporting period
The number of case record reviews or
investigations finished in the reporting period
which related to deaths during the previous
reporting period but were not included in item 2
in the relevant document for that previous
reporting period
An estimate of the number of deaths included in
item 7 which the provider judges as a result of
the review or investigation were more likely than
not to have been due to problems in the care
provided to the patient, with an explanation of
the methods used to assess this
A revised estimate of the number of deaths
during the previous reporting period stated in
item 9.3 of the relevant document for that
previous reporting period, taking account of the
deaths referred to in item 8

Response
None of the patient deaths during the reporting period are
judged to be more likely than not to have been due to problems
in the care provided to the patient
Case record reviews are undertaken using a Structured
Judgement Review approach. Reviewers capture information
from clinical records within an agreed framework. The findings
are then considered by the Deputy Medical Director and
Mortality Review Panel
None of the patient deaths occurring during the reporting period
are judged to be more likely than not to have been due to
problems in the care provided to the patient
None of the patient deaths occurring during the reporting period
are judged to be more likely than not to have been due to
problems in the care provided to the patient
None of the deaths occurring during the reporting period are
judged to be more likely than not to have been due to problems
in the care provided to the patient
10 case record reviews and zero investigations were completed
after 1 April 2018 which related to deaths which took place
before the start of the reporting period

None of the patient deaths occurring before 1 April 2018 are
judged to be more likely than not to have been due to problems
in the care provided to the patient
This number has been estimated using case record reviews
No deaths occurring before 1 April 2018 are judged to be more
likely than not to have been due to problems in the care
provided to the patient

Learning Disabilities Mortality Review
Following the publication of the national guidance, the Learning Disabilities Mortality Review (LeDeR)
Programme, led by NHS England and delivered by Bristol University, has been established to support the
central review and coordination of the review of deaths of people with learning disability.
The LeDeR programme is a national programme where the deaths of all people aged 4 and over with a
learning disability are reviewed using a specific review process.
Hertfordshire County Council (HCC) has the lead responsibility to deliver the LeDeR programme in
Hertfordshire. During 2018/19 HCT contributed to the LeDeR programme through:
• Participating in the HCC LeDeR steering group held every two to three months.
• Supporting named HCT staff to receive training required and undertake LeDeR reviews.
• Ensuring that all deaths of people with a learning disability, known to HCT, are reported to Bristol
University.
Patients with a learning disability under the care of HCT at the time of their death will be considered by the
Trust’s Learning from Deaths Panel when findings from the LeDeR review are available.
It should be noted that anyone can report a death to Bristol University via the public-facing website. It is
possible that a death may be reported several times to Bristol University by different people; this is acceptable
as everyone is encouraged to report the death of a person with a learning disability.
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust Quality Account 2018/19
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Additional information
The purpose of reviews and investigations of
deaths is to fully understand the care delivered
and identify any possible factors that may have
contributed to the deaths in order to prevent
recurrence and ensure learning is shared and
acted upon.
Information is captured through case record
review and is considered by our Learning from
Deaths Panel, chaired by the Deputy Medical
Director.

Reviews undertaken during the year have
identified the following learning:
• For some patients recognised as being end of
life, appropriate care was delivered but an end
of life care plan was not in place at the time of
their death. A care plan supports the early
planning, communication and provision of
holistic end of life care.

•

The ‘Mortality Review Panel’ was renamed the
‘Learning from Deaths Panel’ to ensure that its
purpose is clearly identifiable.

• For some patients who were likely to be in the
last year of their life, advance care planning
and discussions about preferred place of
care/death had not taken place prior to their
death, meaning that the patient and/or their
family were not supported as well as they could
have been to make decisions about their
preferences for end of life care.

•

Reviewer training was held in January 2019
delivered by the Deputy Medical Director. The
training was a refresher for existing reviewers
and an introduction for new reviewers on how
to use the ‘structured judgement review’
methodology, which is supported by the Royal
College of Physicians.

• Some patients did not have a full initial
assessment of their medical history and care
needs completed on admission to HCT. This
assessment provides a clear picture of the
patient’s initial presentation and helps to
support later escalation of concerns if clinical
deterioration occurs.

•

The ‘Mortality Review Policy’ was renamed the
‘Learning from Deaths policy’ and re-written to
more closely align with the ‘National Guidance
on Learning from Deaths’ and to provide
clearer procedural guidance.

•

The Learning from Deaths Panel meets every
six to eight weeks; during 2018/19 the Panel
reviewed 53 deaths.

• It is important that infection is recognised as
early as possible. A group has been set up,
chaired by the Deputy Medical Director, to
support the early identification of potential
sepsis. Early recognition of sepsis has been
agreed as a quality priority for 2019/20 to
further support this area of work.

During 2018/19:

•

No deaths reviewed were judged to be more
likely than not to have been due to problems in
the care provided to the patient.
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“During 2019/20 we plan to strengthen
relationships with the learning from death leads of
neighbouring acute trusts so that learning relevant
to us is shared, especially for example for patients
known to us who are admitted to and who later
die in hospital.
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OUR QUALITY IMPROVEMENTS IN 2018/19
How we performed in delivering the quality priorities we set ourselves over the past
year
Excellent clinical effectiveness and outcomes
Quality Priority 1
We will support the population we serve by developing patient-focussed outcomes to
improve their health and wellbeing. Patient-focussed outcomes will underpin the
work being undertaken to support the Trust’s Health & Wellbeing Strategy. This is
year two of a two-year quality priority.
Our Aims:
This quality priority aims to fully understand the impact on patients’ experience of our care and
measure the intended outcome to ensure we are delivering a service that is valued by patients and
meets their needs. This will be achieved by:
• Fully understanding the various academically validated approaches to Patient-Reported
Outcome Measures (PROMs), including the similarities and differences between them, in order
to help us develop our approach across HCT.
• Ensuring all services use an agreed validated approach to patient-reported outcomes for all
patients by March 2019.
• Ensuring PROMs are routinely reported as part of the regular Business Unit Performance
Review (BUPR) reports by March 2019.

Measures we reported to our Board
Number of teams/services routinely using a validated
PROM
Number of patients whose care plan includes patient
determined goals
Number of patients within services where PROMs are
embedded who demonstrate a positive change in their
goal-setting (to be measured in Q4 2018/19)
Other measures we used to track progress
BUPR health and wellbeing dashboard includes health
and wellbeing outcome measures

Baseline
position
(end 2017/18)

Position at
end 2018/19

Target achieved
(RAG Rating)

25%

48.8%

50%

10%

41.2%

50%

Data not collected
previously

11.1%

50%

Dashboard
drafted

PROMs
reporting
systems now
in place

PROMS
reporting system
in place

Patient stories, compliments and complaints
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Progress against Quality Priority 1
During the first year of this quality priority
(2017/18) the Executive team agreed that the
Patient-Reported Outcome Measure (PROM)
approach for HCT should be Patient
Functional scale (PFS) unless a service was
already using another PROM methodology.
PFS is an academically validated
methodology that can be adapted for all
clinical services and allows clinicians to
demonstrate the impact of their interventions
from a patient’s perspective. Patients identify
a priority that is important to them and score it
at the start and finish of the intervention on a
simple visual analogue scale; the difference in
scores demonstrates the change as a result of
the treatment or care plan.
During 2018/19 PFS has been embedded in:
• Adult Community Occupational Therapy
and Physiotherapy services
• Community Inpatient Units
• Children’ and Young People’s (CYP)
Occupational Therapy and Physiotherapy
services
• Bladder and Bowel service
• Community Cardiology service
• Pulmonary Rehabilitation service
A number of other services use different
methodologies which include:
• East Kent Outcome System (EKOS) –
used by Adult Speech & Language
Therapy and Nutrition & Dietetic services
• Outcome Assessment and Complexity
Collaborative suite of measures (OACCS)
– used by Specialist Palliative Care
services
• Goal Attainment Score (GAS) – used by
Neurological Rehabilitation services
As a result of this implementation we are able
to demonstrate that at March 2019 48.8% of
services included in the quality priority are
routinely using a PROMS methodology.
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Throughout the year we have been
developing reporting templates to
demonstrate the percentage of patients
whose care plans includes patient determined
goals and to allow us to track progress.
We are able to demonstrate at March 2019
that 41.2% of patients of the services routinely
using PROMS have evidence of this in their
records. We will ensure that this practice
continues into next year.
Progress:
During the current year it was recognised that
there were similarities between our
personalised care and support planning
CQUIN and our PROMs approach, and
approval was given in October 2018 to begin
work to align both of these workstreams to
streamline reporting, avoid duplication and
make the most effective use of clinicians’
time.
A decision was also made to delay
implementation of PROMs to Community
Nursing teams until April 2019 as the learning
from our pilot during the previous year
identified that a more focussed approach was
required.
As a result two workshops have been held to
engage with our nurses, and Champions have
been identified in each locality team for both
nursing and therapy to support
implementation of the approach.
Changes have been made to the electronic
record templates with a supporting
instructional video for the locality teams and
we will develop a combined dashboard to
capture and report on patients’ activation and
goal setting from April 2019.
Accountable Committee
Healthcare Governance Committee
via Clinical Effectiveness Group
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Consistent and improving patient safety
Quality Priority 2
We will improve the safety of patients in our care by reducing avoidable pressure
damage and improving wound care management.
Our Aims:
This quality priority aims to improve the early identification of patients with wounds or pressure
damage to encourage early healing and reduce the impact of long-term damage, as well as
improving the management of patients with long-term wounds to reduce the risks of infection and
encourage return to normal activity. This will be achieved by:
• Improving the assessment of wounds.
• Improving the experience of patients with a wound care plan by measuring their reported
outcomes.
• Increasing awareness of early pressure damage of patients receiving social care in their own
home (home care), through delivery of a joint staff training programme.
• Reducing the number of patients receiving home care who experience a pressure ulcer.

Measures we reported to our Board
The percentage of patients with a wound that has a
full wound assessment recorded in their patient
records. (Measured via patient records audit in Q2
and Q4 in a sample of 300 patients)
Percentage of patients who are in receipt of care for
having a wound and who have a wound care plan
(i.e. pressure ulcer plan, leg ulcer plan, would care
plan) in place identified by read code (measured via
patient record read code report in Q2 and Q4)
Seek patient feedback to understand what is
important to them with regard to their wound
management
Percentage of identified home care providers where
their staff group have participated in a pressure
ulcer prevention training programme (‘React to Red’
and Hertfordshire Care Providers Association Home
Care Wound Management Pathway)
Reduction in the number of patients who are
receiving home care with a new pressure ulcer
(reporting on Datix) where home care staff have
participated in the training programme (baseline to
be set in Q1)

Baseline
position
(end
2017/18)

Position at end
2018/19

Target
achieved
(RAG
Rating)

50%
(151/300)

84%
(253/300)

80%

Baseline
Q2

93%

80%

Data not
previously
collected

26 patients interviewed

25 patients
interviewed
by TVNs

0

Data not
previously
collected

React to Red skin
pressure ulcer
awareness training for
carers from social care
and residential care
providers, commenced
November 2018*
Due to delays
commencing training it
is not possible to
accurately measure
this data at the end of
Q4

50%

25%
reduction

Other measures we used to track progress
Commencement of joint root cause analysis investigation with the home care provider (where staff training
has been undertaken with that provider) where the pressure ulcer reduction is not on trajectory
*There are two further sessions, as well as two train-the-trainer sessions, planned for April and May 2019
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Progress against Quality Priority 2
During 2018/19:
• Audit findings demonstrate that 93% of
patients with a wound have a relevant
wound or pressure ulcer care plan.
• Patient feedback for PROMs: 26 patients
with wounds known to the Tissue Viability
service have been interviewed, themes
collated and a report written. This will
inform guidance around wound related
PROMs moving forward.

• Due to the delays in commencing the
training programme it is not possible to
measure an improvement in pressure ulcer
numbers in care homes or in patients
receiving home care at this time.
Further information about our work around
pressure ulcer prevention and wound
management can be found on page 53.
Accountable Committee
Healthcare Governance Committee
via Clinical Effectiveness Group

• There have been difficulties obtaining
support from partner organisations to roll
out the ‘React to Red’ training programme
which delayed the start. Three sessions
were delivered during November and 34
delegates attended with five of these being
members of one of our targeted
organisations.
Further sessions were held in February
and in March, with a train the trainer
session also being held in March. There
are two sessions plus two train-the-trainer
session planned for April and May 2019.
One organisation engaging heavily with the
training programme owns five of the
targeted care homes.
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Consistent and improving patient safety
Quality Priority 3
We will continue to ensure our patients receive safe care by maintaining safe staffing
levels in our services.
Our Aims:
This quality priority aims to maintain safe staffing levels in the Trust’s community inpatient units and
Adult community teams during periods of transformation. This will be achieved by:
• Delivering a range of initiatives to attract new staff to the Trust and retaining existing staff to
ensure we continue to deliver safe quality care.
• Actively engaging with staff during transformation to reduce any negative impact.
• Ensuring our patients receive high quality care as demonstrated through patient experience
feedback.
Baseline
position
(end 2017/18)

Position at
end 2018/19

Staff turnover rate (Adult services)

16.28%

15.2%

Staff vacancy rate (Adult services)

14.9%

15.1%

Average fill
rate
maintained
above 80%
throughout
2017/18

Fill rate
maintained at
above 80%
(page 57)

Maintain above
NHS England
threshold of 80%
average fill rate

63%

60%

Maintain at 63%
or above

75%

73%

Maintain at 75%
or above

9

15

An increased
number of
concerns raised
indicates a
positive speaking
up culture

99%

99%

90%

99%

99%

90%

99%

99%

90%

Measures we reported to our Board

Maintain average Registered Nurse fill rates in
community inpatient units above 80% in line with
NHS England threshold
The percentage of staff who would recommend the
organisation as a place to work (Trust-wide as
reported in annual NHS staff survey Q4)
If a friend or relative needed treatment, the
percentage of staff who would be happy with the
standard of care provided by the organisation
(Trust-wide as reported in annual NHS staff survey
Q4)
Other measures used to track progress
Number of whistleblowing/Freedom To Speak Up
concerns raised regarding patient care and safety,
and reporting of actions taken as a result of
concerns raised
Maintain percentage of patients rating the quality of
care received ‘good’, ‘very good’ or ‘excellent’ (adult
community inpatients only)
Maintain percentage of patients reporting that they
were treated with dignity and respect (adult
community inpatients)
Maintain percentage of patients reporting that they
were treated with dignity and respect (adult
community service patients)
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Target achieved
(RAG Rating)
Maintain at
16.28% or below
Maintain at 14.9%
below
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Progress against Quality Priority 3
Despite a high level of uncertainty and change
experienced by our staff through the period of
transformation over the last year, we have
successfully reduced turnover in Adult
services from 16.28% to 15.2%; however the
vacancy rate rose from 14.9% to 15.1%. We
have maintained the provision of high quality
patient services and safe staffing levels in line
with our targets, but the uncertainty has led to
a reduction in the percentage of Trust staff
who would recommend the Trust as a place to
work or receive treatment.
Attraction and Retention of Staff
The Trust had an active programme of staff
recruitment over the last year, running a range
of innovative campaigns including advertising
on the back of buses, at cinemas and on
petrol pumps. Our job opportunities have also
been promoted through a range of job
advertising boards and social media. We ran
open days and have participated in a range of
careers fairs, including those at our local
universities. This has resulted in 555 new staff
being recruited over the course of the year
and a reduction in our overall Trust vacancy
rate to 10.6%.
We have also worked hard to retain our staff
and have worked with staff through the
Nurses Forum and other staff groups to
identify the support staff need to encourage
them want to stay with the Trust. This has
resulted in changes to the Careers Clinics we
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introduced last year, along with a range of
mechanisms to support newly qualified staff.
More information on our nurse retention work
is set out on page 86.
Staff Engagement
We have engaged with staff throughout our
change processes, using our clinical staff to
help co-design new service models and ways
of working. We ran Mastering Change
Workshops for our Adult services staff to help
them understand and deal with change, with
32 Adult services staff participating in the
programme. We also supported their personal
wellbeing with resilience training, which was
attended by 130 staff.
Patient Experience
Throughout 2018/19 we have continued to
seek feedback from our patients to ensure
they are satisfied with the quality of the care
received and that they feel they have been
treated by our staff with dignity and respect.
During the year our patients have continued to
report a positive experience during their
episodes of care, demonstrating that
maintaining safe staffing levels has resulted in
our staff continuing to deliver high quality care
to our patients.
Accountable Committee
Workforce & Organisational Development
(OD) Strategy Group
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An outstanding patient experience
Quality Priority 4
We will increase patient response rates, particularly to the Friends and Family Test
(FFT), to capture wider feedback from patients and improve understanding and
learning from patients’ experience of using HCT services.
Our Aims:
This quality priority aims to increase the volume of feedback from patients about their experience of
using HCT services, and also focuses on different ways of working with patients to improve their
experiences through co-design of our services. This will be achieved by:
• Increasing the overall FFT Trust response rate by working with identified services to improve their
response rates.
• Demonstrating positive changes made in response to all patient feedback received, including
patient stories, FFT, patient surveys, Patient Advice and Liaison Service (PALS) contacts, and
complaints.
• Co-designing a pilot Always Event® with our patients, carers and staff, and evaluating the impact
of this on patient experience.
Baseline
position
(end 2017/18)

Position at end 2018/19

Target
achieved (RAG
Rating)

8%*

8%
Response rate maintained from previous year

10%

Percentage of FFT responses
received in services identified as
having a poor response rate

Data not
previously
collected

• We have worked in partnership with those
services to increase low FFT response rates
via the use of text messaging. Work will
continue in 2019 to further increase the
number of Trust services able to provide their
patients with this alternative method, alongside
traditional paper comment cards/surveys.
• Computer tablets also trialled during the year
in School Nursing and Immunisation services
leading to increased response rates in
2018/19.
• Number of text messaging responses
increased from 45 in 2017/18 to 310 in
2018/19.

10% increase on
baseline

Services demonstrating changes
made in response to patient
feedback – ‘You Said, We Did’
changes to be reported quarterly
by services

Data not
previously
collected

Examples included in quarterly quality reporting

Services
demonstrate
changes made in
response to
patient feedback

Data not
previously
collected

• Progressing well and in line with NHS England
expectations.
• We engaged with staff, patients, their carers
and families to understand what matters most
in end of life care i.e. what should always
happen.
• The SystmOne core assessment now includes
an ‘Always Event’ additional tab and Royston
ICT is acting as pilot team during April 2019 to
use this.
• We will be evaluating the pilot and engaging
with all again in 2019 to understand if this
change has made any difference to reported
patient experience in end of life care.

Patients reporting
an improved
experience as a
result of Always
Event® pilot

Measures we reported to
our Board
Overall percentage of FFT
responses received as a
proportion of the number of
patient contacts with HCT
services

An Always Event®** will be
implemented in one Trust service
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Other measures we used to track progress
In line with new General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) requirements, we will seek to develop alternative
methods for obtaining patient feedback, such as through text messaging.
*Proportion of FFT responses received as a percentage of the number of patients seen in 2018/19
** “Always Events® are aspects of the patient experience that are so important to patients and family members that
health care providers must aim to perform them consistently for every individual, every time.” (NHS England)

Progress against Quality Priority 4
One element of the patient experience quality
priority was to increase the overall FFT
response rate to 10% in comparison to the
overall number of patient contacts. Whilst the
overall FFT response rate this year remained
consistent with the level of responses
received during 2017/18, more services
continued to offer their patients, families and
carers different opportunities to provide FFT
You said
Reception chairs are dated
(St Albans Children’s Centre)
You would like a bigger buggy area (St Albans
Children’s Centre)
You would like a direct contact number in case you
need to get in touch with the consultant (Children’s
OT)
Make more appointments available and shorter waiting
times
(Children’s OT)

feedback, including increased use of text
message feedback, and use of tablets in
Children’s and Young People’s services.
Over 30,000 comments about our services
were received from patients, their families and
carers via comment cards, surveys and
service compliments. The examples below
demonstrate positive changes following
comments received about our services.
We did
All chairs in reception re-covered
A new buggy area was built
Staff reminded to give families the correct contact
details for the named therapist, and this
information was added to the Trust website
Recruitment and restructuring process ongoing
with two locums in post to reduce waiting times.
An increased number of sensory workshops are
being offered to meet current demand

There could be more transparency between
Occupational Therapy, Physiotherapy and Speech and
Language Therapies Services (Children’s OT)

A single patient record is used where appropriate
between the services

You would like a more responsive service (Eye
Service)

Offered a reminder via a text message and
trained reception to be able to book eye
appointments

Always Event® pilot – End of Life Care
In 2018/19 we decided to take a different
approach to understanding how we could
work together with patients, their families and
carers to improve end of life care and
subsequently signed an agreement with NHS
England to participate in an Always Event®.
Using previous end of life care patient survey
data as a baseline, we have been engaging
with patients, their families and carers to
understand what matters most to them and
must be performed consistently for every
individual, every time.
Broad themes from this feedback were similar
to previous PROMs survey results, focusing
on communication and contact details of staff
to discuss concerns and worries. This led to
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the creation of a vision statement for the
Always Event® which is:
‘I will always have an understanding of
why I am being visited, by whom and how I
can contact the service day or night.’
A staff one-page prompt, with information
deemed most important by patients, their
families and carers, is being piloted by staff at
initial assessment visits; further engagement
with patients, their families and/or carers will
be carried out in 2019/20 to understand the
impact this different approach has had on
patient experience for those patients identified
as likely to be in their last year of life.
Accountable Committee
Healthcare Governance Committee
via Patient Safety and Experience Group
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How we performed against national targets
Full year
target

Performance
for 2018/19

Patients waiting seen within 18 weeks (including Consultant and Nonconsultant led services)

92%

94.1%

Retinal Screening - % of diabetic cohort that have been offered an annual
screen

100%

93.2%

Retinal Screening - % of diabetic cohort that have been screened

85%

74.8%

Minor Injuries Unit (Herts & Essex Hospital) - patients seen with 4 hours

95%

99.5%

0

0

100%

100%

Number of avoidable MRSA bacteraemia cases in year for HCT

0

1

Number of Clostridium difficile infection cases occurring post 3 days
following admission into an HCT inpatient ward (i.e. acquired in our facility)*

6

6*

National Indicators

Number of Eliminating Mixed Sex Accommodation (EMSA) breaches
reported in month
Percentage of patients who have had an assessment for Venous
Thromboembolism (VTE) when admitted to an HCT community hospital
ward

*Two cases out of eight cases reported have been successfully appealed at CCG level as no lapses in care
were identified following Root Cause Analysis investigation; two further cases are going to appeal in May 2019
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OTHER AREAS OF QUALITY IMPROVEMENT IN 2018/19
An outstanding patient experience – listening, responding, improving
The Friends and Family Test
Friends and Family Test Scores 2018/19 (%)
Jun
Jul
Aug Sep
Oct Nov Dec Jan

Apr

May

Feb

Mar

HCT FFT Score*

97

97

97

97

97

90

93

96

95

96

95

96

Target

95

95

95

95

95

95

95

95

95

95

95

95

National Average

95

95

95

95

95

95

95

95

95

95

95

95

*The percentage of patients surveyed who would be extremely likely or likely to recommend our
service to friends and family if they needed similar care or treatment

The word cloud below is comprised of words used by patients and carers when completing FFT
comment cards:
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Community Hospital Inpatient Surveys
The following tables show end of year results in five key areas from our Community Hospital
Inpatient Surveys, with comparison to the previous year.
Overall, how would you rate the quality of care received?
Excellent, Very Good or Good
Do you have confidence and trust in the staff treating you?
Yes
Did you feel you were treated with dignity and respect?
Yes
As far as you know, did staff wash their hands between seeing
patients?
Yes
How would you rate the hospital food?
Very Good or Good

2017/18

2018/19

99%

99%

2017/18

2018/19

99%

99%

2017/18

2018/19

99%

99%

2017/18

2018/19

96%

98%

2017/18

2018/19

84%

81%

809 patients completed the Community Hospital Inpatient survey between April 2018 and March 2019

National Institute of Health and Care
Excellence (NICE) – Patient Experience in
Adult NHS Services
NICE Adult Patient Experience Quality
Standards were used to produce a standard
Adult Patient Experience Survey so that

measurement and benchmarking of feedback
could be captured Trust-wide. The following
table shows end of year results in five key
areas from this survey, with comparison to
last year’s results.

Did staff introduce themselves to you and tell you their name?
Yes
Did staff treat you with dignity and respect?
Yes
Did you have as much say as you wanted in decisions about your
care and treatment?
Yes
Did a member of staff talk to you about how you would like
information about you shared with family members and carers?
Yes
Were you made aware of who to contact and how to contact them
about your ongoing healthcare needs?
Yes
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2017/18

2018/19

98%

98%

2017/18

2018/19

99%

99%

2017/18

2018/19

91%

86%

2017/18

2018/19

75%

79%

2017/18

2018/19

90%

92%
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Changes we made in response to patient
feedback
During 2018/19 many of our services have
either introduced, or have helped develop
plans to implement, changes in clinical care
delivery, administration or information as a
direct result of feedback.
These are some examples of changes
made by our services:
• Communication - Following a complaint
regarding the Referral Hub failure to
escalate a call resulting in nonattendance of the community nurse,
changes were implemented. All Referral
Hub staff were reminded of the process
should they receive an urgent call and
the member of staff concerned has
received additional training.
• Communication - Referral Hub staff have
been reminded to screen all referrals that
may be marked urgent in order to identify
patients who require a fast response.
• Date for appointment - As a result of a
complaint regarding the delay in the Skin
Health Service processing an e-referral,

the service is working with SystmOne
and e-referral support teams to review
the process to ensure merging of
referrals across both systems.
• Communication - The Service Manager
has implemented a single focal point for
all communications to be recorded,
inclusive of the ward doctor, following
concerns raised regarding
communication with ward staff at the
Queen Victoria Memorial (QVM) Hospital.
• Communication - Following a complaint
regarding Community Nursing visits not
taking place as scheduled, the Hertsmere
CAHS have now introduced additional
senior nursing supervision in the Potters
Bar neighbourhood team and a clinical
team manager. Additional handovers
have been introduced to ensure effective
communication and that actions are
completed in a timely manner.
• Physiotherapy - As a result of a patient
complaint regarding lack of chairs in the
waiting area, additional chairs were
immediately sourced and added.

Health Visitor,
Breastfeeding Clinic:
Staff always
knowledgeable, friendly,
and listen and helpful
advice given.

Well Baby Clinic:
There could be some
special corner or playpen
for toddlers.

Community Pulmonary
Rehab: A really good
course changing “I can’t”
into “I can”.

Queen Victoria
Memorial Hospital: I
would like to thank
everyone for the help and
kindness they showed to
me.
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Herts & Essex Hospital:
Communication was a
problem around starting
and stopping tablets – it
would differ from one
nurse to another.
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Patient stories
The use of patient stories, alongside other
qualitative patient experience measures,
continues to provide a rich source of
feedback to understand what works well and
what could be better from the patient’s
perspective.
Board Patient Story
A patient attended the Trust Board meeting
in November 2018 to talk about her
experiences with the West Hertfordshire
Early Supported Discharge Team,
accompanied by two members of staff.
A PowerPoint presentation was put together
by the patient and focused on the support
provided by the team to the patient to help
manage her rehabilitation and achieve her
goals.

Rita’s Story
A video about Rita’s story was produced in
her home, highlighting the exceptional level
of support and treatment provided by
Therapies staff from Dacorum Community
Adult Health Services. After being told she
may not walk again following surgery,
Physiotherapy and Occupational Therapy
staff worked alongside Rita and her carer to
enable Rita to walk again using a frame.
The video story was published on the
Trust’s website, YouTube channel and
shared with commissioners. You can watch
Rita’s story in full by accessing this
YouTube clip:
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=6BLpoj3
cMEs&feature=em-share_video_user

Courageous cardiology patient conquers O2 challenge: Jamie’s Story
Jamie is determined to make the most of whatever time he has left, despite being diagnosed with
Heart Failure and told by specialists he had until last summer to live. He receives care and home
visits from the HCT Community Cardiology Team and said: “HCT is absolutely amazing. They’re here
24/7 and they do make life easier. They can’t make you better, but they can help to sort out your
symptoms to give you a better quality of life.”
Jamie is making special memories with his family and raising funds and awareness to this incurable
and life limiting condition often referred to as the “silent killer” disease.
Jamie completed a sponsored challenge in February
2019, climbing over the roof of the O2 arena alongside
HCT’s Clinical and Operational Lead for Community
Cardiology, to raise money for the Pumping Marvellous
Foundation, the UK’s Heart Failure charity dedicated to
help people live better with Heart Failure. There are
almost one million people in the UK living with Heart
Failure and this number is increasing. Heart Failure has
a higher mortality than most cancers and those with
heart failure suffer significant debilitating symptoms.
The climb was tough for Jamie to complete, but he kept going. On reaching the top Jamie said:
“That was probably the hardest thing I’ve done in a long time but I made it and I’m buzzing! Pumping
Marvellous are great, there’s a lot of support there and they’ve helped me a lot. Anything is possible
if you put your mind to it, it doesn’t matter what stands in your way – you can do it. Set yourself
goals and just smash them, it’s great.”
You can read more about Jamie’s story on our website: https://www.hct.nhs.uk/news-and-events/
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Complaints, compliments and Patient Advice and Liaison Service (PALS)
A summary of the complaints, compliments and PALS enquiries received is shown in the table
below:
Complaints

2017/18

2018/19

Total number of complaints

154

160

Complaints per 1000 contacts

0.08

0.09

Referrals to Parliamentary Health Service Ombudsman (PHSO)

1

3

Referrals investigated by PHSO

1

3

Referrals upheld by PHSO following investigation

0

1*

2017/18

2018/19

37
(24%)
15
(10%)
18
(12%)
32
(21%)
35
(23%)
12
(11%)

62
(39%)
25
(16%)
19
(12%)
11
(7%)
9
(6%)
9
(6%)

Patient Advice & Liaison Service

2017/18

2018/19

Total number of enquiries for HCT

575

634

2017/18

2018/19

Information about non-HCT services

175

249

Communication

122

139

Appointment (dates/times)

114

173

Relaying compliments

19

19

2017/18

2018/19

*PHSO investigations – 1 referral not upheld, 1 referral still under investigation
Complaints - top themes identified (percentage of complaints received)
Standards of Care
Staff Attitude
Communication
Date for Appointment
Clinical Treatment
Admissions/transfers/discharge procedure

PALS - top themes identified

Compliments
Total number of compliments received

9647

20662*

Compliments per 1000 contacts

5.5

12.2

* • We have been encouraging staff to record all compliments they receive directly onto Meridian, our
patient survey software, so that we can centrally review and report on these. Patients can now also
record their feedback directly onto Meridian via a web link
• The Patient Experience team has also worked with the software provider so that any comment cards
completed containing a compliment within the free text box are highlighted as positive and can be
reported as a compliment
• During 2018/19 we have been working to increase the overall FFT comment card response rate as part
of quality priority 4 (page 33)
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•
•
•
•

Patient Led Assessments of the Care
Environment (PLACE)
The PLACE programme of visits was carried
out between March and June 2018 and the
following community inpatient units were
assessed:
• Potters Bar Community Hospital
• Danesbury House Neurological
Rehabilitation Unit
• Herts & Essex Hospital

Holywell Neurological Rehabilitation Unit
Langley House Inpatient Unit
Queen Victoria Memorial Hospital
St Peter’s Ward, Hemel Hempstead
Hospital
• Simpson Ward, Hemel Hempstead
Hospital (carried out by West Herts
Hospitals NHS Trust)

PLACE 2018 results
HCT in comparison with 2018 national averages and HCT 2017 results
HCT score –
2018

Domain
Cleanliness
Food/Hydration (ward
assessment and
organisational assessment
combined)
Privacy, Dignity &
Wellbeing
Condition, Appearance &
Maintenance
Dementia
Disability
Key

2018 National
average

Better or
worse than
national
average

HCT score –
2017
comparison

98%

98%

99%

87%

90%

90%

85%

84%

86%

92%

94%

95%

82%

79%

88%

88%

84%

89%

Better

Whilst the overall strong performance of
2017 was not continued in 2018, HCT
performed above, or the same as, the
national average in four of the six
assessment areas. HCT’s Healthcare
Governance Committee and Patient Safety
& Experience Group continued to monitor
the PLACE action plan throughout the year.
Some examples of improvements made
following the assessments are detailed
below:
• In response to assessor comments about
overcooked food, St Peter’s Ward
introduced a new menu and new
methods of heating food.
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Worse

Better or
worse than
HCT 2017

Same

• To meet one element of the dementia
friendly assessment, Herts & Essex
Hospital bed based units now have toilet
signage visible from all areas of the ward.
• Ward name and bay number signage
was improved in Simpson Ward, and
signage is now visible in each bay.
Elimination of Mixed Sex
Accommodation
There were no mixed sex accommodation
breaches within HCT’s community inpatient
units during 2018/19.
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15 Step Challenge – Community Inpatient
Units
A programme of observational visits took
place in our community inpatient units this
year using the nationally recognised 15
Steps Challenge toolkit to better understand
what service users and carers experience
when they first arrive in the bed based units.
The 15 Steps Challenge inpatient toolkit
explores the quality of care under four
categories:
• Welcoming
• Safe
• Caring and Involving
• Well organised and calm
The 15 Steps Challenge team consisted of
the Trust Engagement Manager, Head of
Patient Experience, and Trust Volunteers,
with support from the Clinical Quality Lead
for Nursing. Overall, observations and
patient feedback was positive and areas of
improvement identified were promptly
followed up by Ward Managers to share
learning and act on improvements.
Some examples of the positive feedback
received are below:
• 15 steps challenge team observed caring
interactions between patients and staff in
our community inpatient units. In Herts &
Essex Hospital a member of staff was
observed taking time to talk with a patient
about the menu choice.
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• A patient reported a positive experience
following their first week on St Peter’s
Ward. Staff had kept the patient and their
family fully informed about progress and
possible discharge.
I am very happy with the care on the ward
and feel that patients will be safe, fed and
monitored’
Carer on Simpson Ward

Actions taken
• Patient information boards were updated,
including current Trust management
structures, and Partnership in Care
signage regarding open visiting hours
were amended.
• A patient in isolation reported that no
clock was available in the room and
therefore had no concept of day or time.
The Ward Manager at Queen Victoria
Memorial Hospital immediately arranged
for a clock to be placed in the room.
• Non-essential items not encouraging and
conducive to patient rehabilitation were
removed from St Peter’s Ward.
Feedback from each visit was shared Trustwide at Healthcare Governance Committee
and with staff via Noticeboard, the Trust’s
staff newsletter, to highlight how this
different approach supports triangulation of
information from other sources of feedback
such as PALS, complaints and incidents.
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Equality and diversity - our patients
Interpreting support for patients
HCT recognises its diverse patient
population and is committed to ensuring
effective communication with non-English
speakers, people for whom English is a
second language, and people with a
sensory impairment who require
communication support. Staff who have
patient contact are required to make every
effort to understand the communication
needs of patients. We aim to ensure all
patient information leaflets, booklets and
posters signpost to patient information in
different languages, Braille, large print or an
audio version.
Improving the care of people with
learning disabilities
We are committed to achieving the best
outcomes for people with learning
disabilities by working in partnership with
individuals, their families and carers.
• We train staff on meeting the diverse and
complex needs of people with learning
disabilities. All staff working in our
community inpatient units have received
training to raise awareness of the needs
of patients with learning disabilities. We
have also developed a resource pack
which includes information on how
patients and staff can access specialist
advice from the Hertfordshire County
Council’s (HCC) Learning Disability
Team, to ensure that patients with
learning disabilities admitted to our
community inpatient units receive the
tailored care they need.
• HCT is a key partner in the county-wide
Purple Star strategy, which promotes
equitable health care for people with
learning disabilities. This includes using
the Purple Folder; appointing Learning
Disability Champions, working with the
HCC’s Learning Disability Team and
providing accessible information.
• Special Dental Care and Podiatry
Services continue to promote Purple Star
for high quality care to learning disability
patients. The Leg Ulcer Service was also
proud to announce their success in
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attaining Purple Star accreditation in
March 2019.
• Easy-read Friends and Family Test
comment cards are available for use by
all HCT services to enable patients with
learning disabilities to provide feedback
about the care they have received.
Equality & Community Engagement
Forum
HCT’s Equality & Community Engagement
Forum is where senior leaders meet and
plan service improvements with a wide
range of representatives from Hertfordshire
community organisations. The principle of
community engagement has been an
essential component of HCT’s patient
experience approach and strategy.
Community Forum members include
representatives from the Herts Interfaith
Group, the Deaf community, Gypsy and
Traveller Empowerment Hertfordshire
(GATE), Herts AID (a HIV & Sexual Health
Charity), Carers in Herts, HealthWatch
Hertfordshire, Community Development
Action, and MIND. Forum meetings take
place once every three months chaired by
HCT’s Director of Nursing. Partnership with
grassroots organisations has been central to
the success of the forum to date.
Gypsy and Traveller Empowerment
Hertfordshire
We continue to work with Gypsy and
Traveller Empowerment Hertfordshire
(GATE) on improving the health of Gypsy
and Traveller people. This programme of
work with the Gypsy and Traveller
communities is focused on the
implementation of practical steps to building
community capacity, supporting selfmanagement, and helping people take
control. Examples of the work to date
include a focus on:
• End of Life
• Training for Carers
• Work experience
• Participation in workshops for other
health and social care
• Participation in the first national
conference with a launch in the Houses
of Parliament
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Carers
Carers’ strategy 2018/21
During 2018/19 HCT developed its own
Carers’ Strategy, which aligns with
Hertfordshire County Council’s Carers’
Strategy, to support the delivery of the
agreed objectives for carers across the
system. Two working groups have been
established to lead the implementation of
the action plans both for adults and young
carers. The delivery of the strategy will be
closely monitored through the Patient Safety
& Experience Group and reported to the
Healthcare Governance committee. One of
HCT’s quality priorities for 2019/20 is
focused on identifying carers and ensuring
they are supported and as involved as they
want to be in care; this quality priority also
focusses on identifying and supporting HCT
staff who are carers (page 10).

Hertfordshire, brought together staff from
health and social care and the voluntary
sector. The event provided staff with an
opportunity to network, to learn more about
the support available and hear directly from
carers about their experience.

Health Service Journal award
Hertfordshire and West Essex Sustainability
and Transformation Programme (STP) won
the award for System Led Support for
Carers. They were recognised for
successful interventions that have helped to
create a carer-friendly system. HCT’s
contribution to the award includes
introducing Carers Champions across Adult
and CYP services, referrals to Carers in
Hertfordshire via staff laptops, recording of
carers on SystmOne, and partnership
working to deliver the shared countywide
strategy for carers and ensure consistency
in the information and support for carers.

The approach was initially piloted on
Danesbury and St Peter’s ward and,
following positive feedback from staff and
carers, was rolled out to all the other wards.

Carers Champions
Staff across Adult and CYP services have
volunteered to take on this additional role
which involves directing new staff to online
carers training, advocating for carers,
maintaining display boards, acting as an
information resource for staff and service
users, promoting identification of carers and
referral to Carers in Hertfordshire for
support. The champions have a quarterly
support meeting with visiting speakers,
which has included a carer and a speaker
from the Crossroads charity. The annual
away day for Carers Champions, which was
held in partnership with Carers in
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Partnership in Care
Partnership in Care enables carers to be as
involved as they want to be while the person
they care for is an inpatient in one of HCT’s
community inpatient units. Wards offer open
visiting hours so that carers can offer
support at times that are convenient to
them. This includes helping the person they
care for with their personal care as well as
providing emotional support and familiarity,
which is of particular value to those patients
with neurological impairment.

It has been great to spend time with my husband
while he recovers, me being there has helped his
recovery.
Feedback received from a carer

Always Events®
HCT is part of a national cohort of
organisations that is participating in the
Always Events® programme led by NHS
England. Always Events® are aspects of the
patient experience that are so important to
patients, families and carers that healthcare
providers must aim to perform them
consistently for every individual, every time.
Interviews with carers have been completed
to understand what matters most to carers
whilst the person they care for is in hospital.
Key themes relate to carers being involved,
informed and receiving information about
support available to them. The point of care
team which includes staff and carers are
working together to co-produce the aim
statement, objectives and action plan to
deliver the Always Event®. This work will
continue throughout 2019/20.
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Consistent and improving patient safety – reporting and learning from incidents
and safety alerts
Patient Safety Incidents
During 2018/19 HCT has continued to
readily report patient safety incidents to
promote and embed a culture of identifying
and learning from incidents.
The Risk & Assurance team continues to
conduct a daily review of the previous day’s
incidents to ensure data accuracy, validation
and consistency with the level of harm

definitions as categorised by the National
Reporting and Learning System (NRLS).
This has resulted in more accurate grading
of incidents as demonstrated in the levels of
harm criteria shown in the table below. The
data identifies the number of patient safety
incidents reported on the Datix incident
management system for 2018/19 compared
to 2017/18.

2017/18

2018/19

5159

5234

No harm

2677 (51.8%)

2724 (52%)

Low harm*

2395 (46.4%)

2445 (46.7%)

Moderate harm**

82 (1.6%)

55 (1%)

Severe harm***

5 (0.1%)

8 (0.2%)

0 (0%)

2 (0.04%)

Total number of incidents

Death

Levels of harm as categorised by the NRLS:
*Low harm: Any patient safety incident that required extra observation or minor treatment
and caused minimal harm, to one or more persons receiving NHS-funded care; for example,
minor treatment is defined as first aid, additional therapy, or additional medication. This
does not include any extra stay in hospital.
**Moderate harm: Any patient safety incident that resulted in a moderate increase in
treatment and which caused significant but not permanent harm, to one or more persons
receiving NHS-funded care; for example defined as a return to surgery, unplanned readmission, prolonged episode of care, extra time in hospital, cancellation of treatment or
transfer to another area such as intensive care as a result of the incident.
***Severe harm: Permanent harm and/or permanent lessening of bodily, sensory, motor,
physiological or intellectual functions.

Two deaths occurred in 2018/19 as a result of
patient safety incidents. Both relate to patients
who developed sepsis as a result of an
acquired or deteriorating pressure ulcer. Both
incidents were notified as serious incidents
and were managed through the serious
incident process
The top three reported incident categories
remain the same as those in 2017/18 pressure ulcers, falls and medication
incidents. All incidents continue to be
reviewed monthly by the Trust’s specialist
reviewers to validate the data, ensure actions
are taken and share learning.
The Trust’s Delivering Safer Care Training
programme has been developed and is being
rolled out across all services within the Trust.
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The training aims to support HCT staff to
deliver safer care through:
• Increasing staff awareness of identifying
reportable incidents, knowledge of how to
report an incident, the importance of timely
incident investigations and of taking
appropriate actions to address concerns
identified, learning from incidents and how
incidents can contribute to risk
identification and formulation.
• Embedding lessons learnt into day-to-day
operational practice in order to prevent
incidents and ensure effective delivery of
HCT’s strategic objectives.
• Increasing staff awareness of risk
identification, risk articulation, risk
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management (both positive and negative
risks) and risk register knowledge, as well
as increasing understanding of the
principles of good risk management and
how to incorporate this in safe care
delivery.
Learning from incidents
Organisational learning is discussed at
various forums including monthly Senior
Managers’ Operational Meetings and clinical
team meetings across the Trust.
Examples of learning include:
• Clinical care – a patient in their own home
under the care of a community nursing
team developed a pressure ulcer.
Following investigation, it was identified
that the patient had either not received the
Trust’s pressure ulcer ‘non-concordance’
flyer (developed to provide guidance and
advice to patients about the potential
results of non-compliance with pressure
ulcer management advice) or that the
consequences of non-concordance had
been discussed with them. As a result all
adult community nursing staff now carry a
laminated copy of the flyer to share with
patients and promote pressure ulcer
prevention.
• Medication administration – a member of
staff within a community inpatient unit was
administering a patient prescribed
medication when they noticed the previous
dose had not been signed for on the
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administration chart, resulting in lack of
evidence to support administration of the
medication. Following an investigation the
nurse confirmed the medication had been
given and they had forgotten to sign for it.
There is now a system of checking
medication charts after medication
administration/medication rounds to ensure
that everyone who should have been given
medication has received it and that charts
are signed. This is undertaken by the
nurses in charge of every shift who must
review the medication chart during
handover by the bedside to check if all
medications have been administered and
signed for.
• Patient fall – a patient fell from bed whilst in
a community inpatient unit. The bed had
bed rails in place which were in the upright
position. Following review of the incident it
was found that the initial bed rail risk
assessment had only been partially
completed on admission. The patient was
also confused but there was no evidence to
support the use of bed rails through
completion of a mental capacity
assessment and it was identified that bed
rails should not have been in use.
Following this incident there is now a
system in place where staff complete all
relevant risk assessments as per
guidelines and ensure that mental capacity
assessments are carried out where there is
evidence of reduced or fluctuating capacity.
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Learning from Serious Incidents (SIs)
Criteria within the NHS England Serious
Incident Framework (2015/16) are reflected in
the Trust’s Serious Incident Policy and used

to make decisions about which incidents are
reported and investigated as a serious
incident.

2017/18

2018/19

Number of incidents reported

5159

5234

Number of serious incidents

19

9

0.37%

0.17%

0

0

Serious incidents as a proportion of all incidents
Number of never events reported

Serious incidents reported during 2018/19 listed by category
Number of
SIs 2017/18

Number of
SIs 2018/19

Sub-optimal care of the deteriorating patient meeting SI criteria

0

5*

Slips/trips/falls meeting SI criteria

2

3

Treatment delay meeting SI criteria

1

1

Abuse/alleged abuse of adult patient by staff

9

0

Information governance breach meeting SI criteria

3

0

HCAI/infection control incident meeting SI criteria

2

0

Death in custody (at HMP The Mount)

1

0

Pressure ulcers meeting SI criteria

1

0

Total

19

9

Category of serious incident

*Of the 5 incidents reported regarding ‘suboptimal care’ in 2018/19, 4 related to safeguarding concerns
around the care and management of pressure ulcers and 1 related to safeguarding concerns about the
care and transfer of a patient in an inpatient unit. There were no serious incidents reported using this
category in 2017/18 as similar incidents were reported using the category ‘abuse/alleged abuse of adult
patient by staff’. HCT reviewed how these types of incidents are categorised during 2018/19.

In 2018/19 HCT reported 9 serious incidents
compared to 2017/18, when 19 serious
incidents were reported. Some of the reasons
for fewer serious incidents being reported
during 2018/19 include:

• A recent change to guidance from the
Information Commissioner’s Office has
meant that none of the Information
Governance incidents occurring during
2018/19 met the serious incident criteria.

• During 2018/19 no deaths in custody were
reported, therefore no serious incidents
were reported in this category.

• There were no healthcare acquired
infection outbreaks during 2018/19 and no
other type of infection control incident that
met the serious incident criteria.

• In 2017/18 9 incidents relating to
safeguarding concerns were reported as
serious incidents regardless of the level of
harm caused. In 2018/19 only those
incidents where more significant harm was
caused were reported; a total of 4 during
the year.
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Of the 9 serious incidents reported, 4 were
linked to pressure ulcer development and/or
deterioration, which represents the largest
group of serious incidents. This is likely to be
linked to pressure ulcers being the largest
group of reported patient safety incidents and

Page 47 of 100

the continued robust scrutiny of pressure ulcer
incidents by the Tissue Viability Service Lead.
All falls occurring in our community inpatient
units resulting in severe harm, most
commonly a fracture of the hip, were
assessed using root cause analysis (RCA) to
gather assurance that appropriate care had
been delivered. Where assurance was not
evidenced, a serious incident was then
reported. In 2018/19, 3 falls were reported as
serious incidents, all falls occurred in
community inpatient units.
Local investigations are undertaken for patient
safety incidents which result in significant
harm or where some gaps in expected care
delivery are highlighted but which do not meet
the serious incident criteria. Local
investigation ensures learning can be
identified and actions undertaken to address
any concerns highlighted.

(SLiP), an internal Trust publication for
sharing information.
A SLiP is also developed in response to
themes and trends identified following
investigation of incidents. SLiPs are shared
across the Trust through Noticeboard.
Topics in 2018/19 have included:
• Statutory duty of candour
• Pressure ulcer management and
prevention
• Information Governance
Other actions taken during 2018/19 include:
•

The development and delivery of ‘Patient
Safety, Serious Incidents and
Investigation’ training to clinical leads in
Adult services to support the improvement
in the quality of investigation and report
writing. This will be available to all HCT
staff in 2019/20.

Actions taken to improve patient safety as
a consequence of learning from serious
incidents
The Serious Incident Assurance Panel is the
Trust’s forum where learning from
investigations is considered and where
evidence is gathered to provide assurance
that actions have been implemented and
learning embedded in practice. The panel has
continued to meet during 2018/19.

•

The development of local guidance to
support the safe sharing of information
with external services which has resulted
in no further incidents occurring in the
service involved.

•

A number of investigators have involved
patient’s families in their investigation
leading to improved communication and
understanding of concerns.

After each Serious Incident Assurance Panel
meeting, lessons learned and top tips are
summarised and shared with service
managers via ‘Sharing Lessons in Practice’

•

An education programme is being
developed in conjunction with the patient’s
family based on a case study of a serious
incident relating to the development and
deterioration of a pressure ulcer.
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Medication incidents
During 2018/19 our staff have reported 444
medicines-related incidents, of which 58% (258)
were attributed to care delivered by HCT. The
overall total is an increase of 6.5% compared to
the number of incidents reported during
2017/18. The total number of incidents resulting
in harm increased by 26 reported during
2017/18 to a total of 56 this year, of which 48
was attributable to HCT. In terms of the change
in HCT-attributed harm incidents as a
percentage of harm incidents, we saw an 18%
point increase.
This increase in medication incidents resulting
in harm has been discussed at several levels in
the Trust including within the Pharmacy Team,
at the Medicines Management Forum (chaired
by the Deputy Medical Director) and at the
Patient Safety & Experience Group (chaired by
the Director of Quality/Chief Nurse).
There has been an educational push from the
Pharmacy team to clinical staff on improving the
reporting culture of medication errors and to
allocate harm level more accurately, in line with
the NRLS standards. This is a likely reason
why, overall, there have been more medication
incidents reported and, therefore, a
proportionate increase in the number of
incidents categorised as resulting in harm.
All medicines-related incidents are reviewed by
our Pharmacy team, with the Chief Pharmacist
personally leading on the analysis of medication
incidents from Q2. Almost all incidents are
multi-factorial involving multiple professional
and staffing groups. Therefore, all investigations
have input from these groups to ensure actions
and learning have the appropriate ownership
and buy-in from relevant leads, in order that
actions are successfully implemented.
Analysis of the 48 incidents attributed to HCT
and resulting in harm demonstrated that 46
resulted in low harm. Most of these incidents
are classified as low harm because further
monitoring of the patient was required following
the medication incident.

2 medicines-related incidents attributed to HCT
were classified as resulting in moderate harm;
all of the patients involved made a full recovery
following the incidents. Although none of these
incidents met the criteria for a serious incident
(SI), all were investigated using Root Cause
Analysis (RCA), allowing for a robust
investigation and identification of learning which
was shared across all services.
In 2017/18, insulin-related incidents, in
particular missed-insulin doses due to omitted
visits, were a specific concern. Following the

work and initiatives of the Pharmacy,
Nursing and Operational teams started in
Q2, insulin incidents have fallen by 35%.
There has been a reduction in the number of
insulin-related incidents, both in absolute terms
as well as in relative terms in relation to the total
number of medication incidents. The Chief
Pharmacist continues to lead work to reduce
insulin and other medication errors in the Trust.
Insulin incidents: omitted dose due to missed visits
2018/19
Q1
Q2
Q3
Q4
18
20
9
13

The adult operational services in HCT are
divided into 11 localities; each locality has their
own unique characteristics in terms of
geography, patient demographics and staffing
arrangements. As such, the focus this year has
been to drill down our analysis of medication
incidents to locality level to identify local trends
and issues. This allows a more tailored support
package for each locality, which could be
training for different types of staff or operational
input, for example.
The other focus has been on the quality of
incident reporting and investigation. The Chief
Pharmacist and the Clinical Quality Leads for
Nursing are working with the Risk & Assurance
team to redesign our incident reporting template
on the Datix incident management system to
guide users to more logical and clearer
reporting with a clear focus on identifying root
causes in their investigations. A programme of
training will also accompany these
improvements.

Comparison of Medication incidents
Number of reported patient incidents relating to medicines management
Percentage of medication incidents attributed to HCT that resulted in harm
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2017/18

2018/19

417

444

5.7%

10.8%
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Duty of Candour and Being Open
When a patient is affected by a mistake we
have made, or when something has
happened that was not meant to happen, we
have a duty to:
• Be open and tell our patients
• Explain what has happened and answer
any questions our patients may have
• Say sorry
• Find out what happened
• Work to make sure it does not happen
again

•

During Q2 the ‘Being Open and Duty of
Candour policy’ was added to the Trust’s
‘New Starter Policies’ on the Trust’s
intranet site and specific reference is
made within the Trust corporate induction
programme.

•

During Q2 a duty of candour staff leaflet
was developed and is now available to all
staff via the duty of candour staff intranet
page and at the monthly Trust corporate
induction marketplace.

Our duty becomes a statutory requirement
(statutory duty of candour) when a notifiable
safety incident occurs and the patient suffers
moderate or more severe harm.

•

During Q3 presentations were given at the
CYP Services Quality Forum, the Adult
Clinical Quality Leads Forum and the
Professional Clinical Leaders Group to
raise awareness.

During 2018/19 we have promoted and
embedded duty of candour through a number
of actions including:
•

Throughout the year information has been
shared regularly via Noticeboard,
including good practice examples and
information about being open and the duty
of candour.

The work to embed duty of candour has been
effective. There has been a steady
improvement in identifying those incidents
where statutory duty of candour applies and
ensuring that appropriate and timely actions
are taken.

What is a ‘notifiable safety incident’?
Any unintended or unexpected event that occurred in respect of a service user during the
provision of a regulated activity that, in the reasonable opinion of a health care professional,
could result in, or appears to have resulted in:
a) The death of the service user, where the death relates directly to the incident rather than
to the natural course of the service user’s illness or underlying condition, or
b) Severe harm, moderate harm or prolonged psychological harm to the service user
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Central Alerting System (CAS) alerts
During 2018/19 there have been a total of 104
Central Alerting System (CAS) alerts issued; 28
were applicable to HCT.
Of the 28 applicable CAS alerts, 22 have been
completed within the timescale set and 6
remain open with actions ongoing.
A breakdown of the type of CAS alerts issued
can be seen in the table opposite.
Audit of the CAS alert process
During Q4 of 2018/19, members of the Risk &
Clinical Effectiveness team undertook an audit
of the CAS alert to demonstrate the
robustness of the process and whether CAS
alert actions have been embedded in
services. Four alerts were audited across ten
services; this represents 16% of services for
whom the alerts are applicable. Of those,
audit demonstrated that eight services had

Type of alert
Medical Devices
Estates and Facilities
Drug Alerts
Patient Safety Alerts
Chief Medical Officer Alerts
Central Alerting Helpdesk Team
Total

Number
44
23
23
9
4
1
104

evidence that actions had been carried out
within the given timeframe; the remaining two
services provided verbal assurance.
Audit of the CAS alert process will continue
throughout 2019/20, and any actions for
services arising from these audits will be
included in locally-owned action plans
developed as part of the Continuous Quality
Improvement programme (page 21).

Rate of patient safety incidents
2017/18
2018/19
Number
Rate**
Number
Rate**
5159*
77.96*
5234
84
*These figures have been amended from those reported in the HCT’s
Quality Account 2016/17, following data validation at year end in 2017/18
**Rate of patient safety incidents per 1000 occupied bed days
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Consistent and improving patient safety – delivering safer care
Delivering Harm Free Care
The NHS Safety Thermometer is a point-ofcare survey used by frontline staff, which
provides a comparative ‘temperature check’
through recording the presence or absence of
the following four harms:
• Pressure ulcers
• Falls
• Catheter-associated urinary tract infections
(CAUTI)
• Venous thromboembolism (VTE)

Harm free care
New pressure ulcers
Falls with harm
New CAUTIs
New VTEs (community inpatients only)

Harm free care can be defined as the absence
of any of these four harms.
What did our Safety Thermometer results
tell us?
During 2018/19 we surveyed 13189 patients.
The results are shown in the table below.

HCT Average
2017/18
97.61%
1.02%
0.68%
0.60%
0.15%

Improving our data validation
Throughout the year, Safety Thermometer
data has been subject to a higher level of
scrutiny, with ‘check and challenge’ being
undertaken by team and ward managers to
ensure that:
• An episode of harm is only recorded for a
patient who was on the Integrated
Community team (ICT) caseload when the
harm occurred
• All harms documented are accurately
recorded as ‘new’ or ‘old’ in line with Safety
Thermometer criteria
• The correct level of harm, including ‘no
harm’, is recorded for patient falls.
During Q1 it was identified that the number of
patients surveyed in community teams did not
correlate with the number of patient contacts
on the day of the survey. It was also identified
that some staff were not always aware of the
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HCT Average
2018/19
97.88%
1.13%
0.59%
0.4%
0.04%

National Average
2018/19
97.88%
0.93%
0.50%
0.27%
0.79%

criteria for reporting harms.
In order to address these concerns a podcast
was recorded for staff outlining the purpose of
the Safety Thermometer - which patients
should be included, information about the
different harms and the reporting criteria for
each harm. This podcast was circulated to
teams to use as part of their team meetings,
and the number of patients surveyed
continued to be monitored throughout the
year, with an increase in numbers by the end
of the year.
During Q4 HCT’s Risk team began correlating
any inpatient falls resulting in harm reported
via the Safety Thermometer with incidents
reported on the Datix incident management
system. This has helped to provide additional
assurance regarding the accuracy of the
information collected using the Safety
Thermometer.
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Pressure ulcers
There has been an increase in the number of
avoidable category 2, 3, 4 and unstageable
pressure ulcers being reported during
2018/19. In order for pressure ulcers to be
properly staged, the base of the ulcer needs
to be visible – an unstageable pressure ulcer
is one where the base of the ulcer not visible
as it is covered with dead skin. The high level
of scrutiny given to pressure ulcer incidents by
the Tissue Viability Services Lead has
continued. In order to allow time for more

thorough scrutiny, investigation and learning
pressure ulcer incidents are now reported in
the following month. This is particularly
relevant for pressure ulcers categorised as
deep tissue injury as it allows time for their
evolution and inclusion in the reports if
appropriate. As such, there are more pressure
ulcer incidents being captured and reported
as avoidable in the IBPR. On average 40% of
all pressure ulcer incidents reported via Datix
are acquired in HCT care, and 60% were
present on referral to our services.
84

45

41

36
30
24

Number of avoidable
category 3 or 4 pressure
ulcers acquired in HCT
care

29

26

Number of avoidable
category 2 pressure
ulcers acquired in HCT
care

16
4

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

2017/18

2018/19*

*Does not include March 2019 data

During 2018/19 the focus has remained on
continued reduction in the number of acquired
pressure ulcers by:
• Understanding and communicating themes
from investigations,
• The Tissue Viability Lead and SI Manager
have attended integrated community team
bases to undertake reflective case reviews
to understand why actions deemed to be
associated with the prevention of pressure
ulcers had not been undertaken, how the
incident was identified as avoidable and
agree the support staff need to deliver high
standards of care. This has highlighted
some additional operational and patientcentred themes.

− Added a process for deferrals of visits to
ensure patients are prioritised the next
day
− Timely investigation of pressure ulcer
incidents undertaken by the Deputy
Locality Manager
• Partnership working with Hertfordshire
Care Providers Association has continued
with 28 days of training being delivered for
the development of residential home,
nursing home and home care champions
between April 2018 and February 2019.
• The Pressure Ulcer/Tissue Viability Forum
continues to meet and discuss actions to
maintain the focus on pressure ulcer
prevention.

Examples of good practice have also been
identified, for instance in one locality they
have:
− Provided weekly SystmOne drop in
sessions to support knowledge of using
templates and questionnaires
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Long-term analysis of pressure ulcer data
Monitoring pressure ulcer numbers on a
month-by-month basis can lend itself to false
interpretation of improvement or deterioration.
Numbers can fluctuate widely according to the
time of year.

consistent with expected fluctuations. This is
also true for the numbers of pressure ulcers
acquired by patients whilst receiving HCT
care. However, the numbers of patients being
admitted into our care with an existing
pressure ulcer has seen a trend increase.

Statistical Process Control charts allow us to
gauge any trends we may be experiencing in
pressure ulcer incidents over time. Monitoring
numbers in this way highlights that overall the
total number of pressure ulcers reported via
Datix by HCT staff has remained fairly

An example of a Statistical Process Control
chart can be seen below – this demonstrates
the total number of pressure ulcers reported
by HCT between April 2016 and December
2018.

Carer knowledge
81% of the patients who developed pressure ulcers
deemed to be avoidable were receiving social care
either in their own home or in a residential home.
This has highlighted the need for carer training on
pressure ulcer prevention and early recognition of
skin damage.
The community Tissue Viability team is an
extremely limited resource and as such struggles to
provide education widely and outside of HCT.
‘React to Red’ Skin pressure ulcer awareness
training programme has been planned during
the year with the aim of targeting those carer
provider organisations linked more frequently
to pressure ulcer incidents. This has been
funded by a commercial wound care company
and organised with some partnership
collaboration from Hertfordshire Care
Providers Association (HCPA) and the CCGs.
The programme launched in November 2018
and has more dates planned until May 2019.
Whilst we may see an initial increase in
numbers of pressure ulcers reported as
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carers’ knowledge improves and they report
damage earlier, we will also have an
opportunity to measure an improvement in
care delivered, which should result in a
reduction in the numbers of pressure ulcers in
the long term.
PURPOSE T launch
A review of the Waterlow score as the main
pressure ulcer risk assessment tool found that
results were wildly different. In addition, it was
not being completed or there was an
unacceptable delay in completion. The
Pressure Ulcer Forum explored the alternative
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risk assessment tool PURPOSE T and agreed
to pilot it in two ICTs. Following this pilot it
was agreed that the organisation would switch
to using PURPOSE T for its community adults
population. A programme of training was
delivered between September and November
to all integrated teams, and a video has been
produced for staff to watch how to complete
the PURPOSE T questionnaire. The
implementation of the PURPOSE T tool has
led to an increase in the number of patients
having a pressure ulcer risk assessment
completed and documented.

• Continue to provide training on ‘React to
Red’ skin pressure ulcer awareness for
home care providers and residential care
home staff until May 2019.
• Continue to monitor the incidents reported
for patients receiving home care or residing
in a care home.
• Continue to monitor the use of PURPOSE
T.

Moving forward we will:

• Plan to employ a Pressure Ulcer Clinical
Lead nurse and a practice development in
Tissue Viability Lead nurse.

• Implement the new NHS Improvement
guidelines for reporting pressure ulcers and
develop our monitoring systems to ensure
we can use the information to continue to
learn and improve care.

• Bid for funding for lateral tilting devices to
assist those patients being cared for in
their own home who cannot reposition
frequently enough to prevent pressure
ulcers.

• Continue to work in partnership with HCPA
to deliver education to home care provider
and residential care home staff.

HCT’s Tissue Viability mascot, Purple Patty, attending a team discussion about pressure ulcers

Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust Quality Account 2018/19

Page 55 of 100

Falls
During 2018/19 a total of 343 falls-related
incidents within our community inpatient units
have been reported. The number of patients
falling resulting in injury classified as low or
moderate harm is 89. There have been 7
incidents resulting in severe harm, 6 due to
fractured neck of femur and 1 due to periprosthetic fracture of the distal left femur.
We have also been monitoring the number of
inpatient falls per 1000 Occupied Bed Days
(OBD), which is recognised as being a more
sensitive tool when comparing falls rates.
This has shown that between September
2018 and February 2019 HCT reported an
average of 5.6 falls per 1000 OBD against the
national benchmark of 7.74 falls per 1000
OBD. During the same period of time, HCT
reported 0.20 injurious falls per 1000 OBD
compared to the national benchmark of 2.07
injurious falls per 1000 OBD.
During 2018/19 we have maintained our
focus on falls prevention in our community
inpatient units by:

Resulting in no harm
Resulting in low harm
Resulting in moderate harm
Resulting in severe harm
Total

• Updating our impatient falls policy and
procedures to align with NICE guidance
and best practice.
• Implementing lying/standing blood
pressure assessment on admission to help
identify patients at high risk of postural
hypotension.
• Providing our Falls Champions with
additional training and education to
support them in their role.
• Registering for the 2018/19 National Audit
of Inpatient Falls, the initial part of the audit
running from January to June 2019 will
focus on patients who sustain a hip
fracture whilst an inpatient.
During 2019/20 we will continue to embed
recommendations from the National Audit of
Inpatient Falls and ensure that the
assessment of lying/standing blood pressure
becomes standardised practice.

• Undertaking quarterly focussed falls
assessment compliance audits and
sharing the results with our inpatient unit
staff.
Comparison of falls incidents

• Reviewing all reported inpatient falls
incidents. This is carried out by our Trust
Falls Lead who liaises with unit staff as
required.

2017/18

2018/19

273
123
10
4

247
85
4
7

410

343
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Consistent and improving patient safety – putting patient safety first
Safe staffing in our inpatient wards
In line with NHS England guidance, HCT has
continued to report monthly on the planned
and actual staffing levels of Registered
Nurses and Healthcare Assistants working in
our inpatient wards. Data is submitted to NHS
Improvement, and is published on the NHS
Choices and HCT websites for the public to
view.
There is no nationally agreed Red/Amber/
Green (RAG) rating to determine safe staffing
thresholds for nursing; however, NHS
England has applied a threshold where
organisations declaring less than 80% fill
rates for Registered Nurses will be subject to
additional scrutiny, as this level of nursing
staff would be determined as unsafe.
HCT undertakes further internal validation of
all inpatient wards where staffing levels are
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below 80% or above 110% of planned staffing
levels.
Staffing levels are reported monthly to HCT
Board. Scrutiny of inpatient wards that have
fallen below the Trust safe staffing levels
takes place to ensure patient care was not
compromised.
HCT has a robust system in place which
monitors staffing levels of Registered Nurses
and Healthcare Assistants on all inpatient
wards each day. This is supported by the Safe
Staffing Reporting and Escalation Standard
Operating Procedure, confirming minimum
staffing levels and escalation procedures to
senior managers if agreed ratios cannot be
achieved. In addition to this, episodes of low
staffing levels requiring mitigating action are
reported via Datix, our incident management
system, to ensure accurate monitoring.
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Clinical Policies and Standard Operating
Procedures (SOPs)
HCT has 78 clinical policies in place to
ensure staff have consistent, evidence-based
guidance and processes to follow, meaning
that patients receive safe, clinically effective,
high quality care. Our clinical policies provide
guidance on all aspects of clinical care,
including infection prevention and control,
medicines and medicines safety,
safeguarding, NICE guidance
implementation, falls and pressure ulcer
prevention, and medical devices. We also
have policies in place which ensure our staff
remain safe, including guidance on
immunisation requirements and managing
sharps injuries.
HCT currently has 100 clinical and nonclinical SOPs which provide staff with specific
instructions relating to various processes. In
order to ensure robust governance on the
management of SOPs, we have developed a
detailed step-by-step SOP management
process flowchart, outlining the processes for
approval, consultation, designated approval
committees and wider dissemination of
SOPs.

in Noticeboard, and disseminated widely
through Clinical Matters (the Trust’s
newsletter for clinical), and both newsletters
for Adult and CYP services.
Medical Devices
The Medical Devices team is responsible for
ensuring the safe use and management of all
reusable medical devices within HCT in line
with legislation and guidance from CQC and
the Medicines and Healthcare Products
Regulatory Agency (MHRA).
HCT currently owns approximately 9400
medical devices, which is an increase of 10%
compared with 2017/18. These devices have
an estimated replacement cost of over £4m
and range in complexity from x-ray systems
and infusion devices to blood pressure
machines and thermometers.
In order to comply with legislation and national
guidance the Trust:
• Maintains an accurate database of medical
devices, including maintenance history.
• Ensures staff are trained and competent to
use medical devices within their role.

All our clinical policies and SOPs have a
review timescale to ensure they align with the
most up-to-date information and guidance.
The Trust’s Policy Manager monitors all
polices and SOPs, and works alongside
policy and SOP authors to ensure timely
review is undertaken. Progress and update
around policy and SOP review is presented
and noted at HCT’s Clinical Effectiveness
Group, Healthcare Governance Committee
and Operational Senior Management Team
meeting, with exception reports being
provided where policy review has been
delayed.

• Robustly manages the purchase,
acceptance, maintenance and disposal of
medical devices.

By March 2019, 83% of our clinical policies
had been reviewed within their timescales.
Where policy review has been delayed,
associated risks as a result of the delay have
been assessed and plans with agreed
timescales for review put in place.

• Detailed monthly reporting on maintenance
compliance for all HCT services.

Once clinical policies and SOPs have been
reviewed and approved through the Trust’s
governance process, they are made available
to staff on the staff intranet and are publicised

• Implementing a loan equipment service
enabling continued care for patients when
medical devices are being serviced.
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• Accurately reports on medical device
compliance and management KPIs.
• Monitors the Trust-wide use and
governance of medical devices via the
Medical Devices Advisory Forum (MDAF).
Following the CQC inspection undertaken in
September 2018 a number of improvements
to the management of medical devices have
been implemented, including:

• Implementing text SMS messages to staff
when maintenance of their medical device
is due.
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The Medical Devices team has achieved the
following improvements during 2018/19:
• Increased maintenance compliance of high
risk devices from 90% to 96%.
• Implemented a Trust-wide roll out of the
walking aid recycling project, resulting in
over 1500 recycled walking aids being reissued with a replacement value of £28k.
This generated savings of approximately
£14k for HCT.
• Purchased and managed £450k of new
medical devices to replace existing
equipment and improve clinical services.
• Further developed our in-house
maintenance strategy to improve the
quality, efficiency and of maintenance of
Trust medical devices.
• Completed a Trust-wide patient bed
replacement programme ensuring all
hospital beds are now safe, reliable and
standardised to a single model.

Just wanted to drop you a line to say how much we
appreciate the recycled walking aids you sent
through to us. Especially at this time of winter
pressures, having additional stock has helped us
ensure we are able to give walking aids to all the
acute inpatients that require them.
Therapy Team Lead
West Hertfordshire Hospitals NHS Trust
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A very big thank you for the urgent loan of the blood
pressure monitors, Oximeters and cuffs. You and
your team responded quickly to our needs and
enabled us to run our service safely following the
decommissioning of some of our equipment.
Team Lead
Cardiac Rehabilitation, HCT

Future improvements planned
In order to build on the progress made to
date, the following areas have been identified
as key priorities for 2019/20:
• Pilot direct hire of a van and driver to
provide improved response to requests for
equipment from the equipment library, for
servicing and repairs to medical devices
and to facilitate the recycling of walking
aids.
• Focussed work to increase compliance
rates of annual equipment servicing to
ensure equipment is safe and maintained
effectively.
• Introduce a registered Quality Management
System (QMS) to monitor and continually
improve the quality of service provided by
the Medical Devices team.

Page 59 of 100

Consistent and improving patient safety – infection prevention and control
Sustaining improvements in infection
prevention and control standards has
remained a Trust priority for 2018/19. Our
staff know they have an individual
responsibility to ensure they provide a safe
and responsive service to our patients and
service users, whether care is provided in
clinics, community inpatient units or in the
patient’s home. Our Infection Prevention and
Control (IPC) team has supported our staff by
providing them with evidence-based policies
and procedures, surveillance of healthcare
associated infections, real-time data and
analysis, and open access to their clinical
advice and expertise.

IPC team to keep them up-to-date with
lessons learned from RCA, new local
clinical tools and to celebrate best practice.
• The IPC team worked collaboratively with
the Estates & Facilities team to re-establish
the Trust’s Water Safety Group.

Our achievements for 2018/19 include:

• Patient experience survey data showed
that 93% of our patients reported that they
felt the hospital room or ward they were in
was very clean and 7% fairly clean. We
continue to monitor the standards of
cleaning in our community inpatient units,
working with Estates & Facilities managers,
contractors and Ward Managers to improve
standards.

• Low rates of healthcare associated
infections in the community inpatient units.

Community inpatient unit winter preparedness
workshop

• 99% of patients admitted to the community
inpatient units were screened for MRSA on
admission. The Trust performance target is
95% and the Trust has reported monthly
compliance with this target throughout the
year.
• Development and implementation of a
gram-negative blood stream infection
(Escherichia coli) reduction action plan,
and partnership working across the local
health economy to reduce urinary tract
infections and improve the management of
urinary catheters.
• Successful implementation of the
Clostridium difficile infection Root Cause
Analysis (RCA) action plan assurance,
where the Datix incident management
system is used to manage identified
actions and to upload evidence which
supports completion of actions.
• The launch of the winter preparedness
annual workshop for community inpatient
Ward Managers.
• Implementation of the Trust IPC monthly
update and topic of the month newsletter.
This ensures that our staff continue to
receive timely communications from the
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Hand Hygiene
Staff in our community inpatient units,
community teams and other services such as
Health Visiting, Dental, Rapid Assessment
Unit, and Minor Injuries Unit maintained their
high standards in hand hygiene, scoring
consistently above our target of 95% when
audited. The IPC team ran hand hygiene road
shows and introduced peer review hand
hygiene audits to increase engagement and
compliance with best practice.
Of the patients who gave us feedback in
2018/19, 96% told us that the staff washed or
cleaned their hands between patients.
Clostridium difficile infections
During 2018/19 HCT reported 8 cases of
laboratory confirmed Clostridium difficile
infection (CDI) cases. All cases of CDI are
subject to a multi-disciplinary RCA process,
where patient care is reviewed. Two cases
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have successfully been appealed as no lapse
in care was identified on RCA, and a further
two cases are pending appeal in May 2019.
RCA investigations identified good practice
and areas for improvement, which were fed
back to clinical staff across the organisation.
Good practice and learning identified from
RCA meetings includes:

Throughout 2018/19, the IPC team continued
to support clinical staff to reduce lapses in
care, with targeted actions reflecting the
learning from RCA being included in the CDI
action plan and the IPC annual work
programme. Progress against the annual work
programme will be monitored through the
Infection Prevention & Control Forum.
Online questionnaires on the management of
patients diagnosed with Clostridium difficile
infection have been issued to staff in
community inpatient units in February 2019.
The responses demonstrated the following:

• Good practice:
− Prompt initiation of treatment
− Prompt discussion with out of hours
doctor
− Appropriate cleaning of vacated bed
spaces
• Areas for improvement:
− Improved infection prevention and
control mandatory training uptake
− Stool risk assessments using the stool
algorithm
− Insufficient information in transfer
documentation from discharging
hospitals

• 100% of staff are aware of the main
symptoms of Clostridium difficile infection
• 100% of staff are aware of the escalation
process for patients with increased
frequency of loose stool
• 100% of staff are aware of the correct use
of personal protective equipment when
caring for CDI patients
Targeted teaching will be provided on the
management of patients colonised with
Clostridium difficile during 2019/20.

Clostridium difficile infection cases – 2018/19 compared to 2017/18 and 2016/17
Apr

May

Jun

Jul

Aug

Sep

Oct

Nov

Dec

Jan

2-18/19
1
0
1
0
0
1
2
0
0
1
2017/18
0
1
2
0
0
1
0
2
1
1
2016/17
1
0
0
0
0
1
0
0
1
0
*Two further cases are pending appeal with the CCG at the time of this report

Meticillin Resistant Staphylococcus
Aureus (MRSA) bloodstream infections
During 2018/19, 1 MRSA blood stream
infection was notified from a patient admitted
to an acute Trust emergency department from
Simpson Ward. This is a pre-48 hour sample,
therefore preliminarily counted as an HCT
case. A system-wide post-infection review
meeting will be held in May 2019 to identify
areas of learning.
Escherichia coli bloodstream infections
During 2018/19 no cases of E.coli
bloodstream infections were reported. The
Trust is involved in the Hertfordshire-wide
health economy workstreams focussed on
achieving the NHS Improvement ambition of
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Feb

Mar

Total

2
1
1

0
1
1

8
10
5

Total reported
following appeal
6*
3
3

reducing Gram-negative Blood Stream
Infections (GNBSI) by 50% by 2020.
Outbreaks
There have been no seasonally associated
outbreaks reported in 2018/19.
Infection Prevention and Control Link
Professional Network
Infection Prevention and Control Link
Practitioners are a valued group of staff from
community inpatient units, Adult, Children’s
and Specialist services. In conjunction with
the IPC team they act as role models and
local leaders and are a visible advocate for
infection prevention and control. They
disseminate information within their teams
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and services and participate in activities
associated with supporting key IPC
programmes such as the annual World Health
Organisation (WHO) hand hygiene awareness
day. They actively participate in quarterly

meetings and take turns in presenting
‘infection prevention and control in my
service’.

Consistent and improving patient safety – safeguarding people at risk
Safeguarding Adults
During 2018/19 the Safeguarding Adults
service focussed on joint working with partner
agencies by:
• Developing an improved interface with the
local authority which ensures a timely and
consistent response to safeguarding
concerns using the Safeguarding Adults
team as the main point of contact.
Safeguarding adults
concerns raised

• Strengthening HCT’s commitment to the
Hertfordshire Modern Slavery Partnership
and attendance at the Health subgroup,
leading to attendance at a celebration
event at the Houses of Parliament in
October 2018.
Safeguarding Team Activity
The Trust continues to demonstrate
awareness of safeguarding concerns as
evidenced in the table below:

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

2017/18

2018/19

159

202

312

471

505

656

There has been a 30% increase in
safeguarding concerns raised as all
safeguarding requests from social care are
directed through the Safeguarding Adults
team. This means that HCT frontline staff are
not answering additional calls or requests for
information from multiple sources. The
Safeguarding team ensures that HCT is

compliant with both the revised General Data
Protection Regulation (GDPR) and the
Hertfordshire Safeguarding Adults Board
(HSAB) Information Sharing Agreement and
that information is provided promptly and to a
high standard. Monitoring the outcomes of the
Safeguarding concerns means that learning
can be disseminated to Trust staff.

Training
The contracted target for training has been achieved in 2018/19:
Training topic
Safeguarding Adults training level 1
Safeguarding Adults training level 2
Mental Capacity Assessment training
Prevent training

Average
83%*
96%
96%
94%

Trust target
95%
95%
95%
85%

*The Trust was compliant with the Trust target of 95% for safeguarding Adults training level 1 during Q1, Q2 and Q3 in
2018/19, with an average of 97% training compliance across the three quarters. During Q4 HCT’s corporate staff were
aligned with the new Safeguarding Adults Intercollegiate Document which moved them from requiring ‘once only’ training
to requiring a refresher training session every three years. This resulted in a drop in the number of staff who had
completed their Safeguarding Adults training level 1 in Q4 to 41.25%. Additional training sessions are planned for Q1
2019/20 in order to bring training levels back up to the target 95%.

Due to increased staff awareness and
referrals for Safeguarding, the training for
Safeguarding, Mental Capacity and
Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) was
changed from annual to every two years in
2018/19. As part of this change, an audit was
carried out via the Safeguarding Adults
Champions to ensure clinical staff knowledge
remains consistent. This will be repeated in
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April 2019 utilising an online audit system. A
community inpatient unit audit was completed
in November 2018 showing good overall
compliance and knowledge of ward staff.
We have strengthened the links between the
Safeguarding Adults and Children’s teams by
reviewing the joint policies for Domestic
Abuse, Not Brought In and Chaperone Policy
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this year, as well as having regular meetings
and planning changes to the joint
Safeguarding Induction training for 2019/20.
Recognising domestic abuse remains a
priority area within the Trust for staff working
with adults. An Independent Domestic Abuse
Advisor is now working with the Safeguarding
Adults team for one day per week and is
available for staff to contact for advice, as well
as providing higher level training about
Domestic Abuse at team level.
The Trust has maintained its good relationship
within the multi-agency forum by participating
in the HSAB and its subgroups. There has
been one Safeguarding Adult Review (SAR)
this year requiring an Internal Management
Review by HCT and attendance at a Learning
Event. One Partnership Review was
completed as a table-top exercise. The care
provided by HCT was commended by the
Chair of the HSAB as well as being
highlighted within the HSAB Winter Bulletin.
There have been six Domestic Homicide
Reviews (DHRs) in Hertfordshire and the
Trust has participated in all of them as panel
members.
Learning from a serious incident has resulted
in the implementation of a programme of
Learning Disability awareness training in
2017/18 and this has continued in 2018/19.
This training has been provided to the Trust’s
community inpatient unit staff by the Trust’s
Safeguarding Adults team and specialist staff
from HCC’s Adult Disability service.
Staff continue to receive regular
communications from the Safeguarding Adults
team to keep them up-to-date with:
• Lessons learned from safeguarding adults
or MCA concerns
• New legislation or guidance
• An article in Clinical Matters
• Regular inserts in Trust-wide electronic
communications and information via their
Safeguarding and MCA Champions
The Trust’s Safeguarding and MCA
champions receive an annual update which
this year included a speaker from the Drug
and Alcohol Service and a session on
Safeguarding Children
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Advance Decisions. The Champions received
targeted, specialist supervision in Q1. 10 new
Champions were trained in a whole day
session in January 2019. The publication of
the Safeguarding Adults Intercollegiate
Document has prompted an initial review of
the Champions training to ensure compliance
at Level 3 and this will be extended to Levels
1 and 2 for roll out in April 2019.
In November 2018 the CQC undertook it’s
Well-Led inspection of HCT, and the Named
Nurse for Safeguarding Adults received
positive feedback following this.
The Safeguarding Adults team has been on
the risk register this year due to staffing
concerns and planned sickness absence of
the Named Nurse. This was mitigated with the
appointment of an Interim Safeguarding
Adults Specialist Nurse in May 2018 and an
Interim Named Nurse for Safeguarding in
December 2018 to provide cover. The team
ends 2018/19 with two clinicians and two
administrators in post.
Mental Capacity Act (MCA) and
Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS)
The multi-agency MCA assessment
documentation has been agreed across
Hertfordshire and has been embedded by the
Trust. Staff are now using the SystmOne
template to record Mental Capacity
Assessments and Best Interests Decisions.
Staff are now also requesting copies of
Lasting Power of Attorney documentation and
uploading these in the patient’s record. There
will be formal auditing of this in 2019/20.
There has been one Court of Protection
request for HCT involvement relating to a
Deprivation of Liberty which has been
responded to professionally and within
timescales.
The Safeguarding Adults team is monitoring
the national changes to the DoLS process
which will be known as the Liberty Protection
Safeguards and are part of a HSAB subgroup
which will meet to develop the process across
all agencies.

At the end of 2018/19, 497 children in
Hertfordshire were subject to a Child
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Protection (CP) plan; this has decreased
slightly compared to the 548 children subject
to a CP plan as reported in March 2017/18.
The Child In Need (CIN) process is put into
place when children are identified as needing
support under Section 17 of the Children Act
1989. The CIN process allows families to
have informative multi-agency support in
partnership with parents/carers and requires
Public Health Nurses to see children (under
the age of 5 years old) every six to twelve
weeks, as well as attending CIN meetings as
part of the multi-agency approach to
safeguard and making positive outcomes for
children. The CIN process is used in the
stepping down from child protection or the
stepping up from Children’s Universal
services when additional support is identified.

referral as a means of evidencing concerns.
Any referral not progressed by Children’s
Services is scrutinised by the Safeguarding
Children team to ensure it clearly articulates
the risk to the child; although we are aware
that the percentage numbers remain low. Any
concerns are escalated in a timely way in line
with HCT policy; further work is planned to
review liaison between Safeguarding and
Public Health Nurses and this will continue to
be monitored.

There is an increasing number of children who
were commenced on a CIN plan; at the end of
2018/19 2501 children in Hertfordshire had a
CIN plan in place.

Section 11 Audit in Hertfordshire
Hertfordshire’s Clinical Commissioning
Groups (CCGs) undertake an annual Section
11 Audit to monitor the strength of
safeguarding children services against:
• Arrangements to safeguarding children
under Section 11 of the Children Act 2004
• Compliance to Working Together to
Safeguard Children 2018
• Hertfordshire Safeguarding Children
Partnership (HSCP) Policies and
Procedures

In 2018, HCT’s Safeguarding Children team
made the decision to undertake a SystmOne
transformation to ensure that all children on a
CIN plan pathway had an activated icon on
their health records located under their
demographics for easy identification of their
vulnerability and to improve reporting.

The action plan resulting from the 30 January
2018 Section 11 Audit was completed with the
appropriate evidence in readiness for the
2019 Audit. The Section 11 self-assessment
tool for 2019 has been completed and sent to
the CCG in readiness for the Section 11 visit
scheduled for 15 July 2019.

HCT’s Health Visitors and School Nurses
have been committed to their child protection
responsibilities in providing reports when
required and attending Initial Child Protection
Conferences. Compliance with this
responsibility is above the 95% compliance
target and exception reports provide valid
reasons for any non-attendance.

Safeguarding Children mandatory training
The Safeguarding Children training strategy
outlines the level of training required for
specific roles undertaken within HCT. This
ensures that HCT practitioners who have
contact with children and their families are
equipped with the skills they need to
safeguard children. Safeguarding Children
annual training (levels 1 to 4) compliance
within HCT is 94% for 2018/19.

During 2018/19, the Trust referred 248
families to HCC’s Children’s Services as the
referring practitioner felt the children involved
were at risk of significant harm without the
intervention of additional services. This is a
decrease compared to the 257 families
referred to Children’s Services in 2017/18.
The Safeguarding Children team continues to
monitor referrals made due to concerns
around neglect, and to identify whether the
use of the Graded Care Profile (GCP)
assessment tool had been considered prior to
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During Q2 in 2018, following the transfer to
My Learning Zone, compliance with training
dropped significantly due to a change in the
parameters set for training. This was
predicted and therefore our commissioners
were forewarned that there would a potential
drop with a strategy in place to monitor and
notify employees to book on training in
advance of their expiry date. Ongoing
monitoring continues by the Safeguarding
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Children team and the training compliance is
slowly improving.
Following changes in the My Learning Zone
platform, it has become apparent that there
are staff on the incorrect pathways to their
roles and responsibilities and the
Safeguarding Children team are manually
working through the data base to reflect
accurate data reporting. Since February 2019,

our HR team has offered support in sharing
information about new starters and leavers to
the Trust and this will assist the data
cleansing to reflect accurate data reporting.
The Safeguarding Children workbook
implemented in 2018 continues to support
training compliance for levels 1 and 2 staff
groups.

% of staff trained at appropriate level of safeguarding children
in accordance with Intercollegiate document (levels 1 to 4)
Q1
Q2
Q3
Q4
Average
Trust target
97%
90%
95%
94%*
94%
95%
*Hertfordshire Safeguarding Children Partnership training data unavailable in April 2019; therefore this
figure is potentially an under-report

Safeguarding supervision
Safeguarding supervision continues to be
mandatory for all frontline professionals

Q1
98%

working with children and their families.
Compliance across HCT is 97%; this is
monitored on a monthly basis.

% of eligible staff who have undertaken safeguarding supervision
as per Trust policy
Q2
Q3
Q4
Average
97%

97%

Graded Care Profile (GCP)
The Graded Care Profile (GCP) assessment
tool is an evidenced-based, educational
resource which is used in partnership with the
parents when neglect is a concern, with the aim
of improving the situation, resulting in a positive
outcome for the child.
The number of GCP assessments commenced
in 2018/19 has reduced in comparison to
2017/18. The reason for this is unclear but may
be due to the changes in the number of routine
contacts undertaken by the Public Health Nurse
and the partnership approach in the Public
Health transformation model to supporting
families, with Family Support Services taking
the lead in some of the assessments
undertaken in 2018/19.
There is an expectation that a GCP assessment
should be undertaken prior to referral to HCC
Children’s Services, providing the concern does
not require immediate action. This requirement
is monitored by the Safeguarding Children team
on a monthly basis and when it is identified that
a GCP assessment has not been considered or
commenced prior to a referral to Children’s
Services, the Public Health Nurses
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97%

97%

Trust target
95%

safeguarding supervisor follows up practice and
performance.
Serious Case Reviews (SCR), Domestic
Homicide Reviews (DHR) and Internal
Management Reviews
Hertfordshire Safeguarding Children
Partnership (HSCP) commissioned two new
Serious Case Reviews (SCRs) in 2018/19. The
Safeguarding Children team has contributed to
both SCRs through attendance at panel
meetings and development of a chronology; the
team was notified of a further potential SCR in
October 2018 and contributed to the
chronology. HCT’s Safeguarding Children team
has also contributed to one SCR from another
county.
HCT’s Safeguarding Children team has not
been formally involved in any new Domestic
Homicide Reviews (DHR) during 2018/9. The
two DHRs commenced in 2017/18 are complete
and waiting for publication, with the local HCT
action plans completed.
Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH)
The Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH)
health partnership ensures a specialist
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approach to safeguarding children, ensuring
robust and impartial risk assessment of
children. The Nurse Specialist located within the
MASH has the skills and experience to
challenge practice and decisions made, not only
by any agency in the MASH, but also those of
health practitioners in any service.
The current staffing level in the MASH does not
meet the required demand, which has impacted
on the capacity of the team to complete all
required information sharing within the required
timescales. This issue has been escalated and
will continue to be monitored.
Participation in audit
The Safeguarding Children team has an audit
plan that is agreed by the Trust on an annual
basis. This year the Safeguarding Children
team has completed the following audits:
• Referrals to Children’s Services audit
• Annual audit on quality of supervision
provided by the Safeguarding Children team
• Domestic Abuse audit
• Graded Care Profile and its impact audit
• Annual Not Bought In (NBI) to health
appointments audit
• Record Keeping of children with CP plans
• Annual audit on the use of the Child Sexual
Exploitation (CSE) template and its impact
• Annual Knowledge of HCT safeguarding
processes
• Audit on paediatric liaison IT solution
• MASH Quality of Information Sharing
• MASH Audit of Recommendations
There have been additional audits undertaken
at the request of the CCG or HSCP:
• Partnership audit with HSCP on Sexual
Abuse
• Partnership audit with HSCP of children
commenced on a child protection plan for the
second time
• Partnership audit with HSCP on Section 11
requirements
• Partnership audit with CCG on Paediatric
liaison IT solution
All audits are presented at the Safeguarding
Children Forum and results are shared widely
throughout the Trust. Where recommendations
and actions have been identified, an action plan
is developed and monitored through the
Safeguarding Children Forum.
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Paediatric Liaison IT solution
Following the decommissioning of the
Paediatric Liaison service in west Hertfordshire
in April 2017, a solution was required to ensure
that any children who attended unscheduled
health services (such as A&E) in the west of the
county were followed up if they were deemed
vulnerable or if their presentation required a risk
assessment or follow-up.
The Paediatric Liaison IT solution was
developed and piloted during 2017/18 and has
continued to work well throughout 2018/19.
Each week information about all children 0 to 18
years (who live in Hertfordshire) and attend
Watford General Hospital or one of their walk-in
centres is uploaded onto the child’s SystmOne
health records. Additionally an email alert is
sent to the on-duty Public Health Nurse team to
alert them of the attendance of any child who is
identified as vulnerable through a flagging or
filtering criterion for consideration of a timely
follow-up consultation.
In 2018/19 there have been 14312 email alerts
sent to the on-duty Public Health Nurse due to
an A&E attendance of a potentially vulnerable
child in west Hertfordshire.
During 2018, the Safeguarding Children team,
together with the HCT Performance &
Information team, Child Health Information
Services and Watford General Hospital have
been further developing the Paediatric Liaison
IT model and have undertaken four audits to
provide assurance that the model is safe.
In December 2018, Hertfordshire Urgent Care
Centre (HUCC) went live county-wide in using
the Paediatric Liaison IT solution, which has
improved outcomes for children as this is the
first time information about children who have
been seen at a HUCC has been shared with
Public Health Nurses. A plan is in place to
extend this initiative to East & North Herts NHS
Trust and potentially Princess Alexandra NHS
Trust (West Essex) during 2019/20 as they
have expressed an interest to adopt this model
of sharing information.
We were pleased to announce recently that this
innovative partnership project has been
shortlisted for a prestigious Health Service
Journal Patient Safety Award.

Page 66 of 100

Knowledge of HCT safeguarding processes annual audit findings
At the HCT Leading Lights event held in June 2018, 100 Safeguarding Knowledge audit
questionnaires, comprised of seven questions, were randomly handed out to health professionals.
Of the 100 questionnaires which were handed out to staff, 77 were completed. Of these, 42 staff
stated that they saw children as part of their day-to-day work, 35 staff stated that they did not.
The results of the audit demonstrated:
• 96% of staff knew who to contact if they had safeguarding concerns about a child
• 91% of staff knew how to make a referral to Children’s Services (Social Care)
• 95% of staff knew where to find up-to-date contact details for the Safeguarding Children team
• 99% of staff knew how to access HCT’s Safeguarding policy
Given that over two thirds of the safeguarding children knowledge audit responses came from
adult and corporate services, it was excellent to see such positive engagement from staff and such
a high percentage of correct answers to the questions set. Throughout the year, HCT’s Named
Nurse for Safeguarding Children has continued to provide staff updates and reminders about
training via the Trust’s staff newsletter

Rapid Response to an Unexpected Child
Death
The Safeguarding Children team, supported
by the Police, Coroner and Children’s
Services, continues to provide a daily Rapid
Response into Unexpected Child Death
service. In February 2018 the rota hours were
reduced to Monday to Friday 8am to 5pm, and
weekends and Bank Holidays 8am to 12pm.
The change in the nursing hours has not had
an impact upon our partners as details of any
deaths that take place outside the nursing rota
are picked up the following day.
In 2018 there were:

• 2 deaths that were managed the following
day as the deaths took place outside the
Rapid Response nursing hours.
• 2 deaths that occurred outside the Rapid
Response nursing hours which met the
criteria for an information sharing meeting
rather than a full Rapid Response; this
meeting took place within the protocol
timelines.
During 2018/19 no child deaths were deemed
appropriate for referral to the Learning
Disabilities Mortality Review (LeDeR)
programme (page 25).

• 11 deaths that were responded to within
the Rapid Response nursing rota hours on
the day the death took place.
2016

2017

2018

Total number of unexpected child deaths reported to team

18

24

15

Number of confirmed Sudden Unexpected Deaths in infants

2

3

4

The Annual Rapid Response Conference was
held in October 2018 at the Hertfordshire
Constabulary Headquarters, attended by 80
delegates. The theme was ‘Unexpected,
Expected Death’ and covered children with
learning and physical disabilities, complex
health needs, palliative and end of life plans.

Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust Quality Account 2018/19

The evaluation of the conference was
extremely positive.
The theme of annual Rapid Response
conference for 2019/20 is ‘Teenage Suicides’
in view of the increased concerns around
adolescent mental health and self-harm.
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The Looked After Children and Care
Leavers’ Health Service (LAC/CL)
The Looked After Children and Care Leavers’
Health service (LAC/CL) is commissioned to
work in close partnership with Hertfordshire
County Council (HCC) and other
professionals aiming to identify the health
needs of children and young people in care.
In 2018/19 the total number of Hertfordshire
looked after children was 936, which is an
Increase from 919 in 2017/18 The number of
Unaccompanied Asylum Seeker Children in
Hertfordshire was 92, which represents 9.8%
of the looked after children population.
Health Assessments
The LAC team coordinates the administration
of all statutory health assessments on behalf

of HCC for looked after children placed both in
and out of county. All health assessments are
required to meet statutory and local
timeframes. Our local service specification
sets out the pathways of care for looked after
children and care leavers who are
accommodated or provided with support in
and out of county; this also includes looked
after children placed in Hertfordshire by other
local authorities.
The continuing high number of looked after
children having their statutory health
assessments undertaken within timescales
and to a high quality standard is due to the
robust processes in place and clear
communication between HCC and HCT.

Q1
90%

Initial Health Assessments completed within required timescales
Q2
Q3
Q4
Average
97%
83%
89%
90%

Trust target
90%

Q1
94%

Review Health Assessments completed within required timescales
Q2
Q3
Q4
Average
94%
96%
90%
93%

Trust target
90%

Following all health assessments completed
by doctors and nurses, the Lead Professional
will ensure that any actions arising from the
health assessment are implemented and
monitored to provide assurance that identified
health needs are being met.
Contact with the carer, young person, GP and
Social Worker provides the lead professional
with up-to-date health information and any
outstanding actions that require support.
Joint working
• HCT’s Public Health Nurses (PHNs)
continue to complete a large number of
RHAs for looked after children in
Hertfordshire. They are supported by their
LAC Champions in Children’s Universal
Services (CUS) and the Specialist LAC
Nurses.
• The PHNs are encouraged to shadow
Specialist LAC Nurses at health
assessments. This has proved to be a
positive learning experience.
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It was very useful coming out with you and learning
different ways to ask these ‘difficult’ questions. I feel I can
now improve the way I undertake an RHA which could
potentially improve the outcomes for the child or young
person.
Feedback from School Nurse shadowing
a Specialist LAC Nurse

• Specialist LAC Nurses deliver Level 3
mandatory training to all PHNs on a threeyearly cycle. LAC Champions receive
additional training and meet every three
months to discuss topics, challenges and
changes.
• HCT’s Specialist LAC Nurses are
commissioned to complete RHAs for
Hertfordshire children placed out of county
(OOC) within a specified radius. The target
of 100 completed RHAs has been achieved
for the second consecutive year.
• Specialist LAC Nurses continue to work in
partnership with five residential homes
across Hertfordshire, meeting with staff
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and young people to support them with
health needs and health promotion.
• HCT currently employs three LAC GPs to
complete Initial Health Assessments for
children aged 10 years and over who have
just come into care. KPIs are met and the
quality of assessments is monitored
closely.
• Joint working with the Child in Care Council
(CHICC) has resulted in piloting new ways
to seek feedback from young people
following health assessment, including the
use of online surveys and text messaging
for over 16s.
• Hertfordshire Partnership Foundation Trust
and HCT have continued to work closely to
understand each other’s roles and ensure
that communication is shared to provide
smooth transition for care leavers into adult
mental health services when required.
• Specialist LAC Nurses have continued to
meet and teach foster carers at their focus
group meetings. This provides an
opportunity for foster carers to share their
experiences with other foster carers and
the LAC team.
• The LAC/CL team continues to work jointly
with the Designated Doctor and Deputy
Designated Nurse from East & North and
Herts Valley CCGs, implementing changes
in working practices which have had a
positive impact on service delivery.

• Working with the SystmOne analysts to
build health questionnaires and action
plans into the SystmOne health record to
enable improved record keeping and
reporting.
• Undertaking an audit with Children’s
services, looking at the emotional and
psychological wellbeing of migrant children.
Current and future work
• Implementing a local Special Educational
Needs and Disabilities (SEND) Health
Assessment questionnaire and action plan
in partnership with the 0-25 SEND team in
HCC to capture the voice of the child when
verbal communication is limited.
• Using visual tools at Health Assessments
for children and young people with
additional needs.
• Reviewing the use of webinars and elearning to complement the mandatory
training provided for CUS staff.
• Continued partnership working with the
asylum team in HCC, Police, the
Interpreting service and Sexual Health to
deliver a sexual culture and consent
workshop for migrant children.

Podcast recording session

Innovation
During 2018/19 the LAC team has been
involved in:
• Recording a podcast with care leavers,
during which health assessments for a
looked after child, sexual health, smoking
and emotional health and wellbeing were
discussed.
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Excellent clinical effectiveness and outcomes – National Institute for Health and Care
Excellence (NICE) guidance, streamlining clinical pathways and developing new
services
NICE guidance
In addition to improvements in clinical
effectiveness arising out of our clinical audit
programme (page 14), our NICE Working
Group reviewed 146 of the 146 sets of national
clinical guidance and 21 of the 21 quality
standards released by NICE during 2018/19.
We undertook self-assessments of compliance
with the 80 clinical guidelines and the 16
quality standards which were deemed
applicable to the services we are
commissioned to deliver, and took action
where needed.

have up-to-date knowledge of head
injury assessment and follow clinical
care pathways according to NICE
guidelines.
•

We offered all patients a strategic oral
health needs assessments when seen
by Special Care Dental Service (SCDS)
to ensure patients are supported and
receive targeted intervention to
understand the links between oral health,
diet, sugar consumption and substance
misuse.

•

We assessed all looked after young
people for drug misuse using the Review
Health Assessment within our School
Nursing service.

•

We provided parents with an ‘underweight
letter’ containing advice if their child falls
below recommended BMI.

•

We provided a training programme on low
back pain and sciatica for GPs and their
staff in primary care in all localities.

Examples of actions taken:
•

We updated guidelines for management
of faltering growth in infants and children
to ensure safe and standardised practice
within the Health Visiting service.

•

We ensured a seamless transition with
the provision of medication (in particular
antipsychotic drugs) for men as they
either go into or are released from HMP
The Mount.

•

We ensured that staff at the Minor
Injuries Unit are appropriately skilled and
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Service developments – Adult services
Community Inpatient Units
HCT has eight community inpatient units
across Hertfordshire – six of these provide
intermediate care and two provide
neurological rehabilitation. The community
inpatient units liaise with other HCT services
and with acute trusts to facilitate consistent
patient care and smooth transfer of patients
both to and from the units.

practice and provide a platform for driving
shared accountability. Ward Managers and
Therapy Leads have also been
encouraged to “know their business” by
understanding financial costs and
undertaking peer reviews to increase
awareness of what good looks like.
• Implementing regular Action Learning Sets
for Ward Managers and Therapy Leads to
provide leadership support and
development.
• Continued working with commissioners and
partner organisations to develop clearly
defined inpatient pathways.
• Launching the Enhanced Inreach team to
West Herts Hospital Trust and introducing
Progress Chasers in all community
inpatient units to support patient flow and
reduce Delayed Transfers of Care
(DTOCs).

During 2018/19 a number of initiatives were
implemented to improve the delivery of care to
patients in our community inpatient units
including:
• Implementing of weekly Ward Manager
and Therapy Lead Meetings to share good

Readmission within 30 days
Percentage of patients (aged 16 or over) re-admitted
to any hospital within 30 days of their discharge from
our community hospitals.
End of Life Care Dashboard
Historically there has been under-identification
of people in the last year of life, which restricts
access to advance care planning and support
services for these patients and their carers.
To improve this situation, we needed to be
able to monitor the number of people
identified as being in the last year of life, the
number offered advance care planning, and
outcomes related to preferred place of care
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• Embedding of ‘Red 2 Green’ in all units to
ensure patients recent planned
interventions on the day (‘Green’ day) and
reduce the number of wasted days where
interventions are delayed (‘Red’ day).
• The full implementation of patient
electronic care records across all inpatient
areas.

2017/18
0.05%

2018/19
0%

and death. We also needed to improve the
information our community integrated teams
held locally about their end of life patients,
such as GP registration, which aspects of
care (such as advance care planning) had
been offered, the use of pain assessment
tools, and a carer’s assessment. HCT’s
Performance & Information team, together
with Specialist Palliative Care clinicians,
developed a dashboard linked to SystmOne to
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record and display key information. This
includes the number of patients identified as
being in the last year of life, whether they
received a holistic assessment, advance care
plan, diagnostic group, use of the pain
assessment tool, preferred place of care,

actual place of death and patient
demographics. This was a collaborative piece
of work between Adult and CYP services to
ensure the dashboard captured data for both
adults and children.

What difference has this made?
The dashboard is updated daily to enable
community teams and community inpatient
units ensure that all end of life patients are
recorded. The improved accessibility of
accurate, real-time clinical outcome data has
enabled Locality and Ward Managers to
ensure appropriate support is offered in a
timely way to those patients who are identified
as needing end of life care. Furthermore,
weekly meetings are held in all localities to
ensure that every end of life patient on the
caseload is recognised and that relevant
follow up is undertaken. This has also enabled
the identification and sharing of good end of
life care practice across all localities.

Between January 2017 and January 2018 the
number of end of life patients recognised as
being in the last year of life was 1758. HCT is
now able to demonstrate the numbers have
more than doubled to 4126 between January
2018 and January 2019, showing a 235%
increase on the previous year.
The number of patients with a recorded
Advance Care Plan between January 2017
and January 2018 was 1134. In the following
year, again the numbers increased to 2246,
showing a 98% increase.

2017/18

2018/19

Number of patients identified as being in their last year of life

1758

4126

Number of patients with a recorded Advance Care Plan in place

1134

2246
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Community Adult Health Services (CAHS) –
Herts Valleys
Following the introduction of the redesigned
Community Adults Health Service (CAHS) in
Herts Valleys in November 2017, the new
service has been fully mobilised and
embedded.
Referral Hub – Herts Valleys
The service redesign included the creation of a
Referral Hub to manage incoming referrals. As
part of the commitment to the ongoing
development of the Hub there has been
significant investment in technology with an
upgrade to the Hub computer and telephone
systems. These changes mean that the team
can work more efficiently and answer calls
more consistently.
Prevention of Admission
One of the four pathways for the CAHS service
is focussed on rapid access to the service for
patients who are at imminent risk of a hospital
admission. Early in 2018 it became apparent
that the CAHS service had seen a drop in
referrals of this type, compared to the referrals
in 2017, and this raised concern.
Significant work has been undertaken within
the team to address this concern, including the
production of newsletters, attendance at
locality meetings, communication with acute
trust colleagues and review of internal
processes for recording urgent needs in
existing patients. As a result, the number of
urgent referrals received for patients on this
pathway has improved dramatically and now
exceeds the target set within the HVCCG
contract, as shown below.
First Contacts - POA Referrals
500
400
300
200
100
0

Prevention of
Admission
plan

A review of 100 clinical records for patients on
this pathway demonstrated that in 88% of
cases the patient was successfully managed in
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their own home. For the remaining 12%, a
hospital admission was required and the
records demonstrated that this was a decision
made jointly by the HCT Clinician, the patient’s
GP, and the patient and their family.
Place Based Working
In line with the STP Vision for Place Based
Working, each locality has a Locality Delivery
Group in which members of staff from HCT
actively participate. This year has seen a
number of innovations being generated from
collaboration. These include:
• ‘Pimp My Zimmer’ in Watford, which showed
an improvement in the use of walking aids
by people living in care homes with
dementia after they had been personalised,
resulting in a reduction in falls risks.
• Creation of a Wellbeing Centre in Dacorum
where patients can attend for a short course
of enablement support alongside access to
health and social care professionals and
voluntary sector services.
• Testing of a Skype pilot in St Albans using
video conferencing to link the community
nursing teams with care homes to be able to
provide quick access to clinical advice and
support.
• Further development of the Enhanced Case
Management model in Hertsmere to focus
on those conditions which we know are
leading causes of hospital admission in the
locality.
Service Developments/New Offers
• Winter Pressures – Non Weight Bearing
Pathway: Responding to requests from
HVCCG, HCT has secured additional
therapy resources in Dacorum to provide a
service to orthopaedic patients being
temporarily cared for in a residential care
setting. These are patients who are unable
to return home until a fracture is sufficiently
healed. Physiotherapy and Occupational
Therapy interventions ensure that these
patients maintain and improve their
functional skills, and are discharged home at
the soonest opportunity.
• Winter Pressures – Virtual Beds Pathway:
HCT has been providing a home-based
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virtual bed pathway for patients who
traditionally would have remained in hospital
for ongoing rehabilitation. These patients
have been provided with physiotherapy,
occupational therapy, and personal care
support to enable them to return home and
continue their rehabilitation intervention.
• Discharge Home to Assess – Herts Valleys:
Working in partnership with colleagues from
WHHT and Hertfordshire County Council,
with the support of funding from the
Marginal Rate Emergency Tariff (MRET), a
new Discharge Home to Assess team has
been establish. This combines an HCT
Team Manager with HCT Carers, HCT
Therapists and SC@H (Adult Care
Services) Carers to support patients as they
transition home from hospital. It allows
patients on this pathway to receive a
comprehensive assessment within 72 hours
of leaving hospital and ensures they have all
the necessary services in place to help them
get well and stay well.
Locality working in East & North Herts
In Lower Lea Valley we have worked with
system partners and volunteers to improve the
treatment, support and access to medical
services for patients diagnosed with dementia
and their carers. This included piloting a local
assessment, diagnosis and treatment clinic
with HPFT and launching the innovative
‘Healthy Memory Café’ in Broxbourne, which
has been cited as evidence of excellent
partnership working on BCC Three Counties
Radio. We presented our findings on the

Health Memory Café at the National
Association of Primary Care conference in
March 2019.
We worked with our partners in north
Hertfordshire to improve coordination across
services involved in caring for patients with
increasing levels of frailty. This includes a ‘One
Stop Shop’ for falls and frailty at the Ernest
Gardner Treatment Centre, which is currently
owned and run by Letchworth Garden City
Heritage (a local charitable organisation). The
purpose of this initiative is to bring staff and
services together under one roof to improve the
provision and coordination of services for frail
elderly patients.
Referral Hub – E&N Hertfordshire
As part of the Customer Service
Transformation (CST) programme, a
centralised Referral Management Hub went
live in East & North Hertfordshire in July 2018.
The Referral Hub is responsible for processing
and managing all E&N Integrated Community
team referrals as efficiently as possible whilst
freeing up clinicians to maximise clinical-facing
time.
The introduction of a central triage hub staffed
by clinicians allows patients to discuss their
exact needs immediately when they are
referred. Patients are offered self-management
advice, and allocated a clinically appropriate
and convenient appointment time with the
relevant clinician. Introduction of the Hub has
resulted in a significant decrease in patient
waiting times across all localities.

Service Innovation: The Healthy Memory Café
The Healthy Memory Café, supporting people with memory problems in Lower Lea Valley, has been growing in
popularity since opening its doors in July 2018. It offers locals the chance to meet up over a cup of tea every
month at Tesco in Cheshunt's Brookfield Centre. It is supported by a wide range of organisations representing the
health and social care sectors plus voluntary community, advice and statutory organisations.
Sylvia is 73 and lives in Cheshunt, Hertfordshire. Since the Healthy Memory Café opened Sylvia and her husband
have become regular visitors. Sylvia said: “I really look forward to the Friday morning sessions now, as everyone
is so friendly and welcoming and those who run it do such a good job. It is a great way to meet different people,
who are in a similar stage of memory loss.”
Waltham Cross GP Dr Haydar Bolat has a special interest in dementia and is the Chair of the Lower Lea Valley
Dementia Task and Finish Group, out of which the Healthy Memory Café has grown. He explained “This venture
brings together professionals from many local organisations, including the voluntary sector, in one place to
support not only those who have been diagnosed with dementia, but anyone who is struggling with memory
issues.”
Since the first event in July 2018 word has spread and now over 160 local residents have attended these popular
monthly events.
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Service developments – Children and Young People’s (CYP) Services
Family Centre Service
The new Family Centre Service
commissioned by Hertfordshire County
Council was launched on 1 October 2018
following a six-month mobilisation phase
where Public Health Nursing (School Nursing
and Health Visiting) and Family Centres
worked together to prepare for the launch of
the new service. We have been delighted to
work so closely with our new Family Centre
partners - One YMCA for north Hertfordshire
and Stevenage quadrant, Barnardo’s for the
east quadrant, and Inspire All for west and
south Hertfordshire. Hertfordshire families can
now access wider skills, expertise and health
and wellbeing services under one joined up
service, delivering an improved and more
flexible range of support for parents, carers
and children from pre-birth through to age 19,
or up to age 25 for young adults with special
education needs and disability (SEND).
Customer Service Transformation
The Customer Service Transformation project
(Single Point of Access) was achieved within
the Public Health Nursing service in January
2019 in response to Hertfordshire County
Council’s vision and service specification
requirements. The new service is able to
deliver greater integration at the point of

delivery for families, between Public Health
Nurse Services (0-5 years and 5-19 years)
and the Family Support Service, by providing
a county-wide single point of access number
and extended operating hours five days a
week. Each of the four administrative Hubs
are based within a geographical area and
cover each quadrant of Hertfordshire.
Whilst the Hubs are still in their infancy, the
initial performance data indicates that
integration of services is resulting in more
efficient administrative support for its clients
and professionals wanting to contact the
service. Each hub has been handling 513
calls per week on average, with an answer
rate of 88.7% and an average patient wait
time of 16 seconds. Qualified staff are on duty
to support the hub on a daily basis to provide
professional advice as required through a duty
desk facility accessed by families, schools,
GPs, children’s services and other
professionals.
We welcome feedback from our families and
service users, which helps us to improve the
services we provide. Below are some recent
examples of feedback:

Health Visiting:
“Fantastic essential service - where would we be without it?”
“Friendly, informative, non-judgemental”
“Really helpful advice, lovely Health Visitor”
“On time, efficient, good service”
“Through and well-structured appointment, whilst friendly and
helpful”

School Nursing:
“Initially I was slightly wary but by the third session I could really
trust my nurse and I could see that the information was
confidentially being dealt with”
“Very helpful and useful. I can easily state that the experience
exceeded my expectations”
“ I am now less worried about things and argue less with my
friends”
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Early Intervention and targeted support
through online health information and
texting service for children and young
people
Promotion of the specially designed
‘HealthforTeens’ and ‘HealthforKids’ websites,
and HCT’s ‘ChatHealth’ texting service has
been stepped up to ensure young people are
aware of how easy it is to access topical
health messages or to seek health advice

from a School Nurse just by texting their
concerns. We have used interactive tools and
creative marketing materials to promote the
websites and new posters have been
designed with free promotional materials
available. Teams are visiting school
assemblies, and Head Teacher forums and
youth events are being held to raise the profile
and encourage young people to make the
right choices for their health and wellbeing.

Supporting early intervention for schoolaged children using The Lancaster Model
(TLM)
Following the successful pilot of the Lancaster
Model (TLM) in Watford and Dacorum schools
last year, the Public Health Nurses in School
Nursing have now rolled this out across the
county, starting in September 2018 with Year
6 pupils. TLM is used to assess a child's
health and wellbeing needs at key transition
points, with the offer of some targeted support
if necessary that can achieve a positive
outcome for the child and their family. TLM
uses an online health questionnaire that
highlights any particular areas that the Public
Health Nurses need to consider whilst making
their assessment. This is in line with
Government directives and allows the child's
voice to be heard during assessment and
planning of relevant interventions. The key
transition points are Reception (a parent

completes the questionnaire), Year 6 and
Year 9 (the child or young person completes
the questionnaire).

Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust Quality Account 2018/19

By January 2019, 11,463 (83%) Year 6 pupils
had completed questionnaires. From
those, 14,954 early intervention alerts were
raised, all of which were completed with some
pieces of work being continued with individual
children. Teams have now started the
reception parent questionnaires and once
complete will commence Year 9 sessions.
Schools receive a comprehensive report
detailing the themes children have identified
which helps them plan for emotional health
and wellbeing initiatives and access support
from partner agencies.
Here is some of the great feedback we have
received Year 6 pupils and from Head
Teachers:
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Patient-Centred Outcome Measures
(PCOMs)
Service developments continue in both PHN
School Nursing and Health Visiting services.
In Health Visiting this work has been
consolidated and we are now able to report
on Patient-Centred Outcome Measures
(PCOMs) using SystmOne following one-toone work with a parent or carer.

HCT’s Positive Behaviour, Autism, Learning
Disability and Mental Health Service (PALMS)
shortlisted for Health Service Journal Value
Award
The HSJ Value Awards recognise excellent use of
NHS resources. These awards are given to NHS
trusts who have been able to show improvements in
outcomes, not just for those who use NHS
services, but also across its administrative
functions.

PCOMs have also been introduced into
School Nursing practice and will be used
whenever a series of interventions is required
with a child. The specific needs and
aspirations of the interventions are captured
in the child’s, young person’s or family
member’s own words to ensure the outcomes
are truly focused on what will make a
difference to their specific needs. Using the
skills of our patient engagement officer we
have completed further focus groups with
children and families with special educational
needs, children with disability, and young
people aged 11 to 19. This has enabled us to
tailor the tool to capture the voice of the child
and ensure they are empowered to set their
own treatment goals.

Earlier this year HCT submitted a number of entries
competing against hundreds of other UK health
organisations for these awards. HCT has been
advised that two of its entries have now been
shortlisted as finalists. One of these is the entry for
the Specialist Service Award by our Positive
Behaviour, Autism, Learning Disability and Mental
Health Service (PALMS). The PALMS service
submitted an initiative which addressed an increase
in demand for PALMS’ services, while providing
high quality interventions to support more families
and children with autism, learning disability and
mental health issues.
Clare Hawkins, CEO for HCT, congratulated the
successful, shortlisted teams, saying: “To get to this
stage of the selection process is no small feat and
recognises the positive outcomes that our teams
have achieved in the services they offer across the
Hertfordshire community.”

Transformation projects
Transforming services: Therapy Redesign
within the Community Adults Health
Service
In 2017, the Community Adults Health Service
was redesigned in partnership with Herts
Valleys Clinical Commissioning Group. One
element of the redesign was focussed on the
provision of occupational therapy and
physiotherapy services, which historically had
experienced long waiting lists. Extensive work
was undertaken to redesign the therapy
pathway to achieve improved access to the
service as well as making the service more
cost-effective.
This was achieved by the introduction of:
• realignment of resources
• skill mixing
• refined service criteria
• enhanced clinical triage
• improved diary management
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• productivity targets
• user activation, self-management and
Patient-Reported Outcome Measures
(PROMs)
• partnership working with voluntary sector
services
This transformational work has achieved a
reduction in waiting times for the service. The
number of people waiting for an appointment
with the service reduced from 1150 in March
2017 to under 200 in December 2017 and
under 100 in December 2018. The period of
time which people are waiting for an
appointment reduced from 23 weeks in March
2017 to four weeks in January 2018, which
has been maintained throughout this year.
Patient outcomes have improved, with 89% of
patients showing an increase in the Patient
Functional Scale between assessment and
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discharge. Patients using the service have told
us they have a positive experience
demonstrated by a significant increase in the
number of patient compliments received about
the service, and there have been no therapyrelated complaints or serious incidents since
the introduction of the new service model.
Since making these changes, we have taken
the learning and applied it to improve other
services within HCT including children’s
therapy services. In particular, the comparable
service in the East & North Herts area has
recently been through a similar transformation
and adopted comparable pathways and
processes, and colleagues in the Neuro
Specialist Services have used elements of the
model in their own transformation and waiting
list management workstream. This
transformation work has also been shared
across professional STP AHP networks and
shared at the Herts AHP Conference.
The transformation model was entered and
has been shortlisted for the prestigious HSJ
Value Awards – we wish our team good luck
at the forthcoming Award Ceremony.
Customer Service Transformation
The Customer Service Transformation (CST)
programme has been undertaken in
consultation with HCT administrative staff and
has brought about a consistent, efficient, and
standardised approach to administrative
functions across the whole Trust. The
programme has focussed on the following
aspects:
• Access/reception services; the ways people
and organisations make contact with us
• Our ongoing contact with patients outside
of clinical appointments
• Administrative support of patient pathways
• The management of electronic referrals
• Streamlining corporate processes to
minimise administrative overheads
• Secretarial and PA support (for example
team administrative support)
It is anticipated that this programme of work
will be completed during 2019/20, by which
time the majority of different services will have
their access functions centralised to a Single
Points of Access (SPA) ensuring a balance of
efficiency and high quality customer service is
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provided to patients, professionals and the
public.
Electronic Clinical Records
To achieve the NHS target to be paperless by
2020, HCT’s community inpatient units
implemented SystmOne electronic clinical
records (ECR), reducing the use of paperbased notes and multiple different systems
when registering patients. The scope of the
project has included:
• An ECR for all inpatients on SystmOne
• Successful implementation of ECR
equipment and software, and subsequent
staff training, in St Peter’s and Simpson
wards
• Data quality review of Community Hospitals
SystmOne Unit
• Review of the SystmOne templates and
care plans, including reporting, letters and
referral forms
This programme of work has improved the
standard of record keeping and clinical audit
and has led to the standardisation of
documentation across the Trust, resulting in
improved transfer and access of patient
information across all HCT services.
Transforming Corporate Services
In order to provide the best possible corporate
support to enable our frontline staff to deliver
outstanding care to patients, and in response
to the changes faced by the NHS, we have
commenced a programme to review and
transform our corporate services. This
includes support services such as HR,
Finance, Quality & Governance, Performance
& Information, Business Development &
Contracts Management, Transformation and
Communication.
In January 2019 we began to work with our
corporate services to identify the activities that
our corporate teams undertake, including the
statutory and mandatory requirements which
allow HCT to continue to function as a legal
NHS organisation. Once this scoping work has
been completed, we will look at how we can
streamline our services through skill mixing
and improved use of technology, to enable our
corporate teams to be agile and responsive in
providing customer-focussed support to HCT’s
operational teams and external agencies. This
work will continue into 2019/20.
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Information technology innovations
We continue to have a strong technology
base with extensive use of mobile working
and a drive for exploring how we can use
technology to improve services. We have now
rolled out our electronic patient record system
to all services, most recently to our community
inpatient units in Hemel Hempstead, helping
us to achieve our target of being paper-free at
the point of care.

•

Enabled patients and visitors to
access free Wi-Fi across all our sites
and buildings.

•

Moved our datacentres to Welwyn
Garden City and Farnborough to
create a robust environment with the
capability to run all systems from one
datacentre in the event of a major
incident.

•

Implemented NHS2 Mail for all staff,
enabling staff to communicate and
share information via secure email,
both internally and with other NHS
organisations.

•

Used communication tools such as
Meeting Zone, Go-To Meeting and
Skype for Business to enable staff to
participate in meetings virtually rather
than in person, resulting in reduced
travel time for staff.

During 2018/19 we have also:
•

Deployed Smartphones to frontline
and management staff to enable them
to access key information while on the
move.

•

Created a new interactive suite of
reports to enable frontline services to
manage their workload more
effectively using daily updated
information.
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Understanding quality in our organisation – learning from ourselves and learning
from others
Keeping in Touch Visits
There have been a variety of Quality
Assurance Visits to HCT teams over the year.
These include 15 Keeping in Touch visits by
Board members. In response to the Care
Quality Commission (CQC) inspection for
Well-Led and Core services a significant
number of CQC staff support visits were
undertaken by the Executive Directors and the
Non-Executive Directors, which included
interactions with patients.
The Chief Executive and Executive Team
members have participated in monthly
interactive video updates which provide up-todate information on current and future service
developments, and enable a forum for
questions and answers. This information is
then cascaded to all staff via management at
team meetings and audio presentations sent
to all staff. The CEO has developed these
sessions further by holding staff drop-in
sessions followed by the recording of the CEO
update.
All visits and events are valued as a method
of two-way communication between the
Board/Executive team and the frontline staff
and service users. Hertfordshire Community
NHS Trust is committed to improving patient
and staff experience by gathering and
acknowledging the positive feedback and
using suggestions and themes to inform and
drive future changes and developments that
improve the care received by patients and
reinforce the support given to staff.
External Quality Assurance Visits
A range of external quality assurance visits
have been undertaken by our commissioning
partners and external bodies:
• Herts Valleys CCG has visited Simpson
Ward regarding Mental Capacity
Assessment (MCA), the Rapid Assessment
Unit and St Peter’s and Simpson wards.
• East & North Herts CCG have been to
Herts & Essex Hospital on two occasions.
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• NHS Improvement undertook a supportive
visit focussing on end of life care in Adult
and CYP services.
• OFSTED visited CYP services.
• A full CQC inspection of HCT’s Adult
community and inpatient services and end
of life care took place in September 2018
with a Well-Led inspection in November
2018.
• HMP The Mount underwent a full Ministry
of Justice/CQC inspection in May 2018
• The CQC has also visited Vaccination UK
Limited, a private company which is
commissioned by HCT to deliver the flu
vaccination programme in all schools
across Hertfordshire.
All visits have been followed up, feedback has
been provided to those services reviewed,
and action plans initiated to ensure
improvements are made for patients, carers
and staff where appropriate. Examples
include positive feedback from NHS
Improvement.
All of the areas and teams visited demonstrated
excellent care and commitment to good end of
life care - the staff are passionate about
standards of care and we observed some
excellent leaders who clearly work hard to
deliver a high standard of care.
NHS Improvement

Internal Peer Reviews
Internal Peer Reviews are the process by
which the Trust gains assurance that care
being delivered locally meets the required
standards of care, providing an evidence base
from which improvements can be made. The
peer review tool has been reviewed and
updated to include end of life care to promote
a more cohesive approach and minimise
disruption to the delivery of clinical care. All
adult community inpatient units and
ICT/CAHS services were reviewed utilising
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the revised Internal Peer Review Tool during
the period August to November 2018. 19
services were reviewed, with 11 not meeting
the required standard of 90%; these services
will have a repeat visit within six months. The
new cycle of reviews will move to Q1 and Q3
to reduce pressure on clinical services at peak
times.
Feedback from the peer reviews identified that
staff were found to be welcoming, caring and
approachable, respectful, positive, polite,
responsive to patients’ needs and
demonstrated a professional attitude.
However, not all staff were wearing ID or the
correct uniform, or checked the ID of visitors.
These issues were addressed with teams at
the time to support preparation for our CQC
visit.
15 Steps Challenge
The 15 Steps Challenge focuses on seeing
care through the eyes of patients and
exploring first impressions. Visits are
undertaken by a range of staff and always
include a volunteer. This is an annual
programme and all community inpatient units
were visited. Feedback was shared
immediately with the clinical teams and Trustwide with staff via Noticeboard to raise
awareness and to highlight good practice
through shared learning. Further information
about the 15 Steps Challenge can be found
on page 42.
HMP The Mount
In May 2018, an inspection was conducted by
Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Prisons, joined
by OFSTED and the CQC. The inspection
was conducted over a two-week period
looking at care provision and how the care
delivered by the Prison Healthcare service
integrates with the delivery of prison services.
The feedback from the inspectors was
extremely positive. There were ten
recommendations contained in the report, with
the majority of these being addressed within
two weeks of the inspectors leaving the
prison.
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Healthcare delivery is monitored by the Health
and Justice NHS England Commissioners on
a month-by-month basis through the Health
and Justice Indicators of Performance (HJIP).
This monthly report gauges service user
engagement with the services and is then
used to compare delivery of care against
other prisons nationally on a single
dashboard.
NHS England has commissioned a Health
Needs analysis to be carried out in the prison.
This report reviews delivery of care and
perceptions from healthcare staff, prison staff
and service users. Data collection
commenced in December 2018, with ongoing
work being carried out to gauge service user
perception. It is expected that a report will be
released through NHS England in May 2019.
This report will support the commissioning of
the service provision when the contract goes
out to tender in 2019.
The national Primary Care Quality Outcome
Framework (QOF) is utilised by Prison
Healthcare staff to monitor the quality of the
care being delivered against Best Practice
Guidelines. The prison has remained
continuously above 80% throughout the year.
In April 2018, HMP The Mount became a
smoke-free prison. The challenge was taken
up by the Healthcare team who delivered
support and advice to service users over a
three-month programme. Of the service users
engaging in support, 63 had quit smoking
within four weeks. A large number of service
users went on to quit or moved to using vape
pens over the 12-week treatment period.
In March 2019, the prison SystmOne
electronic records service connected directly
with patient NHS records in the community.
This enables staff to obtain a full picture of a
service user’s health prior to imprisonment
and also enables a seamless transfer of
information to their new GP upon their release
from prison.
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Our staff – improving through continuous learning and innovation
During 2018/19 we wanted to continue
developing our skilled and motivated
workforce, enabling the provision of
compassionate and safe care to our patients
while working in new collaborative service
models. We wanted to build on our strong
engagement with staff, seeking their feedback
and supporting their wellbeing. We also
wanted to support and develop effective
leadership at all levels.
Engaging and involving staff
We have continued to refine our range of
mechanisms for communication and staff
engagement. This has included regular Chief
Executive video messages to staff, expanded
use of social media and the introduction of an
app which includes a feed on Trust news. We
have engaged with staff in a wide range of
ways, including running workshops to involve
staff in service changes, holding staff
Listening Events and engaging with staff to
improve retention.
We have worked with our Trade Unions at our
Joint Negotiation Committee (JNC) and
Medical Joint Local Negotiating Committee.
Our JNC includes discussions on quality
metrics as a standing item. We have also
jointly developed and reviewed policies
through our Terms and Conditions working
group.
We continued to seek feedback from our staff
through our quarterly Pulse staff surveys,
incorporating the Staff Friends and Family
Test, with between 23% and 27% of our
workforce participating each time to give us
their views. We ran the annual staff survey as
a full online census, with just over 55% of our
workforce responding (a summary of the
outcome is set out on page 93). The findings
from the survey will again help us determine
our Trust priorities for the coming year.
We recognised staff achievements through
our newsletters, business unit recognition
schemes, applications for national awards and
though our own annual Leading Lights
Awards, which were presented at our
Celebration event in June 2018. We also
celebrated the achievements of around 300
staff as part of the NHS 70th birthday
celebrations through our Superstars 70
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awards, which have since become our HCT
Superstars awards and become an important
monthly addition to our ongoing staff
recognition activities.
We progressed our equality and diversity
objectives, working with staff and other
stakeholders to re-assess our progress
against the Equality Delivery System (EDS2).
We also complied with all our reporting
requirements, including the new gender pay
gap report (page 88).
Supporting staff wellbeing
Working with our extended Staff Health and
Wellbeing Network, we have continued to
promote staff health and wellbeing, using our
monthly health and wellbeing updates to focus
on the national priorities of physical activity,
musculoskeletal issues and mental health.
We supported staff emotional wellbeing with
our comprehensive Employee Assistance
Programme and stress awareness/mental
health training activities. Our Health@Work
Occupational Health Service helped us to look
after the wider health needs of our staff and
we extended our fast track physiotherapy pilot
with Physio Med to help address
musculoskeletal issues in a timely way.
We ran our 2018 flu campaign, with 70.1% of
our frontline staff being vaccinated. This was
in line with the 70.3% national average and
higher than the average of 65.7% for our
region.
Right staff in the right place
Working with our commissioners and clinical
staff, we developed new service models and
workforce plans to make the best use of
resources to meet increasing demand. This
has included better use of skill mix within our
teams, such as our Children’s Public Health
Nursing teams and Adult Integrated
Community teams.
We continued to look for new ways to attract
staff, including using social media/job boards,
attending careers fairs, and running adverting
campaigns on petrol pumps, at cinemas and
in local shopping centres. This has resulted in
a reduction in our vacancy rate from 13.1% to
10.6% over the course of the year.
Page 82 of 100

We introduced engagement events for new
starters and have streamlined our new starter
processes to improve the experience of our
new recruits. We have also introduced a
process to work with staff who are thinking
about leaving the Trust to see if we can
improve their working day and encourage
them to stay with us.
We worked with system partners to develop a
new Attraction Strategy for Hertfordshire and
West Essex. We also ran an STP wide
recruitment campaign, including advertising
through social media, radio and
Metro/Evening Standard Advertorial, leading
to a joint open day.
We delivered recruitment training to our
managers in fair and effective recruitment
practices, including unconscious bias. During
the year 64 recruiting managers attended our
specific recruitment training, with others being
trained through wider management
programmes.
We worked to improve staff retention through
staff focus groups, ‘stay’ surveys and delivery
of our retention action plan. We further
developed our Careers Clinics and introduced
a buddying scheme for new community
nurses. Our overall turnover for clinical staff
reduced from 14.9% in the year ending March
2018 to 14.4% in the year ending March 2019
(page 86).
We continued to work with partners to expand
the Bank Network to two additional local
trusts, allowing us access to a wider pool of
bank workers. We were also part of a
Department of Health funded pilot to bring
together rostering, bank booking and staff
engagement systems to promote bank use.
We continued to improve the use of our eroster system, helping to support staff
work/life balance and make effective use of
bank workers through the early approval and
release of our rosters. This work has been
supported by the roll out of a new dashboard
report and monitoring systems.
We increased clinical-facing time by
continuing to streamline processes and using
technology more widely, including
implementing apps for expenses and bank
staff booking. Building on last year’s success
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in rolling out employee self-service to enable
staff to access their payslips and change their
personal information online, we have rolled
out manager self-service, focusing in the first
instance on managers being able to process
leavers on the electronic system.
We implemented the Care Hours Per Patient
Day (CHPPD) metric to monitor and report on
planned versus actual registered nurses and
healthcare assistant staffing levels in our
community inpatient units, incorporating
therapists and therapy support workers for the
first time. We used this information to mitigate
any shortages to ensure that we continued to
provide safe care to our patients.
Learning and Development
In recent years, we have collated
competences for our nurses and Healthcare
Assistants, which describe the skills staff need
to care for patients. To support this we have a
full programme of clinical skills training from
induction to regular update training. This year
we have added individual competences to the
electronic roster to enable managers to build
their rosters to include staff with specific skills.
We have a Clinical Training Programme in
place for our nurses in adult services to
provide regular updates on key areas of
clinical skills, such as catheter care and
insulin administration. Through our ongoing
Palliative Care training programme, we have
further developed staff skills in advanced care
planning and end of life care. We have also
maintained our self-management training
programme, with 2000 staff in both Adults and
CYP services completing our User SelfManagement and Patient Activation elearning.
We have continued to deliver the Healthy
Child Programme training to our Health
Visitors and School Nurses, which includes
regular updates on breastfeeding as part of
the Trust’s commitment to the UNICEF Baby
Friendly initiative.
We implemented our new electronic learning
system, My Learning Zone, which uses a
single system for staff to identify their training
needs, book future sessions and complete elearning. We also implemented our new
locally developed appraisal recording system.
Our staff report that these are much quicker
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and easier to use than the previous systems,
releasing time for them to concentrate on their
patients. It has also helped them to maintain
their Health & Safety training.
The Apprenticeship Levy came into existence
in May 2017 to provide ring-fenced funds to
enable new and existing staff to complete
apprenticeship qualifications. We now have
20 staff training as Nursing Associates, with
the first 4 graduating in April 2019. We have
more than doubled the number of staff
undertaking apprenticeship programmes this
year, including staff starting Leadership and
HR qualifications.

which was designed to develop knowledge
and skills in leadership and management for
first-time leaders in healthcare.

We have continued to accept pre-registration
students from a number of universities.
Working with the University of Hertfordshire,
we have launched a Community Pathway preregistration nursing programme whereby
students complete standard nursing training
but spend more of their placement time with
community teams. Four students who believe
their future careers will be in the community
began this pathway in September 2018.

We continued to engage with our leaders
though regular forums where we shared
strategy, successes and provided learning
and networking opportunities.

We further developed our preceptorship
programme for newly qualified staff to build on
the formal training programme already in
place, adding in action learning sets and
giving each preceptee a ‘buddy’ to provide
informal support.
Leadership and Management
We have continued to develop the leadership
capability of our clinical leaders, operational
and clinical managers, senior managers and
Board members, through training, induction,
action learning sets, secondments, project
work, coaching and access to regional
leadership programmes.
We used the Healthcare Leadership Model
360° tool to assess leadership capability in
our senior operational management teams,
and we planned and delivered development
interventions in response to the findings. We
shared talent management information with
the business units.
We participated in the Herts Accelerated
Directors Development programme and were
early adopters with our partners in delivering
the local model of the Mary Seacole
Leadership Academy Programme, a six
month leadership development programme
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We continued to support the Hertfordshire
County Council and NHS graduate schemes
by providing placements.
Our annual leadership conference focussed
on Agility, Innovation and Resilience and was
attended by 200 staff. Opportunities to attend
workshops and celebrate service
improvements were taken and staff came
away inspired and motivated.

Plans for 2019/20
In 2019/20, we will continue to develop a highquality workforce where staff are committed,
engaged, trained and supported:
• In line with the NHS Long Term Plan, we
will focus on developing further integrated
working at locality level. We will underpin
this with an Organisational Development
programme to deliver a culture to support
this new way of working. This will include
implementation of our new Trust values,
building on the excellent care provided by
our staff and freeing them up to innovate
and be more agile in response to changing
requirements.
• We will work with staff to develop as an
organisation which puts their health and
wellbeing at the centre of the way in which
we engage with them, including a new plan
to support their mental health.
• We will continue to seek ways to improve
retention of our high quality workforce and
recruit to our vacancies, so that we can
provide safe care and reduce pressure on
our current staff. This will include being
clear about what HCT can offer as an
employer. We will also work alongside
system partners to implement the new
Hertfordshire and West Essex Attraction
Strategy.
• Having rolled out our e-roster system to the
whole Trust, we will continue to work with
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our services to fully embed the benefits of
the system and ensure we make best use
of our staff and support their work/life
balance.
• We will further develop the Bank Network,
working with system partners to continue to
improve access to high quality bank
workers to reduce our reliance on agency
use.
• We will implement our equality and
diversity objectives and carry out further
analysis of our equalities data, including
the new disability reporting to be
introduced this year, to identify areas
requiring further development.
• We will extend the range of training we
deliver with a focus on working with frail
patients, and further develop the
communication skills of staff to work more
closely with patients as equal partners, for
example, in advance care planning,
development of individual patient outcomes
and supporting patients to manage their
own conditions.
• We will work with our Family Centre
partners to deliver a shared training
programme that supports the ongoing
implementation of the Family Centre
Service.
• We will work with our Children and Young
People’s services to identify what selfmanagement means to their patients.
• We will continue to increase the numbers
of Nursing Associates we train and will
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work with managers and staff to embed
this new role into services. We will also use
the Apprenticeship Levy to support
administrative staff in their career
development.
• We will further extend the range of
apprenticeships we offer, increasing the
numbers of Assistant Practitioners and
Trainee Nursing Associates in training, and
working with our local universities on
pathways into professional qualifications.
• We will implement a new clinical
supervision recording system to enable
staff and managers to easily record and
monitor when supervision has taken place,
as support and supervision are a key
component of our commitment to staff.
• We will improve our preceptorship
programmes for new graduates in their first
jobs to help their transition from student to
professional.
• We will continue to assess capability and
implement development interventions for
our locality and team leaders.
• We will work with partners across the
Sustainability and Transformation
Programme to create shared leadership
development programmes.
• We will review how we identify our ‘talent’
and support them to develop their careers
within the Trust. We will work with business
units to advance their succession plans.
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Nurse Retention Programme
HCT has continued to participate in the NHS
Improvement Nurse Retention programme
since it launched in August 2017. We set
ourselves a stretch target to reduce turnover
by 6% in the first 12 months which was
achieved (6.44% reduction). Working with our
Nurse Retention Forum, and shaping our
action plan through their feedback, we have:
• Sent information to teams to ensure that
nursing staff took their breaks from work
and were sufficiently hydrated and rested.
• Implemented Careers Clinics, initially
taking the form of 1:1 coaching sessions
and later being further developed into
career pathway group clinics.
• Piloted buddying for new nurses joining the
Trust in Watford ICT, which is now being
rolled out across all community nursing in
the Trust.
• Improved the preceptorship programme for
nurses and implemented the changes
across the Trust.
• Formed an Alumni Group for retired
nurses, through which individuals have
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expressed a desire to return as volunteers
to support nursing teams.
• Improved the exit interview process with a
new survey that helps to identify more
detailed reasons for staff leaving the Trust.
Clear communications about the process
has led to a higher completion rate.
• Held staff forums to discuss retention at
Herts & Essex Hospital, which was
identified as an area with one of the
highest turnover rates.
• Offered well attended resilience training in
order to reduce work related stress, with
positive feedback.
• Commenced development of a new starter
portal that aims to simplify the on-boarding
process for new starters.
As a result of the success that HCT has
achieved with the Nurse Retention
Programme, Health Education England asked
us to speak at their Midlands and East Local
Education and Training Board (LETB)
Development Event in January 2019 to
highlight our accomplishments. The
programme of work is continuing with a
revised action plan for this year.
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Freedom To Speak Up
During 2018/19 we continued to build upon
the achievements of last year, specifically
supporting our staff to raise concerns by
making speaking up as easy as possible.
In May 2018 we appointed a new Freedom To
Speak Up (FTSU) Guardian who works
closely with our Non-Executive and Executive
FTSU leads, as well as seven FTSU
Ambassadors, whose role is to promote a
safe speaking up culture within the Trust. We
used the October national Speak Up month
campaign to promote the roles of the FTSU
Guardian and Ambassadors.
We developed a dedicated web page with
information for staff and a central, secure
email address. Staff can choose how they
would like to speak up (by phone, by email, in
person or anonymously) and who they would
like to speak up to. The contact details of the
Guardian, seven Ambassadors and the
Executive and Non-Executive FTSU leads are
easily available to all staff on the dedicated
web page, on posters and through information
communicated to staff throughout the year.
Staff can also raise issues by way of a
whistleblowing helpline run by our Employee
Assistance Programme.
There were 15 concerns raised during
2018/19. None of these concerns were raised
anonymously and feedback was therefore
able to be provided in a way agreed with the
person, which during the year included
arranging to meet with the person or having a
discussion. Some of the concerns raised did
not require feedback as during discussion the
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Guardian was able to advise and signpost the
person. Where we gave feedback to our staff,
we took the opportunity to ensure that they did
not feel they had suffered detriment as a
result of raising their concern, and we asked
them whether they would feel comfortable to
raise a concern in the future.
The number of concerns raised during
2018/19 is higher than reported during
2017/18 when 9 were raised. The increase is
considered to be positive as it demonstrates
that staff know how and who to speak up to,
and review of the concerns raised shows that
not all matters reported to the Guardian or
Ambassadors require investigation or relate to
patient safety incidents. However, our
approach is to listen so that concerns are fully
understood and to offer advice and guidance
to support our staff and enable them to feel
able to raise concerns, leading to improved
patient safety.
What did the 2018 NHS Staff Survey tell us
about raising concerns?
HCT staff were once again invited to
participate in the national NHS Staff Survey in
October 2018, with just over 55% of staff
completing the survey. Five of the Staff
Survey questions relate directly to whether
staff felt able to raise concerns. The results of
the Staff Survey responses to these questions
for 2017 and 2018 can be seen below. Full
results of the Staff Survey with a comparison
to the national average can be found on page
93.
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Equality and diversity – our staff
NHS Workforce Race Equality Standard
(WRES)
The national NHS Workforce Race Equality
Standard (WRES) is designed to improve the
representation and experience of Black and
Minority Ethnic (BME) staff at all levels of the
organisation. There are a total of nine
indicators that make up the WRES, split
across workforce data, the national NHS Staff
Survey and Trust Board composition.
The 2017/18 WRES data demonstrated
improvement in the following five WRES
indicators:
• Percentage of staff in each of the Agenda
for Change Bands 1 to 9 and Very Senior
Managers (including Executive Board
members) compared with the percentage
of staff in the overall workforce
• Relative likelihood of staff being appointed
from shortlisting across all posts
• Percentage of staff experiencing
harassment, bullying or abuse from other
staff in the last 12 months
• Percentage of staff experiencing
discrimination at work from their manager,
team leader or other colleague in the last
12 months
• Percentage difference between the
organisations’ Board voting membership
and its overall workforce
Performance against Indicator 7 was broadly
similar to the previous year's data:
• Percentage of staff believing that the
organisation provides equal opportunities
for career progression or promotion
The data demonstrated deterioration against
three indicators:
• Relative likelihood of staff entering the
formal disciplinary process
• Relative likelihood of staff accessing non
mandatory training/CPD
• Percentage of staff experiencing
harassment, bullying or abuse from
patients, relatives or the public in the last
12 months
The Trust is especially keen to improve the
representation of BME staff at all levels of the
organisation. The action plan to improve the
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representation and experience of BME staff
can be accessed here:
https://www.hct.nhs.uk/about-us/equality-anddiversity.
Other activities we have undertaken during
2018/19 include:
• Adopting an easy read job application form
for people with learning disabilities across
the county as part of HCT’s drive to make
the recruitment process more accessible
for a diversity of candidates.
• Setting up an Inclusion Working Group to
steer and refresh HCT’s approach to
equality with the specific task of setting out
the behaviours we wish to see embedded
in our culture.
• Holding a series of Equality Focus Groups
to understand the issues staff have
experienced with regards to race equality.
Disability Confident Scheme
The Disability Confident Scheme supports
employers to make the most of the talents
disabled people bring to the workplace. The
Trust was successful at achieving level 2
Disability Confident Employer status and is
working towards level 3, the highest level
possible.
Gender Pay Gap reporting
As with many organisations, gender pay and
bonus gaps arise because a larger proportion
of men are found in senior positions.
In March 2019, the Trust published its second
Gender Pay Gap information relating to its
staff. As an employer with over 250 staff, the
Trust is required by law to carry out Gender
Pay reporting under the Equality Act 2010
(Gender Pay Gap Information) Regulations
2017.
The gender pay gap between men and
women working at HCT is currently 12.8%;
this is an improvement on last year’s figure
14.1%. We also compare favourably to the
national mean pay gap.
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Professional Clinical Leaders Group
(PCLG)
HCT’s Professional Clinical Leaders Group
(PCLG) was set up in December 2015 to
develop strong professional clinical leadership
within HCT, to support the development of a
learning organisation and to share and
implement local and national guidance on
professional best practice across the
organisation. Membership is made up of
clinical and professional leads from a variety
of disciplines including doctors, nurses,
pharmacists, clinical psychologists and Allied
Health Professionals (AHPs).
During 2018/19 the PCLG has:
• Consulted on the STP system-wide frailty
pathway designed to identify frail patients
and provide them with individual care
planning to support their complex needs.
• Received assurance regarding the
implementation and embedding of Duty of
Candour in all notifiable safety incidents
(page 50).
• Heard from HCT’s Freedom To Speak Up
Guardian about what speaking up and
raising concerns means from a senior
leader’s perspective, and how FTSU is
being promoted in HCT services (page 87).
• Reviewed end of life care audits
undertaken throughout the year, noting an
improvement in the use of pain
assessment tools and the increase in the
number of patients identified as being in
their last year of life (page 71).

PCLG members will continue to work with
HCT and STP colleagues in driving change
and improvements across the system.
Nurses’ Forum
HCT’s Nurses’ Forum was formed in early
2016 to provide a professional forum to
ensure patients receive high quality nursing
care in line with best practice across all
services in HCT.
During 2018/19 the Nurses’ Forum has:
• Reviewed and discussed Royal College of
Nursing (RCN) guidance relating to the
transition of older people from their own
home to a care home, and the impact and
implementation of this guidance in HCT.
• Participated in national consultations on
registration of Nursing Associates and
professionalism.
• Contributed to the development of Careers
Clinics for nurses as part of the Nurse
Retention programme (page 86).
• Continued to support HCT’s nurse
prescribers by providing regular updates
and training to ensure nurses maintain the
requirements of their professional body
(Nursing & Midwifery Council) and continue
to prescribe safely and effectively.
• Participated in the instigation of a nurses’
Alumni Group to utilise the skills of nurses
who have retired from HCT to support
newly qualified and newly appointed
nurses in the community.

• Heard from HCT colleagues, including the
Named Nurse for Safeguarding Children,
about service developments, achievements
and challenges.
• Consulted on the Continuous Quality
Improvement framework developed to
provide assurance of improvements in
patient care (page 21).
• Received updates from the various
professional forums meeting in HCT.
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Allied Health Professionals (AHP) Forum
The Allied Health Professional (AHP) Forum
is a professional forum for AHPs in HCT to
share good practice particularly related to
quality, to support continuing professional
development, and to provide an opportunity
for colleagues to network, promoting
communication amongst AHPs.
The Forum meets on a quarterly basis and
key topics for discussion during 2018/19 have
included:
• Dysphagia project presented by the Adult
Speech & Language Therapy (SLT) Lead
which resulted in improved collaborative
multi-agency working and a more
consistent approach to the management of
patients.
• Feedback from an NHS Improvement
workshop on workforce including
productivity, job planning, and functions of
the ‘Model Hospital’.
• Sharing of resources including the
following papers:
− AHP Research Strategy 2018-2020
− AHPs supporting Patient flow
− Leadership of AHPs in Trusts

• Discussion with the Head of Learning &
Development regarding opportunities for
workforce development and new emerging
roles including Advanced Care
Practitioners and Apprenticeships.
• Information regarding new service
developments and innovative roles, such
HCT Macmillan Neuro Rehab
Service/Brain Care Team.
• Raising awareness of AHP roles within the
organisation by having an AHP stand at the
Leading Lights event with a focus on the
transformation of AHP services.
In addition the AHP Lead along with STP
colleagues across Hertfordshire and West
Essex organised and ran an AHP conference
in October 2018 to celebrate the first National
AHP Day. The title for the event was
“Connect, Communicate and Celebrate” with
an emphasis on the transformational potential
of our AHPs and how they can support the
delivery of the STP priorities. The event was a
huge success - over 110 participants attended
and contributed to the day. One of the
outcomes from the event was establishing an
AHP Council to drive the AHP agenda across
the STP.

• Q&A session with Head of Resourcing
regarding proposed changes to bank
staffing and the opportunities for
substantive staff to register.
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Health & Safety and staff security
Security Management Specialist (compared to
303 for 2017/18; 286 for 2016/17 and 222 for
2015/16). The increase is believed to be due
to improved reporting encouraged by more
robust follow-up. The highest reported
categories of security incidents are listed
below with previous year’s figures for
comparison.

HCT’s Non-Clinical Risk Group Committee
regularly reviews health & safety and security
information. This information is also shared
with our commissioners at our contractual
meetings.
Security
During 2018/19 there have been 379 security
incidents recorded and followed up by the

2015/16

2016/17

2017/18

2018/19

Staff subjected to face-to-face verbal abuse
or threatening behaviour (including abuse
over the phone)

89

73

85

100

Other loss of Trust Property (including
laptops, phones, ID etc.)

9

16

26

58

Buildings left/found insecure

17

7

14

44

Clinical Assault*

28

29

26

31

Theft or burglary (theft with trespass) from
Trust premises (including loss of patient
21
42
17
14
property)
*A ‘Clinical Assault’ is where a patient has assaulted a member of staff but cannot be held responsible
for their actions due to cognitive impairment. For instance, they have dementia, a brain injury, or some
other medical condition that means that they are not fully in control of their actions.

Verbal abuse remains of the highest concern
for staff, which HCT takes very seriously.
When this occurs, managers are encouraged
to contact the person concerned to warn them
of possible consequences. Where the action
has been identified as criminal, managers are
encouraged to report the incident to the
Police.
After the spike in 2016/17, the level of
recorded thefts/ losses of cash and other
property from our buildings has reduced to
about two per month. This is possibly partly
due to awareness campaigns and the
upgrading of CCTV in some of our properties.
It is believed, however, that the reported
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figure may still mask a much bigger problem
with petty theft, as may be indicated by the
‘other loss of Trust property’ category in the
above table.
The long hot summer during 2018 brought a
spate of incidents where buildings were left
unsecure. The figure may be skewed this year
by a new policy adopted by our contracted
cleaning company whereby cleaning staff
have been told not to enter properties that
appear to be unsecure. A building that has not
been cleaned will often provoke an incident
report that highlights a problem with doors or
windows being left open.
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Health & Safety
A total of 194 health and safety incidents were
reported using Datix during 2018/19

compared to 225 last year. A breakdown of
these is shown in the table below:

Categories

2017/18

2018/19

Personal Accident - Staff

59

61

Estates, Environment and Supplies - H&S-related issues only

55

45

Fire Related Event

30

42

Manual/Patient Handling [reported as]

29

20

Sharps and inoculation injuries/ incidents

32

16

Personal Accident - Other

20

10

Total

225

194

The main categories reported are:
• Personal accidents to others - these
include:
− A cleaning contractor who collapsed
due to heart-related condition
− A porter who tripped
• Personal accidents to staff - these include:
− 19 slips and trips (most of which
occurred outside, two of which were
RIDDOR reportable)
− One lady suffered a foot injury
following a lifting accident. This injury
was RIDDOR reportable
− 11 were minor vehicle related
accidents or incidents
• Fire related events - we had no actual fires
in our buildings during 2018/19 but there
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were a couple of fires in buildings where
our staff work; neither put our staff at
significant risk. However this includes:
− 14 false alarm activations where the
fire service did not attend
− 5 false alarms related to cooking
equipment (toasters, microwaves,
kettle)
− 14 alarm activations where the fire
service attended (all alarm ‘system
failures’ leading to automatic call out)
• Estates related issues – these include:
− 5 floods/leaks including one resulting
in the fire service attending to assist in
evacuating a community inpatient unit
during the night
− 11 lift failures
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Our staff – their feedback
The NHS Staff survey was conducted
between September and December 2018 and
covered ten key themes. This is the 16th
annual staff survey, which is mandatory for all
NHS trusts and an important way of gathering
feedback from staff to drive service
improvements in the NHS, as well as being a
good measure of staff engagement. The
results are also considered by the Care
Quality Commission when it is assessing NHS
organisations.

This year HCT has plans to extend our
programme to enhance the health and
wellbeing of our staff. We will also be
promoting our zero tolerance of bullying,
harassment and/or violence. In addition, we
continue to explore opportunities to modernise
our services for our patients and staff through
introducing the latest technology which will
help to ease workload pressures and enable
our teams to release even more time for direct
care for our patients.

Over 1,400 HCT staff took part in the annual
survey, which represents just over 55% of our
staff team - their feedback is invaluable in
shaping and delivering our ambition to be a
top employer. The results of the staff survey
demonstrate that HCT continues to be a
stable organisation, given the transformation
challenges last year and the complex nature
of service redesign. Staff told us that they feel
their appraisals are of a high quality – a good
appraisal results in staff feeling valued, having
clear objectives and being supported by their
managers to undertake training, learning and
development.

HCT’s Chief Executive Clare Hawkins said:
“The NHS staff survey is an important way for
our colleagues to tell us what it’s like to work
at HCT, so we can then use these opinions to
drive improvements forward. There is a direct
link between staff satisfaction and quality of
patient care, so I am really encouraged to
hear that, once again, our colleagues are
telling us they feel valued at work and that
caring for patients is our top priority.”
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A summary overview of HCT’s staff survey
results is shown below:
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Formal responses from stakeholder organisations
ENCCG response to follow
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HVCCG response to follow
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Healthwatch Hertfordshire’s response to Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust (HCT)
Quality Account 2019
Healthwatch Hertfordshire welcomes the opportunity to review HCT’s Quality Account.
We would like to make the following comments:
•

The quality priorities for 2019/20 are clearly set out in the Quality Account and it
is evident how progress will be measured and monitored throughout the year.
Progress on the past year’s priorities is detailed and easy to follow.

•

We support the quality priorities and in particular Quality Priority 3 focussing on
carers of patients and staff with HCT working closely with Carers in Hertfordshire.
This priority has a number of elements and builds on the co-production work with
carers and patients on the ‘Always Event’ around End of Life Care and the Trust’s
Carers’ Strategy. We look forward to seeing the outcomes of this work.

•

It is evident throughout the Quality Account that the Trust is keen to learn from
patient feedback including patient stories, complaints, incidents, volunteer visits
and compliments and that the Trust also celebrates success so that this can be
shared across the organisation.

•

It is good to see that patient experience data will be collected alongside the
training, referral and care plan targets in quality priority 1 around frailty, as it will
be important to demonstrate the impact of this priority on patient outcomes and
to show the robustness of the goal setting on SystmOne.

•

Missed or inflexible HCT community nursing visits has been an area where HwH has
been contacted by members of the public. The Quality Account gives assurance
that these incidents, particularly if related to missed medication, are taken
seriously and that this is being addressed in a positive and systematic way.

•

HCT has demonstrated a proactive approach to reducing avoidable pressure ulcers,
which is particularly challenging given that over half of these can occur whilst the
patient is not in HCT’s care. HCT is working with key providers such as care homes
and home care agencies and though it is disappointing that the ‘React to Red’
training programme has been slow to get off the ground, we hope that the external
providers of care together with the Clinical Commission Groups will support this
initiative going forward to provide a whole system approach to this issue.

•

We would like to congratulate the Trust on maintaining its ‘Good’ Care Quality
Commission rating following their inspection in September and November 2018.
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HwH would like to thank the Trust for welcoming us at the HCT Board, Committees,
Groups and Forum meetings across the organisation to represent the patient voice and
we look forward to working with HCT in the coming year to continue to improve
patient experience and outcomes.

Steve Palmer, Chair Healthwatch Hertfordshire, April 2019
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How to provide feedback
We hope you find our Quality Account for 2018/19 a useful, easy-to-understand document that gives
you meaningful information about Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust and the services we provide.
If you have any feedback or suggestions on how we could improve our Quality Account, please let
us know by emailing hct.engagement@nhs.net or by calling 01707 388000.
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Board 23rd May 2019

J6

Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust Quality Account 2018-2019 Summary
TEN KEY ACHIEVEMENTS
1.

2.

Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust (HCT) was inspected by the CQC during 2018; they undertook an
unannounced inspection in September 2018 followed by a Well-Led inspection in November 2018. The
CQC gave HCT an overall rating of ‘Good’ in January 2019. The CQC identified two areas for
improvement, and a robust continuous improvement programme is in place to deliver these
improvements and support sustained safe practice.
A joint Ministry of Justice/CQC inspection undertaken at HMP The Mount in May 2018 demonstrated
good healthcare provision by HCT’s Prison Healthcare service to its service users. Recommendations
from the report have been addressed and improvements have been maintained.

Safe
3. We ran a flu campaign to vaccinate frontline staff to protect them and vulnerable patients and 70% of
eligible staff were vaccinated. This was in line with the 70.3% national average and higher than the
average of 65.7% for our region.
4. Following the work and initiatives of the Pharmacy, Nursing and Operational teams we reduced the
number of insulin-related medication incidents reported in 2018/19 by 35% compared to 2017/18.
Effective
5. We participated in 100% of National Clinical Audits and National Clinical Outcome Reviews for which the
Trust was eligible during 2018/19. We also reviewed 146 of the 146 sets of national clinical guidance and
21 of the 21 quality standards released during 2018/19. We undertook self-assessments of compliance
with the 80 clinical guidelines and the 16 quality standards applicable to our services, and took action
where needed to ensure that our staff provide evidence-based care. For example, we ensured that staff
at the Minor Injuries Unit are appropriately skilled and have up-to-date knowledge of head injury
assessment and follow clinical care pathways according to NICE guidelines.
6. We embedded the use of Patient-Reported Outcome Measures (PROMs) in 48.8% of the services
included in the initial roll-out of PROMs, enabling patients to work with their clinicians to identify a priority
that is important to them at the start of their care and have a personalised care plan in place to track their
progress. The use of PROMs also allows clinicians to measure the impact of their interventions from their
patient’s perspective, ensuring that the care their patient receives is clinically effective.
Caring
7. Our Friends and Family Test (FFT) average score demonstrated that on average 96% of our patients told
us they would recommend our services to friends and family should they need similar treatment or care.
8. We participated in two NHS England Always Events® to understand what matters most to carers and to
patients in their last year of life. After receiving feedback from patients, staff visiting end of life patients
are now piloting the use of a one-page prompt, reminding them to give their patient the information which
our patients told us is most important to them, their families and carers.
Responsive
9. Our Transformation team has worked with Adult and Children & Young People’s services to open Single
Point of Access Hubs, processing referrals and providing access to professional advice from clinical staff
for patients, their families and carers, as well as GPs and staff from other external agencies. This has
resulted in more efficient support for patients and professionals when contacting our services.
Well-led
10. Our Executive and Non-Executive Directors have participated in Keeping in Touch Visits to services.
These visits are valued as a method of two-way communication between staff and Board members. Our
CEO has also participated in regular interactive video updates providing up-to-date information on current
and future service developments.
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PROGRESS AGAINST OUR QUALITY PRIORITIES IN 2018/19
We will support the population we serve by developing patient-focussed outcomes to improve their
health and wellbeing. Patient-focussed outcomes will underpin the work being undertaken to support
the Trust’s Health & Wellbeing Strategy. This is Year 2 of a two-year Quality Priority.
• As well as embedding the use of Patient-Reported Outcome Measures (PROMs) in a wide range of
services, we designed a report to enable us to capture our progress in improving patient outcomes by
demonstrating an increase in the number of patients using PROMs and evidence of personalised goal
setting in patients’ clinical records.
• We aligned the work carried out for this Quality Priority with that undertaken to support delivery of the
personalised care planning CQUIN, which has resulted in streamlined reporting and a more effective use of
clinicians’ time as they avoid duplication of work.
• During 2019/20 we will roll out PROMs to our community nursing teams. To support the implementation of
this approach we have held workshops to engage with our nurses, and Champions have been identified in
each locality team for both nursing and therapy.
We will improve the safety of patients in our care by reducing avoidable pressure damage and
improving wound care management.
• During 2018/19 audit findings demonstrated that 93% of patients with a wound have a relevant wound or
pressure ulcer care plan in place.
• We gathered feedback from 26 patients with wounds to understand what is important to them during their
care. This information will support the development of wound-related PROMs going forward.
• We held ‘React to Red’ training sessions for staff from home care providers and care homes to increase
awareness around pressure ulcer prevention and the early recognition of skin damage.
We will continue to ensure our patients receive safe care by maintaining safe staffing levels in our
services.
• During 2018/19 we reduced our staff turnover and vacancy rates in Adult services, and we maintained safe
staffing levels in all our community inpatient units, ensuring that we were able to continue delivering safe
care to our patients throughout a period of service transformation within HCT.
• We saw an increase in the number of concerns raised to the Freedom To Speak Up Guardian,
demonstrating that staff know how and who to speak up to if they are concerned about any elements of
poor patient care.
• Our patients told us that they continue to be satisfied with the quality of the care received and feel they
have been treated by our staff with dignity and respect, demonstrating that maintaining safe staffing levels
has resulted in our staff continuing to deliver high quality care to our patients.
We will increase patient response rates, particularly to the Friends and Family Test (FFT), to capture
wider feedback from patients and improve understanding and learning from patients’ experience of
using HCT services.
• Whilst the overall FFT response rate during 2018/19 remained consistent with the level of responses
received during 2017/18, more services offered their patients, families and carers different ways to provide
FFT feedback, including increased use of text message feedback, and use of computer tablets in
Children’s and Young People’s (CYP) services.
• Our services have made positive changes as a result of comments received from their patients; examples
of these have been shared at the monthly Business Unit Performance Review meetings throughout the
year.
• As a result of patient feedback we have created a vision statement for our end of life care Always Event®
and we will continue to work to ensure that our end of life care patients always have an understanding of
why they are being visited, by whom, and that they are provided with contact details of staff to discuss any
concerns and worries.
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KEY ACTIONS TO SUPPORT QUALITY ASSURANCE
• Assurance against 20 Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) in the categories of Quality, Performance,
Learning & Development, and Workforce & Finance, is provided to our Board and commissioners via the
monthly Integrated Board Performance Report. Performance at service level continues to be monitored
through monthly Business Unit Performance Reviews.
• Teams from East & North Hertfordshire CCG, Herts Valleys CCG and NHS Improvement undertook quality
assurance and supportive visits into a number of our services. Where recommendations were made, action
plans were developed and implemented to support improvement of services for patients, carers and staff.
• HCT has implemented a Continuous Quality Improvement Framework, enabling us to be assured that
services are meeting expected standards through independent internal assurance, using a mix of monthly
dip tests, quarterly self-assessment and six-monthly internal peer review. This range of assessments will
demonstrate and provide evidence that we are meeting our performance standards.
• An in-depth programme of internal peer reviews, carrying out a comprehensive assessment of the
standards of quality, patient safety and effective medicines management, was undertaken in our
community inpatient units and community teams. Services not meeting the required standard will have a
repeat visit undertaken within six months to provide assurance of improvement.
SERVICE DEVELOPMENTS - INNOVATION IN PRACTICE
• During 2018/19 we developed an end of life care dashboard, enabling staff in our community teams and
community inpatient units to ensure that appropriate support is offered in a timely way to those patients
who are identified as needing end of life care. The dashboard has resulted in us being able to demonstrate
that the numbers of patients identified as being in their last year of life has more than doubled. Weekly
meetings are also held for managers to share good end of life care practice across all localities.
• Our staff in Lower Lea Valley have worked with system partners and volunteers to launch the ‘Healthy
Memory Café’, offering members of the local community the opportunity to meet up over a cup of tea and
share their experience of living with dementia with other patients, families and carers, as well as receive
support from professionals from many local organisations.
• We have continued to promote early intervention and targeted support to children and young people
through our ‘HealthforKids’ and ‘HealthforTeens’ websites, our ‘ChatHealth’ texting service which enables
young people to seek health advice from a School Nurse, and through the roll-out of The Lancaster Model
to assess a child’s individual health and wellbeing needs at key stages of their development and provide
tailored support where needed.
• We have re-designed our therapy services in Herts Valleys which has resulted in a reduction in waiting
times for the service, improved patient outcomes and a positive patient experience. The transformation
model was entered and has been shortlisted for a prestigious Health Service Journal Value Award.
• During 2018/19 we opened a Referral Hub for Adult Community services in E&N Hertfordshire, and four
Single Point of Access Hubs for CYP services across the county, enabling improved access to our services
for our patients and other health professionals.
INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY INNOVATIONS
• We have now rolled out our electronic patient record system to all services, most recently to our community
inpatient units in Hemel Hempstead, helping us to achieve our target of being paper-free at the point of
care.
• During 2018/19 we have also deployed Smartphones to frontline and management staff to enable them to
access key information while on the move. We have also implemented NHS2 Mail for all staff, enabling
them to communicate and share information via secure email, both internally and with other NHS
organisations.
• We have created a new interactive suite of visual reports to enable frontline services to manage their
workload more effectively using daily updated information.
• We have increased the use of communication tools to enable staff to participate in meetings virtually rather
than in person, resulting in reduced travel time for staff.
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COMMISSIONING FOR QUALITY AND INNOVATION SCHEMES (CQUIN) PERFORMANCE
HCT National CQUIN Scheme 2017/19
Clinical quality and transformational indicators
Health and Wellbeing
• Improvement of staff health and wellbeing as measured in the
NHS staff survey
• Provision of healthy food for NHS staff, visitors and patients
• Improving the uptake of flu vaccination to frontline staff
Preventing ill health by risky behaviours
• Offering patients in our community inpatient units screening for
tobacco and alcohol use, brief intervention and/or referral
Improving the assessment of wounds
• Increase in the number of patients, with a wound that has failed
to heal, having a full wound assessment after four weeks
Personalised care and support planning
• Embedding personalised care and support planning for
patients with long-term conditions
Supporting local areas
Engaging with Sustainability Transformation Programme (STP)
Partners
• Making the necessary contribution to and demonstrating
support and engagement in local STP initiatives
Maintaining organisational financial balance
• Delivery of the in-year system control total and maintain a
satisfactory national risk profile.
Total

Weighted Value
Year 2 of 2

Year-end position
2018/19*

15%

8.75%

15%

12%

15%

15%

15%

15%

Weighted Value
Year 2 of 2

Year-end position
2018/19

20%

20%

20%

20%

100%

90.75%

*Confirmation of final year-end position awaited at time of report
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Board 23 May 2019

J6

Quality Account
2018-2019
Our Highlights
We will maintain and improve the health and wellbeing
of the people of Hertfordshire and other areas
served by the Trust

Welcome to our Quality Account
The quality of the care our patients
receive is very important to us at
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust.
We depend on the commitment of our
staff to ensure that our patients
experience an excellent quality of care.

Statement of Quality from the Chair and the Chief Executive

Declan O’Farrell is the Chair of our Trust Board

Clare Hawkins is our Chief Executive Officer

The Chair and the Chief Executive Officer of the Trust have confirmed that the
information contained in the full Quality Account (2018-2019) has been thoroughly
checked.
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About Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust

We provide services to care for people in the community in
Hertfordshire:

In community inpatient units

In patients’ homes

In residential and care homes

In local schools

In community clinics

In HMP The Mount
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Quality means that a service is good
We want to provide the best care we can to people who use our services.

We want to treat our patients with respect and dignity.

We want to hear about the experiences our patients and their
families have when they use our services.

Our Values

What is a Quality Account?
A Quality Account report explains whether we have met our quality
goals over the last year from April 2018 to March 2019.
It also describes what we want to do over the next year to improve
the quality of our services from April 2019 to March 2020.
It is important because it helps us to tell our patients, staff and other
organisations about the quality of our services.
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Looking Forward - Our Quality Priorities for 2019-2020
During the year we asked patients, their families and carers,
our staff and other health and social care organisations,
what they think our Quality Priorities should be.
We want to make sure that our Quality Priorities enable us
to work with our patients, and their families and carers, to
improve their health and wellbeing.
We also want to make sure our Quality Priorities help us
achieve some of the targets we have been set and some of
the priorities described in the Government’s NHS Long Term
Plan.
The Quality Priorities on the next few pages are what we
want to do from April 2019 to March 2020.
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Clinical Outcomes – helping patients to achieve their goals

Priority 1: We want to help our staff identify our most frail patients
and ensure that they receive the extra help they need. We also want
our patients to improve their health and wellbeing.
We can do this by:
 Training our staff to identify frail patients at their first face-to-face
appointment and helping them and their families and carers to receive any
extra support they might need.
 Working with our patients to set and achieve the goals that are important to
them during their care.
 Helping our frail patients to improve their own health and wellbeing by giving
them a personalised care plan.

Patient Safety – making sure that everyone who uses
our services is safe

Priority 2: We want to help our staff to recognise early when patients
become unwell because of sepsis or other similar illnesses, and to
make sure that these patients receive the care they need.
We can do this by:
 Training our staff to use the National Early Warning System (NEWS2) tool
to help them recognise when patients in our care are becoming unwell
because of sepsis.
 Making sure that any patients who become unwell in our care because of
sepsis have their care reviewed to make sure they receive the care they
need.
 Raising the awareness of sepsis and other similar illnesses with our Health
Visitors and School Nurses so that they can recognise the signs and
symptoms of such conditions in children and young people.
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Patient Experience – how people feel about our services

Priority 3: We want to make sure that carers, including our staff who
are carers, feel that they are supported and are as involved as they
want to be in the care of the person they look after. This will be a twoyear quality priority.
We can do this by:
 Making sure we identify as many carers as possible on our electronic patient
record system and involving them in discussions and decisions about the
care we give to people they look after.
 Making sure carers are aware of the support available to them.
 Identifying those members of our staff who are carers, and making sure they
feel supported and have access to information and advice they might need.
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How do we compare with other NHS organisations? - Statements
of Assurance from the Board
There is some information which all NHS organisations have to include in their
Quality Account – in our Quality Account this information is called ‘Statements of
Assurance from the Board’. We have to provide this information so that our Trust
can be compared to other NHS trusts in the country.
Our Board has found that we learned about the quality of the care we give our
patients from reviews of our services (audits) and involvement in research. We
worked with our commissioners (the organisations who buy our services) to
make improvements to the quality of the care we give our patients. We made
sure the information we report is correct, and that our staff know how to record
and keep information in the right way (information governance). We also
reviewed the records of some of the patients who have died in our care to make
sure that the care they received did not contribute to their death.

Our Care Quality Commission (CQC) Inspections
In January 2019 we were rated as ‘Good’ by the CQC. The inspectors who
visited us in September 2018 said that our staff continually care for patients with
compassion and that feedback from patients and their loved ones confirms that
staff treat them well and with kindness.
We had two areas which require improvement – the safety of medicines
management and the management of medical devices. We have a plan in place
to make sure that we make changes to improve these two areas.
Since our inspection we have continued to work with our staff and services to
ensure all our patients receive the right care, at the right time in the right way.

The CQC and Ministry of Justice also carried out a joint inspection of HCT’s
Prison Healthcare service at HMP The Mount in May 2018 and told us that the
healthcare service provided to service users continued to be good.
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How Did We Do? - Our Quality Priorities for 2018-2019
Clinical Outcomes – helping patients to achieve their goals
Priority 1: We wanted to help our patients achieve the goals that
they have agreed (Patient-Reported Outcome Measures, or PROMs),
with the nurse or therapist looking after them, to improve their health
and wellbeing.
What did we do?
 We agreed the ways in which the improvements our patients made during
their care could be measured. We also agreed the ways in which we could
record and report how many patients achieved the goals that they agreed,
although this was not done for as many patients as we would have liked.
 We joined up the work we have done to introduce Patient-Reported Outcome
Measures in our services with the work we have done to encourage patients
to manage their own health and wellbeing. This means that our clinical staff
will be able to spend more time talking with their patients about what is
important to them.
 We held some training sessions for our community nursing staff to support
them as they begin to use Patient-Reported Outcome Measures for their
patients.

Priority 2: We wanted to improve how quickly we identify and treat
patients with wounds or pressure damage.
What did we do?
 We made sure that patients with a wound or pressure damage have the right
plan of care in place.
 We asked patients with wounds or pressure damage what is important to
them about the care they receive for their wound and the goals they would
like to achieve. We will use this information to improve the care that our
patients receive.
 We held some training for staff of care homes and staff who provide home
care for patients so that they are better able to recognise early pressure
damage and how to prevent pressure damage in the patients they care for.
Whilst we have not yet seen a reduction in the number of patients with a
pressure ulcer who receive care at home or in a care home, we hope that this
training will help in reducing the number of pressure ulcers reported in the
future
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Patient Safety – making sure that everyone who uses
our services is safe
Priority 3: We wanted our patients to receive safe care by making
sure that we have a safe level of staff working in our services.
What did we do?
 We worked with our staff to encourage them to want to continue to work for
HCT; this has meant that fewer staff have left the organisation during
2018/19 than during the previous year. However the number of jobs which
are not filled has increased during the year.
 We made sure that there were enough staff working in our community
inpatient units to ensure our patients received safe care at all times.
 Because our staff have been experiencing a lot of uncertainty and change at
work during 2018/19, fewer of them told us they would be happy to
recommend working for HCT.
 Most of our patients told us that they were happy with the care they received
from us and felt they had been treated with dignity and respect, meaning that
our safe staffing levels has enabled us to provide high quality care to our
patients.

Patient Experience – how people feel about our services

Priority 4: We wanted to ask more patients what they think of our
services, and learn from what our patients tell us, to make changes to
our services and improve patient experience.
What did we do?





We worked with our services so that more of them were able to provide
different ways for our patients to tell us what they think about the care they
received, such as through text messaging and by using computer tablets.
However, the percentage of responses we received was not as high as we
would have liked.
More of our services reported changes they had made as a result of feedback
they had received from patients.
We took part in an Always Event® with NHS England and we asked patients
receiving end of life care what is most important to them in the care they
receive. This has helped us to develop a prompt for staff so that we ensure
that our end of life care patients always know who is visiting them and why,
and they know who to contact at any time.
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How else did we improve the quality of our services?

We listened and responded to compliments, concerns and
complaints from patients, their families and their carers.

96% of patients we asked told us they would recommend our
services to their friends and family (the ‘Friends and Family
Test’).
We learnt from incidents and patient deaths, and from carrying
out reviews of our services (audits), to make sure that patients
stay safe whilst in our care.

We kept patients and staff safe by reducing the number of falls,
preventing and managing infections, and doing the right things
for more vulnerable patients. We also kept our patients and staff
safe by vaccinating our staff against flu – 70% of our staff chose
to have a flu vaccination.

We made sure that staff followed the National Institute of Health
and Care Excellence (NICE) guidelines, pathways and other
national standards when caring for patients.

We worked with other local organisations to open a Healthy
Memory Café in Cheshunt. This is an opportunity for local
people living with dementia and their families and carers to
share their experiences over a cup of tea.

We developed an electronic visual dashboard to help our teams
identify those patients who are in their last year of life and make
sure that those patients and their families and carers are offered
the specialised care and support they need.
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We opened Referral Hubs for both Adult and Children & Young
People’s services across Hertfordshire to make it easier for our
patients and other health professionals such as GPs to contact
our services.

We listened closely to staff and we helped them to have the
right skills to deliver high quality services and make
improvements. We also encouraged staff to look after their own
health and wellbeing.

We held events to support and develop the members of staff
who lead our services. We also celebrated the achievements
and hard work of our staff at our Leading Lights event. During
the year some of our teams won or were shortlisted for national
awards.

Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust Quality Account 2018/19: ‘Our Highlights’

Page 12 of 14

How to contact us
Please tell us what you think of our Quality Account:
Email: engagement@hct.nhs.uk

Telephone: 01707 388000

You can get the full version of this Quality Account and a four-page summary
from:

http://www.hct.nhs.uk/about-us/our-publications/
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